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BUTLER COUNTY
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED December 31, 2022

FEDERAL GRANTOR
Pass Through Grantor
Program / Cluster Title
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE
Passed Through Ohio Department of Job and Family Services (ODJFS)
Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP) Cluster:
State Administrative Matching Grants for the Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program

Total Passed Through ODJFS

TOTAL U.S. DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES
Direct - Department of Health and Human Services (HHS)
Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Projects of Regional and National Significance
COVID-19 Provider Relief Fund and ARP Rural Distribution
Rural Health Care Services Outreach, Rural Health Network Development and Small Health
Care Provider Quality Improvement
Total Direct - HHS

Passed Through Ohio Department of Mental Health and Addiction Services (MHAS)
Projects for Assistance in Transition from Homelessness (PATH)
COVID-19 Emergency Grants to Address Mental and Substance Use Disorders During COVID-19
Opioid STR
Block Grants for Community Mental Health Services

Block Grants for Prevention and Treatment of Substance Abuse
Block Grants for Prevention and Treatment of Substance Abuse
Block Grants for Prevention and Treatment of Substance Abuse
Block Grants for Prevention and Treatment of Substance Abuse
Block Grants for Prevention and Treatment of Substance Abuse
Total Block Grants for Prevention and Treatment of Substance Abuse

Passed Through Ohio Department of Job and Family Services (ODJFS)
Promoting Safe and Stable Families Program
Temporary Assistance for Needy Families (TANF)

Child Support Enforcement

Stephanie Tubbs Jones Child Welfare Services Program
Foster Care

Adoption Assistance

Chafee Foster Care Independence Program

Elder Abuse Prevention Interventions Program
Child Care and Development Fund (CCDF) Cluster:
Child Care and Development Block

Medicaid Cluster:
Medical Assistance Program

Social Services Block

Passed through Ohio Department of Mental Health
Social Services Block

Passed Through Ohio Department of Developmental Disabilities
Social Services Block

TOTAL U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HOMELAND SECURITY
Passed Through Ohio Emergency Management Agency (EMA)
Emergency Management Performance Grants
Emergency Management Performance Grants
Total Passed Through Ohio EMA

TOTAL U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HOMELAND SECURITY

MUNIS
FUND

0800

1358
0703

0500

0500
0500
0400
0500

0400
0400
0400
0400
0500

0850
0800
1000
0850
0850
0850
0850
0800

0800

0800

0800

0500

0600

7100
7100

Federal

ALN

10.561

93.243
93.498

93.912

93.150
93.665
93.788
93.958

93.959
93.959
93.959
93.959
93.959

93.556
93.558
93.563
93.645
93.658
93.659
93.674
93.747

93.575

93.778

93.667

93.667

93.667

97.042
97.042

Pass Through Entity Provided to Total Federal

Identifying Number Subr i E ditures
G-2022-11-5006 111,377 1,901,377
Total SNAP Cluster 111,377 1,901,377
111,377 1,901,377
111,377 1,901,377
N/A - 344,919
N/A - 326,365
- 290,335

N/A

- 961,619
T-5-1574 - 99,157
N/A - 32,298
N/A 1,749,541 1,749,541
3A90 336614 4221C - 247,799
3G40 336618 4221CC1 921,241 921,241
3G40 336618 4221DAD 160,250 160,250
3G40 336618 4253CPV 343,813 343,813
TASCT 15 0080 355,292 355,292
N/A 15,781 15,781
1,796,377 1,796,377
G-2022-11-5006 - 97,885
G-2022-11-5006/G-2021-11-5007 2,832,712 3,761,745
N/A - 2,416,291
G-2022-11-5006 - 307,406
G-2022-11-5006/G-2021-11-5007 - 523,619
G-2022-11-5006/G-2021-11-5007 - 2,149,841
G-2022-11-5006/G-2021-11-5007 - 181,607
G-2022-11-5006/G-2021-11-5007 56,165
G-2022-11-5006 186,739 502,285
Total CCDF Cluster 186,739 502,285
G-2022-11-5006 1,156,822 2,287,020
Total Medicaid Cluster 1,156,822 2,287,020
G-2022-11-5006 634,862 2,101,369
3A70336612 4221C - 210,330
- 238,112
Total Social Services Block Grant 634,862 2,549,811
8,357,053 19,720,466
EMC-2020-EP-00014 - 49,597
EMC-2021-EP-00002 - 192,293
- 241,890
- 241,890

(Continued)



BUTLER COUNTY
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED December 31, 2022
(Continued)

FEDERAL GRANTOR
Pass Through Grantor MUNIS  Federal Pass Through Entity Provided to Total Federal
Program / Cluster Title FUND ALN Identifying Number Subrecipit penditures

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND URBAN DEVELOPMENT
Direct - Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD)
CDBG - Entitlement Grants Cluster:

Community Development Block/Entitlement Grants 1519 14.218 B-19-UC-39-0008 - 11,564
Community Development Block/Entitlement Grants 1519 14.218 B-20-UC-39-0008 125,672 222,572
COVID-19 Community Development Block/Entitlement Grants 1524 14.218 B-20-UW-39-0008 - 511,711
Community Development Block/Entitlement Grants 1519 14.218 B-21-UC-39-0008 242,778 620,399
Total CDBG - Entitlement Grants Cluster 368,450 1,366,246
Home Investment Partnership Program 1522 14.239 M-19-DC-390222 - 5,500
Home Investment Partnership Program 1522 14.239 M-20-DC-390222 87,474 332,654
Home Investment Partnership Program 1522 14.239 M-21-DC-390222 158,680 433,299
246,154 771,453
Continuum of Care Program 1517 14.267 OHO0430L5E072009 - 370,658
Continuum of Care Program 1517 14.267 OHO0430L5E072110 - 150,054
- 520,712
Total Direct - HUD (Including Cluster) 614,604 2,658,411
TOTAL U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND URBAN DEVELOPMENT 614,604 2,658,411
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE
Direct - Department of Justice (DOJ)
Crime Victim Assistance/Discretionary Grants/ COSSAP 0500 16.582 2020-AR-BX-0132 - 282,101
Crime Victim Assistance/Discretionary Grants/ OVC Grant 0500 16.582 2020-V3-GX-0151 - 230,307
State Criminal Alien Assistance 0100 16.606 15PBJA-20-RR-00232-SCAA - 72,144
Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Grant 8085 16.738 2019-DJ-BX-0439 - 10,000
Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Grant 8085 16.738 2020-DJ-BX-0539 - 16,050
Equitable Sharing - 16.922 N/A - 40,918
Total Direct - DOJ - 651,520
Passed Through Ohio Attorney General (OAG)
Crime Victim Assistance 1601 16.575 2022-VOCA-134713436 - 37,121
Crime Victim Assistance 1600 16.575 2023-VOCA-135103884 - 14,447
Crime Victim Assistance 1639 16.575 2022-VOCA-134713457 - 37,250
Crime Victim Assistance 1638 16.575 2023-VOCA-135103887 - 11,021
Total Passed Through OAG - 99,839
Passed Through Ohio Depart of Public Safety (ODPS)
COVID-19 American Rescue Plan Act Court Backlog Reduction 1377 21.027 2022-AR-CCB-1104 - 62,125
Violence Against Women Formula Grants 1603 16.588 2021-WF-VA5-8807 - 29,520
Violence Against Women Formula Grants 1640 16.588 2021-WF-VA5-8949 - 27,404
Total Passed Through ODPS - 119,049
Passed Through Ohio Office of Criminal Justice Services (OCJS)
Edward Byrne Memorial Justics Assistance Grant 8087 16.738 2021-JG-A01-6801 - 33,827
Total Passed Through OCJS - 33,827
TOTAL U.S. DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE - 904,235
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF LABOR
Passed Through Ohio Department of Job and Family Services (ODJFS)
WIOA Cluster:
WIOA Adult Program 0810 17.258 G-2223-15-0048 - 674,952
WIOA Dislocated Worker Formula Grants 0810 17.278 G-2223-15-0048 - 537,072
Total WIOA Cluster - 1,212,024
Employment Service Cluster:
Employment Service/Wagner-Peyser Funded Activities 0810 17.207 G-2223-15-0048 - 44,802
Total Employment Service Cluster - 44,802
Trade Adjustment Assistance 0810 17.245 G-2223-15-0048 - 7,026
Total Passed Through ODIJFS (Including Clusters) - 1,263,852
TOTAL U.S. DEPARTMENT OF LABOR ° 1,263,852

(Continued)



BUTLER COUNTY
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED December 31, 2022
(Continued)

FEDERAL GRANTOR
Pass Through Grantor MUNIS  Federal Pass Through Entity Provided to Total Federal
Program / Cluster Title FUND ALN Identifying Number Subrecipit penditures
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION
Passed Through Ohio Department of Public Safety (ODPS) via Ohio Traffic Safety Office (OTSO)
Highway Safety Cluster:
State and Community Highway Safety (STEP) 1471 20.600 69A375213000040200H0 - 53,519
Total Highway Safety Cluster - 53,519
Minimum Penalties for Repeat Offenders for Driving While Intoxicated (DWI) (IDEP) 1471 20.608 69A375213000016400HA - 45,432
Total Passed Through ODPS/OTSO - 98,951
Passed Through Ohio Department of Transportation (ODOT)
Highway Planning and Construction Cluster:
Highway Planning and Construction 3106 20.205 PID 104195 6,258,175
Highway Planning and Construction 3106 20.205 PID 106129 1,442,600
Highway Planning and Construction 3106 20.205 PID 106407 584,113
Highway Planning and Construction 3106 20.205 PID 108835 111,851
Highway Planning and Construction 3106 20.205 PID 110993 1,299,256
Highway Planning and Construction 3106 20.205 PID 112211 78,256
Highway Planning and Construction 3106 20.205 PID 113783 436,428
Highway Planning and Construction 3106 20.205 PID 115580 39,420
Total Highway Planning and Construction Cluster - 10,250,099
Total Passed Through ODOT - 10,250,099
Passed Through Ohio Emergency Management Agency (EMA)
Interagency Hazardous Materials Public Sector Training and Planning Grants 7120 20.703 693JK31940044HMEP - 9,520
Total Passed Through Ohio EMA - 9,520
TOTAL U.S. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - 10,358,570
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY
Direct - U.S. Department of the Treasury (USDT)
COVID-19 Emergency Rental Assistancel 1650 21.023 ERA-2101111980 3,436,975 3,436,975
COVID-19 Emergency Rental Assistance2 1651 21.023 ERA2-0203 4,619,817 4,619,817
COVID-19 Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds 1406 21.027 N/A 12,595,526 12,633,289
Total Direct - USDT 20,652,318 20,690,081
TOTAL U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY 20,652,318 20,690,081
U.S. ELECTION ASSISTANCE COMMISSION
Passed Through Ohio Secretary of State (SOS)
Help America Vote Act Election Security 0100 90.404 E7674B1 - 5,860
Help America Vote Act Election Security 1227 90.404 E7674B1 - 4,140
Total Passed Through Ohio SOS - 10,000
TOTAL U.S. ELECTION ASSISTANCE COMMISSION - 10,000
TOTAL EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS 29,735,352 57,748,882

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this schedule.



BUTLER COUNTY

NOTES TO THE SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
2 CFR 200.510(b)(6)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 12/31/2022

NOTE A - BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards (the Schedule) includes the federal award
activity of Butler County (the County) under programs of the federal government for the year ended
December 31, 2022. The information on this Schedule is prepared in accordance with the requirements of
Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles,
and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Because the Schedule presents only a
selected portion of the operations of the County, it is not intended to and does not present the financial
position, changes in net position, or cash flows of the County.

NOTE B — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the cash basis of accounting. Such expenditures
are recognized following the cost principles contained in Uniform Guidance wherein certain types of
expenditures may or may not be allowable or may be limited as to reimbursement.

NOTE C - INDIRECT COST RATE
The County has not elected to use the 10% de minimus indirect cost rate.
NOTE D - SUBRECIPIENTS

The County passes certain federal awards received from various agencies to other governments or not-for-
profit agencies (subrecipients). As Note B describes, the County reports expenditures of Federal awards to
subrecipients when paid in cash.

As a pass-through entity, the County has certain compliance responsibilities, such as monitoring its

subrecipients to help assure they use these subawards as authorized by laws, regulations, and the
provisions of contracts or grant agreements, and that subrecipients achieve the award’s performance goals.

NOTE E - CHILD NUTRITION CLUSTER

The County commingles cash receipts from the U.S. Department of Agriculture with similar State grants.
When reporting expenditures on this Schedule, the County assumes it expends federal monies first.

NOTE F - MATCHING REQUIREMENTS
Certain Federal programs require the County to contribute non-Federal funds (matching funds) to support

the Federally-funded programs. The County has complied with the matching requirements. The Schedule
does not include the expenditure of non-Federal matching funds.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER
FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS
REQUIRED BY GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

Butler County
315 High Street
Hamilton, Ohio 45011

To the Board of Commissioners:

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing Standards), the financial
statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented
component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Butler County, (the
County) as of and for the year ended December 31, 2022, and the related notes to the financial statements,
which collectively comprise the County’s basic financial statements and have issued our report thereon
dated September 26, 2023, wherein we noted the County adopted new accounting guidance in
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 87, Leases. We also noted the County
restated the beginning net position in the custodial funds for special assessments distributions to other
governments.

Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the County’s internal control
over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the County’s internal control. Accordingly, we do
not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the County’s internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management
or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in
internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the County’s
financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant
deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a
material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses
or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified.

Efficient . Effective . Transparent
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Butler County

Independent Auditor’'s Report on Internal Control Over
Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters
Required by Government Auditing Standards

Page 2

Report on Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the County’s financial statements are free from
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations,
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the
financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an
objective of our audit and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed
no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing
Standards.

Purpose of This Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the County’s internal
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with
Government Auditing Standards in considering the County’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly,
this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

Nl

Keith Faber

Auditor of State

Columbus, Ohio
September 26, 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE WITH REQUIREMENTS
APPLICABLE TO EACH MAJOR FEDERAL PROGRAM AND ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER
COMPLIANCE AND ON THE SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
REQUIRED BY THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE

Butler County
315 High Street
Hamilton, Ohio 45011

To the Board of Commissioners:
Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program
Opinion on Each Major Federal Program

We have audited Butler County’s (the County) compliance with the types of compliance requirements
identified as subject to audit in the U.S. Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Compliance Supplement
that could have a direct and material effect on each of Butler County’s major federal programs for the year
ended December 31, 2022. Butler County’s major federal programs are identified in the Summary of
Auditor’s Results section of the accompanying schedule of findings.

In our opinion, Butler County complied, in all material respects, with the compliance requirements referred
to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal programs for the year
ended December 31, 2022.

Basis for Opinion on Each Major Federal Program

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America (GAAS); the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government
Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing
Standards); and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform
Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform
Guidance). Our responsibilities under those standards and the Uniform Guidance are further described in
the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section of our report.

We are required to be independent of the County and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in
accordance with relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on compliance for each major
federal program. Our audit does not provide a legal determination of the County's compliance with the
compliance requirements referred to above.

Responsibilities of Management for Compliance

The County’s Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for
the design, implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the
requirements of laws, statutes, regulations, rules, and provisions of contracts or grant agreements
applicable to the County’s federal programs.

Efficient . Effective . Transparent
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Butler County
Independent Auditor’'s Report on Compliance with Requirements

Applicable to Each Major Federal Program and on Internal Control Over Compliance

and on the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards Required by the Uniform Guidance
Page 2

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the
compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an opinion
on the County's compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is
not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS,
Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance will always detect material noncompliance
when it exists. The risk of not detecting material noncompliance resulting from fraud is higher than for that
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control. Noncompliance with the compliance requirements referred to above is
considered material, if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, it would
influence the judgment made by a reasonable user of the report on compliance about the County's
compliance with the requirements of each major federal program as a whole.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform
Guidance, we:

e exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

¢ identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a
test basis, evidence regarding the County’s compliance with the compliance requirements referred
to above and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.

e obtain an understanding of the County's internal control over compliance relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test and report
on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the County's internal control over
compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in internal
control over compliance that we identified during the audit.

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a
federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency,
or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility
that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program will not be
prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control over
compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type
of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal
control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to identify all deficiencies
in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal
control over compliance. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in
internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses, as defined above. However,
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance may exist that were not
identified.

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control
over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

8



Butler County
Independent Auditor’'s Report on Compliance with Requirements

Applicable to Each Major Federal Program and on Internal Control Over Compliance

and on the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards Required by the Uniform Guidance
Page 3

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing
of internal control over compliance and the results of this testing based on the requirements of the Uniform
Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.

Report on Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards Required by the Uniform Guidance

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the
aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund and the aggregate remaining fund
information of Butler County, (County) as of and for the year ended December 31, 2022, and the related
notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the County’s basic financial statements. We
issued our unmodified report thereon dated September 26, 2023 wherein we noted the County adopted
Governmental Accounting Standard No. 87 during the year. The County also restated the beginning net
position in the custodial funds for special assessments distributions to other governments. Our audit was
conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise the
County’s basic financial statements. The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards is
presented for purposes of additional analysis as required by the Uniform Guidance and is not a required
part of the basic financial statements. The schedule is the responsibility of management and was derived
from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records management used to prepare the
basic financial statements. We subjected this schedule to the auditing procedures we applied to the basic
financial statements. We also applied certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling
this schedule directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial
statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance
with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the schedule of
expenditures of federal awards is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial
statements as a whole.

Nl

Keith Faber
Auditor of State
Columbus, Ohio
September 26, 2023
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BUTLER COUNTY

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS
2 CFR § 200.515
DECEMBER 31, 2022

1. SUMMARY OF AUDITOR’S RESULTS

(d)(1)(i) Type of Financial Statement Opinion Unmodified

(d)(1)(ii) Were there any material weaknesses in No
internal control reported at the financial
statement level (GAGAS)?

(d)(1)(ii) Were there any significant deficiencies in No
internal control reported at the financial
statement level (GAGAS)?

(d)(1)(iii) Was there any reported material No
noncompliance at the financial statement
level (GAGAS)?

(d)(1)(iv) Were there any material weaknesses in No
internal control reported for major federal
programs?

(d)(1)(iv) Were there any significant deficiencies in No
internal control reported for major federal
programs?

d)(1)(v) Type of Major Programs’ Compliance Opinion | Unmodified

(d)(1)(vi) Are there any reportable findings under 2 CFR | No
§ 200.516(a)?

(d)(1)(vii) Major Programs (list): Emergency Rental Assistance
Program 21.023

Coronavirus State and Local
Fiscal Recovery Funds 21.027
Temporary Assistance for Needy
Families (TANF) 93.558

Social Services Block Grant
(SSBG) 93.667

Opioid State Targeted Response
93.788

Block Grants for Prevention and
Treatment of Substance Abuse

93.959
(d)(1)(viii) Dollar Threshold: Type A\B Programs Type A: > $ 1,732,466
Type B: all others
(d)(1)(ix) Low Risk Auditee under 2 CFR § 200.5207? Yes

2. FINDINGS RELATED TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REQUIRED TO BE REPORTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GAGAS

None

3. FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS FOR FEDERAL AWARDS

None
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Butler County Auditor's Office
NQ NCY N |X 130 High Street / 3rd-4th Floors
Butler County Auditor (@B Hamilton, Ohio 4501

Phone: 513-887-3154

September 26, 2023
To the Citizens and Board of Commissioners of Butler County:

Butler County is required by Ohio law to prepare an annual financial report using generally accepted
accounting principles. It is our pleasure to present the Butler County Annual Comprehensive Financial Report
for the year ended December 31, 2022.

The Annual Comprehensive Financial Report is prepared in conformance with generally accepted accounting
principles as set forth by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) and other recognized
authoritative sources and contains basic financial statements, supplemental statements, and other financial and
statistical information, providing complete and full disclosure of all material financial aspects of Butler County
for 2022. This report is presented in fulfillment of the financial reporting requirements and is representative of
our continual commitment to provide accurate and timely financial information to the citizens of Butler County.

Management assumes full responsibility for the accuracy and completeness of the information contained in this
report based upon a comprehensive framework of internal control. Because the cost of internal control should
not exceed anticipated benefits, management’s objective is to provide reasonable, rather than absolute,
assurance that the financial statements are free of any material misstatements.

Our independent Auditor, Auditor of the State of Ohio, has issued an unmodified opinion on Butler County’s
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2022. The independent auditor’s report is presented as
the first component of the financial section of this report.

Management provides a narrative introduction, overview and analysis to accompany the basic financial
statements in the form of a Management's Discussion and Analysis (MD&A). This letter of transmittal is
designed to complement the MD&A and should be read in conjunction with the MD&A, which can be found
immediately following the independent auditor’s report.

REPORTING ENTITY

Butler County, established in 1803, was one of Ohio’s original eight counties. The elected three-member Board
of County Commissioners functions as the primary legislative and executive branch of the County. Each
commissioner serves a term of four years. In addition, the Auditor, who serves as the chief fiscal officer and
real estate property assessor for the County, and the Treasurer, who collects property taxes and is the
custodian of all funds, are also elected to four-year terms. Other elected officials serving four-year terms
include the Prosecuting Attorney, Sheriff, Engineer, Clerk of Courts, Recorder, and Coroner. Judges presiding
over the Court of Common Pleas, Domestic Relations Court, Juvenile Court, Probate Court, and the County
Court are also elected on a countywide basis.

The County provides its citizens with a wide range of services that include human and social services, health
and community assistance related services, civil and criminal justice system services, road and bridge
maintenance, and other general and administrative support services. The County maintains enterprise funds to
account for the water and sewer system operations and internal service funds for workers’ compensation and
health insurance.

The financial statements contained within this Annual Comprehensive Financial Report includes all funds,
agencies, boards and commissions for which the County elected officials are financially accountable. A
complete discussion of the County’s reporting entity is provided in Note 1 to the basic financial statements.



ECONOMIC CONDITION AND OUTLOOK

Seventh largest among the state’s 88 counties, Butler County’s 2022 population estimate as of July 1, released
by the U.S. Census Bureau, was 388,420. This is a slight increase from the revised population estimate of July
1, 2021 of 387,791.

Butler’s official 2020 Census population was 390,357. This total reflected an increase of 22,227 people since
the 2010 Census — the fourth largest total increase among all the state’s counties. Butler County’s percentage
increase of 6.0 percent made it just one of eight counties in the state to record a percentage increase of at least
6.0 percent between the 2010 and 2020 censuses.

Ranking 190th in population out of 3,144 counties in the nation according to the 2022 annual estimates of
resident population, Butler is among the top six percent of all U.S. counties in terms of total population. Served
by rail lines, interstate highways, two nearby international airports and high-speed fiber-optic data
communications, Butler County is an ideal location for businesses to locate and prosper.

Taxpayers continue to benefit from the County’s bond rating. Moody’s Investors Service upgraded Butler
County to its highest level, Aaa, in late 2018. This bond rating — comparable to an 800-level personal credit
score — allows the County to get favorable interest rates on new capital projects like roads and buildings and on
refinancing existing debt.

Butler County’s annual unemployment rate was 3.5 percent in 2022, down from 4.5 percent in 2021 and the
COVID fueled rate of 7.2 percent in 2020. Butler County’s 2022 rate compares favorably to the national
unemployment rate of 3.6 percent and 4.0 percent in the state of Ohio.

According to the latest data from the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS), the average weekly wage in Butler
County in the third quarter of 2022 was $1,143. It increased by $38 compared to second quarter 2022, and
increased by $84 compared to the third quarter 2021 wage of $1,059.

Butler County was again well represented on the 2022 Deloitte Cincinnati USA Top 100 list of the largest
privately owned businesses in the Cincinnati region (based on 2021 revenue).

Performance Automotive Network of Fairfield was 3rd on the list, followed by these fellow top-50 companies —
Lithko Contracting, West Chester, 11; Cohen Recycling, Middletown, 22; Republic Wire, West Chester, 32;
Pilot Chemical Co., West Chester, 38; Hightowers Petroleum, Middletown, 42; and Totes Isotoner, West
Chester, 50.

Another company placing in the Top 10 that is headquartered locally is Baker Concrete Construction of
Monroe, which placed 7th.

Others in the top 100: Storopack North America, West Chester (61); Ripple Junction Design Co., West Chester
(69); BGR, West Chester (76); ODW Logistics & Transportation Services LLC, Hamilton (80); Planes Cos.,
West Chester (83); Richard Goettle Inc., Fairfield (87).

Ohio, usually first or second the past several years, placed third for total projects overall in Site Selection
magazine’s Governor’'s Cup 2022. The Governor’'s Cup recognizes the top states in the nation at attracting new
economic development. Ohio had 479 qualified projects while Texas had 1,028 and lllinois 487. In the per
capita category, Ohio was also third, behind Kansas and Kentucky. Ohio was No. 1 in that category in 2020
and fourth in 2021. The measurements are based on new business projects with significant impact, including
headquarters, manufacturing plants, R&D operations and logistics sites.

West Chester Township has emerged as the economic center not only of the county but of the Cincinnati-
Dayton region with more than 3,600 businesses, 58,000 employees and 192 companies headquartered in the
township. West Chester was recognized by Ohio Business Magazine as the “Best Community to do Business”
in 2020, 2021 and 2022 and its business footprint continues to expand.

Amazon opened a new 143,000-square-foot distribution facility in the township. The new commercial building
was constructed on a 42-acre property near Allen Road and focuses on last-mile delivery to customers.
Hundreds are now employed there.



A company spokesman for Amazon told local media that they “strategically look for locations that provide
robust public infrastructure, a strong and dedicated workforce and great local support. | think we can continue
to find all those things in the greater Cincinnati area.”

The West Chester Trade Center now has nine buildings with a total of more than 2.3 million square-feet under
roof as 2022 saw the completion of buildings 8 and 9. Those two buildings alone added more than 500,000
square-feet combined to NorthPoint’s portfolio in the West Chester market.

Through 2021, the project represented a capital investment of more than $162 million, and has generated more
than 2,000 new jobs in the Union Centre area.

NorthPoint Development has also announced plans to develop 80 additional acres where it will expand the
trade center by adding three more buildings in the near future.

And then there’s Gateway at West Chester, a $265-million mixed-use development by Dillin covering 98 acres
that will consist of corporate office sites, restaurants, retail, entertainment, senior living and a 322-unit multi-
family project by NorthPoint Development. The development stretches from I-75 and Union Centre Boulevard
to Cincinnati Dayton Road.

Site development has been designated to occur in five phases with construction not expected to be completed
until 2026, including development of public parks and a trails system that will run along the east fork of the Mill
Creek.

The city of Hamilton continues to receive good business development news.

Spooky Nook at Champion Mill, a 1-million square-foot indoor sports complex and convention center, finally
opened in 2022 as the largest indoor sports complex in North America. The 233-room Warehouse Hotel and
the Champion Mill Conference Center debuted first along North B Street and then on the west side of the street
Spooky Nook Sports Champion Mill began hosting events.

Spooky Nook’s rehabilitation of the former Champion Paper Mill earned the $165 million project a pair of
historical preservation awards — Heritage Ohio’s Best Commercial Building Rehabilitation in a Large
Community and Best Public-Private Partnership.

The Hamilton project is similar to Spooky Nook Sports, which opened in 2013 near Lancaster, Pa. That site, at
about 700,000 square-feet, had a nearly $55-million economic impact, including $15.5 million in revenue and
$39.2 million in off-site ancillary spending by multi-day attendees in 2017. The facility served 1.4 million people
in 2019, according to the company.

Another redevelopment project in Hamilton, spurred by an expected increase in visitors due to Spooky Nook,
is the $16-million conversion of the Anthony Wayne building near the river into a Tapestry Collection by
Hilton boutique hotel.

ThyssenKrupp Bilstein of America moved forward with an expansion project expected to create 75 full-time
positions and retain 586, generating $6 million in new annual payroll and retaining $36 million in existing
payroll.

Vinylmax expects to create 150 full-time positions and retain 274, generating $5.6 million in new annual payroll
and retaining $8.8 million in existing payroll as a result of the company’s 150,000 square-foot expansion
project. The project was making its way through planning in 2022.

Also, the Spain-based Saica Group opened its first U.S. operations in Hamilton at its new $72-million
corrugated box-making facility in Hamilton’s Enterprise Park. The 350,000 square-foot plant is Saica’s first in
North America. The new manufacturing facility is expected to create 64 jobs over three years. The company’s
current U.S. headquarters is located in Hamilton’s city-government tower.

Third Eye Brewing announced plans to open a production facility in the city in the former Pepsi bottling plant on
Erie Blvd. The new facility will increase the brewery’s production from 2,000 to 10,000 barrels annually.

In the city of Fairfield, Koch Foods received a 10-year, 75 percent tax exemption in 2021 to aid the $220-million
expansion of its campus and increase its number of employees by 600 over several years. Koch constructed a
new 400,000-square-foot manufacturing facility that added five production lines to the poultry processing
business. The total capital investment in the project was expected to exceed $300 million, according to the
company.
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Another of Fairfield’s largest employers, Pacific Manufacturing, has an expansion and a new-build in the works.
In exchange for an eight-year, 75 percent property tax incentive on the assessed value of the expansion, the
company agreed to create at least 30 new jobs, six by late 2022 and another 24 by April 2023. It will also retain
797 full-time existing jobs.

Also in Fairfield, Hilco Vision began a new manufacturing operation at Fairfield Commerce Park. The company
planned to create 150 new jobs in its first year of occupancy and have a total of 200 jobs — or more - at the
Fairfield facility by 2024, which would generate $6.4 million in new annual payroll, according to the Ohio Tax
Credit Authority (TCA). Hilco signed a 12-year lease with the building’s new owner, Black Creek Group, in
2021.

In late 2021, the city of Middletown approved a 10-year, 75 percent property tax incentive to help offset
construction costs for Phoenix Metals to build a 156,000-square-foot facility at the MADE Industrial Park. The
company is planning to invest $15 million and payroll is expected to increase over three years from $3.9 million
to $4.5 million due to the 20 new positions.

MAJOR INITIATIVES
Water System

The Butler County Water System serves residential and commercial customers in the southeast portion of
Butler County including West Chester, Liberty and Fairfield Townships. Additionally, the system serves
wholesale water to the City of Monroe. The water system consists of five pump stations, eleven storage
facilities and 668 miles of water mains.

Projects during 2022 included the completion of a cast iron water main replacement project in the Dutchland
Woods Subdivision of Liberty Township, the replacement of the cast iron water mains at the Princeton Road
elevated storage tank and the design of a pressure reducing valve to allow an additional water supply to the
growing Union Centre central business and residential area.

Sewer System

The Butler County Sewer System also serves the southeast portion of Butler County and additionally services
New Miami and portions of Ross, Hanover, and St. Clair Townships as well as a portion of Warren County.
The sewer system consists of 809 miles of sewer mains, 32 pumping stations, three satellite treatment plants,
and two regional water reclamation facilities (WRF). This system transports and treats wastewater and returns
clean water to our rivers and streams. Improvements during 2022 included the commencement of a biosolids
dryer design for the UMC WRF. This dryer will reduce the quantity of biosolids to dispose of from this facility by
80 percent.

RECYCLING PROGRAMS

Butler County Recycling & Solid Waste District operates according to its Ohio EPA approved solid waste
management plan that includes annual provision of recycling programs for hard to manage materials including
household hazardous waste (HHW), E-Waste and waste tires. In addition to these 2022 special collection
programs, Butler County Recycling provided ongoing education to residents about managing seasonal waste,
prescription medications, document shredding opportunities, and disposing of latex paint. To maintain
compliance with Ohio EPA’s ‘Access to Recycling Goal’, Butler County Recycling provides year round
community recycling drop off at no cost to consumers at 24 public recycling sites which accept common
household recyclables - paper, glass, plastic and cardboard. Information about the above programs is
distributed through digital and print media and via the Butler County Recycling website and Facebook page.

In 2021, Butler County Recycling was awarded state grant funding from Ohio EPA as part of the Recycle Ohio
Grant (ROG) program. This funding will be used to help support two private sector companies operating in
Butler County: Rumpke Waste & Recycling of New Miami and Royal Paper Stock Co, Inc. of West Chester.
Grant monies will be used to help expand recycling programs through equipment purchases. The companies
have up to 24 months from the original award date of July 1, 2021 to make qualifying purchases for
reimbursement. In November 2022, Butler County disbursed $199,588 of grant funds to Rumpke Waste &
Recycling for shredding, metal detecting, and slider bed conveyer equipment purchases. The County expects
to disburse the remaining grant funds to Royal Paper Stock Co, Inc. in 2023.
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In 2022, Butler County Recycling received $22,708 in state grant funding from Ohio EPA as part of its recycling
partnership program. Butler County partnered with the city of Hamilton to support recycling outreach
throughout the city. Campaigns were conducted to audit recycling carts in chosen neighborhoods as a means
of educating citizens about recycling to reduce recycling contamination. Butler County has helped support
similar programs in the past by partnering with the city of Fairfield.

To fund implementation of the solid waste management plan, Butler County Recycling relies on a solid waste
generation fee of $1/ton which is collected at waste facilities in Ohio and remitted to Butler County each month.

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS

The Board of County Commissioners is charged with the responsibility of maintaining the facilities and
equipment that serve the primary government offices of the County.

In 2022, the County completed many projects including bridge replacements, culvert replacements and
roadway improvements such as the Liberty Center Interchange & Cox Rd extension which will provide
additional access to West Chester and Liberty Township. The |-75 corridor in Butler County continues to be a
focus of development with many new hospitals and medical facilities that opened in 2022. In addition to the
businesses mentioned above, Butler County continues to be a hot spot for corporate and industrial
development. This growth is attributed to a collaborative effort to improve State, Township and County owned
infrastructure within Butler County proving access in and out of various communities.

FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Basis of Accounting

The County’s records are maintained on a cash basis for all funds. At year-end, adjusting entries are prepared
for the various funds to convert the cash basis records to the modified accrual basis of accounting for all
governmental funds and to the accrual basis for proprietary funds. Modified accrual accounting requires that
revenues be recognized when both measurable and available. Expenditures, other than interest and principal
on long-term debt, are recorded when fund liabilities are incurred. The accrual basis of accounting used for the
proprietary funds recognizes revenues when earned and expenses when incurred.

Internal Control

The County’s system of internal accounting controls is designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance that (1) financial transactions are processed in accordance with management’s authorization, (2)
transactions comply with County policies and Ohio law, and (3) financial records are reliable for preparing
financial statements and maintaining accountability for assets and obligations. The concept of reasonable
assurance recognizes that the cost of internal control should not exceed the benefits likely to be derived from
its implementation and that the evaluation of costs and benefits require estimates and judgments by
management.

Budgetary Control

By early January, the Board of County Commissioners adopts the annual appropriation measure for all funds,
except for custodial funds. All disbursements and transfers of cash between funds, other than custodial funds,
require appropriation authority from the County Commissioners. The legal level of control has been
established by the County Commissioners at the fund, program, department, and object level. All purchase
orders and contracts must be approved by a majority of the Board of County Commissioners except where
another board or elected official is given this responsibility by statute.

As contracts and purchase orders are issued to vendors, corresponding amounts of appropriations are
reserved by the use of encumbrances to ensure that appropriations are not overspent. Contracts or purchase
orders that exceed available appropriations are rejected by the accounting system until additional
appropriations are obtained. A description of the various funds and the basis of accounting are included in
Note 2 to the basic financial statements.
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Cash Balance Level of Reserves Policy

The Board of County Commissioners adopted a reserve policy for the General Fund and Water and Sewer
Funds. This policy was established to achieve and maintain adequate reserves to ensure adequate cash flow
and to minimize any impact on services to citizens during economic ups and downs.

Fund reserves for the General Fund have been defined as the unencumbered year-end cash balance. The
level of General Fund reserves is presented as a percentage, based upon the ratio of year-end reserves to the
projected general fund budget for the following year. Policy guidelines recommend a reserve level of 15-20
percent of the following year's General Fund budget and should not drop below 10 percent.

In 2022, the Board of County Commissioners established a Budget Stabilization reserve funding at a
$15,000,000 level in the General Fund. The Budget Stabilization reserve was established to stabilize against
cyclical changes in revenues and expenditures.

Butler County management recognizes the need to maintain adequate levels of cash in the water and sewer
funds, while avoiding the accumulation of unnecessarily high levels of cash over extended periods of time. The
policy states the desire of the County to maintain a cash balance equating to not less than one-fourth of the
operating and maintenance expenses for the year immediately preceding. The reserve policy reflects
management’s intentions with regard to minimum cash or fund balances, consistent with covenants detailed in
the various, applicable revenue bond indentures. Covenants essentially refer to cash flows and cash balances
when addressing fund requirements, fund balances, and debt service coverage, and other financial matters.
According to the policy, the cash balance policy requirement for 2022 was $15 million and the total cash
balance of the water and sewer funds was $96,565,578.

Independent Audit

Included in this report is the Auditor of State’s unmodified opinion rendered on the County’s basic financial
statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2022. An independent audit of the County’s financial
statements is part of the annual preparation of the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report. This annual
independent audit continues to provide a review and comments which strengthen the County’s accounting and
budgetary controls.

GFOA Certificate of Achievement

The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) awarded a Certificate
of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to Butler County for its annual comprehensive financial
report for the year ended December 31, 2021. In order to be awarded a Certificate of Achievement, a
government unit must publish an easily readable and efficiently organized annual comprehensive financial
report. This report must satisfy both generally accepted accounting principles and applicable legal
requirements.

A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year only. We believe that our current annual
comprehensive financial report continues to meet the Certificate of Achievement Program’s requirements and
we are submitting it to the GFOA to determine its eligibility for another certificate.
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It is the mission of the Auditor's office to bring a high level of professionalism to Butler County government and
to better inform and educate its citizens. Through the issuance of this Annual Comprehensive Financial
Report, the County remains accountable to the public, and the public trust with which we have been provided,
is retained. This report provides a fair representation of the financial condition of the County as of and for the
year ended December 31, 2022. We ask for your continuing support of this project and in our efforts to best
serve the citizens of Butler County.

Sincerely,

:2 ‘
Nancy Nix, CPA

Butler County Auditor
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OHIO AUDITOR OF STATE Columbus, Ohio 13215

ContactUs@ohioauditor.gov

KEITH FABER (800) 2620570

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Butler County
315 High Street
Hamilton, Ohio 45011

To the Board of Commissioners:
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinions

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the
aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund
information of the Butler County, Ohio (County), as of and for the year ended December 31, 2022, and the
related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the County’s basic financial
statements as listed in the table of contents.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the
aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund
information of the Butler County, Ohio as of December 31, 2022, and the respective changes in financial
position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof and the respective budgetary comparisons for the
General, Mental Health and Addiction Recovery Services Board, Developmental Disabilities, Job and
Family Services/Children Services Agency, Residential Incentive Districts and Tax Incremental Financings,
and County American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) Relief funds for the year then ended in accordance with the
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinions

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
section of our report. We are required to be independent of the County, and to meet our other ethical
responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.

Emphasis of Matter

As discussed in Note 3 to the financial statements, during 2022, the County adopted new accounting
guidance in Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 87, Leases. The County
also restated the beginning balance in the custodial funds for special assessments distributions to other
governments. Our opinion is not modified with respect to these matters.

Efficient . Effective . Transparent
1
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Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or
events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the County’s ability to continue as
a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known
information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes
our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and
therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing
Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are
considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would
influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we
e exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

e identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures
include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements.

e obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the County’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

e evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the
financial statements.

e conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that
raise substantial doubt about the County’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable
period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters
that we identified during the audit.
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Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s
discussion and analysis, schedules for infrastructure assets accounted for using the modified approach,
and schedules of net pension and other post-employment benefit liabilities and pension and other post-
employment benefit contributions be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such
information is the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic financial statements,
is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of
financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or
historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information
in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted
of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information
for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other
knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion
or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with
sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Supplementary information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the County’s basic financial statements. The combining and individual nonmajor fund financial
statements and schedules are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of
the basic financial statements.

Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The information
has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and
certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic
financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the accompanying supplementary
information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information included in the annual financial report. The other
information comprises the introductory and statistical sections but does not include the basic financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinions on the basic financial statements do not cover
the other information, and we do not express an opinion or any form of assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the basic financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and consider whether a material inconsistency exists between the other information and the
basic financial statements, or the other information otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work performed, we conclude that an uncorrected material misstatement of the other information
exists, we are required to describe it in our report.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated September 26,
2023, on our consideration of the County’s internal control over financial reporting and our tests of its
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements and other matters.
The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial
reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness
of the County's internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of
an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the County's internal
control over financial reporting and compliance.



Butler County
Independent Auditor’s Report
Page 4

Nl

Keith Faber
Auditor of State
Columbus, Ohio
September 26, 2023



BUTLER COUNTY, OHIO

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022
(Unaudited)

Management’s Discussion and Analysis offers an introspective look at the finances of Butler County for the year ended
December 31, 2022 and provides a readable overview of the County’s financial performance. In addition to the
information presented here, readers are encouraged to review the transmittal letter, found on page iv, and the County’s
financial statements, beginning on page 18, for a more complete picture of Butler County’s financial performance.

Financial Highlights
Key financial highlights for 2022 are as follows:

e In December 2021, the Butler County Board of Commissioners determined permissive sales tax collections,
along with other revenue sources, would exceed the need to fund the general operating costs of the County in
2022. Consequently, the board voted to temporarily reduce inside real estate tax millage from 1.92 mills to zero
mills for tax year 2021 collected in 2022 to lessen taxpayer burden. This lead to a significant reduction in
property tax revenues for the General Fund in 2022.

e After receiving a second $37.2 million tranche of federal American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) grant funding in
July 2022, the County disbursed several million dollars in subgrants to various local non-profit agencies and
health care providers. These subgrants were the County’s first ARPA grant expenses. Consequently, total
2022 governmental expenses were substantially higher than 2021 governmental expenses. Major projects
include the creation of a workforce development center, the renovation and expansion of two local community
centers, the remediation of the former Middletown Paperboard Mill site, and the replacement of a mobile dental
clinic.

e There was an overall decrease in governmental funds’ ending balance due to decreased revenue and increased
expenses for 2022. The revenue decrease was primarily due to the reduction of inside millage. Expenditure
increases were mainly due to the ARPA projects discussed above as well as increased contractual obligations
for intergovernmental projects and additional building maintenance and repair projects.

e The County’s net pension liability decreased substantially in 2022 due to changes in the demographic and
economic assumptions used to determine the actuarial valuation.

e At year end, Butler County had a total of $61.3 million in outstanding long-term debt, a 4.9 percent increase from
the previous year. This increase is due to the issuance of new general obligation bonds and refunding bonds
totaling $16.8 million.

Overview of the Financial Statements

This discussion and analysis introduces you to Butler County’s basic financial statements, which are made up of three
components: 1) government-wide financial statements, 2) fund financial statements, and 3) notes to the financial
statements. Other supplementary information is also contained within this report, including required supplementary
information (RSI) on pension and infrastructure, the combining financial statements, individual fund schedules and
statistical information.

Government-Wide Financial Statements

Butler County’s government-wide financial statements include a Statement of Net Position and a Statement of Activities,
which report the financial activities of the Butler County government as a whole, giving the reader a summary of County
finances with a view of the bottom-line results of the County’s operations. These statements are prepared using the
economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting, similar to financial statements prepared in
the private sector. As a result, all assets and deferred outflows of resources and liabilities and deferred inflows of
resources of the County are accrued, and revenues and expenses are reported in the current year regardless of when
the resulting cash flows occur.

The County’s financial activities are identified in the government-wide financial statements as governmental activities or
business-type activities.
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Governmental Activities

Governmental activities constitute the majority of the County’s operations and are financed primarily by operating
grants, taxes, charges for services, capital grants, and other intergovernmental revenues. Butler County’s governmental
activities are accounted for in governmental funds and are classified as follows:

Legislative and Executive - general government operations including the offices of the Commissioners, Auditor,
Treasurer, Prosecutor, Recorder, department of development, public defender, information services, board of
elections, maintenance department, economic development, and records center.

Legislative and Executive — Intergovernmental — compensation agreements related to tax incremental financing
and residential incentive districts where the county is paying the various school districts and townships.

Judicial - court related activities including the operations of the common pleas court, probate court, area courts,
juvenile court, domestic relations court, municipal court, court services, court of appeals, and clerk of courts.

Public Safety - activities associated with the protection of the public including the sheriff's operations, juvenile
detention center, adult probation department, County paramedics, office of the coroner, and the criminal justice
board.

Public Works - activities associated with maintaining county roads and bridges, the Butler County Regional
Airport, litter control, and other associated community grant programs.

Public Works — Intergovernmental - activities associated with maintaining roads in Butler County where the
County is using local or grant funds to improve township or state owned roads.

Health- activities aimed at serving the public health, including activities provided by the Board of Developmental
Disabilities, Mental Health Board, and the Alcohol and Drug Addiction Services Board.

Health — Intergovernmental — funding agreements related to the creation of public health services programs
where the County is using grant funds to improve assets owned by health care providers.

Human Services- activities related to the provision of various forms of services and assistance to individuals,
children, and families, including services provided or funded by the County Care Facility, Elderly Services Levy,
Veterans Service Commission, Children Services Agency, Child Support Enforcement Agency, and the
Department of Job and Family Services.

Human Services — Intergovernmental — funding agreements associated with the creation of job development
programs and a workforce development center where the County is using grant funds to improve assets owned
by Miami University.

Conservation and Recreation- activities associated with conserving and maintaining the beauty of county lands,
including the services provided through the Ohio State Agriculture Program and the Butler County Soil and
Water Conservation District. Also activities associated with lodging and recreational activities.

Conservation and Recreation — Intergovernmental — funding agreements related to accelerating the county’s
travel industry and conserving and maintaining county lands where the county is using grant funds to improve
community centers owned by local non-profit agencies.

Interest and Fiscal Charges- activities related to expenditures on County bonds and notes for interest and
related costs to issue debt.

Business-type activities

Business-type activities are those activities accounted for in enterprise funds, including the County’s Water and Sewer
operations. Business-type activities rely on user fees and other charges to wholly, or to a large extent, fund their
operations.
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Statement of Net Position

The Statement of Net Position reports all assets and deferred outflows of resources, and liabilities and deferred inflows
of resources of the County, with net position being the difference between all elements. This statement is useful when
evaluating the financial condition of the County. Monitoring the changes to net position over time is one indication of
whether the County’s financial condition is improving or deteriorating.

Statement of Activities

The Statement of Activities reports, for the current year, the changes to the County’s net position, which is the
difference between all other elements in a statement of financial position. However, the format of this statement departs
from the more traditional “revenues less expenses equal net position” format you may see in the private sector.

Generally, private sector goals are to generate income, or simply put, maximize revenues. As such, private sector
operating statements present revenues first. Expenses, which reduce revenue maximization, are presented next as a
deduction against those revenues.

Public sector goals are different in that servicing the needs of the citizens, or spending, is what drives the financial
activities. Thus, the Statement of Activities is designed to present expenses before revenues in order to emphasize that
service activities dictate the level of resources that are required to be generated.

In the County’s Statement of Activities, resources used to fund service activities are identified as either program
revenues (resources received from people receiving services or in the form of operating and capital grants and
contributions and interest) or general revenues (all non-program revenues, including taxes). Butler County operations
have also been classified into distinct governmental or business-type service activities.

These activities are reported in a format that allows the reader to see the extent to which each activity is supported or
self-financed by program revenues or drawn from the general resources of the County. Therefore, the Statement of
Activities is useful in assessing the level of self-sufficiency of the various governmental or business-type activities
versus management established performance benchmarks.

The government-wide financial statements begin on page 18 of this report.

Fund Financial Statements

A fund is an accounting term referring to a segregated group of accounts used to account for and to assist with the
management of financial resources received. Various funds may be established to account for specific activities or
objectives of the County, and to demonstrate compliance with finance related legal requirements associated with those
resources.

Fund financial statements provide additional and more detailed information about the County with an emphasis on
major funds. Major funds are those governmental or enterprise funds that have been determined to be the most
significant based on a defined set of financial criteria, as well as any other funds deemed to be particularly important to
readers because of public interest or to ensure consistency between years. Information is presented separately in the
fund financial statements for each of the major funds. Information for all non-major funds is aggregated and presented
in a separate column on the fund financial statements. Detailed data for each of the non-major funds is provided in the
combining statements and individual fund schedules that follow the basic financial statements.

All funds of Butler County are classified into one of three fund categories: governmental, proprietary or fiduciary.
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Governmental Funds - Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements, but use a different measurement focus.
Governmental fund financial statements are prepared using the current financial resources measurement focus and
modified accrual basis of accounting, a short-term view focusing on the flow of monies into and out of the funds and the
year-end balances available for near-future spending. This is in contrast to the government-wide financial statements
that incorporate a longer-term focus. The reconciliations included in the governmental fund financial statements
compare the governmental funds information to the governmental activities information as reported in the government-
wide financial statements.

Butler County maintains numerous individual governmental funds, the following of which are considered major funds:
General, Mental Health and Addiction Recovery Services Board, Developmental Disabilities, Job and Family
Services/Children Services Agency, Residential Incentive Districts and Tax Increment Financings, and County
ARPA Relief Fund. The basic governmental fund financial statements begin on page 22 of this report.

Proprietary Funds - The County uses two types of proprietary funds, enterprise funds and internal service funds. Since
the proprietary fund financial statements are prepared using the same measurement focus and basis of accounting as
the government-wide financial statements, they provide the same type of information, only in greater detail.

Enterprise funds are used to account for the County’s water and sewer operations, which are the business-type
activities reported in the government-wide financial statements.

Internal service funds are used to account for the financing of services provided by one department to other
departments in the county on a cost-reimbursement basis. The County uses internal service funds to account for its
health insurance and workers’ compensation. Since these programs mostly benefit governmental rather than business
functions, they have been included in the governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. The
basic proprietary fund financial statements begin on page 35 of this report.

Fiduciary Funds - Fiduciary funds are used to account for assets held by the County in a purely custodial capacity.
Fiduciary funds are not presented in the government-wide financial statements as their resources are not available to
support the County’s governmental or business-type activities. The basic fiduciary fund financial statements begin on
page 39 of this report.

Notes to the Financial Statements

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of the basic financial statements, providing additional
important disclosures essential for a complete understanding of the financial data reported in the government-wide and
fund financial statements. The notes to the financial statements begin on page 41 of this report.

To summarize, the government-wide financial statements report the County’s activities as a whole, using a long-term,
economic resources measurement focus while the fund financial statements report financial activities in more detail,
with a shorter-term focus and emphasis on major funds. More simply, the primary focus of government-wide financial
statements is demonstrating operational accountability, while the primary focus of the governmental fund financial
statements is demonstrating fiscal accountability. Butler County management believes these basic financial statements
provide the reader with the best information yet available to assess the level of Butler County’s fiscal and operational
accountability, both short-term and long-term.

Government-Wide Financial Analysis
The County recorded a $48.1 million increase in total net position in 2022 due to governmental and business-type

activities. Governmental activities increased $28.2 million while business-type activities increased $19.9 million. Capital
assets are used to provide services to residents and do not represent assets that may be used for future spending.
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Table 1
Net Position
Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total
Restated Restated Restated
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

Assets
Current and Other Assets $ 568,641,446 $ 513,775,610 $ 106,150,859 $ 88,427,672 $ 674,792,305 $ 602,203,282
Capital Assets, Net 383,564,631 386,445,607 286,493,328 291,244,744 670,057,959 677,690,351
Total Assets 952,206,077 900,221,217 392,644,187 379,672,416 1,344,850,264 1,279,893,633
Deferred Outflows of Resources
Deferred Charges on Refunding 42,355 - 95,104 193,916 137,459 193,916
Pension 23,475,057 13,306,085 1,570,241 893,216 25,045,298 14,199,301
OPEB 345,555 5,410,000 23,037 360,726 368,592 5,770,726
Total Deferred Outflows on Resources 23,862,967 18,716,085 1,688,382 1,447,858 25,551,349 20,163,943
Liabilities
Current and Other Liabiliites 87,263,601 58,229,922 4,849,899 3,515,379 92,113,500 61,745,301
Long-Term Liabilities:

Due Within One Year 8,766,925 9,238,100 6,045,510 5,694,365 14,812,435 14,932,465

Due in More than One Year 46,939,285 46,801,947 34,494,633 40,814,255 81,433,918 87,616,202

Net Pension Liability 54,614,521 90,610,816 3,640,966 6,040,719 58,255,487 96,651,535

Total Liabilities 197,584,332 204,880,785 49,031,008 56,064,718 246,615,340 260,945,503
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Deferred Charge on Refunding 30,015 42,814 - - 30,015 42,814
Property Taxes 77,295,623 54,634,473 - - 77,295,623 54,634,473
Payment In Lieu of Taxes 13,692,661 13,421,245 - - 13,692,661 13,421,245
Pension 66,948,789 40,218,627 4,463,398 3,007,118 71,412,187 43,225,745
OPEB 20,077,503 33,359,437 1,338,500 2,435,394 21,416,003 35,794,831
Leases 8,618,320 8,760,050 - - 8,618,320 8,760,050
Total Deferred Inflows 186,662,911 150,436,646 5,801,898 5,442,512 192,464,809 155,879,158
Net Position
Net Investment in Capital Assets 378,747,170 381,700,095 245,220,939 245,663,153 623,968,109 627,363,248
Restricted 197,638,668 184,149,217 5,439,081 5,413,738 203,077,749 189,562,955
Unrestricted (Deficit) 15,435,963 (2,229,441) 88,839,643 68,536,153 104,275,606 66,306,712
Total Net Position $ 591,821,801 $ 563,619,871 $ 339,499,663 $ 319,613,044 $ 931,321,464 $ 883,232,915

The net pension liability (NPL) is the largest single liability reported by the County at December 31, 2022, and is
reported pursuant to GASB Statement 68, “Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions—an Amendment of GASB
Statement 27.” The County adopted GASB Statement 75, “Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment
Benefits Other Than Pensions”. For reasons discussed below, many end users of this financial statement will gain a
clearer understanding of the County’s actual financial condition by adding deferred inflows related to pension and
OPEB, the net pension liability and the net OPEB liability to the reported net position and subtracting the net pension
asset and deferred outflows related to pension and OPEB.

Governmental Accounting Standards Board standards are national and apply to all government financial reports
prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Prior accounting for pensions (GASB 27) and
postemployment benefits (GASB 45) focused on a funding approach. This approach limited pension and OPEB costs
to contributions annually required by law, which may or may not be sufficient to fully fund each plan’s net pension
liability or net OPEB liability. GASB 68 and GASB 75 take an earnings approach to pension and OPEB accounting;
however, the nature of Ohio’s statewide pension/OPEB plans and state law governing those systems requires additional
explanation in order to properly understand the information presented in these statements.

GASB 68 and GASB 75 require the net pension liability (asset) and the net OPEB liability (assets) to equal the County’s
proportionate share of each plan’s collective:
1. Present value of estimated future pension/OPEB benefits attributable to active and inactive employees’ past
service.
2. Minus plan assets available to pay these benefits.

GASB notes that pension and OPEB obligations, whether funded or unfunded, are part of the “employment exchange” —
that is, the employee is trading his or her labor in exchange for wages, benefits, and the promise of a future pension
and other postemployment benefits. GASB noted that the unfunded portion of this promise is a present obligation of the
government, part of a bargained-for benefit to the employee, and should accordingly be reported by the government as
a liability since they received the benefit of the exchange. However, the County is not responsible for certain key
factors affecting the balance of these liabilities. In Ohio, the employee shares the obligation of funding pension benefits
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with the employer. Both employer and employee contribution rates are capped by State statute. A change in these
caps requires action of both Houses of the General Assembly and approval of the Governor. Benefit provisions are also
determined by State statute. The Ohio Revised Code permits, but does not require the retirement systems to provide
healthcare to eligible benefit recipients. The retirement systems may allocate a portion of the employer contributions to
provide for these OPEB benefits.

The employee enters the employment exchange with the knowledge that the employer’s promise is limited not by
contract but by law. The employer enters the exchange also knowing that there is a specific, legal limit to its
contribution to the retirement system. In Ohio, there is no legal means to enforce the unfunded liability of the
pension/OPEB plan as against the public employer. State law operates to mitigate/lessen the moral obligation of the
public employer to the employee, because all parties enter the employment exchange with notice as to the law. The
retirement system is responsible for the administration of the pension and OPEB plans.

Most long-term liabilities have set repayment schedules or, in the case of compensated absences (i.e. sick and vacation
leave), are satisfied through paid time-off or termination payments. There is no repayment schedule for the net pension
liability or the net OPEB liability. As explained above, changes in benefits, contribution rates, and return on investments
affect the balance of these liabilities, but are outside the control of the local government. In the event that contributions,
investment returns, and other changes are insufficient to keep up with required payments, State statute does not
assign/identify the responsible party for the unfunded portion. Due to the unique nature of how the net pension liability
and the net OPEB liability are satisfied, these liabilities are separately identified within the long-term liability section of
the statement of net position.

In accordance with GASB 68 and GASB 75, the County’s statements prepared on an accrual basis of accounting
include an annual pension expense and an annual OPEB expense for their proportionate share of each plan’s change
in net pension liability (asset) and net OPEB liability, respectively, not accounted for as deferred inflows/outflows.

Total assets increased $65.0 million in 2022 as shown in Table 1. The greatest increase was for Current and Other
Assets and was partially due to the receipt of the County’s second tranche of federal ARPA grant funds. In addition to
this, the total governmental property tax receivable increased considerably from the prior year. This was due to the
absence of a General Fund property tax receivable in 2021 owing to the temporary reduction of inside real estate tax
millage.

Deferred inflows of resources increased $36.6 million primarily due to change in Pension. The Pension deferred inflows
increased $28.2 million mainly due to the State-wide pension systems’ new difference between projected and actual
earnings on pension plan investments. Property taxes deferred inflows also increased significantly. Again, this
increase can be contributed to the temporary reduction of inside real estate millage.

The increase in assets and deferred inflows of resources helped contribute to an increase in total net position in 2022.
The most significant increases for both governmental and business type activities were in unrestricted with business
type activities seeing the largest increase. This was a result of charges for services revenue exceeding operating
expenses which led to an increase in cash and cash equivalents. Total liabilities also decreased for business type
activities as a result of debt payments made throughout the year.

Governmental Activities: Total governmental assets increased $52.0 million in 2022 due to reasons discussed above.
There was also a significant increase in Current and Other Liabilities. This was due to the receipt of the federal ARPA
grant funds which increased the County’s unearned revenue liability by $25.4 million. However, this increase was offset
by a substantial decrease in the net pension liability. Net pension liability decreased $36.0 million due to member
contributions, changes in assumptions, and differences between expensed and actual earning on investments reported
by the pension system.

Program revenues supporting governmental activities increased from $170.4 million in 2021 to $180.2 million in 2022.
The largest increase was for Capital Grants, Contributions and Interest and was due to additional grant monies received
by the County. Charges for Services decreased mostly in Public Safety as a result of lessening boarding of prisoners in
2022.
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General revenues for 2022 were $126.2 million, down from $162.9 million in 2021. This decrease is mostly due to the
temporary reduction of inside real estate tax millage. The County also experienced a significant loss on investment
earnings for 2022.

The County’s governmental activities’ program expenses increased significantly in 2022. The largest changes were in
Legislative and Executive, Public Safety, and Public Works — Intergovernmental and were due to increased expenses
related to maintenance and repairs, personal services, pension and OPEB, road improvement projects, and contractual
obligations related to intergovernmental projects. There were also new expense categories reported in 2022: Health —
Intergovernmental, Human Services — Intergovernmental, and Conservation and Recreation — Intergovernmental.
These categories represent expenses related to federal ARPA grant funded projects. Since the projects relate to assets
owned by local non-profit agencies and health care providers, they are categorized as intergovernmental expenses.

Table 2
Changes in Net Position

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total
Revenues 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
Program Revenues:
Charges for Services $ 58,578,438 $ 61,458,014 $ 44,392,714 $ 42,788,500 $ 102,971,152 $ 104,246,514
Operating Grants, Contributions
and Interest 90,062,497 86,411,659 - - 90,062,497 86,411,659
Capital Grants, Contributions
and Interest 31,587,868 22,511,477 18,080,653 14,588,954 49,668,521 37,100,431
Program Revenues Subtotal 180,228,803 170,381,150 62,473,367 57,377,454 242,702,170 227,758,604
General Revenues:
Property Taxes 51,180,824 66,198,729 - - 51,180,824 66,198,729
Sales Taxes 56,921,771 53,845,565 56,921,771 53,845,565
Local Taxes 7,208,532 6,332,359 - - 7,208,532 6,332,359
Payment in Lieu of Taxes 13,236,993 13,455,103 13,236,993 13,455,103
Grants and Entitlements Not
Restricted to Specific Programs 9,669,371 9,949,338 9,669,371 9,949,338
Investment Earnings (16,195,114) 3,898,004 - - (16,195,114) 3,898,004
Other 4,148,336 9,192,184 532,779 275,160 4,681,115 9,467,344
General Revenues Subtotal 126,170,713 162,871,282 532,779 275160 126,703,492 163,146,442
Total Revenues $ 306,399,516 $ 333,252,432 $ 63,006,146 $ 57,652,614 $ 369,405,662 $ 390,905,046

(Continued)
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(Unaudited)

Table 2 (Continued)
Changes in Net Position

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

Program Expenses

General Government:

Legislative and Executive $ 32519924 § 18,572,710 $ -8 - § 32519,924 $ 18,572,710
Legislative and Executive - Intergovernmental 6,819,551 10,761,830 - - 6,819,551 10,761,830
Judicial 14,946,665 8,855,777 - - 14,946,665 8,855,777
Public Safety 51,170,736 35,085,648 - - 51,170,736 35,085,648
Public Works 21,786,098 13,693,198 - - 21,786,098 13,693,198
Public Works - Intergovernmental 31,442,322 16,379,116 - - 31,442,322 16,379,116
Health 42,922,763 34,866,296 - - 42,922,763 34,866,296
Health - Intergovernmental 645,526 - - - 645,526 -
Human Services 64,082,287 57,292,554 - - 64,082,287 57,292,554
Human Services - Intergovernmental 5,200,000 - - 5,200,000 -
Conservation & Recreation 2,407,199 1,768,766 - - 2,407,199 1,768,766
Conservation & Recreation - Intergovernmental 3,750,000 - - 3,750,000 -
Interest 504,515 506,630 - 504,515 506,630
Sewer - 20,553,635 17,228,881 20,553,635 17,228,881
Water - - 22,565,892 20,641,508 22,565,892 20,641,508
Total Expenses 278,197,586 197,782,525 43,119,527 37,870,389 321,317,113 235,652,914
Change in Net Position 28,201,930 135,469,907 19,886,619 19,782,225 48,088,549 155,252,132
Net Position at Beginning of Year 563,619,871 428,149,964 319,613,044 299,830,819 883,232,915 727,980,783
Net Positions at End of Year $ 591,821,801 $ 563,619,871 $ 339,499,663 $ 319,613,044 $ 931,321,464 $ 883,232,915

Business-Type Activities: The County’s water and sewer operations constitute business-type activities. In 2022, the
combined net position for these funds increased $19.9 million. This was the result of an increase in total assets and a
decrease in total liabilities. The significant increase in assets was mostly due to the growth of the funds’ equity in
pooled cash and cash equivalents which resulted from an excess of revenues over expenses. Total liabilities
decreased as a result of reductions in long-term liabilities. This was due to scheduled debt payments that occurred
throughout the year as well as a decrease in net pension liability.

Program revenues supporting business-type activities increased from $57.4 million in 2021 to $62.5 million in 2022.
This increase was mostly due to additional grant monies received by the County. The County’s business-type activities’
program expenses also increased in 2022. This increase was mostly due to increased personal service expenses
related to OPEB.

Fund Analysis

As mentioned above, various funds have been established to account for specific County activities or objectives. A
summary of the most significant fiscal activity in the County’s funds follows.

Governmental Funds: Governmental funds report County financial activity focusing on the near-term flow of
expendable resources and assists in demonstrating fiscal accountability. Thus, fund balances provide us with a
snapshot of what resources are available at year-end for near-term spending, and the analysis of changes to fund
balances over time, assists in evaluating the degree to which a specific program, or a group of activities, is “living within
its means.”
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At year-end the governmental funds’ combined ending fund balance of $298.6 million was lower than the same balance
one year ago, a $13.9 million decrease overall. Revenue and expense activity in the General Fund had the most
significant impact on this figure. More information on this activity, as well as activity in the County’s major governmental
funds, is outlined below.

The overall financial position for the General Fund, which serves as the County’s operating fund, decreased by $32.5
million in 2022. The General Fund experienced a substantial loss on investments and collected significantly less
revenue due to the temporary reduction of inside real estate tax millage. While revenues decreased, expenditures
increased. The most significant increases were for Legislative and Executive and Public Safety expenses. Increased
Public Safety expenditures were primarily due to higher personal services costs while the Legislative and Executive
increase was due to maintenance and repair projects at the County’s courthouse. Furthermore, the County made
substantial cash transfers in 2022, most notably a $15 million transfer to establish a capital improvements fund. In
addition to this, the General Fund both advanced and transferred $4 million to the County’s RID/TIF fund. This $8
million in total funding is to be used for public improvement projects related to the University Pointe TIF and Liberty
Interchange Modification Project.

The Mental Health and Addiction Recovery Services Board Fund is being reported as a major fund due to the receipt of
grants and additional funding for mental health issues and addiction recovery services. The Mental Health and Addiction
Recovery Services Board Fund balance slightly increased in 2022 due to an increase in grant funding which resulted in
an increase in intergovernmental revenue.

The Developmental Disabilities Fund ending balance decreased in 2022 as health expenditures increased in both
contractual and personal services and revenues fell short of expenditures. The increased expenditures were the result
of building maintenance costs and rate increases for staff. To address this revenue short fall, the Developmental
Disabilities Board will not reduce their property tax rate mills for tax year 2022 to be collected in 2023 as they have in
previous years. Consequently, the fund’s property tax receivable increased.

The Job and Family Services/Children Services Agency Fund ending balance increased in 2022. The two main factors
contributing to this increase were higher intergovernmental revenue and lower human services expenditures. Higher
revenue can be attributed to increased grant funding while decreased expenditures are the result of fewer staff and
lower adoptive and foster care placement costs.

The Residential Incentive Districts and Tax Incremental Financings Fund ending balance decreased $1.6 million which
was primarily due to increased expenditures for Public Works — Intergovernmental. These expenses related to road
construction projects on Liberty Way at State Route 129 as well as the new Cox Rd interchange. These roads are
owned by the State of Ohio and Liberty Township. The County’s General Fund transferred $4 million to this fund to help
offset the cost of these expenditures.

The County ARPA Relief Fund ending balance slightly increased in 2022; however, the fund experienced substantial
activity throughout the year. After receiving its second tranche of federal grant funding, the County issued a series of
subgrants to various local agencies. These subgrants were the County’s first ARPA expenses and included several
public health and job development projects. Notable projects include the development of Miami University’s
College@EIm Innovation Workforce Development Center in Oxford, the renovation and expansion of Sonny Hill
Community Center in Middletown, the remediation of the blighted former Paperboard Mill site in Middletown, the
renovation and expansion of Booker T. Washington Community Center in Hamilton, and the replacement of a mobile
dental clinic unit which serves individuals throughout the County. The assets associated with these projects are owned
by local non-profit agencies and health care providers, so the expenses are categorized as intergovernmental.

Proprietary Funds: The proprietary funds financial statements provide the same information as seen in the government-
wide financial statements, only in more detail. A summary of financial activity occurring in the Sewer and Water
Enterprise Funds follows.

Sewer Fund: The Sewer Fund’s operating revenues during 2022 were $21.0 million, while operating expenses were
$19.9 million. This resulted in operating income of $1.1 million for 2022. In comparing 2022 to 2021, depreciation and
amortization continues to be the largest expense category. This total is fairly consistent with the previous year. The
thrid largest expense category was personal services which comprises employees’ salaries and fringe benefits. This
category increased in 2022 from $1.1 million in 2021 to $3.3 million. This is a result of GASB 68/75 adjustments.
Contractual services remained relative stable while materials and supplies increased $.9 million in 2022.
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Water Fund: The Water Fund’s operating revenues during 2022 were $23.6 million. Operating expenses were $21.8
million resulting in operating income of $1.8 million for 2022. Contractual services continued to make up the largest
category of operating expenses at $11.2 million. Depreciation and amortization expense was the second largest
expense category and remained flat in 2022 at $8.1 million. Personal services, comprised of employees’ salaries and
fringe benefits, increased to $1.4 million. Overall net position increased $9.6 million as revenues exceeded expenses for
the year.

General Fund Budget Analysis

The County’s budget is prepared according to Ohio law and is based on accounting for certain transactions on a basis
of receipts, disbursements, and encumbrances. Several events influenced the budgetary process and actual results for
the year of 2022. The General Fund’s final 2022 appropriation budget of $120.1 million, excluding other financing uses,
was 13 percent higher than the original appropriation budget. The final budget included an additional $8.7 million for
Legislative and Executive and an additional $3.8 million for Public Safety. The increase to Legislative and Executive
was due to maintenance and repairs at the County’s courthouse. The increase in Public Safety was primarily due to
vehicle purchases and software upgrades that were not included in the original budget.

Actual expenditures were less than final budgeted expenditures by $6.2 million. This difference was mostly the result of
lower than expected Public Safety and Legislative and Executive expenditures. These lower expenditures, combined
with higher than anticipated Sales Tax revenue, resulted in just $2.8 million in revenues under expenditures as opposed
to $20.2 million as anticipated by final budget projections.

Capital Asset and Debt Administration
Capital Assets

Capital assets include County owned land and easements, land improvements, buildings and improvements, furniture,
fixtures and equipment, vehicles, intangible right to use leases for buildings, infrastructure, water rights, water and
sewer mains, and construction in progress. Butler County’s investment in capital assets for governmental and
business-type activities was $670.1 million as of December 31, 2022. Table 3 contains a summary of capital assets at
year end as compared to assets owned by the County at December 31, 2021. For fiscal year 2022, the County
implemented Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 87, Leases and related guidance from
GASB Implementation Guide No. 2019-3, Leases. An intangible asset, right to use lease — buildings, is now recognized
and 2021 assets have been restated. See Note 3 for additional information.

Table 3
Butler County Capital Assets

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total
Restated Restated Restated

2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
Land and Easements $ 20,420,673 $ 20,420,673 $ 1,544,056 $ 1,544,056 $ 21,964,729 $ 21,964,729
Land Improvements 7,353,078 7,937,087 277,229 326,403 7,630,307 8,263,490
Buildings and Improvements 40,906,676 44,064,722 62,579,747 64,974,190 103,486,423 109,038,912
Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment 30,964,216 33,869,251 30,624,430 33,525,257 61,588,646 67,394,508
Vehicles 4,025,759 3,670,010 895,562 902,579 4,921,321 4,572,589
Right to Use Lease - Buildings 1,479,509 1,757,102 - - 1,479,509 1,757,102
Infrastructure 276,588,308 274,726,762 - - 276,588,308 274,726,762
Water Rights - - 645,096 2,600,664 645,096 2,600,664
Water and Sewer Mains - 186,338,976 183,452,237 186,338,976 183,452,237
Construction in Progress 1,826,412 - 3,588,232 3,919,358 5,414,644 3,919,358
Total $ 383,564,631 $ 386,445,607 $ 286,493,328 $ 291,244,744 $ 670,057,959 $ 677,690,351

Significant capital asset activity occurred during 2022. See Note 10 for additional capital asset disclosure.

Infrastructure Assets: Infrastructure assets refer to county roads, bridges, and culverts, and are reported in the
governmental activities. Butler County, through the Engineer's Office, maintains an infrastructure asset system that
incorporates the “modified approach” method of reporting infrastructure as provided for in GASB Statement No. 34.
Under the modified approach, the County does not use historical cost-based depreciation as a measure of the cost of
use for infrastructure assets. Instead, all expenditures made for infrastructure assets that preserve the useful life of the
assets are expensed during the year incurred. Expenditures that increase the capacity or efficiency of the infrastructure

14



BUTLER COUNTY, OHIO

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022
(Unaudited)

assets (additions or improvements) are capitalized. The County ensures that infrastructure assets are being preserved
at, or above, previously established condition-levels by performing periodic conditional assessments of the
infrastructure. Based on these assessment findings, a budget is prepared for the maintenance and repair of these
assets. During 2022, the County budgeted $20.5 million for roads, $1.9 million for bridges and $.4 million for culvert
improvements.

Butler County manages its roadway system through the performance of three year conditional assessments, using
factors such as age of pavement, surface condition and traffic volume and type. Roads are assigned a pavement rating
based on a scale of one to four, with one being excellent and four being poor. It is the County’s policy to maintain the
county roadway system where at least 90 percent of the roads have a rating of three (3) or better. A seventeen-year
paving plan is developed in order to keep the County’s roads at condition levels established per policy. Actual
maintenance spending on county roads in 2022 was $24.1 million and the most recent roadway system assessment
(2020) indicates that 94 percent of county roads are currently assessed at a rating of three or better.

The County manages its bridges using a General Appraisal and Operational Status condition coding system as
developed by the Federal Highway Administration. The condition of a bridge is rated from zero to nine, with nine being
excellent condition and zero meaning the bridge is in a failed or closed condition. Bridges are inspected on an annual
basis as required by Ohio law and rated for infrastructure GAAP reporting every three years.

It is the policy of the County Engineer to maintain the bridges such that 85 percent of the structures have a General
Appraisal rating of five (5 - Fair) or better. The County spent $2.2 million in 2022 to maintain the bridges and the most
recent bridge system assessment (2020) indicates that 94 percent of County bridges are currently assessed at a rating
of five or better.

The Engineer inspects culverts on a three year basis, and conditional assessments are given based on a rating scale of
one to four, with one meaning the culvert is in good condition and does not require repair, while a four rating means the
culvert is in critical condition and is no longer functioning as designed. It is the policy of the County Engineer to
maintain 75 percent of the culverts in a condition of two (2 - Fair) or better. The County spent $.4 million in 2022 to
maintain culverts and the most recent culvert system assessment (2020) indicates that 84 percent of the culverts are
currently assessed at a rating of two or better. Additional information regarding capital assets can be found in Note 10 to
the financial statements and the Required Supplementary Information on page 116 for additional infrastructure
information.

Long-Term Debt

At December 31, 2022, Butler County’s outstanding long-term debt was 4.9 percent higher than the previous year. This
increase was a result of newly issued 2022 general obligation bonds. In March 2022, $9,315,000 in various purpose
bonds were issued in order to defease the Highland Square portion of the County’s 2010 various purpose general
obligation bonds and aid in the construction of assets related to the Freedom Pointe development project. An additional
$7,525,000 in bonds was issued in March 2022 to alleviate the Butler County Port Authority contracts payable
obligation. At year end, the County had a total of $61.3 million (excluding premiums and discounts) in outstanding long-
term debt. Funded governmental activities accounted for $22.0 million, while $39.3 million helped fund business type
activities. Business-type activities long-term debt decreased by $5.5 million during 2022 due to scheduled maturity
payments. See Note 16 for additional debt disclosure.
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Table 4
Butler County Outstanding Long-Term Debt
Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

General Obligation Bonds $ 17,592,000 $ 8,810,000 $ 2,960,270 $ 3,030,520 $ 20,552,270 $ 11,840,520
Special Assessment debt with

Governmental Commitment 2,204,020 2,411,340 - - 2,204,020 2,411,340
Long-term Loans 720,344 844,634 19,900,308 21,603,511 20,620,652 22,448,145
Revenue Bonds 1,455,000 1,585,000 7,092,200 8,864,350 8,547,200 10,449,350
Water Judgment Bonds - - 9,350,000 11,275,000 9,350,000 11,275,000
Total $ 21,971,364 $ 13,650,974 $ 39,302,778 $ 44,773,381 $ 61,274,142 $ 58,424,355

The County’s long-term debt consisted of $32.2 million in obligations backed by the full faith and credit of Butler County,
including $20.6 million in general obligation bonds, $9.4 million in water judgment bonds, and $2.2 million in special
assessment bonds, for which Butler County is liable in case of default of the property owners subject to the assessment.
A total of $29.1 million of the total outstanding debt represent bonds secured by specified revenue sources, including
water and sewer and motor vehicle fund revenues.

Ohio law, through its direct and indirect debt limitations, restricts the amount of debt the County may issue. The
County’s total direct debt limit at December 31, 2022 was $243.6 million. The County’s unvoted direct debt limit was
$98.0 million and the unvoted direct debt margin was $98.0 million. The debt margins for total debt and unvoted debt
reflect a slight increase over the previous year due to reductions in general obligation bonds and notes.

Ohio’s indirect debt limitation, referred to as the ten-mill limitation, further limits the total unvoted general obligation debt
that may be issued among overlapping subdivisions to a maximum of 10 mills per dollar of assessed valuation. Since
the 10 mills must be shared by the overlapping subdivisions, and is available on a first-come, first serve basis, the level
of debt issued by any overlapping political subdivision thus affects the County’s ability to issue unvoted general
obligation debt.

For example, depending on how much room is available under the 10-mill limitation, a relatively small debt issuance by
an overlapping subdivision with a low assessed valuation could significantly hinder, or temporarily lock out, the County’s
ability to issue unvoted general obligation debt. This limitation would continue until unvoted general obligation debt was
retired by either subdivision, or until the total assessed value of the subdivision or the County increased, which occurs
around December of each year. The County continues to monitor the debt activity of all overlapping subdivisions for the
potential effect on future financings.

In 2018, Butler County taxpayers benefited from the County’s upgraded bond rating. Moody’s Investors Service
upgraded Butler County to its highest level, Aaa, in late 2019. Butler County continued to maintain this rating in 2022.
Butler County’s general obligation bond issues are rated at Aa1 and the sales tax bonds at Aa2 by Moody’s Investors
Services. The water and sewer district currently maintains a credit rating from Moody’s of Aa3.

Contracts payable represent long term agreements for the payment of bonds issued by the Butler County
Transportation Improvement District and Liberty Community Authority for economic growth. The County has pledged
revenues from the Voice of America TIF as one of the primary sources of revenue for these securities. The liability
remaining at the end of 2022 for these contracts is $21.5 million, a decrease of $8.8 million. The significant decrease is
due to the March 2022 issuance of $7.5 million in general obligation bonds which were used to alleviate the Butler
County Port Authority contracts payable obligation.
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Economic and Other Potentially Significant Matters

In March 2020, the United States and the State of Ohio declared a state of emergency related to the COVID-19
pandemic. While Ohio ended its state of emergency in June 2021, the national state of emergency ended in April 2023.
The impact of this emergency on the County’s future revenues and operating costs cannot be estimated. The County
received significant pandemic related funding through the American Rescue Plan Act passed by Congress in March
2021. The second tranche of these federal grant funds was received in July 2022. The County will continue to spend
these available funds within the applicable program guidelines. All funds must be expended by the end of calendar year
2026.

The Butler County Commissioners voted to temporarily reduce inside real estate tax millage from 1.92 mills to zero mills
for tax year 2021 which was collected in 2022. The reduction did not remain in place for tax year 2022 to be collected in
2023. As a result, the county will see increased property tax revenue in 2023. The County has already seen an
increase in property taxes receivable for 2022 as compared to 2021 as a result of this one time reduction.

In 2022, the Butler County Developmental Disabilities Board elected not to reduce their property tax levy millage by .5
mills as they had done in recent years. This will result in increased property tax revenues for tax year 2022 which will
be collected in 2023.

Requests for Information
The Management’s Discussion and Analysis is intended to provide a general overview of Butler County’s finances.

Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests for additional financial information
should be addressed to the Butler County Auditor, 130 High Street, Hamilton, Ohio, 45011.
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Butler County, Ohio
Statement of Net Position
December 31, 2022

Assets

Equity in Pooled Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and Cash Equivalents:
In Segregated Accounts
With Fiscal Agents
Accounts Receivable
Assessed Valuation Charges Receivable
Facility Charges Receivable
Due from Other Governments
Accrued Interest Receivable
Prepaid Items
Internal Balances
Materials and Supplies Inventory
Property Taxes Receivable
Sales Tax Receivable
Other Local Taxes Receivable
Payments in Lieu of Taxes Receivable
Loans Receivable
Lease Receivable
Special Assessments Receivable
Receivables from Conduit Debt Receipients
Assets Held for Resale
Net Pension Asset
Net OPEB Asset
Capital Assets:
Nondepreciable Capital Assets
Depreciable Capital Assets, net
Total Assets

Deferred Outflows of Resources
Deferred Charge on Refunding
Pension
OPEB

Total Deferred Outlflows of Resources

Liabilities

Accounts Payable

Contracts Payable

Accrued Wages and Benefits

Employee Benefits Payable

Due to Other Governments

Due to Developer-Noncurrent

Matured Bonds Payable

Matured Interest Payable

Accrued Interest Payable

Claims Payable

Refundable Advance

Unearned Revenue

Long-Term Liabilities:

Due Within One Year
Due In More Than One Year:
Net Pension Liability
Other Amounts
Total Liabilities

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Deferred Charge on Refunding
Property Taxes not Levied to Finance Current
Year Operations

Payment in Lieu of Taxes not Intended to Finance

Current Year Operations
Pension
OPEB
Leases
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources

Net Position
Net Investment in Capital Assets
Restricted for:

Capital Outlay

Debt Service

Replacement and Improvement

Mental Health and Addiction Recovery Services

Developmental Disabilities
Nonexpendable
Job and Family/Children Services Agency
Elderly Services Levy
Motor Vehicle
All Other Judicial
All Other Public Safety
All Other Public Works
Child Support Enforcement
Pension and OPEB Plans
Other Purposes
Unrestricted
Total Net Position

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements

Primary Government

Governmental Business-Type

Activities Activities Total Component Units
$ 372,912,902 $ 97,294,225 $ 470,207,127 6,834,783
2,282,895 500 2,283,395 -
5,005,805 - 5,005,805 595,958
1,061,622 6,874,720 7,936,342 556,372
- - - 138,529
- - - 99,045
43,543,173 - 43,543,173 573,449
269,021 - 269,021 -
1,369,142 106,148 1,475,290 14,457
435 (435) - -
1,231,052 142,976 1,374,028 -
79,222,773 - 79,222,773 -
9,478,136 - 9,478,136 -
739,933 - 739,933 -
13,874,169 - 13,874,169 -
497,671 - 497,671 -
8,618,320 8,618,320 -
6,832,621 285,938 7,118,559 -
- - - 17,335,000
- - - 35,500
2,316,531 154,438 2,470,969 -
19,385,245 1,292,349 20,677,594 -
298,835,393 5,132,288 303,967,681 2,333,662
84,729,238 281,361,040 366,090,278 34,966,315
952,206,077 392,644,187 1,344,850,264 63,483,070
42,355 95,104 137,459 1,165,711
23,475,057 1,570,241 25,045,298 -

345,555 23,037 368,592
23,862,967 1,688,382 25,551,349 1,165,711
946,794 878,550 1,825,344 74,668
12,742,954 1,846,430 14,589,384 -
4,639,218 273,839 4,913,057 -
951,332 51,416 1,002,748 -
4,770,146 1,445,999 6,216,145 1,170,000
13,250 - 13,250 -
5,543 - 5,543 -
52,826 353,665 406,491 158,890

570,990 - 570,990
- - - 753,291
62,570,548 - 62,570,548 -
8,766,925 6,045,510 14,812,435 914,748
54,614,521 3,640,966 58,255,487 -
46,939,285 34,494,633 81,433,918 48,827,255
197,584,332 49,031,008 246,615,340 51,898,852
30,015 - 30,015 -
77,295,623 - 77,295,623 -
13,692,661 - 13,692,661 -
66,948,789 4,463,398 71,412,187 -
20,077,503 1,338,500 21,416,003 -
8,618,320 - 8,618,320 -
186,662,911 5,801,898 192,464,809 -
378,747,170 245,220,939 623,968,109 8,912,468
76,690 - 76,690 -
4,417,938 - 4,417,938 -
- 5,300,000 5,300,000 -
24,652,713 - 24,652,713 -
41,312,637 - 41,312,637 -
837,663 - 837,663 -
34,076,213 - 34,076,213 -
10,587,204 - 10,587,204 -
22,078,414 - 22,078,414 -
5,709,632 - 5,709,632 -
10,247,463 - 10,247,463 -
24,344,046 - 24,344,046 -
6,659,198 - 6,659,198 -
2,009,745 139,081 2,148,826 -
10,629,112 - 10,629,112 394,333
15,435,963 88,839,643 104,275,606 3,443,128
$ 591,821,801 $ 339,499,663 $ 931,321,464 12,749,929
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Butler County, Ohio
Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Program Revenues

Charges for

Operating Grants,

Contributions,

Expenses Services and Interest
Governmental Activities
General Government:
Legislative and Executive 32,519,924  § 23,430,883 804,571
Legislative and Executive - Intergovernmental 6,819,551 - -
Judicial 14,946,665 5,666,041 4,903,996
Public Safety 51,170,736 20,555,902 9,394,381
Public Works 21,786,098 3,816,548 4,859,596
Public Works - Intergovernmental 31,442,322 - 3,092,373
Health 42,922,763 41,921 16,696,059
Health - Intergovernmental 645,526 - 644,244
Human Services 64,082,287 4,782,430 40,519,007
Human Services - Intergovernmental 5,200,000 - 5,282,804
Conservation and Recreation 2,407,199 284,713 -
Conservation and Recreation - Intergovernmental 3,750,000 - 3,865,466
Interest 504,515 - -
Total Governmental Activities 278,197,586 58,578,438 90,062,497
Business-Type Activities
Sewer 20,553,635 20,779,104 -
Water 22,565,892 23,613,610 -
Total Business-Type Activities 43,119,527 44,392,714 -
Total Primary Government 321,317,113 § 102,971,152 90,062,497
Component Units 6,225338  $ 1,995,813 3,705,018

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements
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General Revenues
Taxes Levied for:
General Purposes

Mental Health and Addiction Recovery Services

Developmental Disabilities
Children Services Agency
Elderly Services Levy

Sales Tax
Local Taxes

Payments in Lieu of Taxes

Grants and Entitlements not Restricted

to Specific Programs
Investment Earnings

Other

Total General Revenues

Change in Net Position

Net Position at Beginning of Year

Net Position at End of Year



Net (Expense) Revenue and Changes in Net Position

Primary Government

Capital Grants,
Contributions, Governmental Business-Type
and Interest Activities Activities Total Component Units

$ - 3 (8,284,470) $ - (8,284,470) $ -
- (6,819,551) - (6,819,551) -

- (4,376,628) - (4,376,628) -

- (21,220,453) - (21,220,453) -

17,327,844 4,217,890 - 4,217,890 -
14,260,024 (14,089,925) - (14,089,925) -

- (26,184,783) - (26,184,783) -

- (1,282) - (1,282) -

- (18,780,850) - (18,780,850) -

- 82,804 - 82,804 -

- (2,122,486) - (2,122,486) -

- 115,466 - 115,466 -

- (504,515) - (504,515) -

31,587,868 (97,968,783) - (97,968,783) -
9,668,828 - 9,894,297 9,894,297 -
8,411,825 - 9,459,543 9,459,543 -
18,080,653 - 19,353,840 19,353,840 -

$ 49,668,521 (97,968,783) 19,353,840 (78,614,943) -
$ - - - - (524,507)
772,543 - 772,543 -

9,360,575 - 9,360,575 -

17,075,483 - 17,075,483 -

14,528,623 - 14,528,623 -

9,443,600 - 9,443,600 -

56,921,771 - 56,921,771 -

7,208,532 - 7,208,532 -

13,236,993 - 13,236,993 -

9,669,371 - 9,669,371 -

(16,195,114) - (16,195,114) -

4,148,336 532,779 4,681,115 5,020,256

126,170,713 532,779 126,703,492 5,020,256

28,201,930 19,886,619 48,088,549 4,495,749

563,619,871 319,613,044 883,232,915 8,254,180

$ 591,821,801 $ 339,499,663 931,321,464 $ 12,749,929
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Butler County, Ohio
Balance Sheet
Governmental Funds
December 31, 2022

Mental Health and Job and Family
Addiction Recovery Developmental Services/Children
General Services Board Disabilities Services Agency
Assets
Equity in Pooled Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 105,279,882 $ 21,770,972 $ 35,265,109 $ 26,334,889
Cash and Cash Equivalents:
In Segregated Accounts 948,227 - - -
With Fiscal Agents - - 3,636,494 -
Receivables:
Property Taxes 19,097,172 10,533,384 22,703,563 16,299,246
Sales Taxes 9,478,136 - - -
Other Local Taxes - - - -
Payments in Lieu of Taxes - - - -
Accounts 122,425 - - -
Due from Other Governments 7,470,290 3,345,641 4,348,558 11,871,742
Accrued Interest 269,021 - - -
Special Assessments - - - -
Loans - - - -
Leases 1,623,504 - - -
Due from Other Funds 149,284 - 3,181 427
Prepaid Items 387,476 50,000 93,007 19,820
Materials and Supplies Inventory 140,055 1,206 5,115 14,010
Advances to Other Funds 4,222,720 - - -
Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents 1,963,099 - - -
Total Assets $ 151,151,291 $ 35,701,203 $ 66,055,027 $ 54,540,134
Liabilities
Accounts Payable $ 632,031 $ 4,303 $ 71,295 $ 38,553
Contracts Payable 2,880,909 575,235 267,639 2,532,150
Accrued Wages and Benefits Payable 2,638,936 61,143 443,889 602,754
Employee Benefits Payable 594,817 13,041 93,095 96,385
Due to Other Funds - - - 7,218
Due to Other Governments 1,282,198 22,936 429,681 214,578
Advances from Other Funds - - - -
Unearned Revenue - - - -
Matured Bonds Payable - - - -
Matured Interest Payable - - - -
Total Liabilities 8,028,891 676,658 1,305,599 3,491,638
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Property Taxes not Levied to Finance the Current
Year Operations 18,716,500 10,235,984 22,108,764 15,902,713
Payment in Lieu of Taxes not Levied to Finance
the Current Year Operations - - - -
Leases 1,623,504 - - -
Unavailable Revenue 10,305,663 2,667,281 4,747,844 10,829,145
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 30,645,667 12,903,265 26,856,608 26,731,858
Fund Balances
Nonspendable 6,713,350 51,206 98,122 33,830
Restricted - 22,070,074 37,794,698 24,282,808
Assigned 6,238,244 - - -
Unassigned 99,525,139 - - -
Total Fund Balances 112,476,733 22,121,280 37,892,820 24,316,638
Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources
and Fund Balances $ 151,151,291 $ 35,701,203 $ 66,055,027 $ 54,540,134

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements
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Residential Incentive Non Major Total

Districts and Tax County ARPA Governmental Governmental
Incremental Financings Relief Fund Funds Funds
$ 13,647,055 $ 62,467,941 $ 93,187,747 $ 357,953,595
- - 1,334,668 2,282,895
- - 1,216,437 4,852,931
- - 10,589,408 79,222,773
- - - 9,478,136
- - 739,933 739,933
13,874,169 - - 13,874,169
- - 939,197 1,061,622
363,585 - 16,143,357 43,543,173
- - - 269,021
- - 6,832,621 6,832,621
- - 497,671 497,671
- - 6,994,816 8,618,320
- - - 152,892
- - 135,717 686,020
- - 1,070,666 1,231,052
- - - 4,222,720
- - - 1,963,099
$ 27,884,809 § 62,467,941 § 139,682,238 $ 537,482,643
$ - 8 -3 200,174  $ 946,356
1,235,485 263,948 4,986,413 12,741,779
- - 888,614 4,635,336
- - 152,877 950,215
- - 145,239 152,457
2,446,695 - 373,219 4,769,307
4,000,000 - 222,720 4,222,720
- 61,534,401 1,036,147 62,570,548
- - 13,250 13,250
- - 5,543 5,543
7,682,180 61,798,349 8,024,196 91,007,511
- - 10,331,662 77,295,623
13,692,661 - - 13,692,661
- - 6,994,816 8,618,320
363,585 - 19,378,117 48,291,635
14,056,246 - 36,704,595 147,898,239
- - 2,044,046 8,940,554
6,146,383 669,592 77,909,401 168,872,956
- - 15,000,000 21,238,244
- - - 99,525,139
6,146,383 669,592 94,953,447 298,576,893

$ 27,884,809  § 62,467,941 $ 139,682,238 $ 537,482,643
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Butler County, Ohio

Reconciliation of Total Governmental Fund Balances to
Net Position of Governmental Activities

December 31, 2022

Total Governmental Fund Balances

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the
statement of net position are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and

therefore are not reported in the funds.

An internal service fund is used by management to charge the costs of
insurance to individual funds. The assets and liabilities of the internal

service fund are included in governmental activities in the statement of

net position.

Some of the County's revenues will be collected after year end,
but are not available soon enough to pay for the current period's expenditures

and therefore are deferred in the funds:
Delinquent Property Taxes
Other Local Taxes
Sales Taxes
Special Assessments
Due From Other Governments
Charges for Services
Fines and Forfeitures
Other

1,927,150
50,662
4,891,656
6,832,621
33,984,308
206,478
5,585
393,175

Total

Deferred Inflows of Resources represent deferred charges on refundings

and lease revenue from the implementation of GASB 87

which do not provide current financial resources and therefore are not

reported in the funds.
Deferred Charge on Refunding - Outflows
Deferred Charge on Refunding - Inflows

42,355
(30,015)

The net pension/OPEB liabilities are not due and payable in
period; therefore, the liabilities (asset) and related deferred
inflows/outflows are not reported in governmental funds:

Net Pension Asset

Net OPEB Asset

Deferred Outflows - Pension
Deferred Outflows - OPEB
Deferred Inflows - Pension
Deferred Inflows - OPEB
Net Pension Liability

the current

2,316,531
19,385,245
23,475,057

345,555

(66,948,789)

(20,077,503)

(54,614,521)

Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current period and therefore

are not reported in the funds. Those liabilities consist of:

Accrued Interest on Bonds
Bonds

Loans

Long Term Contracts Payable
Lease Payable

Compensated absences

(52,826)
(21,402,876)
(720,344)
(21,523,825)
(1,499,141)
(10,096,430)

Total
Net Position of Governmental Activities

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements

298,576,893

383,564,631

12,790,169

48,291,635

12,340

(96,118,425)

(55,295,442)

$591,821,801
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Butler County, Ohio

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances
Governmental Funds

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Revenues

Property Taxes

Sales Taxes

Other Local Taxes
Charges for Services
Licenses and Permits
Fines and Forfeitures
Intergovernmental

Special Assessments
Payments in Lieu of Taxes
Investment Earnings
Lease Revenue

Lease Interest
Contributions and Donations
Other

Total Revenues

Expenditures
Current:
General Government:
Legislative and Executive
Legislative and Executive - Intergovernmental
Judicial
Public Safety
Public Works
Public Works - Intergovernmental
Health
Health - Intergovernmental
Human Services
Human Services - Intergovernmental
Conservation and Recreation
Conservation and Recreation - Intergovernmental
Capital Outlay
Debt Service:
Principal Retirement
Interest
Issuance Costs
Total Expenditures

Excess of Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures

Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Inception of Lease

Transfers - In

Transfers - Out

Bonds Issued

Refunding Bond Issued

Payment to Refunded Bond Escrow Agent
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Net Change in Fund Balance

Fund Balances at Beginning of Year

Fund Balances at End of Year

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements

Mental Health and Job and Family
Addiction Recovery Developmental Services/Children

General Services Board Disabilities Services Agency
391,871 $ 9,267,856 $§ 16,821,819 § 14,404,998
56,638,253 - - -
29,953,729 33,187 8,734 -
3,260,115 - - -
1,839,782 - - -
15,505,504 10,034,180 7,411,787 28,418,376
(17,097,421) - - -
11,096 - - -
39,504 - - -
1,173,491 147,665 24,823 549,298
91,715,924 19,482,888 24,267,163 43,372,672
33,720,586 - - -
16,486,584 - - -
50,486,645 - - -
229,201 - - -
348,802 17,527,638 28,153,532 -
1,870,952 - - 39,873,902
564,097 - - -
413,961 - - -
25,915 - - -
104,146,743 17,527,638 28,153,532 39,873,902
(12,430,819) 1,955,250 (3,886,369) 3,498,770
156,000 - - -
- - - 811,232
(20,222,667) - - -
(20,066,667) - - 811,232
(32,497,486) 1,955,250 (3,886,369) 4,310,002
144,974,219 20,166,030 41,779,189 20,006,636
112,476,733 $ 22,121,280 $ 37,892,820 § 24,316,638
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Residential Incentive Non Major Total
Districts and Tax County ARPA Governmental Governmental
Incremental Financings Relief Fund Funds Funds

$ -3 - § 9,363,244 50,249,788

- - - 56,638,253

- - 7,309,860 7,309,860

- - 18,327,279 48,322,929

- - 1,014,181 4,274,296

- - 2,407,611 4,247,393

- 12,884,887 52,097,174 126,351,908

- - 1,914,047 1,914,047

13,236,993 - - 13,236,993
- 669,592 488,088 (15,939,741)

- - 130,634 141,730

- - 60,841 100,345

- - 516,865 516,865

3,130,359 - 1,130,705 6,156,341

16,367,352 13,554,479 94,760,529 303,521,007

- 37,763 3,530,445 37,288,794

6,819,551 - - 6,819,551

- - 2,614,456 19,101,040

- 263,948 13,945,967 64,696,560

- - 25,794,836 26,024,037

15,899,842 3,000,000 21,892,310 40,792,152

- - 50,000 46,079,972

- 645,526 - 645,526

- - 28,651,736 70,396,590

- 5,200,000 - 5,200,000

- - 1,886,096 2,450,193

- 3,750,000 - 3,750,000

- - 1,474,242 1,474,242

- - 5,839,610 6,253,571

- - 566,188 592,103

78,450 - 53,500 131,950

22,797,843 12,897,237 106,299,386 331,696,281
(6,430,491) 657,242 (11,538,857) (28,175,274)

- - - 156,000

4,000,000 - 22,135,812 26,947,044
(6,724,377) - - (26,947,044)

7,520,869 - 6,589,131 14,110,000

- - 2,730,000 2,730,000
- - (2,714,114) (2,714,114)

4,796,492 - 28,740,829 14,281,886
(1,633,999) 657,242 17,201,972 (13,893,388)

7,780,382 12,350 77,751,475 312,470,281

$ 6,146,383 $ 669,592 $ 94,953,447 298,576,893
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Butler County, Ohio

R iliation of the St t of Revenues, Expenditures
and Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds

to the Statement of Activities

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Net Change in Fund Balances - Total Governmental Funds

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the
statement of activities are different because:

Capital outlays are reported as expenditures in governmental funds.
However, in the statement of activities, the cost of those assets is allocated
over their estimated useful lives as depreciation expense. In the current
period, these amounts are:
Capital Asset Additions 6,171,289

Current Year Depreciation (9,002,126)

Governmental funds only report the disposal of capital assets to the extent proceeds are received
from the sale. In the statement of activities, a gain or loss is reported for each disposal.
Loss on Disposal of Capital Assets

Because some revenues will not be collected for several months after the County's year end,
they are not considered "available" revenues and are deferred in the governmental funds.

Delinquent Property Taxes 931,036
Sales Taxes 283,518
Due From Other Governments 4,967,828
Other Local Taxes (101,328)
Special Assessments (5,188)
Charges for Services (317,437)
Fines and Forfeitures 668
Other (2,008,006)
Interest Revenue (355,718

Some capital assets were financed through leases. In governmental funds, a
lease arrangement is considered a source of financing, but in the statement of net assets,
the lease obligation is reported as a liability.

Repayment of long-term debt is an expenditure in the governmental funds,
but the repayment reduces long-term liabilities in the statement of
net position.

Bond principal retirement 5,508,000
Special assessment principal retirement 207,320
Payment to Bond Escrow Agent 2,714,114
Lease payable retirement 413,961
Loan principal retirement 124,290

Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require the use of current financial
resources and therefore are not reported as expenditures in the governmental funds:

Accrued Interest 3,432
Amortization of Gain/Loss on Refunding 8,563
Amortization of Bond Premiums/Discounts 75,593

Total

Bond Proceeds are reported as other financing sources in governmental funds and thus
contribute to the change in fund balances. In the government-wide statements, however
issuing debt increases long-term liabilities in the statement of net position and does
not affect the statement of activities.

Bonds Proceeds

Contractually required contributions are reported as expenditures in governmental
funds; however, the statement of net position reports these amounts as
deferred outflows.
Pension 11,720,602
OPEB 102,052
Total

Except for amounts reported as deferred inflows/outflows, changes in the net
pension/OPEB liability (asset) are reported as pension expense in the
statement of activities.
Pension 8,365,978

OPEB 16,732,130
Total

Some items reported in the statement of activities do not require the
expenditures in governmental funds. These activities consist of:

Compensated Absences (554,724)
Long Term Contracts Payable 8,832,965

The internal service funds used by management to charge the costs of insurance
to individual funds. The net revenue (expense) of the internal service funds
are reported with governmental activities.

Change in Net Position of Governmental Activities

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements

28

($13,893,388)

(2,830,837)

(50,139)

3,395,373

(156,000)

8,967,685

87,588

(16,840,000)

11,822,654

25,098,108

8,278,241

4,322,645

$28,201,930



Butler County, Ohio
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and

Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual (Budget Basis)

General Fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Revenues:
Property Taxes
Sales Taxes
Charges for Services
Licenses and Permits
Fines and Forfeitures
Intergovernmental
Investment Earnings
Other

Total Revenues

Expenditures:
Current:

General Government:
Legislative and Executive
Judicial

Public Safety

Public Works

Health

Human Services

Conservation and Recreation

Debt Service:
Principal Retirement
Interest

Total Expenditures

Excess of Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures

Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Other Financing Sources
Advances - In
Advances - Out
Transfers - Out
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Net Change in Fund Balance
Fund Balance at Beginning of Year

Prior Year Encumbrances Appropriated
Fund Balance at End of Year

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.

Variance
Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)
16,004,000 $ 4,000 $ 4,075 $ 75
50,500,000 50,500,000 56,267,902 5,767,902
29,620,514 29,302,214 29,910,107 607,893
2,418,050 2,418,050 3,260,115 842,065
1,010,419 1,010,419 885,091 (125,328)
13,703,092 13,602,754 16,277,338 2,674,584
1,900,000 1,900,000 3,364,373 1,464,373
1,402,050 1,199,650 1,178,705 (20,945)
116,558,125 99,937,087 111,147,706 11,210,619
33,980,628 42,712,159 39,838,008 2,874,151
16,741,089 17,832,235 17,057,719 774,516
50,451,158 54,264,289 52,703,918 1,560,371
240,233 240,233 227,797 12,436
973,057 973,057 973,057 -
3,005,485 3,092,711 2,112,263 980,448
514,948 579,597 576,097 3,500
413,961 413,961 413,961 -
25,915 25,915 25,915 -
106,346,474 120,134,157 113,928,735 6,205,422
10,211,651 (20,197,070) (2,781,029) 17,416,041
2,821,932 2,821,932 2,913,850 91,918
- - 12,000 12,000
(10,000,000) (4,000,000) (4,000,000) -
(21,626,473) (20,820,672) (20,222,667) 598,005
(28,804,541) (21,998,740) (21,296,817) 701,923
(18,592,890) (42,195,810) (24,077,846) 18,117,964
136,108,205 136,108,205 136,108,205 -
6,238,244 6,238,244 6,238,244 -
123,753,559 $ 100,150,639 $ 118,268,603 $ 18,117,964
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Butler County, Ohio

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and

Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual (Budget Basis)
Mental Health and Addiction Recovery Services Board Fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Variance
Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)
Revenues:
Property Taxes $ 9,509,800 $ 9,509,800 $ 9,303,071 $ (206,729)
Charges for Services 73,080 145,658 33,187 (112,471)
Intergovernmental 7,701,649 7,701,649 9,421,970 1,720,321
Other - - 147,665 147,665
Total Revenues 17,284,529 17,357,107 18,905,893 1,548,786
Expenditures:
Current:

Health 19,814,892 21,374,564 19,184,191 2,190,373
Excess of Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures (2,530,363) (4,017,457) (278,298) 3,739,159
Other Financing Sources (Uses):

Other Financing Sources - - 180,630 180,630

Transfers - In 110,000 110,000 - (110,000)
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 110,000 110,000 180,630 70,630
Net Change in Fund Balance (2,420,363) (3,907,457) (97,668) 3,809,789
Fund Balance at Beginning of Year 19,059,678 19,059,678 19,059,678 -
Prior Year Encumbrances Appropriated 1,262,761 1,262,761 1,262,761 -
Fund Balance at End of Year $ 17,902,076 $ 16,414,982 $ 20,224,771 $ 3,809,789

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements

30



Butler County, Ohio

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and

Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual (Budget Basis)
Developmental Disabilities Fund

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Variance
Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)
Revenues:

Property Taxes $ 16,800,000 $ 16,800,000 16,813,802 13,802

Charges for Services 9,000 9,000 8,734 (266)

Intergovernmental 4,835,180 4,931,530 7,216,274 2,284,744

Other - - 21,642 21,642
Total Revenues 21,644,180 21,740,530 24,060,452 2,319,922
Expenditures:

Current:

Health 30,999,758 32,693,244 29,688,089 3,005,155
Excess of Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures (9,355,578) (10,952,714) (5,627,637) 5,325,077
Other Financing Sources (Uses):

Other Financing Sources 180,000 180,000 69,228 (110,772)
Net Change in Fund Balance (9,175,578) (10,772,714) (5,558,409) 5,214,305
Fund Balance at Beginning of Year 38,708,519 38,708,519 38,708,519 -
Prior Year Encumbrances Appropriated 463,337 463,337 463,337 -
Fund Balance at End of Year $ 29,996,278 $ 28,399,142 33,613,447 5,214,305

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements
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Butler County, Ohio

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and

Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual (Budget Basis)
Job and Family Services/Children Services Agency Fund

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Variance
Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)
Revenues:
Property Taxes $ 13,750,000 $ 13,750,000 $ 14,459,420 $ 709,420
Intergovernmental 30,214,169 27,347,700 27,554,420 206,720
Other 448,320 448,320 498,626 50,306
Total Revenues 44,412,489 41,546,020 42,512,466 966,446
Expenditures:
Current:

Human Services 49,841,756 46,492,674 41,731,862 4,760,812
Excess of Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures (5,429,267) (4,946,654) 780,604 5,727,258
Other Financing Sources (Uses):

Other Financing Sources 246,075 246,075 282,749 36,674

Transfers - In 826,473 826,473 811,232 (15,241)
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 1,072,548 1,072,548 1,093,981 21,433
Net Change in Fund Balance (4,356,719) (3,874,106) 1,874,585 5,748,691
Fund Balance at Beginning of Year 17,663,792 17,663,792 17,663,792 -
Prior Year Encumbrances Appropriated 3,527,987 3,527,987 3,527,987 -
Fund Balance at End of Year $ 16,835,060 $ 17,317,673 $ 23,066,364 $ 5,748,691

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements

32



Butler County, Ohio
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and

Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual (Budget Basis)

Residential Incentive Districts and Tax Incremental Financings Fund

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Revenues:
Payments in Lieu of Taxes
Other

Total Revenues

Expenditures:
Current:
Legislative and Executive - Intergovernmental
Public Works - Intergovernmental
Total Expenditures

Excess of Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures

Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Other Financing Sources
Advances - In
Transfers - In
Transfers - Out
Bonds Issued
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Net Change in Fund Balance
Fund Balance at Beginning of Year
Prior Year Encumbrances Appropriated

Fund Balance at End of Year

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements

Variance
Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)

13,086,771 $ 13,124,537 $ 13,188,259 $ 63,722

34,960 12,124 2,452,778 2,440,654

13,121,731 13,136,661 15,641,037 2,504,376

4,290,288 6,084,076 6,038,922 45,154

10,260,546 25,354,245 22,753,117 2,601,128

14,550,834 31,438,321 28,792,039 2,646,282

(1,429,103) (18,301,660) (13,151,002) 5,150,658
2,000,000 4,000,000 3,963,646 (36,354)

- 4,000,000 4,000,000 -

- 4,000,000 4,000,000 -

(2,607,667) (6,858,201) (6,724,377) 133,824

- 7,520,869 7,520,869 -

(607,667) 12,662,668 12,760,138 97,470

(2,036,770) (5,638,992) (390,864) 5,248,128

9,391,626 9,391,626 9,391,626 -

2,081,722 2,081,722 2,081,722 -

9,436,578 $ 5,834,356 $ 11,082,484 $ 5,248,128
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Butler County, Ohio

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and

Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual (Budget Basis)
County ARPA Relief Fund

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Variance
Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)
Revenues:
Intergovernmental $ 37,209,644 $ 37,209,644 $ 37,209,644 $ -
Investment Earnings - - 669,592 669,592
Total Revenues 37,209,644 37,209,644 37,879,236 669,592
Expenditures:
Current:
General Government:

Legislative and Executive - 37,763 37,763 -
Public Safety 24,614,118 41,261,355 594,762 40,666,593
Public Works - Intergovernmental 3,000,000 3,000,000 3,000,000 -
Health Services - Intergovernmental 645,526 645,526 645,526 -
Human Services - Intergovernmental 5,200,000 5,200,000 5,200,000 -
Conservation and Recreation - Intergovernmental 3,750,000 3,750,000 3,750,000 -

Total Expenditures 37,209,644 53,894,644 13,228,051 40,666,593

Excess of Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures - (16,685,000) 24,651,185 41,336,185
Net Change in Fund Balance - (16,685,000) 24,651,185 41,336,185
Fund Balance at Beginning of Year 37,221,994 37,221,994 37,221,994 -
Fund Balance at End of Year $ 37,221,994 $ 20,536,994 $ 61,873,179 $ 41,336,185

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements
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Butler County, Ohio

Statement of Fund Net Position
Proprietary Funds

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Assets
Current Assets
Equity in Pooled Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and Cash Equivalents in Segregated Accounts
Cash and Cash Equivalents with Fiscal Agent
Receivables:
Accounts
Special Assessments
Prepaid Items
Materials and Supplies Inventory

Total Current Assets

Noncurrent Assets

Non-Depreciable Capital Assets

Depreciable Capital Assets

Restricted Assets:
Equity in Pooled Cash and Cash Equivalents
Net Pension Asset
Net OPEB Asset

Total Noncurrent Assets

Total Assets

Deferred Outflows of Resources
Deferred Charges on Refunding
Pension

OPEB

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources

Liabilities

Current Liabilities

Accounts Payable

Contracts Payable

Accrued Wages and Benefits Payable
Employee Benefits Payable

Due to Other Funds

Due to Other Governments
Accrued Interest Payable

General Obligation Bonds Payable
Revenue Bonds Payable
Judgement Bonds Payable

Loans Payable

Claims Payable

Compensated Absences Payable

Total Current Liabilities

Noncurrent Liabilities

Claims Payable

Compensated Absences Payable
General Obligation Bonds Payable
Revenue Bonds Payable
Judgement Bonds Payable

Loans Payable

Net Pension Liability

Total Noncurrent Liabilities
Total Liabilities

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Pension

OPEB

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources

Net Position
Net Investment in Capital Assets
Restricted for:
Replacement and Improvement
Pension and OPEB
Unrestricted

Total Net Position

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements

Enterprise Funds

Governmental
Activities -
Internal Service
Sewer Water Total Funds
56,863,886 $ 35,130,339 $ 91,994,225 $ 12,996,208
250 250 500 -
- - - 152,874
2,804,220 4,070,500 6,874,720 -
265,010 20,928 285,938 -
64,846 41,302 106,148 683,122
130,333 12,643 142,976 -
60,128,545 39,275,962 99,404,507 13,832,204
3,407,756 1,724,532 5,132,288 -
178,930,985 102,430,055 281,361,040 -
4,000,000 1,300,000 5,300,000 -
102,957 51,481 154,438 -
861,565 430,784 1,292,349 -
187,303,263 105,936,852 293,240,115 -
247,431,808 145,212,814 392,644,622 13,832,204
24,175 70,929 95,104 -
1,048,576 521,665 1,570,241 -
15,358 7,679 23,037 -
1,088,109 600,273 1,688,382 -
661,406 217,144 878,550 438
1,063,519 782,911 1,846,430 1,175
194,975 78,864 273,839 3,882
37,290 14,126 51,416 1,117
261 174 435 -
135,836 1,310,163 1,445,999 839
311,008 42,657 353,665 -
73,310 - 73,310 -
875,520 935,000 1,810,520 -
- 2,160,000 2,160,000 -
1,003,430 753,415 1,756,845 -
- - - 621,712
168,135 76,700 244,835 6,657
4,524,690 6,371,154 10,895,844 635,820
- - - 400,814
305,467 135,372 440,839 5,401
2,886,960 - 2,886,960 -
3,560,022 2,273,349 5,833,371 -
- 7,190,000 7,190,000 -
12,449,729 5,693,734 18,143,463 -
2,427,308 1,213,658 3,640,966 -
21,629,486 16,506,113 38,135,599 406,215
26,154,176 22,877,267 49,031,443 1,042,035
2,975,647 1,487,751 4,463,398 -
892,333 446,167 1,338,500 -
3,867,980 1,933,918 5,801,898
160,654,667 84,566,272 245,220,939 -
4,000,000 1,300,000 5,300,000 -
94,419 44,662 139,081
53,748,675 35,090,968 88,839,643 12,790,169
218,497,761 $ 121,001,902 $ 339,499,663 $ 12,790,169
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Butler County, Ohio
Statement of Revenues,

Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position

Proprietary Funds
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Operating Revenues:

Charges for Services

Other Operating Revenues

Total Operating Revenues

Operating Expenses:

Personal Services

Contractual Services

Claims and Judgments

Materials and Supplies

Depreciation and Amortization Expense
Other

Total Operating Expenses

Operating Income (Loss)
Non-Operating Revenues (Expenses)
Other Non-Operating Revenues

Investment Earnings
Interest

Total Non-Operating Revenues (Expenses)
Income (Loss) Before Contributions
Capital Contributions

Change in Net Position
Net Position at Beginning of Year

Net Position at End of Year

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements

Enterprise Funds

Governmental
Activities -

Internal Service

Sewer Water Total Funds
$ 20,779,104 $ 23,613,610 $ 44,392,714 $ 24,889,125
266,613 1,322 267,935 266,270
21,045,717 23,614,932 44,660,649 25,155,395
3,281,295 1,397,653 4,678,948 84,160
3,978,791 11,243,931 15,222,722 19,588,049
- - - 1,354,396
2,058,923 686,976 2,745,899 1,144
10,196,114 8,142,482 18,338,596 -
477,226 389,247 866,473 -
19,992,349 21,860,289 41,852,638 21,027,749
1,053,368 1,754,643 2,808,011 4,127,646
170,566 94,278 264,844 193,275
- - - 1,724
(561,286) (705,603) (1,266,889) -
(390,720) (611,325) (1,002,045) 194,999
662,648 1,143,318 1,805,966 4,322,645
9,668,828 8,411,825 18,080,653 -
10,331,476 9,555,143 19,886,619 4,322,645
208,166,285 111,446,759 319,613,044 8,467,524
$ 218,497,761 $ 121,001,902 $ 339,499,663 $ 12,790,169
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Butler County

Statement of Cash Flows

Proprietary Funds

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents:
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:

Cash Received from Customers

Cash Received from Other Operating Sources
Cash Paid to Suppliers

Cash Paid to Employees

Cash Received from Interfund Services Provided
Other Operating Revenues

Other Operating Expenses

Other Non-Operating Revenues

Cash Paid for Claims

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities

Cash Flows from Capital and Related Financing Activities:

Principal Paid on Loans

Interest Paid on Loans

Interest Paid on General Obligation Bonds
Principal Paid on General Obligation Bonds
Interest and Fiscal Charges on Revenue Bonds
Principal Paid on Revenue Bonds

Interest Paid on Judgement Bonds

Principal Paid on Judgement Bonds
Acquistion and Construction of Capital Assets
Cash Received from Special Assessments
Capital Contributions by Customers

Net Cash Used for Capital and Related
Financing Activities

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Interest and Dividends on Investments

Net Increase(decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Governmental
Activities -
Internal
Sewer Water Totals Service Funds

$ 20,576,782 $ 22,625,977 $ 43,202,759  $ -
- - - 266,270
(5,041,650) (11,457,732) (16,499,382) (20,274,727)
(5,426,813) (2,263,897) (7,690,710) (113,333)
- - - 24,889,125

266,613 1,322 267,935 -
(477,226) (389,247) (866,473) -
170,566 633,230 803,796 193,275
- - - (3,735,784)
10,068,272 9,149,653 19,217,925 1,224,826
(968,193) (735,010) (1,703,203) -
(415,225) (103,771) (518,996) -
(131,423) - (131,423) -
(70,250) - (70,250) -
(223,047) (190,475) (413,522) -
(832,150) (940,000) (1,772,150) -

- (587,125) (587,125) -

- (1,925,000) (1,925,000) -
(3,134,461) (2,689,250) (5,823,711) -
23,752 15,729 39,481 -
5,956,552 3,920,656 9,877,208 -
205,555 (3,234,246) (3,028,691) -

- - - 1,724
10,273,827 5,915,407 16,189,234 1,226,550
50,590,309 30,515,182 81,105,491 11,922,532
$ 60,864,136 § 36,430,589  § 97,294,725  $ 13,149,082

(continued)



Butler County
Statement of Cash Flows
Proprietary Funds

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022 (Continued)

Reconciliation of Operating Income (Loss) to Net Income
Cash Provided by Operating Activities:

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Governmental
Activities -
Internal
Sewer Water Totals Service Funds

Operating Income (Loss)

Adjustments to Reconcile Operating Income (Loss) to Net Cash

Provided by Operating Activities:
Depreciation and Amortization
Other Non-Operating Revenues

(Increase)Decrease in Assets
Accounts Receivable
Prepaid Items

Net Pension Asset

Net OPEB Asset

Deferred Outflows Pension

Deferred Outflows OPEB
Increase(Decrease) in Liabilities

Accounts Payable

Contracts Payable

Accrued Wages and Benefits Payable

Compensated Absences Payable

Due to Other Funds

Due to Other Governments

Payroll Withholdings

Deferred Inflows Pension

Deferred Inflows OPEB

Net Pension Liability

Claims Payable

Decrease in Refundable Deposits

Total Adjustments

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities

Non-Cash capital and related financing activities:
Capital Contributions from Customers of $70,092 for the Sewer Fund
Capital Contributions from Customers of $46,327 for the Water Fund

1,053,368 $ 1,754,643 $ 2,808,011 $ 4,127,646

10,196,114 8,142,482 18,338,596 .
170,566 633,230 803,796 193,275
(202,322) (852,148) (1,054,470) -
. - . (683,105)

(11,753) (5.877)

12,488 6,244 18,732 .
917,419 458,258 1,375,677 -
331,526 165,731 497,257 .
289,872 142,277 432,149 (@74)
690,274 (127,296) 562,978 (1,629)

23,813 4,625 28,438 (5,495)

3,729 (51,168) (47,439) (22,004)

36) 4) (60) -
18,376 459,028 477,404 (1,478)
1,639 (49) 1,590 (522)
(1,983,772) (829,021) (2,812,793) -
(1,303,571) (546,070) (1,849,641) .
(139,458) (69,727) (209,185) -

. - . (2,381,388)

- (135.485) (135.485) -
9,014,904 7,395,010 16,427,544 (2,902,820)

10,068,272 § 9,149,653 $ 19,217,925  § 1,224,826

Developers during the year donated $3,764,925 of sewer lines to the Sewer fund.
Developers during the year donated $3,998,544 of water lines to the Water fund.

The Sewer Fund has contracts payable for capital assets in the amount of $859,278
The Water Fund has contracts payable for capital assets in the amount of $653,746

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements



Butler County, Ohio
Statement of Fiduciary Net Position

Custodial Funds
December 31, 2022

Total
Assets
Equity in Pooled Cash and Cash Equivalents 28,055,533
Cash and Cash Equivalents in Segregated Accounts 3,463,561
Property Taxes Receivable 472,184,849
Revenue in Lieu of Taxes Receivable 45,467,841
Special Assessments Receivable 76,190,849
Due from Other Governments 10,422,280
Total Assets 635,784,913
Liabilities
Accounts Payable and Other Liabilities 3,992,235
Due to Other Governments 30,241,381
Total Liabilites 34,233,616
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Property Taxes not Levied to Finance the Current Year Operations 459,815,635
Payment in Lieu of Taxes not Levied to Finance Current Year Operations 45,467,841
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 505,283,476
Net Position
Restricted for Individuals, Organizations and Other Governments 96,267,821

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements
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Butler County, Ohio

Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position
Custodial Funds

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Total

Additions

Intergovernmental $ 32,201,529
Amounts Received as Fiscal Agent 16,588,724
Licenses, Permits and Fees for Other Governments 1,646,522
Fines and Forfeitures for Other Governments 144,700,003
Property Tax Collections for Other Governments 421,925,162
Payments in Lieu of Taxes Collections for Other Governments 54,208,819
Special Assessment Collections for Other Governments 9,619,995
Sheriff Sale Collections for Other Governments 6,022,855
Amounts Received for Others 51,654
Miscellaneous 2,377,415
Total Additions 689,342,678
Deductions

Distributions of State Funds to Other Governments 32,184,795
Fines and Forfeitures Distributions to Other Governments 294,300
Property Taxes Distributions for Other Governments 415,772,011
Payments in Lieu of Taxes Distributions for Other Governments 54,246,556
Special Assessment Distributions to Other Governments 10,239,290
Distributions to the State of Ohio 135,281,426
Distributions to Other Governments 3,977
Distributions to Individuals 18,816,944
Distributions as Fiscal Agent 17,670,959
Miscellaneous 2,077,369
Total Deductions 686,587,627
Change in Net Position 2,755,051
Net Position Beginning of Year - Restated (see note 3) 93,512,770
Net Position End of Year $ 96,267,821

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements

40



BUTLER COUNTY, OHIO
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

NOTE 1 — REPORTING ENTITY

REPORTING ENTITY

Butler County, Ohio (The County) was created in 1803. The County is governed by a board of three
commissioners elected by the voters of the County. The County Commissioners serve as the taxing authority,
the contracting body, and the chief administrators of public services for the County. Other elected officials
include the Auditor, Treasurer, Recorder, Sheriff, Coroner, Clerk of Courts, Prosecutor, Engineer, twelve
Common Pleas Court Judges and three County Court Judges.

The services provided by the above officials and their departments comprise the primary governmental unit of
the County. They have therefore been included as part of the reporting entity.

A reporting entity is comprised of the primary government, component units, and other organizations that are
included to ensure that the financial statements of the County are not misleading. The primary government
consists of all funds, departments, boards, and agencies that are not legally separate from the County. For
Butler County, this includes the Board of Developmental Disabilities, the Job and Family Services/Children
Services Agency, the Mental Health and Addiction Recovery Services, the Veterans Service Board, the Board
of Elections, Emergency Management Agency, and all departments and activities that are directly operated by
the elected County officials.

Component units are legally separate organizations for which the County is financially accountable. The
County is financially accountable for an organization if the County appoints a voting majority of the
organization’s governing board and (1) the County is able to significantly influence the programs or services
performed or provided by the organization; or (2) the County is legally entitled to or can otherwise access the
organization’s resources; the County is legally obligated or has otherwise assumed the responsibility to finance
the deficits of, or provide financial support to, the organization; or the County is obligated for the debt of the
organization. Component units also include organizations that are fiscally dependent on the County, in that the
County approves the organizations budget, the issuance of its debt, or the levying of its taxes and there is a
potential for the organization to provide specific financial benefits to, or impose specific financial burdens on,
the primary government.

Discretely Presented Component Units

The component units column in the entity-wide financial statements identify the financial data of the County’s
component units, Butler County Land Reutilization Corporation, Liberty Community Authority, Butler County
Port Authority and the Butler County Convention and Visitors Bureau. They are reported separately to
emphasize that they are legally separate from the County.

Butler County Land Reutilization Corporation

The Butler County Land Reutilization Corporation was created by resolution of the County Commissioners and
organized under chapter 1724 of the Revised Code to act on behalf and cooperate with the county in exercising
the powers and performing the duties of the county under chapter 5722 of the Ohio Revised Code. The
purpose of the organization is to reduce the existence of nonproductive land within Butler County. The
corporation takes title of nonproductive properties and gives them to the requesting cities participating in the
program. The cities will improve the properties and return them to a revenue generating status or devote them
to public purpose.

The Butler County Commissioners and Butler County Treasurer comprise the voting majority of the land
reutilization corporation. Because the County makes up a voting majority of the board, the County is able to
impose its will on the operations of the Land Bank. The component unit column of the financial statements
identifies the financial data of the discretely presented component unit. It is reported separately to emphasize
that it is legally separate from the County. Separately issued financial statements can be obtained from the
Butler County Treasurer, 315 High Street, 10™ floor, Hamilton, Ohio 45011. Disclosures can be found in Note
24.
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BUTLER COUNTY, OHIO
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

Liberty Community Authority

The Liberty Community Authority (the “Authority”) is a community authority created pursuant to Chapter 349 of
the Ohio Revised Code (ORC). Liberty Center Holdings, LLC (the Developer) filed a petition for creation of the
Authority with the Butler County Commissioners. The petition was accepted on August 22, 2013. The Authority
was organized as a body corporate for the purpose of fostering development of a mixed use retail space known
as Liberty Center located in Butler County.

The Butler County Commissioners appoint four of the seven voting members of the Liberty Community
trustees. In addition, Butler County has agreed to pledge remaining TIF dollars to the repayment of the Liberty
community issued OWDA loans. This pledge is a secondary source and will only be used if the Authority does
not have sufficient revenues for payment. Because the County appoints a voting majority of the board and a
financial benefit/burden relationship exists the Liberty Community Authority is being disclosed as a discretely
presented component unit. Separately issued financial statements can be obtained from the Authority’s
Treasurer, 7100 Foundry Row, Suite 204, Liberty Township, Ohio 45069. Disclosures can be found in Note 25.

Butler County Port Authority

The Butler County Commissioners established the Butler County Port Authority pursuant to section 4582.22 of
the Ohio Revised code in September of 2004. The Port authority is a body corporate and politic established to
undertake various projects that would create or preserve jobs and employment opportunities within the County.
The Port Authority Board consists of seven voting members of which four members must have businesses or
places of employment within Butler County. The remaining three members of the board need not possess
either of the preceding qualifications.

The Butler County Commissioners appoint four of the seven voting members of the Butler County Port
Authority Board. In addition, Butler County entered into a contractual agreement to be the secondary payee on
the Port Authority issued Bonds for the Liberty Center Project bonds. These bonds are being paid from Butler
County TIF revenues. Because the County appoints a voting majority of the board and a financial
benefit/burden relationship exists the Butler County Port Authority is being disclosed as a discretely presented
component unit. Separately issued financial statements can be obtained from the Butler County Port Authority,
315 High Street, Hamilton, Ohio 45011. Disclosures can be found in Note 26.

Butler County Convention and Visitors Bureau

The Butler County Convention and Visitors Bureau was established to promote economic activity and
development through tourism. The County Commissioners appoint fifteen members to serve on the
Convention and Visitor Bureau Board. Nine of the Board members represent local community interests. Three
members include representatives from existing Convention and Visitor Bureaus already established in the
County. The remaining board members consist of a member from Butler County Metroparks, Butler County
Chamber Caucus and a board member recommended by the Commissioners.

The County Commissioners passed a three-percent hotel excise tax in August of 2003 pursuant to the
regulations in Ohio Revised Code 5739.09. The hotel tax collections are collected by Butler County and can
only be distributed to a Convention and Visitor Bureau according to the statute. The County is responsible for
the administration and allocation of the tax. Because the County appoints a voting majority of the board and a
financial benefit/burden relationship exists the Butler County Convention and Visitors Bureau is being disclosed
as a discretely presented component unit. Complete financial statements can be obtained from the Butler
County Convention and Visitors Bureau, 8756 Union Centre Blvd., West Chester, Ohio 45069. Disclosures can
be found in Note 27.

The County participates in the following jointly governed organizations, risk sharing pool, insurance purchasing

pool and related organizations. These organizations are presented in Note 19 to the basic financial statements
and are excluded from the accompanying financial statements except as noted.
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BUTLER COUNTY, OHIO
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

Transportation Improvement District of Butler County
Ohio Kentucky Indiana Regional Council of Governments
Butler/Clermont/Warren Workforce Policy Board
Community-Based Correctional Facility

Southwest Ohio Council of Governments

County Risk Sharing Authority (CORSA)

Jefferson Health Plan

Regional Transit Authority (RTA)

Metroparks of Butler County

Twelfth District Court of Appeals

As the custodian of public funds, the County Treasurer invests all public moneys held on deposit in the County
Treasury. In the case of the legally separate agencies, boards and commissions listed below, the County
serves as fiscal agent, but the organizations are not considered a part of Butler County. Accordingly, the
activity of the following districts and agencies are presented as custodial funds within the County’s financial
statements:

Butler County General Health District

The Board of Health is elected by a District Advisory Council comprised of a township trustees, mayors of
participating municipalities, and a representative of the county commissioners which oversee the operation of
the Health District. The Board adopts its own budget, which is subject to a compliance oriented review by the
County. The District hires and fires its own staff, and operates autonomously from the County.

Butler County Soil and Water Conservation District

The Soil and Water Conservation District is statutorily created as a separate and distinct political subdivision of
the state. The supervisors of the Soil and Water Conservation District are elected officials authorized to
contract and sue on behalf of the District. The supervisors adopt their own budget, authorize District
expenditures, and do not tax or issue debt.

Metroparks of Butler County

The District Commissioners are appointed by the Probate Judge of the County. The Commissioners adopt
their own budget, authorize expenditures, hire and fire staff, and do not rely on the County to finance deficits.
The County is not financially accountable for the District nor is the District fiscally dependent on the County.
The District serves as its own taxing and debt issuance authority and is a related organization of the County.

Community-Based Correctional Facility

The Community-Based Correctional Facility serves Butler, Clermont, and Warren Counties. The Judicial
Advisory Board includes at least one common pleas court judge from each county. The Community-Based
Correctional Facility provides a wide range of programs addressing offender needs such as chemical
dependency, education, employment, and family relationships.

NOTE 2 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial statements of Butler County have been prepared in conformity with the accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) as applied to governmental units. The
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for establishing
governmental accounting and financial reporting principles. The more significant of the County’s accounting
policies are described below.
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BUTLER COUNTY, OHIO
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The County’s basic financial statements consist of government-wide statements, including a statement of net
position and a statement of activities, and fund financial statements which provide a more detailed level of
financial information.

Government-Wide Financial Statements

The statement of net position and the statement of activities display information about the County as a whole.
These statements include the financial activities of the primary government, except for fiduciary funds. The
activity of the internal service funds is eliminated to avoid “doubling up” revenues and expenses. The
statements distinguish between those activities of the County that are governmental and those that are
considered business-type activities.

The statement of net position presents the financial condition of the governmental and business-type activities
for the County at year-end. The statement of activities presents a comparison between direct expenses and
program revenues for each program or function of the County’s governmental activities and for the business-
type activities. Direct expenses are those that are specifically associated with a service, program, or
department and therefore clearly identifiable to a particular function. Program revenues include charges paid
by the recipient for goods and services offered by the program, grants and contributions that are restricted to
meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular program and interest earned on grants that is
required to be used to support a particular program. Revenues that are not classified as program revenues are
presented as general revenues of the County, with certain limited exceptions. The comparison of direct
expenses with program revenues identifies the extent to which each governmental program or business activity
is self-financing or draws from the general revenues of the County.

Fund Financial Statements

During the year, the County segregates transactions related to certain County functions or activities in separate
funds in order to aid financial management and to demonstrate legal compliance. Fund financial statements
are designed to present financial information of the County at this more detailed level. The focus of
governmental and enterprise fund financial statements is on major funds. Each major fund is presented in a
separate column. Non-major funds are aggregated and presented in a single column. Internal service funds
are combined and the totals are presented in a single column on the face of the proprietary fund statements.
Fiduciary funds are reported by type.

Fund Accounting

The County uses funds to maintain its financial records during the year. A fund is defined as a fiscal and
accounting entity with a self-balancing set of accounts. There are three categories of funds: governmental,
proprietary and fiduciary.

Governmental Funds

Governmental funds are those through which most governmental functions of the County are financed.
Governmental fund reporting focuses on the sources, uses, and balances of current financial resources.

Expendable assets are assigned to the various governmental funds according to the purposes for which they
may or must be used. Current liabilities are assigned to the fund from which they will be paid. The difference
between governmental fund assets and liabilities plus deferred inflows of resources is reported as fund
balance. The following are the County’s major governmental funds:

General - This fund accounts for and reports the general operating revenues and expenditures of the

County not recorded elsewhere. The General Fund balance is available to the County for any purpose
provided it is expended or transferred according to the general laws of the State of Ohio.
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BUTLER COUNTY, OHIO
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

Mental Health and Addiction Recovery Services Board — This fund accounts for and reports the
countywide tax levy along with various Federal, State and local funds restricted to provide mental health
and addiction recovery services to all citizens of Butler County.

Developmental Disabilities - This fund accounts for and reports the countywide tax levy, federal and
State grants restricted to pay the costs of services provided to local citizens with developmental
disabilities.

Job and Family Services/Children Services Agency — This fund accounts for and reports the countywide
tax levy along with various federal and State grants restricted to support children’s services, provide
services to the local community for child adoption and foster care needs, provide public assistance to
general relief recipients, pay their providers of medical assistance, and pay for certain public social
services.

Residential Incentive Districts and Tax Incremental Financings — This fund accounts for and reports the
countywide TIF/RID revenues and expenses restricted for development, construction, and maintenance
of various development projects within Butler County.

County ARPA Relief Fund — This fund accounts for and reports the revenue received from the
Federal Government for the American Rescue Plan Act of 2021 for expenses restricted to support
recovery from the COVID-19 public health emergency.

The non-major governmental funds of the County account for grants and other resources, whose use is
restricted, committed or assigned to a particular purpose.

Proprietary Funds

Proprietary fund reporting focuses on the determination of operating income, changes in net position, financial
position and cash flows. Proprietary funds are classified as either enterprise or internal service.

Enterprise Funds

Enterprise funds may be used to account for any activity for which a fee is charged to external users for goods
or services. The County maintains the following enterprise funds:

Sewer - This fund accounts and reports fees collected by Butler County Water and Sewer for the
processing and disposal of sewage.

Water - This fund accounts and reports fees collected by Butler County Water and Sewer for providing
water services to Butler County residents.

Internal Service Funds

Internal service funds account for the financing of services provided by one department or agency to other
departments or agencies of the County on a cost-reimbursement basis. The County’s internal service funds
report on health insurance programs for medical, dental and vision coverage, and workers compensation.

Fiduciary Funds

Fiduciary fund reporting focuses on net position and changes in net position. The fiduciary fund category is split
into classifications: pension (and other employee benefit) trust funds, investment trust funds, private purpose
trust funds, and custodial funds. Trust funds are distinguished from custodial funds by the existence of a trust
agreement or equivalent arrangement that has certain characteristics. The County does not have any trust
funds. Custodial funds are used to report fiduciary activities that are not required to be reported in a trust fund.
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The County’s only fiduciary funds are custodial funds. The County’s Custodial funds account for amounts
collected and distributed on behalf of another government or organization. The County’s custodial funds are
primarily established to account for the collection and distribution of various taxes, receipts and fees to other
local governments and to account for funds of the General Health District, Soil and Water Conservation District,
Metroparks, and the Community-Based Correctional Facility.

MEASUREMENT FOCUS

Government-Wide Financial Statements

The government-wide financial statements are prepared using the economic resources measurement focus.
All assets and deferred outflows of resources and liabilities and deferred inflows of resources associated with
the operation of the County are included on the statement of net position. The statement of activities presents
increases (i.e. revenues) and decreases (i.e. expenses) in total net position.

Fund Financial Statements

All governmental funds are accounted for using a flow of current financial resources measurement focus. With
this measurement focus, only current assets and current liabilities and deferred inflows generally are included
on the balance sheet. The statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balance reports on the
sources (i.e. revenues and other financing sources) and uses (i.e. expenditures and other financing uses) of
current financial resources. This approach differs from the manner in which the governmental activities of the
government-wide financial statements are prepared. Governmental fund financial statements therefore include
reconciliations with brief explanations to better identify the relationships between the government-wide
statements and the fund financial statements.

Like the government-wide statements, all proprietary and fiduciary funds are accounted for using a flow of
economic resources measurement focus. All assets and deferred outflows of resources and all liabilities and
deferred inflows of resources associated with the operation of these funds are included on the statement of net
position. In fiduciary funds, a liability to the beneficiaries of the fiduciary activity is recognized when an event
has occurred that compels the government to disburse fiduciary resources. Fiduciary fund liabilities, other than
those to beneficiaries are recognized using the economic resources measurement focus.

For proprietary funds, the statement of changes in fund net position presents increases (i.e. revenues) and
decreases (i.e. expenses) in total net position. The statement of cash flows provides information about how the
County finances and meets the cash flow needs of its proprietary activities. Fiduciary funds present a statement
of changes in fiduciary net position which reports additions to and deductions from custodial funds.

BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

Basis of accounting determines when transactions are recorded in the financial records and reported on the
financial statements. Government-wide financial statements are prepared using the accrual basis of
accounting. Governmental funds use the modified accrual basis of accounting. Proprietary and fiduciary funds
also use the accrual basis of accounting. Differences in the accrual and modified accrual basis of accounting
arise in the recognition of revenue, the recording of deferred inflows and outflows of resources, and in the
presentation of expenses versus expenditures.

Revenues — Exchange and Non-Exchange Transactions

Revenues resulting from exchange transactions, in which each party gives and receives essentially equal
value, is recorded on the accrual basis when the exchange takes place. On a modified accrual basis, revenue
is recorded in the year in which the resources are measurable and become available. Available means that the
sources will be collected within the current year or are expected to be collected soon enough thereafter to be
used to pay liabilities of the current year. For the County, available means expected to be received within 31
days of year-end.
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Non-exchange transactions, in which the County receives value without directly giving equal value in return,
includes sales tax, property taxes, payments in lieu of taxes, grants, entitlements and donations. On an accrual
basis, revenue from sales taxes is recognized in the period in which the sale occurs (see Note 8). On an
accrual basis, revenue from property taxes/revenue in lieu of taxes is recognized in the year for which the taxes
are levied or would have been levied (see Note 7). Revenue from grants, entittements, and donations are
recognized in the year in which all eligibility requirements have been satisfied.

Eligibility requirements include timing requirements, which specify the year when resources are required to be
used or the year when use is first permitted, matching requirements, in which the County must provide local
resources to be used for a specified purpose, and expenditure requirements, in which the resources are
provided to the County on a reimbursement basis. On a modified accrual basis, revenue from non-exchange
transactions must also be available before it can be recognized.

Under the modified accrual basis, the following revenue sources are considered to be both measurable and
available at year end: sales tax, state levied locally shared taxes (including gasoline tax and motor vehicle
license tax), charges for services, licenses and permits, fines and forfeitures, grants, interest.

Unearned Revenue

Unearned revenue arises when assets are recognized before revenue recognition criteria have been satisfied.
The County recognizes unearned revenue for intergovernmental revenue from grants received before the
eligibility requirements are met.

Payments in Lieu of Taxes

The County has entered into several Tax Increment Financing Agreements with developers. In order to
encourage improvements, companies and home owners were granted a 100 percent, 30 year exemption from
paying any property taxes on the new construction; however, payments in lieu of taxes are made to the County
in an amount equal to the real property taxes that otherwise would have been due in that current year.
Payments in lieu of taxes are collected through the real estate tax collection cycle. These payments are being
used to finance public infrastructure improvements. Additional payments are made to Fairfield City School
District, Lakota Local School District, and Ross Local School District since they are impacted by the exemption.
A receivable for the amount of the payments estimated to be received in the next tax collection year has been
recorded in the respective TIF funds with a corresponding credit to deferred inflows of resources — revenue in
lieu of taxes. On a full accrual basis, the portion of collections relating to delinquencies will be reported as
Payments in Lieu of Taxes revenue. While on the modified accrual basis, the revenue has been reported as
deferred inflows — unavailable revenue.

Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources

In addition to assets, the statements of financial position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred
outflows of resources. Deferred outflows of resources, represents a consumption of net assets that applies to a
future period and will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/expenditure) until then. For the
County, deferred outflows of resources are reported on the government-wide statement of net position for
deferred charges on refunding, pension and OPEB. A deferred charge on refunding results from the difference
in the carrying value of refunded debt and its reacquisition price. This amount is deferred and amortized over
the shorter of the life of the refunded or refunding debt. The deferred outflows of resources related to pension
and OPEB plans are explained in Notes 12 and 13.

In addition to liabilities, the statements of financial position report a separate section for deferred inflows of
resources. Deferred inflows of resources represent an acquisition of net assets that applies to a future period
and will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. For the County, deferred inflows
of resources include deferred charge on refunding, property taxes, payments in Lieu of taxes, pension, OPEB,
leases and unavailable revenue. Property taxes and payments in Lieu of taxes represent amounts for which
there is an enforceable legal claim as of December 31, 2022, but which were levied to finance 2023 operations.
These amounts have been recorded as a deferred inflow on both the government-wide statement of net
position and the governmental fund financial statements. The deferred inflow for leases is related to leases
receivable and is being recognized as a lease revenue in a systematic and rational manner over the term of the
lease.
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Unavailable revenue is reported only on the governmental funds balance sheet, and represents receivables
which will not be collected within the available period. For the County unavailable revenue includes delinquent
property taxes, income taxes, special assessments and intergovernmental grants. These amounts are
deferred and recognized as an inflow of resources in the period the amounts become available. The details of
these unavailable revenues are identified on the reconciliation of total governmental fund balance to net
position of governmental activities found on page 24. Deferred inflows of resources related to pension and
OPEB plans are reported on the government-wide statement of net position. (See Notes 12 and 13)

Expenses/Expenditures

On the accrual basis of accounting, expenses are recognized at the time they are incurred. The measurement
focus of governmental fund accounting is on decreases in net financial resources (expenditures) rather than
expenses. Expenditures are generally recognized in the accounting period in which the related fund liability is
incurred, if measurable. Allocations of cost, such as depreciation and amortization, are not recognized in the
governmental funds.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash resources of the majority of individual funds are combined to form a pool of cash and investments, which
is managed by the County Treasurer. Individual fund integrity is maintained through the County’s records.
Interest in the pool is presented as “Equity in Pooled Cash and Cash Equivalents”.

During 2022, investments were limited to, StarOhio, Commercial Paper, Money Market Mutual Fund, Corporate
Bonds, Municipal Bonds, Negotiable CD’s, U.S. Treasury Notes and Federal Agency Securities. Investments,
except for commercial paper and STAR Ohio, are reported at fair value which is based on quoted market
prices. The County’'s commercial paper is measured at amortized cost as it is a highly liquid debt instrument
with a remaining maturity at the time of purchase of less than one year. Note 6 provide a detailed disclosure
regarding cash, cash equivalents and investments held by the County.

During 2022, the County invested in STAR Ohio. STAR Ohio (the State Treasury Asset Reserve of Ohio), is an
investment pool managed by the State Treasurer’'s Office which allows governments within the State to pool
their funds for investment purposes. STAR Ohio is not registered with the SEC as an investment company, but
has adopted Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB), Statement No. 79, Certain External
Investment Pools and Pool Participants. The County measures their investment in STAR Ohio at the net asset
value (NAV) per share provided by STAR Ohio. The NAV per share is calculated on an amortized cost basis
that provides an NAV per share that approximates fair value.

For 2022, there were no limitations or restrictions on any participant withdrawals due to redemption notice
periods, liquidity fees, or redemption gates. However, twenty-four hours advance notice for deposits and
withdrawals of $100 million or more is encouraged. STAR Ohio reserves the right to limit the transactions to
$250 million per day, requiring the excess amount to be transacted the following business day(s), but only to
the $250 million limit. All accounts of the participant will be combined for these purposes.

Under existing Ohio statutes all investment earnings are assigned to the general fund unless statutorily
required to be credited to a specific fund. Investment Earnings credited to the general fund during 2022
amounted to $5,443,512 which includes $4,139,791 assigned from other County funds.

Statement of Cash Flows

Funds included within the Treasurer's cash management pool and investments in segregated accounts with
original maturities of three months or less when purchased are considered to be cash equivalents.

Cash and Cash Equivalents in Segregated Accounts

The County has segregated bank accounts for monies held separate from the County’s central bank account.
These depository accounts are presented as “Cash and cash equivalents in segregated accounts”.
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Cash and Cash Equivalents with Fiscal Agents

The Southwest Ohio Council of Governments is currently holding deposits that belong to the County which are
represented by “Cash and cash equivalents with fiscal agents” on the statement of net position- government
wide and also found on the fund financial statements in the developmental disabilities major fund.

The County also maintains cash with a fiscal agent at US Bank for the Liberty Community Authority backed
OWDA loans as well as the Butler County Port Authority issued Liberty Center bonds. These dollars are held in
escrow as secondary pledge for these pieces of debt. “Cash and cash equivalents with fiscal agents” can be
found on the statement of net position- government wide and also found on the fund financial statements in the
Bond Retirement-Debt Service Fund.

Butler County Developmental Disabilities provides health insurance to employees through the Jefferson Health
Plan. The cash related to this insurance plan is represented by “Cash and cash equivalents with fiscal agents”
on the combining statement of fund net position — internal service funds.

Inventories and Prepaid ltems

On the government-wide financial statements inventories are presented at the lower of cost or fair value, on a
first-in, first-out (FIFO) basis, and are expensed when used.

On fund financial statements, inventories of governmental funds are stated at cost while inventories of
proprietary funds are stated at the lower of cost or fair value. For all funds, cost is determined on a first-in first-
out basis. The cost of inventory items is recorded as expenditures in the governmental fund types when
consumed. Inventories of the enterprise funds are expensed when used. Certain payments to vendors reflect
costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded as prepaid items by using the consumption
method.

Interfund Transactions

On fund financial statements, receivables and payables arising between funds for goods provided or services
rendered, are classified as “due from other funds/due to other funds”. Long-term interfund loans are classified
as “advances to/from other funds” and are classified as non-spendable fund balance which indicates that they
are not in spendable form even though it is a component of net current assets. These amounts are eliminated
in the governmental and business-type activities columns of the statement of net position, except for any net
residual amounts due between governmental and business type activities which are presented as internal
balances.

Restricted Assets

Assets are reported as restricted when limitations on their use change in nature or normal understanding of the
availability of the asset. Such constraints are either externally imposed by creditors, contributors, grantors, or
laws of other governments or imposed by law through constitutional provisions. Restricted assets in the general
fund represent money set aside for unclaimed monies.

Restricted equity in pooled cash and cash equivalents in enterprise funds consist of Replacement and
Improvement (R&l) Funds held by the Department of Water and Sewer that are restricted by bond covenants.
The covenants state that transfers must be made into the R&l Funds monthly from the Water and Sewer
operating funds until the time that the minimum cash balance of $1,300,000 in the Water Fund and $4,000,000
in the Sewer Fund is achieved. These dollars may be used to pay for replacements and improvements to
assets in the Water and Sewer systems. In addition, water customer deposits and amounts held in trust by the
pension and OPEB plans for future benefits are presented as Restricted Assets: Equity in pooled cash and
cash equivalents. Restricted assets in the enterprise funds also represent amounts held in trust by the pension
and OPEB plans for future benefits.
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Capital Assets

Capital assets, which include intangible assets (e.g. water rights, easements and internally generated software)
property, plant equipment and infrastructure assets (e.g. roads, bridges and culverts), are reported in the
applicable governmental or business-type activities columns in the government-wide financial statements.
Capital assets used by the enterprise funds are also reported in the respective funds.

The County defines capital assets as assets with an initial individual cost of more than $15,000 (amount not
rounded) and an estimated useful life of one year or any asset with an estimated useful life in excess of ten or
more years. Such assets (except for intangible right-to-use lease assets which are discussed below) are
recorded at historical cost or estimated historical cost, if purchased or constructed.

Donated capital assets are recorded at estimated acquisition value at the date of donation. For certain assets
estimates were calculated by indexing estimated current costs back to the year of acquisition. The costs of
normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset, or do not materially extend the useful
life of the asset are not capitalized.

All reported capital assets except for land and easements, construction in process, and infrastructure are
depreciated. Improvements are depreciated over the remaining useful lives of the related capital assets.

Useful lives for infrastructure were estimated based on the County’s historical records of necessary
improvements and replacement. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the following
useful lives:

Description Useful Lives
Land and Building Improvements 10 - 60 years
Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment 3 - 30 years
Vehicles 7 - 10 years
Intangible Right to Use Buildings 3-7 years
Water Right Contracts 20 years
Water and Sewer Mains 40 years

The County is reporting intangible right to use assets related toland for hanger leases at the Butler
County Airport. The lease asset is initially measured as the initial amount of the lease liability, adjusted
for lease payments made at or before the lease commencement date, plus certain initial direct costs.
Subsequently, these intangible assets are being amortized in a systematic and rational manner over the
shorter of the lease term or the useful life of the underlying asset.

Infrastructure assets under GASB Statement No. 34 do not need to be depreciated. The County has chosen to
apply the modified approach for reporting infrastructure assets. All infrastructure items including roads,
bridges, and culverts are reported. Under the modified approach, the County has developed an asset
management system that:

1. Keeps an up-to-date inventory of eligible infrastructure assets,

2. Performs a conditional assessment of those eligible infrastructure assets at least every three years,
using a consistent measurement scale and,

3. Estimates each year the annual amount to maintain and preserve those assets at the condition level
established and disclosed by the government.

The County documents that the eligible infrastructure assets are being maintained at a level equal to or above
the condition level established by the County. Condition appraisals are performed every three years for
bridges, roads, and culverts in accordance with the Butler County capital asset policy.

When using the modified approach, expenditures to extend the life of infrastructure assets are charged to
expense, while expenditures for additions and improvements to infrastructure assets are capitalized.
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Compensated Absences

Vacation and compensatory benefits are accrued as a liability as the benefits are earned if the employee’s right
to receive compensation is attributable to services already rendered and it is probable that the employer will
compensate employees for the benefits through time off or some other means. Sick leave benefits are accrued
as a liability based on the termination method. An accrual for sick leave is made to the extent that it is probable
that benefits will result in termination payments. The liability is an estimate based on the County’s past
experience of making termination payments.

On the governmental fund financial statements, compensated absences are recognized as a liability and
expenditures to the extent that payments come due each period upon the occurrence of employee resignations
and retirements. These amounts are recorded in the “Matured Compensated Absences Payable” in the fund
from which the employees will be paid.

The entire compensated absence liability is reported on the government-wide financial statements, the non-
current portion of the liability is not reported in governmental funds. In proprietary funds, the entire amount of
compensated absences is reported as a fund liability.

Accrued Liabilities and Long-term Obligations

All payables, accrued liabilities, and long-term obligations are reported in the government-wide financial
statements. All payables, accrued liabilities, and long-term obligations payable from the proprietary funds are
reported on the proprietary fund financial statements.

In general, governmental fund payables and accrued liabilities that, once incurred, are paid in a timely manner
and in full from current financial resources are reported as obligations of the funds. However, claims and
judgments, and compensated absences that will be paid from governmental funds are reported as a liability in
the fund financial statements only to the extent that they are normally due for payment during the current year.
Net pension/OPEB liability should be recognized in the governmental funds to the extent that benefit payments
are due and payable and the pension/OPEB plan’s fiduciary net position is not sufficient for payment of those
benefits. Bonds, leases and long-term loans are recognized as a liability on the governmental fund financial
statements when due.

Pensions/Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB)

For purposes of measuring the net pension/OPEB asset/liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred
inflows of resources related to pensions/OPEB, and pension/OPEB expense, information about the fiduciary
net position of the pension/OPEB plans and additions to/deductions from their fiduciary net position have been
determined on the same basis as they are reported by the pension/OPEB plan. For this purpose, benefit
payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance
with the benefit terms. The pension/OPEB plans report investments at fair value.

Fund Balance

Fund balance is divided into five classifications based primarily on the extent of which the County is bound to
observe constraints imposed upon the use of the resources in the government funds. The classifications are
as follows:

Non-spendable- The non-spendable fund balance classification includes amounts that cannot be spent
because they are not in spendable form, or legally or contractually required to be maintained intact.
The non-spendable fund balances include prepaid items, materials and supplies inventory, long-term
interfund loans, developmental disabilities trust and unclaimed monies.

Restricted- The restricted fund balance classification includes amounts that have constraints placed on
the use of resources that are either externally imposed by creditors such as through debt covenants,
grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments or imposed by law through
constitutional provisions.
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Committed- The committed fund balance classification includes amounts that can be used only for
specific purposes imposed by formal action (resolution) of the County Commissioners. Those
committed amounts cannot be used for any other purpose unless the Commissioners remove or
change the specified use by taking the same type of action (resolution) it employed to commit these
amounts. Committed fund balance also incorporates contractual obligations to the extent that existing
resources in the fund have been committed for use in satisfying those contractual requirements.

Assigned- The assigned fund balance classification is intended to be used by the County for specific
purposes but do not meet the criteria to be classified as restricted or committed. In governmental
funds other than the General Fund, assigned amounts represent intended uses established by the
County Commissioners or a County Official delegated that authority by resolution or by State Statute.
In the general fund, assigned amounts represent encumbered amounts for outstanding obligations.
State statute authorizes the fiscal officer to assign fund balance for purchases on order provided such
amounts have been lawfully appropriated.

Unassigned- The unassigned fund balance classification is intended for the General Fund and includes
all spendable amounts not contained in the other classifications. In non major governmental funds, the
unassigned fund balance classification is used only to report a deficit fund balance.

The County applies restricted resources first when expenditures are incurred for the purpose for which either
restricted or unrestricted (committed, assigned and unassigned) amounts are available. Similarly, within
unrestricted fund balance, committed amounts are reduced first followed by assigned, and then unassigned
amounts when expenditures are incurred for purposes for which amounts in any of the unrestricted fund
balance classification could be used.

Net Position

Net position represents the difference between all other elements in a statement of financial position. Net
Investment in Capital Assets consists of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, reduced by the
outstanding balances of any borrowings used for the acquisition, construction, or improvements of those
assets. Net position is reported as restricted when there are limitations imposed on their use either through the
enabling legislation adopted by the County or through external restrictions imposed by creditors, grantors, laws
or regulations of non major governments.

Net position restricted for other purposes primarily include funds for the operation of recording fees, tax
assessment and collections; services provided by Butler County courts; law enforcement and other public
safety services; animal licensing and control; and human services to support victim assistance programs.

The County applies restricted resources first when an expense is incurred for purposes for which both
restricted and unrestricted net position are available. The County’s sewer and water enterprise funds have
restricted net position relative to those resources necessary to comply with various covenants of bond financing
agreements. Additionally, restricted net position for Pension and OPEB plans represent the corresponding
restricted asset amounts after considering the related deferred outflows and deferred inflows.

Operating Revenues and Expenses

Operating revenues are those revenues that are generated directly from the primary activity of the proprietary
funds. For the County, these revenues are charges for services for wastewater treatment, water distribution,
and self-insurance. Operating expenses are necessary costs incurred to provide the good or service that are
the primary activity of the fund. Revenues and expenses that do not meet these criteria are considered non-
operating revenues and expenses and are reported as such. All revenues of the department of Water and
Sewer are used as security for revenue bonds issued.
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Leases
The County serves as both lessee and lessor in various noncancellable leases which are accounted for as follows:

Lessee — At the commencement of a lease, the County initially measures the lease liability at the present value
of payments expected to be made during the lease term. Subsequently, the lease liability is reduced by the
principal portion of the lease payments made. The lease asset is initially measured as the initial amount of the
lease liability, adjusted for lease payments made at or before the lease commencement date, plus certain initial
direct costs. Subsequently, the lease asset is amortized on a straight-line basis over its useful life. Lease
assets are reported with other capital assets and lease liabilities are reported with long-term debt on the
statement of net position.

Lessor - At the commencement of a lease, the County initially measures the lease receivable at the present
value of payments expected to be received during the lease term. Subsequently, the lease receivable is
reduced by the principal portion of lease payments received. The deferred inflow of resources is initially
measured as the initial amount of the lease receivable, adjusted for lease payments received at or before the
lease commencement date. Subsequently, the deferred inflow of resources is recognized as revenue over the
life of the lease term.

Contributions of Capital

Contributions of capital in proprietary fund financial statements arise from outside contributions of capital
assets, from grants, outside contributions of resources restricted to capital acquisition and construction, and
system capacity charges.

Internal Activity

Transfers within governmental activities are eliminated on the government-wide financial statements. Internal
allocations of overhead expenses from one function to another or within the same function are eliminated on
the statement of activities. Payments for interfund services provided and used are not eliminated.

Exchange transactions between funds are reported as revenues in the seller funds and as expenditures or
expenses in the purchaser funds. Flows of cash or goods from one fund to another without a requirement for
repayment are reported as interfund transfers. Interfund transfers are reported as other financing sources or
uses in governmental funds. Repayments from funds responsible for particular expenditures or expenses to
the funds that initially paid for them are not presented on the financial statements.

Bond Premiums and Discounts

On the government-wide financial statements (and in the enterprise funds), bond premiums and discounts are
deferred and amortized over the term of the bonds using the straight-line (bonds outstanding) method, which
approximates the effective interest method. Bond premiums/discounts are presented as additions/reductions to
the face amount of bonds payable. On the governmental fund financial statements, premiums and discounts
are recognized in the period in which the debt is issued.

Under Ohio law, premiums on the original issuance of debt are to be deposited to the bond retirement fund to
be used for debt retirement and are precluded from being applied to the project fund. Ohio law does allow
premiums on refunding debt to be used as part of the payment to the bond escrow agent.

Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires

management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements
and accompanying notes. Actual results may differ from those estimates.
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Budgets

All funds, except custodial funds, are legally required to be budgeted and appropriated. The major documents
prepared are the tax budget, the certificate of estimated resources, and the appropriations resolution, all of
which are prepared on the budgetary basis of accounting. The tax budget demonstrates a need for existing or
increased tax rates. The certificate of estimated resources establishes a limit on the amount the County
Commissioners may appropriate. The appropriations resolution is the County Commissioners’ authorization to
spend resources and sets annual limits on expenditures plus encumbrances at the level of control selected by
the County Commissioners. The legal level of control has been established by the County Commissioners at
the fund, program, department, and object level.

Estimated Resources

The certificate of estimated resources may be amended during the year if the County Auditor identifies
projected increases or decreases in revenue. The amounts reported as the original budgeted amounts on the
budgetary statements reflect the amounts on the certificate of estimated resources when the original
appropriations were adopted. The amounts reported as the final budgeted amounts on the budgetary
statements reflect the amounts on the final amended certificate of estimated resources that was in effect at the
time the final appropriations were passed by the County Commissioners.

Appropriations

The appropriation resolution is subject to amendment throughout the year with the restriction that
appropriations cannot exceed estimated resources. The amounts reported as the original budgeted amounts
reflect the first appropriation resolution for that fund that covered the entire year, including amounts
automatically carried forward from prior years. The amounts reported as the final budgeted amounts represent
the final appropriation amounts passed by the County Commissioners during the year including all
supplemental appropriations.

BUDGETARY BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

While reporting financial position, results of operations, and changes in fund balance on the basis of generally
accepted accounting principles (GAAP), the budgetary basis as provided by law is based upon accounting for
certain transactions on a basis of cash receipts, disbursements, and encumbrances.

The statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balance — budget and actual (budget basis) for
the general and major special revenue funds are presented on the budget basis to provide a meaningful
comparison of actual results with the budget.

The major differences between the budget basis and the GAAP basis are as follows:

1. Revenues are recorded when received in cash (budget basis) as opposed to when susceptible to
accrual (GAAP basis).

2. Expenditures are recorded when paid in cash (budget basis) as opposed to when the liability is
incurred (GAAP basis).

3. Outstanding year-end encumbrances are treated as expenditures (budget basis) rather than
restricted, committed or assigned fund balance (GAAP basis).

4. Advances in and advances out are operating transactions (budget basis) as opposed to balance
sheet transactions (GAAP basis).

5. Investments are reported at fair value (GAAP basis) rather than cost (budget basis).

Adjustments necessary to convert the results of operations at the end of the year on the budget basis to the
GAARP basis are as follows:
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Net Change in Fund Balance

Residential
Mental Health Incentive
and Addiction Job and Family Districts and
Recovery Developmental Senvices/Children Tax Incremental County ARPA
General Services Board Disabilities Senvices Agency Financing Relief Fund
GAAP Basis $ (32,497,486) $ 1,955,250 $ (3,886,369) $ 4,310,002 $ (1,633,999) $ 657,242
Revenue Accruals 1,804,613 (430,939) (88,968) (608,637) 3,237,331 24,324,757
Expenditure Accruals (220,303) (344,799) (671,914) 819,429 (3,429,625) 263,948
Encumbrances (9,561,689) (1,311,754) (862,643) (2,677,389) (2,564,571) (594,762)
2021 increase in Fair
Value of Investments (1,945,439) - - - - -
2022 Decrease in Fair
Value of Investments 22,540,933 - - - - -
2021 Custodial Fund Allocation 1,743,147 269,021 748,111 622,307 - -
2022 Custodial Fund Allocation (1,953,622) (234,447) (796,626) (591,127) - -
Advances In 12,000 - - - 4,000,000 -
Advances Out (4,000,000) - - - - -
Budget Basis $ (24,077,846) $ (97,668) $ (5,558,409) $ 1,874,585 $ (390,864) $ 24,651,185

NOTE 3 — CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES AND RESTATEMENT OF FUND BALANCES AND NET
POSITION

For fiscal year 2022, the County implemented Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 87,
Leases and related guidance from (GASB) Implementation Guide No. 2019-3, Leases. The County also implemented
GASB Statement No. 91, Conduit Debt Obligations, GASB Statement No. 92, Omnibus 2020, GASB Statement No. 97,
Certain Component Unit Criteria, and Accounting and Financial Reporting for Internal Revenue Code Section 457
Deferred Compensation Plans, and Implementation Guide No. 2020-1.

GASB Statement 87 enhances the relevance and consistency of information of the government’s leasing activities. It
establishes requirements for lease accounting based on the principle that leases are financings of the right to use an
underlying asset. A lessee is required to recognize a lease liability and an intangible right to use lease asset, and a
lessor is required to recognize a lease receivable and a deferred inflow of resources. These changes were incorporated
in the County’s 2022 financial statements. The County recognized $8,760,050 in leases receivable at January 1, 2022,
due to the implementation of GASB 87; however, this entire amount was offset by the deferred inflows related to leases.
The County also recognized $1,757,102 in governmental activities in leases payable at January 1, 2022; however, this
entire amount was offset by the intangible asset, right to use lease - buildings.

GASB 91 clarifies the existing definition of a conduit debt obligation; establishing that a conduit debt obligation is not a
liability of the issuer; establishing standards for accounting and financial reporting of additional commitments and
voluntary commitments extended by issuers and arrangements associated with conduit debt obligations; and improving
required note disclosures.

GASB 92 addresses a variety of topics including reporting by public entity risk pools for amounts that are recoverable
from reinsurers or excess insurers and references to nonrecurring fair value measurements of assets or liabilities in
authoritative literature. These changes did not impact the County’s financial statements.

GASB 97, among other items, requires that a Section 457 plan be classified as either a pension plan or an other
employee benefit plan depending on whether the plan meets the definition of a pension plan.

The changes for GASB 87, GASB 91 and GASB 97 were incorporated in the County’s 2022 financial statements;
however, there was no effect on beginning net position/fund balance.

The County is restating custodial funds due to Special Assessments Distributions to Other Governments being
overstated for 2022 by $76,804,446.
Custodial Funds

Net Position, December 31, 2021 $ 16,708,324
Due to Other Governments 76,804,446
Restated Net Position, December 31, 2021 $ 93,512,770
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NOTE 4 — FUND BALANCE

The fund balance for all governmental funds are classified as nonspendable, restricted, committed, assigned
and/or unassigned based primarily on the extent to which the County is bound to observe constraints imposed
upon the use of the resources. The constraints placed on the fund balance for the major governmental funds
and non major governmental funds are presented below.

Residential
Mental Health Incentive
and Addiction Job and Family / Districts and Non Major
Recowery Developmental ~ Children Senices Tax Incremental County ARPA ~ Govenmental

Fund Balances General  Senices Board  Disabilities Agency Financings Relief Funds Total
Nonspendable

Prepaid tems § 374765 50000 § 93007 § 19,820 § - - 0§ BT S 686,020

Materials and Supplies 140,055 1,206 5115 14,010 - - 1,070,666 1,231,052

Interfund Loans 422,720 - - - - - - 4222720

Unclaimed Monies 1,963,099 - 1,963,099

Developmental Disabilities Trust - - - - - 837,663 837,663
Total Nonspendable 6,713,350 51,206 98,122 33,830 - - 2,044,046 8,940,554
Restricted for

Mental Health and Addiction Recovery Senices Board - 22,070,074 - - - - - 22,070,074

Developmental Disabilities - - 37,794,698 - - - - 37,794,698

Job and Family/Children Senices - - - 24,282,808 - - - 24,282,808

Residential Incentive Districts and Tax Incremental Financing - - - 6,146,383 - - 6,146,383

County ARPA Relief Fund - - - - - 669,592 - 669,592

Elderly Senices - - - - - - 9,740,146 9,740,146

Motor Vehicle - - - - - - 17,669,794 17,669,794

Public Works - - - - - - 18,796,762 18,796,762

Real Estate Assessment - - - - - - 4,235,928 4,235,928

Legislative and Executive - - - - - - 2,729,343 2,729,343

Child Support Enforcement Agency - - - - - - 5,542,202 5,542,202

Public Safety - - - - - - 8,810,358 8,810,358

Judicial - - - - - - 5,721,058 5,721,058

QOther Purposes - - - - - - 4,663,810 4,663,810
Total Restricted - 22,070,074 31794698 24282808 6,146,383 669,592  77,909401 168,872,956
Assigned

Purchases on Order - Material/Supplies 797,148 - - - - - - 797,148

Purchases on Order - Contract Senices 4,986,188 - - - - - - 4,986,188

Purchases on Order - Other 454,908 - 454,908

Capital Projects - - - - - - 15,000,000 15,000,000
Total Assigned 6,238,244 - - - - - 15,000,000 21,238,244
Unassigned (Deficit) 99,525,139 - - - - - - 99,525,139
Total Fund Balance § 112476733 § 22121280 § 37802820 § 24316638 § 61146383 § 669,592 § 94953447 § 298,576,893

In addition to the above fund balance constraints, the County has a General Fund budget stabilization
arrangement that does not meet the criteria to be classified as restricted or committed. Pursuant to Ohio
Revised Code 5705.13, the County established a budget stabilization by resolution to provide options to
stabilize against cyclical changes in revenues and expenditures. Expenditures of a recurring nature are not
addressed as through the use of this arrangement. The balance in the reserve at December 31, 2022 is
$15,000,000.
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NOTE 5— ACCOUNTABILITY

At year-end the Jefferson Health Plan internal service fund had a deficit fund balance of $418,116. This deficit
is the result of increased claims payable and rising health care costs. Management is currently analyzing
the internal service operations to determine appropriate steps to alleviate the deficit.

NOTE 6— DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS

CASH

Monies held by the County are classified by State statute into two categories. Active monies are public monies
determined to be necessary to meet current demands upon the County treasury. Active monies must be
maintained either as cash in the County treasury, in commercial accounts payable or withdrawable on demand,
including negotiable order of withdrawal (NOW) accounts, or in money market deposit accounts.

Monies held by the County which are not considered active are classified as inactive. Inactive monies may be
deposited or invested with certain limitations in the following securities provided the County has filed a written
investment policy with the Ohio Auditor of State:

1. United States Treasury bills, bonds, notes, or any other obligation or security issued by the United
States Treasury, or any other obligation guaranteed as to principal and interest by the United States,
or any book entry, zero-coupon United States treasury security that is a direct obligation of the United
States;

2. Bonds, notes, debentures, or any other obligations or security issued by any federal government
agency or instrumentality including, but not limited to, the Federal National Mortgage Association,
Federal Home Loan Bank, Federal Farm Credit Bank, Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation and
Government National Mortgage Association. All federal agency securities shall be direct issuances of
federal government agencies or instrumentalities;

3. Written repurchase agreements in the securities listed above provided the fair value of the securities
subject to the repurchase agreement must exceed the principal value of the agreement by at least two
percent and be marked to market daily, and the term of the agreement must not exceed thirty days;

4. Bonds and other obligations of this state or the political subdivisions of this state, provided the bonds
or other obligations of political subdivisions mature within ten years from the date of settlement;

5. Time certificates of deposit or savings or deposit accounts including, but not limited to, passbook
accounts, in eligible institutions pursuant to ORC sections 135.32;

6. No-load money market mutual funds rated in the highest category at the time of purchase by at least
one nationally recognized standard rating service or consisting exclusively of obligations described in
(1) or (2) above; commercial paper as described in ORC section 135.143 (6); and repurchase
agreements secured by such obligations, provided these investments are made only through eligible
institutions;

7. The State Treasurer’s investment pool (STAR Ohio);
8. Securities lending agreements in which the County lends securities and the eligible institution agrees
to simultaneously exchange either securities or cash, equal value for equal value, within certain

limitations;

9. Up to forty percent of the County’s average portfolio, if training requirements have been met in either of
the following:
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a. Commercial paper notes in entities incorporated under the laws of Ohio, or any other State that
have assets exceeding five hundred million dollars, which are rated in the highest classification
established by two nationally recognized standard rating services, which do not exceed ten
percent of the value of the outstanding commercial paper of the issuing corporation, which mature
within 270 days after purchase, and the investment in commercial paper notes of a single issuer
shall not exceed the aggregate five percent of interim monies available for investment at the time
of purchase.

b. Bankers acceptances of banks that are insured by the federal deposit insurance corporation and
that mature not later than 180 days after purchase.

10. Up to fifteen percent of the County’s average portfolio in notes issued by U.S. corporations or by
depository institutions doing business under authority granted by the U.S. or any state provided the
notes are rated in the three highest categories by at least two nationally recognized standard rating
services at the time of purchase and the notes mature not later than three years after purchase;

11. A current unpaid or delinquent tax line of credit, provided certain conditions are met related to a
County land reutilization corporation organized under ORC Chapter 1724; and,

12. Up to two percent of the County’s average portfolio in debt interests rated at the time of purchase in
the three highest categories by two nationally recognized standard rating services and issued by
foreign nations diplomatically recognized by the United States government, subject to certain
limitations. All interest and principal shall be denominated and payable in United States funds.

Reverse repurchase agreements, investments in derivatives, and investments in stripped principal or interest
obligations that are not issued or guaranteed by the United States, are prohibited. The issuance of taxable
notes for the purpose of arbitrage, the use of leverage and short selling are also prohibited. Except as noted
above, an investment must mature within five years from the date of settlement, unless matched to a specific
obligation or debt of the County, and must be purchased with the expectation that it will be held to maturity.

Investments may only be made through specified dealers and institutions. Investments may only be made
through specified dealers and institutions. Payment for investments may be made only upon delivery of the
securities representing the investments to the treasurer or, if the securities are not represented by a certificate,
upon receipt of confirmation of transfer from the custodian.

DEPOSITS
Ohio law requires that deposits either be insured or be protected by:

Eligible securities pledged to the county and deposited with a qualified trustee by the financial
institution as security for repayment whose fair value at all times shall be at least 105 percent of the
deposits being secured; or

Participation in the Ohio Pooled Collateral System (OPCS), a collateral pool of eligible securities
deposited with a qualified trustee and pledged to the Treasurer of State to secure the repayment of all
public monies deposited in the financial institution. OPCS requires the total fair value of the securities
pledged to be 102 percent of the deposits being secured or a rate set by the Treasurer of State.
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INVESTMENTS
As of December 31, 2022, the County had the following investments:
Percent of
Measurement Standard & Poors Total
Measurement/Investment Amount Maturity Rating Investments
Investments Not Measured At Fair Value
Star Ohio $ 42,718,070 Less than three years NA 9.8%
Amortized Cost
Commercial Paper 36,946,286 Less than one year A-1 8.5%
Fair Value-Level One Inputs
Money Market Mutual Fund 113,416 Less than three years NA 0.1%
Fair Value-Level Two Inputs
Corporate Bonds 38,155,844 Less than one year AA 8.8%
Municipal Bonds 11,850,950 More than five years AA 2.7%
Negotiable CD's 4,248,908 Less than five years AA+ 0.9%
U.S. Treasury Note 96,284,688 Less than three years AA+ 22.2%
Federal Agriculture Mortgage Corp 7,810,096 Less than three years AA+ 1.8%
Federal Farm Credit Bank Bonds 62,426,279 Less than five years AA+ 14.4%
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation Bonds 34,627,766 Less than five years AA+ 8.0%
Federal Home Loan Bank Bonds 70,903,976 Less than five years AA+ 16.3%
Government Sponsored Enterprises Fannie Mae/Freddie Mac 28,254,623 Less than five years AA+ 6.5%
Total Fair Value - Level Two Inputs 354,563,130
Total Investments § 434,340,902

The County categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by generally
accepted accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to measure the fair value
of the asset. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets. Level 2 inputs are
significant other observable inputs; Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs. The above chart
identifies the county’s recurring fair value measurements as of December 31, 2022. The county’s remaining
investments measured at fair value are valued using methodologies that incorporate market inputs such as
benchmark vyields, reported trades, broker/dealer quotes, issuer spreads, two-sided markets, benchmark
securities, bids, offers, and reference data including market research publications. Market indicators and
industry and economic events are also monitored, which could require the need to acquire further market data.
(Level 2 inputs).

Interest rate risk arises because fixed-income securities will increase or decrease in fair value as interest rates
fluctuate during the life of such securities. If held to maturity, fixed income securities owned by the County will
pay the face value (par value). The investment policy restricts the Treasurer from investing in any securities
other than those identified in the Ohio Revised Code and that all investments must mature within five years
from the date of investment unless they are matched to a specific future obligation of the county, and approved
by the Investment Advisory Committee.

Credit risk refers to the risk of default of principal or interest. Investment assets currently owned by the County
are listed in the table above. All issues are currently rated AA+ and AA by Standards and Poor’s and Aaa by
Moody’s with the exception of the commercial paper. All commercial paper issues have a minimum credit rating
of A-1 by Standard and Poor’s and P-1 by Moody’s. Ohio law requires that STAROhio maintain the highest
rating provided by at least one nationally recognized standard rating service. The County’s investment policy
limits investments to those authorized by the State statue.
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NOTE 7— PROPERTY TAXES

Property taxes include amounts levied against all real and public utility property located in the County. Property
tax revenue received during 2022 for real and public utility property taxes represents collections of 2021 taxes.
2022 real property taxes are levied after October 1, 2022, on the assessed value as of January 1, 2022, the
lien date. Assessed values are established by State law at 35 percent of appraised market value. 2022 real
property taxes are collected in and intended to finance 2023.

Real property taxes are payable annually or semi-annually. If paid annually, payment is due December 31; if
paid semi-annually, the first payment is due December 31, with the remainder payable by June 20. Under
certain circumstances, State statute permits later payment dates to be established.

Public utility tangible personal property currently is assessed at varying percentages of true value; public utility
real property is assessed at 35 percent of true value. 2022 public utility property taxes which became a lien
December 31, 2021, are levied after October 1, 2022, and are collected in 2023 with real property taxes.

The full tax rate for all County operations for the year ended December 31, 2022, was $7.30 per $1,000 of
assessed value. The assessed values of real property and public utility tangible property upon which 2022
property tax receipts were based are as follows:

Category Assessed Value
Real Property $ 9,173,909,920
Public Utility Personal Property 628,706,540
Total $ 9,802,616,460

Ohio law prohibits taxation of property by all overlapping taxing authorities in excess of 10 mills per dollar of
assessed value without a vote of the people. Presently, the County levies 1.92 mills of this 10-mill limit but
chose to temporarily reduce the mills to zero for 2022 collections. In addition to the 1.92 mills, voted levies in
the amount of 7.30 mills have been approved for the Developmental Disabilities Board, Mental Health &
Addiction Recovery Services Board, Children Services Agency, and Senior Citizens Services. A summary of
voted levies follows:

Rate Levied for

Voter Levy Current Year Final Levy
Purpose Date Authorized Rate R/A C/| Year
Developmental Disabilities Board 2000 1.50 1.01 1.26 Continuing
Developmental Disabilities Board 2004 1.00 0.80 0.84 Continuing
Mental Health Board 1985 0.50 0.19 0.29 2024
Mental Health Board 2006 1.00 0.81 0.84 2025
Children Services Agency 2008 2.00 1.61 1.68 2022
Senior Citizens 2010 1.30 1.05 1.09 2024
Total 7.30 5.47 6.00

Ohio law provides for a reduction in the rates of voted levies to offset increased values resulting from a
reappraisal of real property. Reduction factors are applied to authorized voted levies so that each levy yields
the same amount of property taxes on carry-over property as in the year in which the levy was approved.
Increases to voted levy revenues are restricted to assessments for new construction. The reduction factors are
computed annually and applied separately for (R/A) residential/agricultural property and (C/l)
commercial/industrial property.
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The County Treasurer collects property taxes on behalf of all taxing districts in the County. The County Auditor
periodically remits to the taxing districts their portions of the taxes collected. The collections and distribution of
taxes for all subdivisions within the County, excluding the County itself, is accounted for through custodial
funds. The amount of the County’s tax collections is accounted for within the applicable funds. Property taxes
receivable represents real, public utility taxes, and outstanding delinquencies which were measurable as of
December 31, 2022, and for which there is an enforceable legal claim. In governmental funds, the portion of
the receivable not levied to finance 2023 operations is offset to deferred inflows of resources — property taxes.

On the accrual basis, collectible delinquent property taxes have been recorded as a receivable and revenue
while on the modified accrual basis the revenue has been reported as deferred inflows of resources —
unavailable revenue.

NOTE 8- PERMISSIVE SALES TAX

Vendor collections of the permissive sales tax are paid to the State Treasurer by the twenty-third day of the
month following collection. The State Tax Commissioner certifies to the Office of Budget Management the
amount of the tax to be returned to the County. The Tax Commissioner’s certification must be made within
forty-five days after the end of each month. The Tax Commissioner shall then, on or before the twentieth day
of the month in which certification is made, provide for payment to the County.

In 2022, $56,638,253 of permissive sales tax revenue was recognized in the General Fund. The County’s total
sales tax rate was three-quarters of one percent (.75%).

NOTE 9— RECEIVABLES

Receivables at December 31, 2022, consisted of taxes, payments in lieu of taxes, accounts including unpaid
utilities, intergovernmental receivables arising from grants, entittements, and shared revenues, accrued
interest, special assessments, loans, leases and interfund receivables. Loans receivable represent low-interest
loans for development projects and home improvements granted to eligible County residents and businesses
under the Federal Community Development Block Grant Program. The Block Grant loans bear interest at
annual rates between two and five percent. These loans are to be repaid over periods ranging from two to five
years. The payments in lieu of taxes amount relates to dollars collected through real estate taxes that are
marked for capital improvements in Butler County and tax incremental financing agreements. All receivables,
except for delinquent property taxes and lease, are considered collectible in full, including water and sewer
accounts receivable, which, if delinquent, may be certified and collected as a special assessment, subject to
foreclosure for nonpayment. Delinquent special assessments at December 31, 2022 totaled $118,211. The
following are receivables expected to be collected in more than one year: Special Assessments $3,712,162
and leases.

A summary of intergovernmental receivables follows:
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Governmental Activites Amount

Public Assistance Grants $ 7,569,287
Motor Vehicle License Fee 3,944 517
Property Tax Rollbacks 3,839,206
CDBG and HOME Grants 3,781,405
Developmental Disabilities Board Grants 3,145,769
Mental Health and Addiction Recovery Board Grants 2,774,190
Children Services Grants 2,386,111
Sheriff Grants and Miscellaneous Revenue 2,376,188
Juvenile Rehabilitation Grants 1,936,485
Road Improvement Grants 1,702,130
Undivided Local Government 1,484,662
Casino Tax 1,324,017
Child Support Enforcement Grants 1,305,625
Indigent Attorney Reimbursement 1,133,785
12th District Court of Appeals Funding 1,047,499
Workforce Development Grants 997,169
Other 808,964
Common Pleas Court/Adult Probation Grants 559,438
Continum of Care 546,316
Motor Vehicle Permissive 516,825
Transportation Improvement District Reimbursement 363,585
Total Governmental Activities $ 43,543,173
Custodial Activities Amount

Library Local Government $ 5,968,560
Local Government 3,462,869
Motor Vehicle License Tax 971,945
Other 18,906
Total Custodial Funds $ 10,422,280

The County is reporting lease receivable of $1,623,504 in the general fund and $6,994,816 in the all other
public works non major special revenue fund at December 31, 2022. These amounts represent the discounted
future lease payments. This discount is being amortized using the interest method. For 2022, the County
recognized lease revenue of $11,096 and lease interest revenue of $39,504 in the general fund and recognized
lease revenue of $130,634 and interest revenue of $60,841 in the all other public works non major special
revenue fund related to lease payments received. A description of the County’s leasing arrangements is as

follows:

The County has entered into lease agreements with Sprint and Verizon for space on County owned cell towers.
The remaining leases are for leasing land for hanger space at the Butler County Airport. The varying years and

terms for each lease are as follows:
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Company/Airport Hangar Number

Sprint
Verizon
Hangar C-6
Hangar T-0
Hangar C-0
Hangar C-1
Hangar E-4
Hangar T-1
Hangar T-7
Hangar T-8
Hangar E-3
Hanger C-2
Hangar T-10

Hangar C-12A

Hangar C-12
Hangar C-11
Hangar C-9
Hangar C-1A
Hangar T-5
Hangar C-7

Hangar C-13A

Hangar C-13
Hangar C-5
Hangar E-2
Hangar T-6
Hangar C-3
Hangar E-1A
Hangar E-1
Hangar C-2A
Hangar C-8
Hangar C-10
Hangar T-11
Hangar T-9
Hangar C-4

Lease Lease

Commencment Ending Payment

Date Years Date Method
2021 29 2050 Monthly
2021 35 2056 Monthly
2005 60 2065 Semi-Annual
2002 60 2062 Semi-Annual
2002 60 2062 Semi-Annual
1997 40 2037 Semi-Annual
2004 60 2064 Semi-Annual
2017 40 2057 Semi-Annual
2017 40 2057 Semi-Annual
2017 40 2057 Semi-Annual
2020 40 2060 Semi-Annual
2021 40 2061 Semi-Annual
2008 60 2068 Semi-Annual
2017 40 2057 Semi-Annual
2007 60 2067 Semi-Annual
2008 59 2067 Semi-Annual
2021 40 2061 Semi-Annual
2002 60 2062 Semi-Annual
1998 60 2058 Semi-Annual
2010 55 2065 Semi-Annual
2017 40 2057 Semi-Annual
2010 60 2070 Semi-Annual
2021 40 2061 Semi-Annual
2019 40 2059 Semi-Annual
2019 40 2059 Semi-Annual
2004 59 2063 Semi-Annual
2017 40 2057 Semi-Annual
1999 60 2059 Semi-Annual
2003 60 2063 Semi-Annual
2003 60 2063 Semi-Annual
2027 40 2067 Semi-Annual
2015 50 2065 Semi-Annual
2004 60 2064 Semi-Annual
2004 60 2064 Semi-Annual

A summary of future lease amounts receivable is as follows:

General Non Major Governmental Funds Total Governmental Funds

Year Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest
2023 $ 11,939 $ 40,861 $ 139,199 $ 60,736 $ 151,138 $ 101,597
2024 12,242 40,558 152,111 60,836 164,353 101,394
2025 12,554 40,246 153,435 59,513 165,989 99,759
2026 17,135 39,870 154,770 58,177 171,905 98,047
2027 17,589 39,416 157,151 56,827 174,740 96,243
2028-2032 118,070 189,296 811,714 263,340 929,784 452,636
2033-2037 194,421 169,219 843,039 227,413 1,037,460 396,632
2038-2042 289,606 138,561 866,913 190,539 1,156,519 329,100
2043-2047 400,827 93,808 906,291 152,296 1,307,118 246,104
2048-2052 384,196 37,518 956,760 112,036 1,340,956 149,554
2053-2057 164,925 5,815 962,575 69,696 1,127,500 75,511
2058-2062 - - 570,837 31,871 570,837 31,871
2063-2067 - - 242,353 9,569 242,353 9,569
2068-2072 - - 56,264 2,476 56,264 2,476
2073-2075 - - 21,404 337 21,404 337
$ 1,623,504 $ 835,168 $ 6,994,816 $ 1,355,662 $ 8,618,320 $ 2,190,830
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NOTE 10— CAPITAL ASSETS

Primary government capital asset activity for the year ended December 31, 2022, was as follows:

Restated Balance At Balance At
12/31/2021 Additions Deletions 12/31/2022
Govermental Activities
Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated:
Land and Easements $ 20420673 § - 9§ - § 20,420,673
Infrastructure:
Roads 186,071,948 - - 186,071,948
Bridges 80,968,138 1,896,023 (50,139) 82,814,022
Culverts 7,686,676 15,662 - 7,702,338
Construction in Progress - 1,826,412 - 1,826,412
Total Capital Assets, Not Being Depreciated 295,147 435 3,738,097 (50,139) 298,835,393
Depreciable Capital Assets:
Land Improvements 14,269,216 - - 14,269,216
Buildings and Improvements 127,360,828 73,618 (195,562) 127,238,384
Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment 93,476,342 1,031,611 (257,528) 94,250,425
Vehicles 10,608,960 1,171,963 (286,578) 11,494,345
Intangible Right o Use Lease - Buildings** 1,757,102 156,000 - 1,913,102
Total Depreciable Capital Assets 247472 448 2,433,192 (739,668) 249,165,972
Total Capital Assets At Historical Cost 542,619,883 6,171,289 (789,807) 548,001,365
Less Accumulated Depreciation:
Land Improvements (6,332,129) (584,009) (6,916,138)
Buildings and Improvements (83,296,106) (3,231,664) 195,562 (86,332,208)
Fumiture, Fixtures and Equipment (59,607,091) (3,936,646) 257,528 (63,286,209)
Vehicles (6,938,950 (816,214) 286,578 (7,468,586)
Intangible Rightto Use Lease - Buildings** - (433,593) (433,593)
Total Accumulated Depreciation (156,174,276) (9,002,126) 739,668 (164,436,734)
Total Depreciable Capital Assets, Net 91,298,172 (6,568,934) 84,729,238
Total Governmental Activiies Capital Assets, Net $ 386445607 $ (2,830,837) § (50,139) § 383,564,631

Depreciation expense was charged to governmental functions as follows:

General Government:

Legislative and Executive $ 2,914,694
Judicial 389,748
Public Safety 4,154,578
Public Works 877,956
Health 481,369
Human Sencies 180,295
Conservation and Recreation 3,486

Total Depreciation Expense $ 9,002,126

**Of the current year depreciation total of $9,002,126, $433,593 is presented as a general government expense
on the Statement of Activities related to the County’s intangible assets of various building space leases, which
are included as Intangible Right to Use Lease. With the implementation of Governmental Accounting Standards
Board Statement 87, Leases, a lease meeting the criteria of this statement requires the lessee to recognize the
lease liability and an intangible right to use asset.
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Business Type capital asset activity for the year ended December 31, 2022, was as follows:

Balance At Balance
12/31/2021 Additions Deletions 12/31/2022
Business Type Activities
Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated
Land $ 1,544,056 $ - $ - % 1,544,056
Construction in Progress 3,919,358 5,684,204 (6,015,330) 3,588,232
Total Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated 5,463,414 5,684,204 (6,015,330) 5,132,288
Depreciable Capital Assets:
Land Improvements 2,734,738 - - 2,734,738
Building and Improvements 124,089,471 915,936 - 125,005,407
Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment 113,158,162 1,717,086 - 114,875,248
Vehicles 2,302,025 136,181 - 2,438,206
Water Rights 38,896,324 - - 38,896,324
Water and Sewer Main 383,832,923 11,149,103 (844,854) 394,137,172
Total Depreciable Capital Assets 665,013,643 13,918,306 (844,854) 678,087,095
Total Capital Assets At Historical Cost 670,477,057 19,602,510 (6,860,184) 683,219,383
Less Accumulated Depreciation for:
Land Improvements (2,408,335) (49,174) - (2,457,509)
Building and Improvements (59,115,281) (3,310,379) - (62,425,660)
Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment (79,632,905) (4,617,913) - (84,250,818)
Vehicles (1,399,446) (143,198) - (1,542,644)
Water Rights (36,295,660) (1,955,568) - (38,251,228)
Water and Sewer Main (200,380,686) (8,262,364) 844,854 (207,798,196)
Total Accumulated Depreciation (379,232,313) (18,338,596) 844,854 (396,726,055)
Total Depreciable Capital Assets, Net 285,781,330 (4,420,290) - 281,361,040
Total Business Activities Capital Assets, Net $ 291244744 § 1263914 §  (6,015330) § 286,493,328

Additions to business-type capital assets being depreciated include $7,763,469 in assets donated by property

developers.
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NOTE 11— RISK MANAGEMENT

The County is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; damage to, theft of, or destruction of assets;
errors and omissions; injuries to employees and natural disasters. During 2022, the County contracted with
County Risk Sharing Authority Inc. (CORSA) (a risk-sharing pool - see Note 19) for liability, property, and crime
damage. Coverage provided by the pool is as follows:

Category Amount (Each Occurrence)

Property Coverage:

Building Contents and Equipment $623,970,909
Flood 125,000,000
Earthquake 125,000,000

Liability Coverage:

Automobile Liability 1,000,000
Uninsured Motorist 250,000
General Liability 1,000,000
Stop Gap Liability 1,000,000
Law Enforcement Liability 1,000,000
Errors and Omissions Liability 1,000,000
Medical Professional Liability 3,000,000
Medical Professional Liability (County Home) 3,000,000
Cyber Liability 2,000,000
Crime:
Employee Dishonesty/Faithful Performance 1,000,000
Money and Securities (Inside) 1,000,000
Money and Securities (Outside) 1,000,000
Money Orders and Counterfeit Currency 1,000,000
Depositor's Forgery 1,000,000
Boiler and Machinery 100,000,000
Business Interrruption 2,500,000
Deductible:
Auto Liability, General, Law Enforcement, Cyber, Medical Profession and Error and Omissions 100,000
Property Coverage, Auto Physical Damage, Crimes, Boiler and Machinery 100,000

Settled claims have not exceeded coverage in any of the last three years. The County had no significant
decrease in coverage in 2022.

The County has workers’ compensation coverage for all employees. The County Commissioners provides
medical coverage for their employees. In 2022, the County changed from a self-insurance plan to a fully
insured premium based healthcare plan. Remaining 2021 self-insurance claims or runoff claims were paid
through the end of 2022. Butler County Developmental Disabilities Board provides medical coverage for their
employees through self-insurance plans. The claims liabilities reported in the Health Insurance, Workers’
Compensation and Jefferson Health Plan internal service funds at December 31, 2022, are based on the
requirements of Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 30 which requires that a liability for
unpaid claims costs, including estimates of costs relating to incurred but not reported claims, be reported. The
estimate was not affected by incremental claim adjustment expenses and does not include other allocated or
unallocated claim adjustment expenses. The County maintains a retrospective rating plan for workers’
compensation insurance.
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The historical changes in claims payable (based on 12/31/22 maximum premium) during years December 31,
2021 and 2022 are as follows:

Health Insurance

Beginning Balance Claims and Claims Ending Balance
Changes in Payments
Estimates
2021 $ 2,342,160 $ 17,510,363 $§ 17,218,492 $ 2,634,031
2022 $ 2,634,031 $ (406,254) $ 2,227,777 $ 0

Workers Compensation

Beginning Balance Claims and Claims Ending Balance
Changes in Payments
Estimates
2021 $ 613,253 § (22,756) $ 106,056 $ 484,441
2022 $ 484,441 $ (32,905) $ 0 $ 451,536

Jefferson Health Plan

Beginning Balance Claims and Claims Ending Balance
Changes in Payments
Estimates
2021 $ 209,424 $ 1,575,694 $ 1,499,676 $ 285,442
2022 285,442 § 1,793,555 $ 1,508,007 $ 570,990

NOTE 12 - DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS

NET PENSION LIABILITY

The Statewide retirement systems provide both pension benefits and other postemployment benefits (OPEB).

Net Pension Liability (Asset)/Net OPEB Liability (Asset)

The net pension liability (asset) and the net OPEB liability (asset) reported on the statement of net position
represent liabilities to employees for pensions and OPEB, respectively. Pensions/OPEB are a component of
exchange transactions-—between an employer and its employees—of salaries and benefits for employee
services. Pensions/OPEB are provided to an employee—on a deferred-payment basis—as part of the total
compensation package offered by an employer for employee services each financial period. The obligation to
sacrifice resources for pensions is a present obligation because it was created as a result of employment
exchanges that already have occurred.

The net pension/OPEB liability (asset) represent the County’s proportionate share of each pension/OPEB
plan’s collective actuarial present value of projected benefit payments attributable to past periods of service,
net of each pension/OPEB plan’s fiduciary net position. The net pension/OPEB liability (asset) calculation is
dependent on critical long-term variables, including estimated average life expectancies, earnings on
investments, cost of living adjustments and others. While these estimates use the best information available,
unknowable future events require adjusting these estimates annually.

Ohio Revised Code limits the County’s obligation for this liability to annually required payments. The County

cannot control benefit terms or the manner in which pensions are financed; however, the County does receive
the benefit of employees’ services in exchange for compensation including pension and OPEB.
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GASB 68/75 assumes the liability is solely the obligation of the employer, because (1) they benefit from
employee services; and (2) State statute requires funding to come from these employers. All pension
contributions to date have come solely from these employers (which also includes pension costs paid in the
form of withholdings from employees). The retirement systems may allocate a portion of the employer
contributions to provide for these OPEB benefits. In addition, health care plan enrollees pay a portion of the
health care costs in the form of a monthly premium. State statute requires the retirement systems to amortize
unfunded pension liabilities within 30 years. If the pension amortization period exceeds 30 years, each
retirement system’s board must propose corrective action to the State legislature. Any resulting legislative
change to benefits or funding could significantly affect the net pension/OPEB liability (asset). Resulting
adjustments to the net pension/OPEB liability (asset) would be effective when the changes are legally
enforceable. The Ohio Revised Code permits but does not require the retirement systems to provide healthcare
to eligible benefit recipients.

The proportionate share of each plan’s unfunded benefits is presented as a net pension/OPEB asset or a long-
term net pension/OBEB liability on the accrual basis of accounting. Any liability for the contractually-required
pension/OPEB contribution outstanding at the end of the year is included in intergovernmental payable on both
the accrual and modified accrual bases of accounting. The remainder of this note includes the required
pension disclosures. See Note 13 for the required OPEB disclosures.

Plan Description — Ohio Public Employees Retirement System (OPERS)

County employees participate in the Ohio Public Employees Retirement System (OPERS). OPERS is a cost-
sharing, multiple employer public employee retirement system which administers three separate pension plans.
The traditional pension plan is a cost-sharing, multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan. The member-
directed plan is a defined contribution plan and the combined plan is a combination cost-sharing, multiple-
employer defined benefit/defined contribution pension plan. Participating employers are divided into state,
local, law enforcement and public safety divisions. While members in the state and local divisions may
participate in all three plans, law enforcement and public safety divisions exist only within the traditional plan.

OPERS provide retirement, disability, survivor and death benefits, and annual cost of living adjustments to
members of the traditional and combined plans. Authority to establish and amend benefits is provided by
Chapter 145 of the Ohio Revised Code. OPERS issues a stand-alone financial report that includes financial
statements, required supplementary information and detailed information about OPERS’ fiduciary net position
that may be obtained by visiting https://www.opers.org/financial/reports.shtml, by writing to the Ohio Public
Employees Retirement System, 277 East Town Street, Columbus, Ohio 43215-4642, or by calling 800-222-
7377.

Senate Bill (SB) 343 was enacted into law with an effective date of January 7, 2013. In the legislation,
members in the traditional and combined plans were categorized into three groups with varying provisions of
the law applicable to each group. The following table provides age and service requirements for retirement and
the retirement formula applied to final average salary (FAS) for the three member groups under the traditional
and combined plans as per the reduced benefits adopted by SB 343 (see OPERS Annual Comprehensive
Financial Report referenced above for additional information, including requirements for reduced and
unreduced benefits):
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Group A
Eligible to retire prior to
January 7, 2013 or five years
after January 7, 2013

Group B
20 years of service credit prior to
January 7, 2013 or eligible to retire
ten years after January 7, 2013

Group C
Members not in other Groups
and members hired on or after
January 7, 2013

State and Local

Age and Service Requirements:
Age 60 with 60 months of service credit
or Age 55 with 25 years of service credit

Traditional Plan Formula:
2.2% of FAS multiplied by years of
service for the first 30 years and 2.5%
for service years in excess of 30
Combined Plan Formula:
1% of FAS multiplied by years of
service for the first 30 years and 1.25%
for service years in excess of 30

Public Safety

Age and Service Requirements:
Age 48 with 25 years of service credit
or Age 52 with 15 years of service credit

Law Enforcement

Age and Service Requirements:
Age 52 with 15 years of service credit

Public Safety and Law Enforcement

Traditional Plan Formula:
2.5% of FAS multiplied by years of
service for the first 25 years and 2.1%
for service years in excess of 25

State and Local

Age and Service Requirements:
Age 60 with 60 months of service credit
or Age 55 with 25 years of service credit

Traditional Plan Formula:
2.2% of FAS multiplied by years of
service for the first 30 years and 2.5%
for service years in excess of 30
Combined Plan Formula:
1% of FAS multiplied by years of
service for the first 30 years and 1.25%
for service years in excess of 30

Public Safety

Age and Service Requirements:
Age 48 with 25 years of service credit
or Age 52 with 15 years of service credit

Law Enforcement

Age and Service Requirements:
Age 48 with 25 years of service credit
or Age 52 with 15 years of service credit

Public Safety and Law Enforcement

Traditional Plan Formula:
2.5% of FAS multiplied by years of
service for the first 25 years and 2.1%
for service years in excess of 25

State and Local

Age and Service Requirements:
Age 57 with 25 years of service credit
or Age 62 with 5 years of service credit

Traditional Plan Formula:
2.2% of FAS multiplied by years of
service for the first 35 years and 2.5%
for service years in excess of 35
Combined Plan Formula:
1% of FAS multiplied by years of
service for the first 35 years and 1.25%
for service years in excess of 35

Public Safety

Age and Service Requirements:
Age 52 with 25 years of service credit
or Age 56 with 15 years of service credit

Law Enforcement

Age and Service Requirements:
Age 48 with 25 years of service credit
or Age 56 with 15 years of service credit

Public Safety and Law Enforcement

Traditional Plan Formula:
2.5% of FAS multiplied by years of
service for the first 25 years and 2.1%
for service years in excess of 25

Final Average Salary (FAS) represents the average of the three highest years of earnings over a member’s
career for Groups A and B. Group C is based on the average of the five highest years of earnings over a
member’s career.

Members who retire before meeting the age and years of service credit requirement for unreduced benefits
receive a percentage reduction in the benefit amount. The amount of a member’s pension benefit vests upon
receipt of the initial benefit payment. The options for Public Safety and Law Enforcement permit early
retirement under qualifying circumstances as early as age 48 with a reduced benefit.

When a traditional plan benefit recipient has received benefits for 12 months, the member is eligible for an
annual cost of living adjustment (COLA). This COLA is calculated on the base retirement benefit at the date of
retirement and is not compounded. Members retiring under the combined plan receive a cost-of-living
adjustment on the defined benefit portion of their pension benefit. For those who retired prior to January 7,
2013, the cost-of-living adjustment is 3 percent. For those retiring on or after January 7, 2013, beginning in
calendar year 2019, the adjustment is based on the average percentage increase in the Consumer Price Index,
capped at 3 percent.

Defined contribution plan benefits are established in the plan documents, which may be amended by the
Board. Member-directed plan and combined plan members who have met the retirement eligibility requirements
may apply for retirement benefits. The amount available for defined contribution benefits in the combined plan
consists of the member’s contributions plus or minus the investment gains or losses resulting from the
member’s investment selections.

69



BUTLER COUNTY, OHIO
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

Combined plan members wishing to receive benefits must meet the requirements for both the defined benefit
and defined contribution plans. Member-directed participants must have attained the age of 55, have money on
deposit in the defined contribution plan and have terminated public service to apply for retirement benefits. The
amount available for defined contribution benefits in the member-directed plan consists of the members’
contributions, vested employer contributions and investment gains or losses resulting from the members’
investment selections. Employer contributions and associated investment earnings vest over a five-year
period, at a rate of 20 percent each year. At retirement, members may select one of several distribution options
for payment of the vested balance in their individual OPERS accounts. Options include the annuitization of the
benefit (which includes joint and survivor options and will continue to be administered by OPERS), partial lump-
sum payments (subject to limitations), a rollover of the vested account balance to another financial institution,
receipt of entire account balance, net of taxes withheld, or a combination of these options. When members
choose to annuitize their defined contribution benefit, the annuitized portion of the benefit is reclassified to a
defined benefit.

Effective January 1, 2022, the Combined Plan is no longer available for member selection.

Funding Policy - The Ohio Revised Code (ORC) provides statutory authority for member and employer
contributions as follows:

State Public Law
and Local Safety Enforcement
2022 Statutory Maximum Contribution Rates
Employer 14.0 % 18.1 % 18.1 %
Employee * 10.0 % ok ok
2022 Actual Contribution Rates
Employer:
Pension **** 14.0 % 18.1 % 18.1 %
Post-employment Health Care Benefits **** 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Employer 14.0 % 18.1 % 18.1 %
Employee 10.0 % 12.0 % 13.0 %

* Member contributions within the combined plan are not used to fund the defined benefit
retirement allowance.
**  This rate is determined by OPERS' Board and has no maximum rate established by ORC.
***  This rate is also determined by OPERS' Board, but is limited by ORC to not more
than 2 percent greater than the Public Safety rate.
**x* These pension and employer health care rates are for the traditional and combined plans.
The employer contributions rate for the member-directed plan is allocated 4 percent
for health care with the remainder going to pension.

Employer contribution rates are actuarially determined and are expressed as a percentage of covered payroll.
For 2022, the County’s contractually required contribution was $12,172,404 for the traditional plan, $329,571
for the combined plan and $272,140 for the member-directed plan. Of these amounts, $551,430 is reported as

an intergovernmental payable for the traditional plan, $13,956 for the combined plan, and $11,538 for the
member-directed plan.
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Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources

Related to Pensions.

The net pension liability (asset) for OPERS was measured as of December 31, 2021, and the total pension
liability used to calculate the net pension liability (asset) was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that
date. The County's proportion of the net pension liability (asset) was based on the County's share of

contributions to the pension plan relative to the contributions of all participating entities.

Following is

information related to the proportionate share and pension expense of the County’s defined benefit pension

plans:

Traditional Plan Combined Plan

Total

Proportion ofthe Net Pension
Liability/Asset:

Current Measurement Date 0.66957216% 0.62714112%

Prior Measurement Date 0.65270592% 0.61527072%
Change in Proportionate Share 0.01686624% 0.01187040%
Proportionate Share of the:

Net Pension Liability $ 58,255,487 $ -

Net Pension Asset 0 (2,470,969)

Pension Expense (9,159,505) (89,031)

$

58,255,487
(2,470,969)

(9,248,536)

2022 pension expense for the member-directed defined contribution plan was $272,140. The aggregate
pension expense for all pension plans was a negative $8,976,396 for 2022.

At December 31, 2022, the County reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources

related to defined benefit pensions from the following sources:

OPERS OPERS
Traditional Plan ~ Combined Plan Total

Deferred Outflows of Resources
Differences between expected and

actual experience $2,969,779 $15,329 $2,985,108
Changes of assumptions 7,284,788 124,172 7,408,960
Changes in proportion and differences

between County contributions and

proportionate share of contributions 2,098,754 50,501 2,149,255
County contributions subsequent to the

measurement date 12,172,404 329,571 12,501,975
Total Deferred Outflows of Resources $ 24,525,725 $ 519,573 $ 25,045,298
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Differences between expected and

actual experience $ 1,277,689 $ 276,369 $ 1,554,058
Net difference between projected

and actual earnings on pension

plan investments 69,292,782 529,740 69,822,522
Changes in proportion and differences

between County contributions and

proportionate share of contributions 0 35,607 35,607
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources $ 70,570,471 $ 841,716 $ 71,412,187
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$12,501,975 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pension resulting from County contributions
subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability or increase to
the net pension asset in 2023. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows
of resources related to pension will be recognized in pension expense as follows:

OPERS OPERS
Traditional Combined

Year Ending December 31: Plan Plan Total
2023 $§ (7,664,693) § (159,946) § 7,824,639
2024 (23,236,046) (222,046) (23,458,092)
2025 (16,293,536) (144,812) (16,438,348)
2026 (11,022,875) (106,414) (11,129,289)
2027 0 (11,569) (11,569)
Thereafter 0 (6,927) (6,927)
Total $ (58,217,150) § (651,714) $ (58,868,864)

Actuarial Assumptions - OPERS

Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions
about the probability of occurrence of events far into the future. Examples include assumptions about future
employment, mortality, and cost trends. Actuarially determined amounts are subject to continual review or
modification as actual results are compared with past expectations and new estimates are made about the
future.

Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive plan (the plan as
understood by the employers and plan members) and include the types of benefits provided at the time of each
valuation. The total pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of December 31, 2021, using
the following key actuarial assumptions and methods applied to all periods included in the measurement in
accordance with the requirements of GASB 67. In 2021, the Board's actuarial consultants conducted an
experience study for the period 2016 through 2020, comparing assumptions to actual results. The experience
study incorporates both a historical review and forward-looking projections to determine the appropriate set of
assumptions to keep the plan on a path toward full funding. Information from this study led to changes in both
demographic and economic assumptions, with the most notable being a reduction in the actuarially assumed
rate of return from 7.2 percent down to 6.9 percent, for the defined benefit investments. Key actuarial
assumptions and methods used in the latest actuarial valuation, prepared as of December 31, 2021, reflecting
experience study results, are presented below:

OPERS Traditional Plan OPERS Combined Plan
Wage Inflation 2.75 percent 2.75 percent
Future Salary Increases, 2.75 to 10.75 percent 2.75 to 8.25 percent
including inflation including wage inflation including wage inflation
COLA or Ad Hoc COLA:
Pre-January 7, 2013 Retirees 3.0 percent, simple 3.0 percent, simple
Post-January 7, 2013 Retirees 3.0 percent, simple through 2022, 3.0 percent, simple through 2022,
then 2.05 percent, simple then 2.05 percent, simple
Investment Rate of Return 6.9 percent 6.9 percent
Actuarial Cost Method Individual Entry Age Individual Entry Age

Key actuarial assumptions and methods used in the prior actuarial valuation, prepared as of December 31,
2020, are presented below:
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OPERS Traditional Plan OPERS Combined Plan
Wage Inflation 3.25 percent 3.25 percent
Future Salary Increases, 3.25to 10.75 percent 3.25 to 8.25 percent
including inflation including wage inflation including wage inflation
COLA or Ad Hoc COLA:
Pre-January 7, 2013 Retirees 3.0 percent, simple 3.0 percent, simple
Post-January 7, 2013 Retirees 0.5 percent, simple through 2021, 0.5 percent, simple through 2021,
then 2.15 percent, simple then 2.15 percent, simple
Investment Rate of Return 7.2 percent 7.2 percent
Actuarial Cost Method Individual Entry Age Individual Entry Age

For 2021, pre-retirement mortality rates are based on 130 percent of the Pub-2010 General Employee Mortality
tables (males and females) for State and Local Government divisions and 170 percent of the Pub-2010 Safety
Employee Mortality tables (males and females) for the Public Safety and Law Enforcement divisions. Post-
retirement mortality rates are based on 115 percent of the PubG-2010 Retiree Mortality Tables (males and
females) for all divisions. Post-retirement mortality rates for disabled retirees are based on the PubNS-2010
Disabled Retiree Mortality Tables (males and females) for all divisions. For all the previously described tables,
the base year is 2010 and mortality rates for a particular calendar year are determined by applying the MP-
2020 mortality improvement scales (males and females) to all these tables.

For 2020, pre-retirement mortality rates are based on the RP-2014 Employees mortality table for males and
females, adjusted for mortality improvement back to the observation period base year of 2006. The base year
for males and females was then established to be 2015 and 2010, respectively. Post-retirement mortality rates
are based on the RP-2014 Healthy Annuitant mortality table for males and females, adjusted for mortality
improvement back to the observation period base year of 2006. The base year for males and females was then
established to be 2015 and 2010, respectively. Post-retirement mortality rates for disabled retirees are based
on the RP-2014 Disabled mortality table for males and females, adjusted for mortality improvement back to the
observation period base year of 2006. The base year for males and females was then established to be 2015
and 2010, respectively. Mortality rates for a particular calendar year are determined by applying the MP-2015
mortality improvement scale to all the above-described tables.

The most recent experience study was completed for the five-year period ended December 31, 2020.

During 2021, OPERS managed investments in three investment portfolios: the Defined Benefit portfolio, the
Health Care portfolio, and the Defined Contribution portfolio. The Defined Benefit portfolio contains the
investment assets for the Traditional Pension Plan, the defined benefit component of the Combined Plan and
the annuitized accounts of the Member-Directed Plan. Within the Defined Benefit portfolio contributions into the
plans are all recorded at the same time, and benefit payments all occur on the first of the month. Accordingly,
the money-weighted rate of return is considered to be the same for all plans within the portfolio. The annual
money-weighted rate of return expressing investment performance, net of investment expenses and adjusted
for the changing amounts actually invested, for the Defined Benefit portfolio was 15.3 percent for 2021.

The allocation of investment assets with the Defined Benefit portfolio is approved by the Board of Trustees as
outlined in the annual investment plan. Plan assets are managed on a total return basis with a long-term
objective of achieving and maintaining a fully funded status for the benefits provided through the defined benefit
pension plans. The long-term expected rate of return on defined benefit investment assets was determined
using a building-block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return are
developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected real rate
of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage,
adjusted for inflation. Best estimates of geometric rates of return were provided by the Board’s investment
consultant. For each major class that is included in the Defined Benefit portfolio’s target asset allocation as of
December 31, 2021, these best estimates are summarized below:
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Weighted Average
Long-Term Expected

Target Real Rate of Return
Asset Class Allocation (Arithmetic)
Fixed Income 24.00 % 1.03 %
Domestic Equities 21.00 3.78
Real Estate 11.00 3.66
Private Equity 12.00 7.43
International Equities 23.00 4.88
Risk Parity 5.00 2.92
Other investments 4.00 2.85
Total 100.00 % 421 %

Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability for the current year was 6.9 percent for the
traditional plan and the combined plan. The discount rate for the prior year was 7.2 percent. The projection of
cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from plan members and those of the
contributing employers are made at the contractually required rates, as actuarially determined. Based on those
assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future
benefits payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan
investments for the traditional pension plan, combined plan and member-directed plan was applied to all
periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.

Sensitivity of the County’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability (Asset) to Changes in the Discount
Rate:

The following table presents the County’s proportionate share of the net pension liability (asset) calculated
using the current period discount rate assumption of 6.9 percent, as well as what the County’s proportionate
share of the net pension liability (asset) would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one-
percentage-point lower (5.9 percent) or one-percentage-point higher (7.9 percent) than the current rate:

Current
1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase
(5.90%) (6.90%) (7.90%)
County's proportionate share
of the net pension liability (asset)
OPERS Traditional Plan $ 153,593,158 $ 58,255,487 $ (21,078,132)
OPERS Combined Plan (1,834,795) (2,470,969) (2,960,106)

NOTE 13 — DEFINED BENEFIT OPEB PLANS

See Note 12 for a description of the net OPEB liability (asset).

Plan Description — Ohio Public Employees Retirement System (OPERS)

The Ohio Public Employees Retirement System (OPERS) administers three separate pension plans: the
traditional pension plan, a cost-sharing, multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan; the member-directed
plan, a defined contribution plan; and the combined plan, a cost-sharing, multiple-employer defined benefit
pension plan that has elements of both a defined benefit and defined contribution plan.
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OPERS maintains a cost-sharing, multiple-employer defined benefit post-employment health care trust, which
funds multiple health care plans including medical coverage, prescription drug coverage and deposits to a
Health Reimbursement Arrangement (HRA) to qualifying benefit recipients of both the traditional pension and
the combined plans. Currently, Medicare-eligible retirees are able to select medical and prescription drug plans
from a range of options and may elect optional vision and dental plans.

Retirees and eligible dependents enrolled in Medicare Parts A and B have the option to enroll in a Medicare
supplemental plan with the assistance of the OPERS Medicare Connector. The OPERS Medicare Connector is
a relationship with a vendor selected by OPERS to assist retirees, spouses and dependents with selecting a
medical and pharmacy plan. Monthly allowances, based on years of service and the age at which the retiree
first enrolled in OPERS coverage, are deposited into an HRA. For non-Medicare retirees and eligible
dependents, OPERS sponsors medical and prescription coverage through a professionally managed self-
insured plan. An allowance to offset a portion of the monthly premium is offered to retirees and eligible
dependents. The allowance is based on the retiree’s years of service and age when they first enrolled in
OPERS coverage.

OPERS provides a monthly allowance for health care coverage for eligible retirees and their eligible
dependents. The base allowance is determined by OPERS. For those retiring on or after January 1, 2015, the
allowance has been determined by applying a percentage to the base allowance. The percentage applied is
based on years of qualifying service credit and age when the retiree first enrolled in OPERS health care.
Monthly allowances range between 51 percent and 90 percent of the base allowance. Those who retired prior
to January 1, 2015, will have an allowance of at least 75 percent of the base allowance.

The heath care trust is also used to fund health care for member-directed plan participants, in the form of a
Retiree Medical Account (RMA). At retirement or separation, member directed plan participants may be eligible
for reimbursement of qualified medical expenses from their vested RMA balance.

Effective January 1, 2022, OPERS discontinued the group plans currently offered to non-Medicare retirees and
re-employed retirees. Instead, eligible non-Medicare retirees will select an individual medical plan. OPERS wiill
provide a subsidy or allowance via an HRA allowance to those retirees who meet health care eligibility
requirements. Retirees will be able to seek reimbursement for plan premiums and other qualified medical
expenses.

In order to qualify for postemployment health care coverage, age and service retirees under the traditional
pension and combined plans must have twenty or more years of qualifying Ohio service credit with a minimum
age of 60. Members in Group A are eligible for coverage at any age with 30 or more years of qualifying
service. Members in Group B are eligible at any age with 32 years of qualifying service, or at age 52 with 31
years of qualifying service. Members in Group C are eligible for coverage with 32 years of qualifying service
and a minimum age of 55. Current retirees eligible (or who became eligible prior to January 1, 2022) to
participate in the OPERS health care program will continue to be eligible after January 1, 2022. Eligibility
requirements change for those retiring after January 1, 2022, with differing eligibility requirements for Medicare
retirees and non-Medicare retirees. The health care coverage provided by OPERS meets. the definition of an
Other Post Employment Benefit (OPEB) as described in GASB Statement 75. See OPERS’ Annual
Comprehensive Financial Report referenced below for additional information.

The Ohio Revised Code permits, but does not require, OPERS to provide health care to its eligible benefit
recipients. Authority to establish and amend health care coverage is provided to the Board in Chapter 145 of
the Ohio Revised Code.

Disclosures for the health care plan are presented separately in the OPERS financial report. Interested parties

may obtain a copy by visiting https://www.opers.org/financial/reports.shtml, by writing to OPERS, 277 East
Town Street, Columbus, Ohio 43215-4642, or by calling (614) 222-5601 or 800-222-7377.
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Funding Policy - The Ohio Revised Code provides the statutory authority allowing public employers to fund
postemployment health care through their contributions to OPERS. When funding is approved by OPERS
Board of Trustees, a portion of each employer’s contribution to OPERS is set aside to fund OPERS health care
plans. Beginning in 2018, OPERS no longer allocated a portion of its employer contributions to health care for
the traditional plan and the combined plan.

Employer contribution rates are expressed as a percentage of the earnable salary of active members. In 2022,
state and local employers contributed at a rate of 14.0 percent of earnable salary and public safety and law
enforcement employers contributed at 18.1 percent. These are the maximum employer contribution rates
permitted by the Ohio Revised Code. Active member contributions do not fund health care.

Each year, the OPERS Board determines the portion of the employer contribution rate that will be set aside to
fund health care plans. For 2022, OPERS did not allocate any employer contribution to health care for
members in the Traditional Pension Plan and Combined Plan. The OPERS Board is also authorized to
establish rules for the retiree or their surviving beneficiaries to pay a portion of the health care provided.
Payment amounts vary depending on the number of covered dependents and the coverage selected. The
employer contribution as a percentage of covered payroll deposited into the RMA for participants in the
member-directed plan for 2022 was 4.0 percent.

Employer contribution rates are actuarially determined and are expressed as a percentage of covered payroll.
The County’s contractually required contribution was $108,856 for 2022. Of this amount, $4,615 is reported as
an intergovernmental payable.

OPEB Liabilities, OPEB Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources
Related to OPEB

The net OPEB asset and total OPEB liability for OPERS were determined by an actuarial valuation as of
December 31, 2020, rolled forward to the measurement date of December 31, 2021, by incorporating the
expected value of health care cost accruals, the actual health care payment, and interest accruals during the
year. The County's proportion of the net OPEB asset was based on the County's share of contributions to the
retirement plan relative to the contributions of all participating entities. Following is information related to the
proportionate share and OPEB expense:

OPERS

Proportion of the Net OPEB Liability:

Current Measurement Date 0.66017184%

Prior Measurement Date 0.64473408%
Change in Proportionate Share 0.01543776%
Proportionate Share of the Net

OPEB Asset $  (20,677,594)
OPEB Expense $  (18,058,978)

At December 31, 2022, the County reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources
related to OPEB from the following sources:
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OPERS

Deferred Outflows of Resources
Changes in proportion and differences

between County contributions and

proportionate share of contributions $ 259,736
County contributions subsequent to the

measurement date 108,856
Total Deferred Outflows of Resources $ 368,592
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Differences between expected and

actual experience $3,136,475
Changes of assumptions 8,370,056
Net difference between projected and

actual earnings on OPEB plan investments 9,857,618
Changes in proportion and differences

between County contributions and proportionate

share of contributions 51,854
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources $ 21,416,003

$108,856 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB resulting from County contributions
subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net OPEB asset or an increase of
the net OPEB asset in 2023. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to OPEB will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows.

OPERS
Year Ending December 31:
2023 $ (13,094,049)
2024 (4,492,675)
2025 (2,153,839)
2026 (1,415,704)
Total $ (21,156,267)

Actuarial Assumptions - OPERS

Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the values of reported amounts and assumptions
about the probability of occurrence of events far into the future. Examples include assumptions about future
employment, mortality, and cost trends. Actuarially determined amounts are subject to continual review or
modification as actual results are compared with past expectations and new estimates are made about the
future.

Projections of health care costs for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive plan (the plan as

understood by the employers and plan members) and include the types of coverage provided at the time of
each valuation and the historical pattern of sharing of costs between OPERS and plan members.
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In 2021, the Board's actuarial consultants conducted an experience study for the period 2016 through 2020,
comparing historical assumptions to actual results. The experience study incorporates both a historical review
and forward-looking projections to determine the appropriate set of assumptions to keep the plan on a path
toward full funding. Information from this study led to changes in both demographic and economic
assumptions. The actuarial valuation used for 2021 compared to those used for 2020 are as follows:

December 31, 2021 December 31,2020
Wage Inflation 2.75 percent 3.25 percent
Projected Salary Increases, 2.75to 10.75 percent 3.25t0 10.75 percent
including wage inflation including wage inflation
Single Discount Rate 6.00 percent 6.00 percent
Investment Rate of Return 6.00 percent 6.00 percent
Municipal Bond Rate 1.84 percent 2.00 percent
Health Care Cost Trend Rate 5.5 percent, initial 8.5 percent, initial
3.50 percent, ultimate in 2034 3.50 percent, ultimate in 2035
Actuarial Cost Method Individual Entry Age Individual Entry Age

For 2021, pre-retirement mortality rates are based on 130 percent of the Pub-2010 General Employee Mortality
tables (males and females) for State and Local Government divisions and 170 percent of the Pub-2010 Safety
Employee Mortality tables (males and females) for the Public Safety and Law Enforcement divisions. Post-
retirement mortality rates are based on 115 percent of the PubG-2010 Retiree Mortality Tables (males and
females) for all divisions. Post-retirement mortality rates for disabled retirees are based on the PubNS-2010
Disabled Retiree Mortality Tables (males and females) for all divisions. For all the previously described tables,
the base year is 2010 and mortality rates for a particular calendar year are determined by applying the MP-
2020 mortality improvement scales (males and females) to all these tables.

For 2020, pre-retirement mortality rates are based on the RP-2014 Employees mortality table for males and
females, adjusted for mortality improvement back to the observation period base year of 2006. The base year
for males and females was then established to be 2015 and 2010, respectively. Post-retirement mortality rates
are based on the RP-2014 Healthy Annuitant mortality table for males and females, adjusted for mortality
improvement back to the observation period base year of 2006. The base year for males and females was then
established to be 2015 and 2010, respectively. Post-retirement mortality rates for disabled retirees are based
on the RP-2014 Disabled mortality table for males and females, adjusted for mortality improvement back to the
observation period base year of 2006. The base year for males and females was then established to be 2015
and 2010, respectively. Mortality rates for a particular calendar year are determined by applying the MP-2015
mortality improvement scale to all the above-described tables.

The most recent experience study was completed for the five-year period ended December 31, 2020.

During 2021, OPERS managed investments in three investment portfolios: the Defined Benefit portfolio, the
Health Care portfolio and the Defined Contribution portfolio. The Health Care portfolio includes the assets for
health care expenses for the Traditional Pension Plan, Combined Plan and Member-Directed Plan eligible
members. Within the Health Care portfolio, if any contributions are made into the plans, the contributions are
assumed to be received continuously throughout the year based on the actual payroll payable at the time
contributions are made. Health care-related payments are assumed to occur mid-year. Accordingly, the
money-weighted rate of return is considered to be the same for all plans within the portfolio. The annual
money-weighted rate of return expressing investment performance, net of investment expenses and adjusted
for the changing amounts actually invested, for the Health Care portfolio was 14.3 percent for 2021.
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The allocation of investment assets within the Health Care portfolio is approved by the Board of Trustees as
outlined in the annual investment plan. Assets are managed on a total return basis with a long-term objective
of continuing to offer a sustainable health care program for current and future retirees. OPERS’ primary goal is
to achieve and maintain a fully funded status for the benefits provided through the defined pension plans.
Health care is a discretionary benefit.

The long-term expected rate of return on health care investment assets was determined using a building-block
method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future rates of return are developed for each major asset
class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected
future rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage, adjusted for inflation. Best estimates of
geometric rates of return were provided by the Board’s investment consultant. For each major asset class that
is included in the Health Care’s portfolio’s target asset allocation as of December 31, 2021, these best
estimates are summarized in the following table:

Weighted Average
Long-Term Expected

Target Real Rate of Return
Asset Class Allocation (Geometric)
Fixed Income 34.00 % 091 %
Domestic Equities 25.00 3.78
Real Estate Investment Trust 7.00 3.71
International Equities 25.00 4.88
Risk Parity 2.00 292
Other investments 7.00 1.93
Total 100.00 % 345 %

Discount Rate

A single discount rate of 6.0 percent was used to measure the OPEB liability on the measurement date of
December 31, 2021. Projected benefit payments are required to be discounted to their actuarial present value
using a single discount rate that reflects (1) a long-term expected rate of return on OPEB plan investments (to
the extent that the health care fiduciary net position is projected to be sufficient to pay benefits), and (2) tax-
exempt municipal bond rate based on an index of 20-year general obligation bonds with an average AA credit
rating as of the measurement date (to the extent that the contributions for use with the long-term expected rate
are not met). This single discount rate was based on an expected rate of return on the health care investment
portfolio of 6.00 percent and a municipal bond rate of 1.84 percent (Fidelity Index’s “20-Year Municipal GO AA
Index”). The projection of cash flows used to determine this single discount rate assumed that employer
contributions will be made at rates equal to the actuarially determined contribution rate. Based on these
assumptions, the health care fiduciary net position and future contributions were sufficient to finance health
care costs through 2121. As a result, the actuarial assumed long-term expected rate of return on health care
investments was applied to projected costs through the year 2121, the duration of the projection period through
which projected health care payments are fully funded.
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Sensitivity of the County’s Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Asset to Changes in the Discount Rate

The following table presents the County’s proportionate share of the net OPEB asset calculated using the
single discount rate of 6.00 percent, as well as what the County’s proportionate share of the net OPEB asset
would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one-percentage-point lower (5.00 percent) or one-
percentage-point higher (7.00 percent) than the current rate:

Current
1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase
(5.00%) (6.00%) (7.00%)
County's proportionate share
ofthe net OPEB asset ($12,160,365) ($20,677,594) ($27,747,022)

Sensitivity of the County’s Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Asset to Changes in the Health Care Cost
Trend Rate

Changes in the health care cost trend rate may also have a significant impact on the net OPEB liability. The
following table presents the net OPEB asset calculated using the assumed trend rates, and the expected net
OPEB asset if it were calculated using a health care cost trend rate that is 1.0 percent lower or 1.0 percent
higher than the current rate.

Retiree health care valuations use a health care cost-trend assumption that changes over several years built
into the assumption. The near-term rates reflect increases in the current cost of health care; the trend starting
in 2022 is 5.50 percent. If this trend continues for future years, the projection indicates that years from now
virtually all expenditures will be for health care. A more reasonable alternative is the health plan cost trend will
decrease to a level at, or near, wage inflation. On this basis, the actuaries project premium rate increases will
continue to exceed wage inflation for approximately the next decade, but by less each year, until leveling off at
an ultimate rate, assumed to be 3.50 percent in the most recent valuation.

Current Health Care
Cost Trend Rate
1% Decrease Assumption 1% Increase

County's proportionate share
of the net OPEB asset ($20,901,040) ($20,677,594) ($20,412,513)

NOTE 14- OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

COMPENSATED ABSENCES

County employees earn vacation and sick leave at varying rates depending on length of service and
department policy. All accumulated, unused vacation time is paid upon separation if the employee has at least
one year of service with the County. Unused vacation time may be accumulated, with the approval of the
appointing authority, to a maximum of three one-year accruals. All accumulated, unused compensatory time is
paid upon separation. Accumulated, unused sick leave is paid at varying rates depending on length of service
to employees who retire.

HEALTH CARE BENEFITS

The County has elected to provide a fully insured plan for employee medical/surgical benefits through Humana
Dental insurance is provided to all employees as a function of the health care plan through Delta Dental. Butler
County Developmental Disabilities has chosen to provide a self-insurance employee medical/surgical benefits
along with dental insurance through the Jefferson Health Plan.
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The Commissioners provided both a high deductible health care plans (HDHP) and a preferred provider
organization (PPO) plan for health benefits in 2022. The chart below identifies the dollars contributed by the
Commissioners and the employees per month.

Employee County Total
Level Contribution Contribution Contribution
High Deductable Plan

Employee $ 129.14  $ 636.62 $ 765.76
Employee plus Spouse 280.14 1,334.64 1,614.78
Employee plus Children 184.24 1,144.00 1,328.24
Family 359.80 1,817.48 2,177.28

Preferred Provider Organization
Employee 188.28 642.36 830.64
Employee plus Spouse 410.46 1,347.24 1,757.70
Employee plus Children 290.54 1,154.30 1,444.84
Family 537.26 1,834.64 2,371.90

The Butler County Board Development Disabilities (BCBDD) participated in the Jefferson Health Plan during
2022. BCBDD provides health insurance to its employees through a self-insurance plan. BCBDD pays $637.56
per month for employees enrolled in a single plan and $1,763.14 per month for employees enrolled in a family
plan, with the employees paying $78.80 per month for single coverage, and $217.92 per month for family
coverage.

County employees may participate in deferred compensation plans as a voluntary benefit. The employees can
select from Ohio Public Employees Deferred Compensation Plan, County Commissioners Association Deferred
Compensation plan or the Great American Fund Connection 457 Deferred Compensation Program. These
plans were created in accordance with Internal Revenue Code Section 457 and are considered an other
employee benefit plan. Participation is on a voluntary payroll deduction basis. The plan permits deferral of
compensation until future years. According to the plans, the deferred compensation is not available until
termination, retirement, death or an unforeseeable emergency.

NOTE 15 — PRIOR YEAR DEFEASANCE OF BONDS

In prior years, the County has defeased various bonds by placing the proceeds of the new bonds in an
irrevocable trust to provide for all future debt service payments on the old bonds. Accordingly, the trust assets
and the liability for the defeased bonds are not included in the County’s financial statements. As of December
31, 2022, the bonds listed were unmatured and unpaid.

Unmatured and Unpaid

Defeasance from Debt Original Issue at 12/31/22
Sewer

Dated June 1, 1998 $ 5,490,000 $ 505,000
Water Judgement Bonds

Dated July 23, 2002 35,030,000 9,660,000
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NOTE 16— LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS

A schedule of changes in bonds and other long-term obligations of the governmental activities of the County
during 2022 were as follows:

Balance as of Balance as of Due Within
Debtlssue 12/31/21 Increases Decreases 12/31/22 One Year
General Obligation Bonds
2010 2.00-4.25% $9,540,000
Various Purpose $ 6,395,000 $ - $ 6,395,000 $ -3 -
Premium on DebtIssued 8,043 - 8,043 - -
Discount on Debt Issued (12,477) - (12,477) - -
2014 1.50-5.00% $7,520,000
Various Purpose 2,025,000 - 640,000 1,385,000 675,000
Premium on Debt Issued 190,093 - 63,363 126,730 -
2022 1.93-1.93% $9,315,000 - 9,315,000 200,000 9,115,000 355,000
Various Purpose
2022 1.93-2.46% $7,525,000 - 7,525,000 695,000 6,830,000 700,000
Various Purpose
Direct Placement
2019 1.916-1.916% $634,000
By-Pass 4 390,000 - 128,000 262,000 130,000

Total General Obligation Bonds $ 8995659 $ 16,840,000 $ 8,116,929 §$ 17,718,730 $ 1,860,000

Special Assessment Bonds

2005 4.125% $1,144,000
Venice Gardens Sewer $ 886,340 $ - $ 22320 $ 864,020 $ 23,240

2008 3.00-5.50% $3,315,000

Various Purpose 1,525,000 - 185,000 1,340,000 195,000
Premium on Debt Issued 29,313 - 4,187 25,126 -
Total Special AssessmentBonds $ 2,440,653 $ - $ 211507 $ 2229146 $ 218,240

Revenue Bonds

Direct Placement
2020 1.98% $1,700,000

Hamilton Mason Road $ 1,585,000 $ - $ 130,000 $ 1,455,000 $ 135,000
Total Revenue Bonds $ 1585000 $ - $ 130,000 $ 1,455,000 $ 135,000
(Continued)
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Restated
Balance as of Balance as of ~ Due Within
DebtlIssue 12/31/21 Increases Decreases 12/31/22 One Year

Direct Borrowings
Long-Term Loans
2005 0.00% $789,748

OPWC Cincinnati Dayton Rd. $ 138,207 $ $ 39,488 § 98,719 § 39,488
2009 0.00% $329,549

OPWC Tylersville Rd. 131,823 16,478 115,345 16,478
2009 0.00% $157,188

OPWC Hamilton Eaton Slip 70,737 7,860 62,877 7,860
2010 0.00% $305,000

OPWC Reily Millville Slip Phase | 144,875 15,250 129,625 15,250
2010 0.00% $416,498

OPWC Reily Millville Slip Phase I 166,597 27,766 138,831 27,766
2011 0.00% $348,950

OPWC Trenton and Busenbark Rd. 192,395 17,448 174,947 17,448
Total Long-Term Loans From Direct
Borrowings $ 844634 $ - § 124290 § 720344 § 124290
Other Long-Term Obligations
Claims Payable $ 484441 § 420 $ 33325 § 451536 $ 50,722
Compensated Absences Payable 9,575,768 5,207,953 4,675,233 10,108,488 4,616,363
Contracts Payable - TID 13,842,498 86,840 1,029,877 12,899,461 1,078,690
Contracts Payable - Port Authority 8,120,000 - 8,120,000 - -
Contracts Payable -LCA Obligations 8,394,292 516,865 286,793 8,624,364 272,394
Leases Payable 1,757,102 156,000 413,961 1,499,141 411,226
Net Pension Liabilit-OPERS 90,610,816 - 35,996,295 54,614,521 -
Total Other Long-Term Obligations 132,784,917 5,968,078 50,555,484 88,197,511 6,429,395
Total Governmental Activities $ 146,650,863 § 22,808,078 $ 59,138,210 $110,320,731 § 8,766,925
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GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS

All governmental activities general obligation bonded debt are general obligations supported by the full faith
and credit of the County. All unvoted general obligation bonds will be retired using unvoted general property tax
revenues. The County currently retires all general obligation bonds from the bond retirement fund which is
funded through general fund transfers. In the event of default, the lender could force the County to redirect
inside millage to cover the debt.

In August 2010, the County issued $9,540,000 in general obligation bonds to bond short-term bond anticipation
notes. The $9,540,000 in new bond proceeds along with existing Butler County funds were used to pay the
bond anticipation notes that included the Yankee Road TIF Improvement, Cincinnati-Dayton Road TIF
Improvement and the Cincinnati-Dayton Road Widening. The bonds were issued for a twenty five-year period,
with a maturity in December 2034.

In September 2014, the County issued $7,520,000 in general obligation bonds for the purpose of current
refunding $8,030,000 of 2004 various purpose bonds, in order to take advantage of lower interest rates. These
bonds will mature in December 2024. In September 2020, the County chose to defease a portion the future
bond payments by placing $51,055 of County funds with an escrow agent. As a result, $50,000 of the bonds
were considered defeased and the liability for the bonds has been removed from the County’s financial
statements. The County also incurred an accounting loss of $1,055 (difference between the amount paid to the
escrow agent and the net carrying amount).

In November 2019, the County issued $634,000 in general obligation bonds to current refund $1,340,000 of the
2009 By Pass 4 General Obligation Bonds. The bonds were issued for a five year period, with final maturity in
December 2024. This debt is a direct placement as indicated on the debt table.

In March 2022, the County issued $7,525,000 in public infrastructure improvement limited tax general
obligation bonds that were converted to tax exempt general obligation bonds in October of 2022. The County
issued these bonds to alleviate the long term contractual obligation referred to as “Contracts Payable — Port
Authority” in NOTE 16. The long term contractual obligation was originally issued for $11,085,000 to pay for the
Port Authority 2014 Series A Bonds issued for the construction of public parking garages at Liberty Center. The
2022 County bonds were issued for a ten-year period with final maturity in December 2031.The County will use
excess dollars remaining on the Voice of America TIF equivalency fund to pay for these obligations.

In March 2022, The County issued $9,315,000 of various purpose limited tax obligation bonds. $6,585,000 of
the bonds were issued to aid in the construction of certain assets related to the Freedom Pointe development
project. The Freedom Pointe bonds were issued for an eleven-year period with maximum maturity in December
2032. The remaining $2,730,000 of bonds were issued to current refund $2,680,000 of the Highland Square
piece of the 2010 various purpose GO bonds in order to take advantage of lower interest rates. These bonds
are paid from the bond retirement fund and will mature in December 2034. As a result of the refund, the
Highland Square piece of the 2010 Various Purpose GO Bonds were considered defeased and the liability for
the bonds have been removed from the County’s financial statements. The County decreased its total debt
service payments by $424,976 as a result of the refunding.

The County also incurred an economic gain (difference between present value of the old and new debt service
payments) of $376,725, and incurred an accounting loss of $46,591 (difference between amount paid to bond
escrow agent and the refunding amount), which is shown in the following table:

2010 Highland Square Bonds Oustanding $ 2,680,000
Discount on Bonds (12,477)
Total 2010 Highland Square Bonds Outstanding 2,667,523
Payment to Refunded Bond Escrow Agent (2,714,114)

2010 Highland Square Bonds Refunding Accounting Loss $ (46,591)

The County sent $2,714,114 to the escrow fund and the bonds were called in late March 2022.
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In March 2022, the County chose to defease the remaining $3,715,000 of the 2010 various purpose general
obligation bonds that were originally issued to assist with road construction at the Liberty Interchange. The
County placed $3,761,167 of County funds with an escrow agent. As a result, the Liberty Interchange portion of
the 2010 Various Purpose Bonds are considered defeased and the liability for the bonds has been removed
from the County’s financial statements.

SPECIAL ASSESSMENT BONDS WITH GOVERNMENTAL COMMITMENT

Special assessment debt will be paid from the proceeds of special assessments levied against benefited
property owners. In the event that a property owner defaults on an assessment, the County would be
responsible for the debt payments. Special assessment bonds are retired from the Bond Retirement Fund
using special assessment revenues. In the event of default, the lender could force the County to redirect inside
millage to cover the debt.

In August 2005, the County issued a $1,144,000 special assessment bond for the purpose of bonding short-
term bond anticipation notes for the Venice Gardens Sewer project. The bonds were issued for a forty-year
period with final maturity in August 2045.

In August 2008, the County issued $3,315,000 in special assessment bonds for the purpose of bonding short-
term bond anticipation notes for the University Pointe Landscaping and the Liberty Interchange (Cox Road
Extension). The bonds were issued for a twenty-year period, with a final maturity in December 2028.

The County has pledged future special assessment revenues, net of operating expenses to repay the general
obligation bonds in the General Fund. The total interest and principal remaining on the bonds is $2,963,699
payable through 2045. The purpose, terms and balances outstanding are identified above. For the current year,
principal and interest paid and special assessment revenues were $207,230 and $118,772 respectively.

REVENUE BONDS

In 2020, the County bonded its Hamilton Mason TIF note by issuing $1,700,000 in Revenue bonds which will
mature in 2032.

LONG-TERM LOANS

The County’s outstanding OPWC loans from direct borrowings contain provisions that in an event of default,
OPWC may (1) apply late fees of 8 percent per year, (2) loans more than 60 days late will be turned over to the
Attorney General’s Office for collection, and as provided by law, OPWC may require that such payments be
taken from the County’s share of the undivided local government fund, and the outstanding amounts shall, and
(3) at OPWC'’s option, become immediately due and payable.

In 2005, the County entered into a loan with the Ohio Public Works Commission (OPWC) for $789,748 to make
improvements to Cincinnati Dayton Road using proceeds from the loan. The loan was issued for twenty-years
with the final payment due in July 2024. The loan will be repaid from Motor Vehicle Fund revenues.

In 2009, the County entered into a loan with OPWC for $329,549 for the widening of Tylersville Road between
Cincinnati Dayton and Wetherington Drive, including the replacement of an existing bridge using proceeds from
the loan. The loan was issued for twenty-years with the final payment due in 2029. The loan will be repaid from
Motor Vehicle Fund revenues.

In 2009, the County entered into a loan with the OPWC for $157,188 for the restoration of the Hamilton Eaton
Slip located at the intersection of State Road and Hamilton Eaton Road where Seven Mile Creek has eroded
into the roadway area. The loan was issued for twenty-years with the final payment due in 2030. The loan will
be repaid from Motor Vehicle Fund revenues.

In 2010, the County entered into a loan with OPWC for $305,000 for phase one of the restoration of the Reily

Millville Road Slip. The loan was issued for twenty-years with the final payment due in 2030. The loan will be
repaid from Motor Vehicle Fund revenues.
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In 2010, The County entered into a loan with OPWC for phase two of the restoration of the Reily Millville Road
Slip not to exceed $416,498. The loan was issued for fifteen-years with the final payment due in 2027. The
loan will be repaid from Motor Vehicle Fund revenues.

In 2011, the County entered into a loan with OPWC not to exceed $348,950 for the construction of new left
turns lanes on Trenton and Busenbark Road. The loan was issued for twenty-years with the final payment due
in 2032. The loan will be repaid from Motor Vehicle Fund revenue.

OTHER PAYABLES

Claims payable represent the County’s liability for workers compensation. Claims liabilities and expenses are
estimated through a case by case review of all claims. The claims liability will be paid from the Workers’
Compensation Fund. For additional information relating to the claims liability, see Note 11.

Compensated absences will be paid from the General Fund, Developmental Disabilities, Mental Health and
Addiction Recovery Service, Children Services and Elderly Services Funds. There is no repayment schedule
for the net pension/OPEB liability. However, employer pension contributions are made from the following funds:
General Fund, Developmental Disabilities, Job and Family Services, Children Services, Road Improvement,
Real Estate Assessment, Motor Vehicle, Mental Health and Addiction Recovery Service, County Care Facility,
Child Support Enforcement and Elderly Services. For additional information related to the net pension/OPEB
liability see Note 12 and Note 13.

Contracts payable represent long-term contractual agreements for the payment of bonds issued by the Butler
County Transportation Improvement District (TID), Liberty Community Authority, and the Butler County Port
Authority.  While the assets of these organizations do not belong to the County, the infrastructure and
economic development benefit Butler County citizens.

The County pledged the Voice of America net TIF revenues (collections less debt service and school district
payments) as a primary source to the Transportation Improvement District (TID) to assist in paying for the
$41,130,000 of 2007 Butler County Transportation Improvement District Highway Improvement Bonds. There is
no set amortization schedule reflecting the amount sent to the TID. The County has recorded a long term
obligation in the amount of $13,842,498, the estimated portion of the bonds to be paid by the net TIF revenues.
The County paid $1,029,877 on the bonds in 2022.

Excess dollars paid to the TID from the TIF revenues will be returned to the County each year once debt
service coverage is met. In the event the dollars are not sufficient to cover the debt requirements the County
has pledged one-quarter of its Non-Tax Revenues of the General Fund as a secondary pledge. The TID Bonds
have three pledged receipts for payment, which include Butler County along with pledges from Liberty
Township and West Chester Township.

During 2014, the County partnered with Liberty Township and the Liberty Community Authority(LCA) for the
construction of public parking garages and infrastructure for the Liberty Center project, also known as the
Steiner Development. When the project is complete, the assets will belong to the Liberty Community Authority.
The parties entered into a funding agreement and issued $37,310,000 in bonds for capital financing through the
Butler County Port Authority. The bonds were issued November 14, 2014, and will be paid solely from the
pledged amounts identified in the funding agreement: the Port Authority shall never be required to use its own
funds to make such payments. The County pledged the excess dollars remaining on the Voice of America net
TIF revenues for the $11,085,000 Series A bonds. The series A bonds were issued to assist in constructing
public parking garages. In the event the net TIF revenues are not sufficient to cover the debt requirements, the
County has pledged one-quarter of its Non-Tax Revenues of the General Fund as a secondary pledge. The
Series B bonds in the amount of $6,045,000 will be paid by Liberty Township and the Series C bonds of
$20,180,000 will be paid by the Liberty Community Authority.

During 2022, the $37,310,000 in originally issued Butler County Port Authority bonds was refinanced. In March
2022, the County issued the County issued $7,525,000 general obligation bonds to alleviate the long term
contractual obligation referred to as “Contracts Payable — Port Authority” in NOTE 17 for the series A bonds.
The Port Authority long term contractual obligation was removed from the County’s financial statements and
the 2022 County issued general obligation bonds liability was added.
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Liberty Township issued general obligation bonds in March of 2022 in the amount of $5,380,000 to alleviate the
series B bonds issued by the Port Authority. The Series C bonds were refinanced by the Butler County Port
Authority in the amount of $19,350,000 in April 2022. The Liberty Community Authority will continue to pay the
$19,350,000 in bonds.

The $19,350,000 of Liberty Center Bonds (fka Series C Bonds) will be paid from the pledged revenues from the
Liberty Community Authority. LCA revenues are the Assessed Valuation Charge, the Facilities Charge, Core
Retail Assessed Valuation Charge and Supplemental Charges imposed by the Liberty Community Authority
pursuant to the declaration. The Assessed Valuation Charge is an annual charge based on the assessed value
of each parcel within the site that is not owned by a political subdivision. The Facilities Charge is a retail sales
charge in the maximum amount of one-half of one percent (0.5%) of the price paid by each customer on the
retail sales in the development. For purposes of the Liberty Center Bonds, the Core Retail Assessed Valuation
Charge shall not be levied and collected unless the Assessed Valuation Charges and Facilities Charges are
insufficient to cover the debt service on the Bonds. In the event there are insufficient revenues to pay the
bonds based on the primary charges, the LCA shall levy the Supplemental Charges against retail properties
owned or leased by the Liberty Center, LLC. The LCA will be required to levy supplemental charges in the
current year. Monies collected as supplemental charges will be transferred to the LCA debt service account
and used to pay the debt service of the LCA bonds. In the event the Liberty Community Authority is unable to
meet their debt obligation, the County has pledged any remaining dollars in the TIF related to the parcels in the
Liberty Center Project as a secondary pledge. The Liberty Center Bonds mature in 2037.

The Liberty Community Authority, a component unit of the County, has issued $12,267,111 in OWDA loans to
construct certain public infrastructure projects at the Liberty Center Project. The first principal payment due on
the loans was scheduled to start in January 2019 with semiannual payments expected to be paid through July
2048. The County has agreed to assign to the LCA the Available County Revenues in an amount sufficient to
secure the repayment of debt service payable on of the OWDA Loan to the extent the County OWDA
Obligation amounts have not been expended for payment of debt service on the Series C Bonds, provided that
County OWDA Obligation amounts shall be used to pay debt service on the OWDA Loan only if available and
Liberty Community Authority Revenues are insufficient to pay such debt service. The County is required to
send approximately $825,000 each year from 2017 through 2031 to a bank account to be held by the trust
agent if the Liberty Community Authority revenues are insufficient to cover the OWDA loan obligation. The total
Sent to this trust account shall not exceed $12,363,500, which is considered the maximum liability Butler
County can incur for the OWDA loan and the Liberty Community Authority Port Authority issued bonds.

In 2022, The Liberty Community Authority had insufficient revenues to make their payment on the OWDA loan
obligation and the Liberty Community Authority issued Bonds in full. In accordance with the financial
guarantees provided by Butler County, $286,793 of Butler County TIF revenues was used by the fiscal agent to
cover cash flow shortfalls for a portion of the Liberty Community Authority OWDA obligations and the LCA
Bonds. Because of the high likelihood that Butler County will continue to make these payments, we have
recognized a Long Term Contractual Obligation. The Contractual Obligation is shown on the Statement of
Activities as Public Works — Intergovernmental and on the Statement of Net Position as Long Term Liabilities
Due within One year and Due in More than One Year. Due to the refinancing of the Liberty Center Bonds (fka
Series C), the County received $516,865 at closing from monies remaining on trust on the old Core Retail
account. Those monies are intended to be used for future debt obligations which is why the County increased
the long term liability. The liability at the end of 2022 is $8,624,364 with no expectation of repayment from the
Liberty Community Authority at this time.

The County has outstanding agreements to lease office space and buildings. Due to the implementation of
GASB Statement 87, these leases have met the criteria, thus requiring them to be recorded by the County. The
future lease payments were discounted based on the interest rate implicit in the lease or using the County’s
incremental borrowing rate. This discount is being amortized using the interest method over the life of the
lease.
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A summary of the principal and interest amounts remaining on the leases payable is as follows:

Year Principal Interest
2023 $ 411,226 $ 20,088
2024 324,817 14,228
2025 327,242 9,178
2026 261,782 4,458
2027 44,894 2,410
2028-2032 25,901 10,403
2033-2037 8,427 9,673
2038-2042 9,280 8,720
2043-2047 10,219 7,781
2048-2052 11,254 6,746
2053-2057 12,393 5,607
2058-2062 13,647 4,353
2063-2067 15,029 2,971
2068-2072 16,550 1,450
2073-2074 6,479 120

$ 1,499,141 $ 108,086

Annual debt service requirements to maturity for general obligation bonds, special assessment bonds and
loans for all governmental activities are as follows:

General Obligation Bonds General Obligation Bonds
Direct Placement
Year Principal Interest Principal Interest
2023 $ 1,730,000 $ 343,239 $ 130,000 $ 5,020
2024 1,795,000 305,127 132,000 2,530
2025 1,655,000 266,437 - -
2026 1,690,000 234,495 - -
2027-2031 8,935,000 671,253 - -
2032-2034 1,525,000 42,943 - -
Total $ 17,330,000 $ 1,863,494 $ 262,000 $ 7,550
Special Assessment Bonds Revenue Bond
Direct Placement
Year Principal Interest Principal Interest
2023 $ 218,240 $ 109,341 $ 135,000 $ 28,809
2024 229,190 97,657 135,000 26,136
2025 240,200 85,384 140,000 23,463
2026 256,230 72,516 140,000 20,691
2027-2031 643,320 187,322 745,000 60,588
2032-2036 181,540 112,851 160,000 3,168
2037-2041 222,210 72,189 - -
2042-2045 213,090 22,419 - -
Total $ 2,204,020 $ 759,679 $ 1,455,000 $ 162,855
Loans
Direct Borrowings
Year Principal
2023 $ 124,290
2024 124,290
2025 104,546
2026 84,802
2027-2031 264,501
2032-2032 17,915
Total $ 720,344
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Changes in long-term obligations reported in the business-type activities of the County during 2022 were as

follows:

Balance as of Increases Decreases Balance as of Due Within
Debt Issue 12/31/2021 12/31/2022 One Year
General Obligation Bonds
2005 4.125% $600,000
Venice Garden Sewer $ 464,860 $ - $ 11,700 $ 453,160 $ 12,190
2006 4.375% $3,200,000
USDA New Miami Sewer 2,565,660 - 58,550 2,507,110 61,120
Total General Obligation Bonds $ 3,030,520 $ - $ 70,250 $ 2,960,270 $ 73,310
Water Judgement Bonds
2007 4.00-5.25% $24,135,000
Water Judgement $ 9,350,000 $ - $ - $ 9,350,000 $ 2,160,000
2017 2.00-5.00% $7,370,000 1,925,000 - 1,925,000 - -
Premium on Debt Issued 128,243 - 128,243 - -
Total Judgement Bonds $ 11,403,243 $ - $ 2,053,243 $ 9,350,000 $ 2,160,000
Revenue Bonds
2005 3.00-5.00% $19,575,000
Sewer $ 905,000 $ - $ 440,000 $ 465,000 $ 465,000
Premium on Debt Issued 209,401 - 104,704 104,697 -
2006 4.375-4.375% $4,000,000
USDA Sewer 3,164,350 - 77,150 3,087,200 80,520
2014 2.00-4.00% $9,640,000
Sewer 985,000 - 315,000 670,000 330,000
Premium on Debt Issued 213,349 - 104,704 108,645 -
2014 1.50-5.00% $9,345,000
Water 3,810,000 - 940,000 2,870,000 935,000
Premium on Debt Issued 451,133 - 112,784 338,349 -
Total Revenue Bonds $ 9,738,233 $ - $ 2,094,342 $ 7,643,891 $ 1,810,520
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Balance as of Balance as of Due Within
Debt Issue 12/31/2021 Increases  Decreases  12/31/2022  One Year

Direct Borrowings

Long-Term Loans

2005 4.19% $4,634,892 $ 1,216,805 §$ -9 297,545 § 919,260 $ 310,255
Cincinnati Waterw orks

2006 0.00% $700,871 280,341 - 35,045 245,296 35,045
OPWC Cast Iron Watermain

2006 0.00% $874,581 306,102 - 43,730 262,372 43,730
OPWC Watermain Improvements

2009 0.00% $470,318 305,708 - 15,678 290,030 15,678
OPWC Cast Iron Watermain

2009 3.52% $3,158,694 1,774,066 - 160,278 1,613,788 165,970
OWDA Polybutylene Water Line

2009 3.42% $849,987 410,085 - 45,387 364,698 46,952
OWDA Shaker Creek Sew er

2009 3.42% $1,153,728 557,890 - 61,606 496,284 63,730
OWDA Big Monroe Sew er

2009 2.65% $1,587,221 (ARRA) 49,883 - 5,588 44,295 5,736
OWDA Lesourdsville Sew er

2010 0.00% $2,466,203 (ARRA) 637,739 - 70,860 566,879 70,860
OWDA Liberty-Fairfield Water Tank

2010 0.00% $510,468 340,308 - 17,016 323,292 17,016
OPWC Sharon Creek Sew er

2010 0.00% $600,000 420,000 - 20,000 400,000 20,000
OPWC Cast Iron Watermain

2011 3.71% $35,500,000 13,063,186 - 838,596 12,224,590 869,996

OWDA Lesourdsville Phase 2
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Balance as of Balance as of  Due Within
Debt Issue 12/31/2021 Increases Decreases 12/31/2022 One Year

20110.00% $201,000

OPWC West Chester Road

Watermain Replacement $ 112,476 $ - 95 5228 $ 107,248 $ 5,231
2011 0.00% $580,000

OPWC Polybutylene 444667 - 19,334 425,333 19,334
2012 0.00% $169,873

OPWC Liberty-Fairfield

Watermain Replacement 124,577 - 5,662 118,915 5,662
2013 0.00% $1,275,000

OPWC Polybutylene 1,062,500 - 42,500 1,020,000 42,500
2014 0.00% $308,512

OPWC Liberty-FF WM Replace 262,234 - 10,284 251,950 10,284
2017 0.00% $265,975

OPWC Polybutylene 234,944 - 8,866 226,078 8,866
Total Long-Term Loans From Direct
Borrowings $ 21603511 § - § 1703203 § 19,900,308 § 1,756,845
Other Long-Term Obligations
Compensated Absences $ 733,113 § 200,570 $§ 248,009 685,674 § 244,835
Net Pension Liability-OPERS 6,040,719 - 2,399,753 3,640,966

Total Other Long-Term Obligations $ 6,773,832 $ 200,570 $ 2,647,762 $ 4,326,640 $ 244,835

Total Business-Type Activities $ 52549339 § 200,570 $ 8,568,800 $ 44,181,109 $ 6,045,510
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GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS

All business-type activities general obligation bonded debt is supported by the full faith and credit of the
County. Enterprise supported general obligation bonds are being paid by Enterprise Funds. In the event of
default, the lender could force the County to redirect inside millage to cover the debt.

In August 2005, the County issued a $600,000 general obligation bond for the purpose of bonding short-term
bond anticipation notes for the Venice Gardens Sewer project. The bonds were issued for a forty-year period,
with final maturity in August 2045.

In September 2006, the County issued a $3,200,000 general obligation bond for the purpose of bonding short-
term bond anticipation notes for the New Miami Sewer Improvement project. These bonds are registered with
the United States Department of Agriculture Rural Development (USDA). The bonds were issued for a forty-
year period, with maximum maturity in August 2046.

WATER JUDGEMENT BONDS

In the event of default, the lender can choose to accelerate the payments on the Water Judgement Bond debt.

The 2007 and 2017 Water Judgement Bonds are general obligation bonds that were court ordered to settle the
water contract dispute between Butler County and the City of Hamilton. The County received Water Rights
assets as part of the settlement agreement. See Capital Assets Note 10 for additional information. The principal
and interest are paid from the Water fund.

In April 2007, the County issued $24,135,000 in Water Judgement bonds for the purpose of advance refunding
$24,000,000 of the 2002 Water Judgment Bonds. The bonds were issued for a twenty year period, with final
maturity in December 2026.

In October 2017, the County issued $7,370,000 in general obligation bonds for the purpose of current refunding
$7,820,000 of the 2007 Water Judgement bonds, in order to take advantage of lower interest rates. These
bonds are paid from the water fund and will mature in December 2022.

REVENUE BONDS

In the event of default, the lender can choose to accelerate the payments on the Revenue Bond debt.

Revenue bonds are supported by user charges and are not backed by the full faith and credit of the County.
These bonds have been issued to pay for water and sewer projects.

In June 2005 the County issued a $19,575,000 Sewer Revenue bond for the purpose of partially advance
refunding $1,485,000 of existing 1997, $5,490,000 of existing 1998, and $12,790,000 of existing 1999 Sewer
bonds. The bonds were issued for an eighteen year period, with final maturity in December 2023.

In September 2006, the County issued a $4,000,000 Sewer Revenue bond for the purpose of bonding short-
term bond anticipation notes for the New Miami Sewer Improvement project. These bonds are registered to the
United States Department of Agriculture, Rural Development. The bonds were issued for a forty-year period,
with the final maturity in December 2045.

In September 2014, the County issued $9,640,000 of Sewer Revenue Bonds for the purpose of current
refunding $10,150,000 of 2004 Sewer Revenue Bonds, in order to take advantage of lower interest rates.
These bonds are paid from the Sewer Fund and will mature in December 2024. As a result, $10,150,000 of the
2004 sewer revenue bonds were considered defeased and the liability for the refunded bonds have been
removed from the County’s financial statements. All refunded bonds have been repaid.
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In September 2014, the County issued $9,345,000 of Water Revenue Bonds for the purpose of advance
refunding $10,275,000 of 2005 Water Revenue Bonds, in order to take advantage of lower interest rates.
These bonds are paid from the Water Fund and will mature in December 2025. As a result, $10,275,000 of the
2005 Water Revenue Bonds were considered defeased and the liability for the refunded bonds have been
removed from the County’s financial statements. All refunded bonds have been repaid.

The County has pledged future revenues, net of operating expenses, to repay Revenue Bonds, Cincinnati
Waterworks Loans, OPWC, and OWDA loans in the Water fund. The debt is payable solely from water
customer net revenues and are payable through 2046. The purpose, terms and balances outstanding are
identified above. Annual Principal and Interest payments on debt are expected to require 14 percent of net
revenues. The total principal and interest remaining to be paid on the bonds and loans is $9,758,344. Of this
total $3,158,775 is for the revenue bonds, $1,028,041 for the Cincinnati Waterworks, and $5,571,528 for the
OPWC/OWDA loans. Principal and interest paid for the current year and total net revenues were $1,969,256
and $14,451,011 respectively.

Principal and interest and fiscal charges paid for the current year for Revenue Bonds was $1,130,475,
$342,633 for the Cincinnati Waterworks loan and $496,148 for the remaining OPWC/OWDA loans.

The County has pledged future revenues, net of operating expenses, to repay Revenue Bonds and OWDA
loans in the Sewer fund. The debt is payable solely from sewer customer net revenues and are payable
through 2046. The purpose, terms and balances outstanding are identified above. Annual Principal and interest
payments on debt are expected to require 14 percent of net revenues. The total principal and interest
remaining to be paid on the bonds and loans is $23,496,049. Of this total $6,157,120 is for the revenue bonds
and $17,338,929 is for the OPWC/OWDA loans.

Principal and interest paid for the current year and total net revenues were $2,438,615 and $17,376,600
respectively. Principal and interest and fiscal charges paid for the current year for Revenue Bonds was
$1,055,197 and $1,383,418 for the OPWC/OWDA loans.

LONG-TERM LOANS

The County’s outstanding OPWC loans from direct borrowings contain provisions that in an event of default,
OPWC may (1) apply late fees of 8 percent per year, (2) loans more than 60 days late will be turned over to the
Attorney General’s Office for collection, and as provided by law, OPWC may require that such payments be
taken from the County’s share of the undivided local government fund, and the outstanding amounts shall, and
(3) at OPWC'’s option, become immediately due and payable.

In 2005, Butler County entered into a contractual agreement with the City of Cincinnati for $4,634,892 to assist
in financing the construction of water lines and a master meter that runs from International Boulevard to
Mulhauser Road. This expansion will allow Butler County a secondary water source and provide access to
water for future development. Approximately $549,623 of Butler County water lines were added while intangible
assets of $4,085,629 were recorded as depreciable capital assets, net. This loan matures in October 2025.

In 2006, the County entered into a loan with the OPWC for $700,871 and $874,581 to make improvements to
watermains in Butler County using proceeds from OPWC loans. The 2006 cast iron watermain loan was issued
for twenty-years with the first payment starting in July 2009 and a final payment due in January 2029. The 2006
watermain improvements loan was issued for twenty-years with the first payment starting in July 2008 and a
final payment due in January 2028. Both OPWC loans will be repaid by Water fund user charges.

In 2009, the County entered into a loan with the OPWC for $470,318 to replace watermains using proceeds
from the loan. The loan was issued for thirty-years with the final payment due in 2040. The loan will be repaid
by Water Fund revenues.

In 2009, the County entered into a loan with Ohio Water Development Authority (OWDA) for $3,158,694 to

replace over 7,000 failing polybutylene service lines in Butler County. The loan was issued for thirty-years with
the final payment due in 2031. The loan will be repaid by Water Fund revenues.
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In 2009, the County entered into a loan with the OWDA for $849,987 to restore and stabilize eroding stream
banks of Shaker Creek. The loan was issued for twenty-years with the final payment due in 2029. The loan
will be repaid by Sewer Fund revenues.

In 2009, the County entered into a loan with the OWDA for $1,153,728 to reduce erosion, sedimentation and
nutrient enrichment for the Big Monroe project located at Mill Creek. The loan was issued for twenty-years with
the final payment due in 2029. The loan will be repaid by Sewer Fund revenues.

In 2009, the County entered into a loan with the OWDA for $1,587,221 to construct a new sewage receiving
facility, a new vactor truck unloading facility, and install a second sludge-dewatering centrifuge. The loan was
issued for twenty-years with the final payment due in 2030. The loan will be repaid by Sewer Fund revenues.

In 2010, the County entered into a loan with the OWDA for $2,466,203 to design and construct a 2.0 million
gallon ground-level storage tank that will serve as a buffer, isolating the pump station from other systems that
are surrounding the area. In addition, control valves will be included to smooth out flow rates going into the
tank and insuring that pressures are not drawn below acceptable levels. The loan was issued for twenty-years
with the final payment due in 2030. The loan will be repaid by Water Fund revenues.

In 2010, the County entered into a loan with the OPWC for $510,468 to replace and improve an existing
sanitary force main with a new sanitary force main and gravity sewer. The loan proceeds also were used to
increase the height of a cascade wall approximately two feet to prevent overflows that occur during heavy
storm events. The loan was issued for thirty-years with the final payment due in 2041. The loan will be repaid
by Sewer Fund revenues.

In 2010, the County entered into a loan with the OPWC for $600,000 to replace over 15,000 feet of failing cast
iron watermains for the subdivision of Dalewood located in West Chester Township. The loan was issued for
thirty-years with the final payment due in 2042. The loan will be repaid by Water Fund revenues.

In 2011, the County entered into a loan with the OWDA for an amount not to exceed $35,500,000 to upgrade
and improve the LeSourdsville Wastewater Treatment Plant. The project includes upgrading existing systems
and equipment at the plant. The loan was issued for twenty-years with the final payment due in 2034. The loan
will be repaid by Sewer Fund revenues.

In 2011, the County entered into a loan with the OPWC for an amount not to exceed $201,000 to replace the
aging cast iron water main along West Chester Road from Barret Road to John Street in West Chester Twp.
The loan was issued for thirty-years with the final payment due 2042. The loan will be repaid by Water Fund
revenues.

In 2011, the County entered into a loan with the OPWC for an amount not to exceed $580,000 to replace
polybutylene water lines in at various locations including Fairfield Township, Liberty Township, and West
Chester Township. The loan was issued for thirty-years with the final payment due in 2043. The loan will be
repaid by Water Fund revenues.

In 2012, the County entered into a loan with Ohio Public Works Commission (OPWC) for an amount not to
exceed $169,873 to replace a watermain in Liberty-Fairfield Township. The loan was issued for thirty-years with
the final payment due 2043. The loan will be repaid by Water Fund revenues.

In 2013, the County entered into a loan with the OPWC for $1,275,000 for polybutylene water line replacement.
The 2013 project was completed in 2015 with a loan payoff date in 2045. The loan will be paid from the Water
Fund revenues.

In 2014, the County entered into a loan with the OPWC for $308,512 for Liberty Fairfield Rd water main
replacement. The 2014 project was completed in 2016 with a loan payoff date in 2046. The loan will be paid
from the Water Fund revenues.

In 2017, the County entered into a loan with the OPWC for $265,975 for Polybutylene water line services . The
loan will be paid from the Water Fund Revenues. The loan matures in 2048.
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OTHER PAYABLES

Compensated absences will be paid from the Water and Sewer enterprise funds. There is no repayment
schedule for the net pension/OPEB liability. However, employer pension contributions are made from the Water
and Sewer funds. For additional information related to the net pension/OPEB liability see Note 12 and Note 13.

Annual debt service requirements to maturity for general obligation bonds, judgment bonds, revenue bonds and

revenue bonds and loans are as follow:

General Obligation Bonds

Judgment Bonds

Year Principal Interest Principal Interest
2023 $ 73,310 $ 128,379 2,160,000 $ 490,875
2024 76,490 125,202 2,275,000 377,475
2025 79,800 121,887 2,395,000 258,038
2026 83,250 118,429 2,520,000 132,300
2027-2031 473,650 534,792 - -
2032-2036 585,580 422,859 - -
2037-2041 723,970 284,460 - -
2042-2046 864,220 113,335 - -
Total $ 2,960,270 $ 1,849,343 9,350,000 $ 1,258,688
Revenue Bonds Loans
Direct Borrowings
Year Principal Interest Principal Interest
2023 $ 1,810,520 $ 328,615 1,805,318 $ 611,379
2024 1,389,040 241,892 1,812,535 560,516
2025 1,057,720 176,366 1,794,295 507,909
2026 91,550 124,028 1,578,662 413,954
2027-2031 521,490 556,434 7,958,572 1,462,991
2032-2036 645,980 431,932 3,836,295 481,509
2037-2041 800,220 277,704 715,013 -
2042-2046 775,680 86,656 381,169 -
2047-2048 - - 18,449 -
Total $ 7,092,200 $ 2,223,627 $ 19,900,308 $ 4,038,258

MULTIFAMILY HOUSING

To further economic development in the County, the County has issued bonds that provide capital financing to
private-sector entities to acquire, construct, improve, and equip multifamily housing. The properties financed
are pledged as collateral, and the bonds are payable solely from payments received from the private-sector
entities on the underlying mortgage or promissory notes. In addition, no commitments beyond the collateral, the
payments from the private-sector entities, and maintenance of the tax-exempt status of the conduit debt
obligation were extended by the County for any of those bonds. At December 31, 2022, the bonds have an
aggregate outstanding principal amount payable of $89,720,000

HOSPITAL REVENUE BONDS

To further economic development in the County, the County has issued bonds that provide capital financing to
hospitals to acquire, construct, improve, and equip hospital facilities. The properties financed are pledged as
collateral, and the bonds are payable solely from payments received from the private-sector entities on the
underlying mortgage or promissory notes. In addition, no commitments beyond the collateral, the payments
from the private-sector entities, and maintenance of the tax-exempt status of the conduit debt obligation were
extended by the County for any of those bonds. At December 31, 2022, the bonds have an aggregate
outstanding principal amount payable of $488,580,000.
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CAPITAL FUNDING REVENUE BONDS

The capital funding revenue bonds were issued on behalf of the County Commissioners Association of Ohio for
their low cost capital pooled financing program. Butler County is not obligated in any way to pay debt charges
on the bonds from any of its funds, and therefore they have been excluded entirely from the County’s debt
presentation. The principal payments will begin in 2035. The principal balance outstanding at December 31,
2022 was $47,325,000.

LEGAL DEBT MARGIN

The Ohio Revised Code provides that the net general obligation debt of the County, exclusive of certain exempt
debt, issued without a vote of the electors shall never exceed one percent of the total assessed valuation of the
County. The Code further provides that the total voted and unvoted net debt of the County, less the same
exempt debt, shall never exceed a sum equal to three percent of the first $100,000,000 of the assessed
valuation, plus one and one-half percent of such valuation in excess of $100,000,000 and not in excess of
$300,000,000, plus two and one-half percent of such valuation in excess of $300,000,000.

The effects of the debt limitations described above at December 31, 2022 are an overall debt margin of
$243,565,412 and unvoted debt margin of $98,026,165.

NOTE 17— INTERFUND BALANCES AND ACTIVITY

Transfers In/Transfers Out activity for 2022 consisted of the following:

Transfers From

Residential Incentive Districts and

Transfers To General Tax Incremental Financings Total
Job and Family Services / Children Services Agency $ 811,232 § -5 811,232
Residential Incentive Districts and Tax Incremental
Financings 4,000,000 - 4,000,000
Non Major Governmental 15,411,435 6,724,377 22,135,812
Total $ 20,222,667 $ 6,724,377 $ 26,947,044

Transfers are used to move revenues from the fund that statute or budget requires to collect them to the fund
that statute or budget requires to expend them and to use unrestricted revenues collected in the General Fund
to finance various programs accounted for in other funds in accordance with budgetary authorizations. Non-
major funds received transfers from the General Fund and the Residential Incentive Districts and Tax
Incremental Financings Fund to pay principal and interest on various County issued notes and bonds and to
place monies into a capital projects funds for future asset replacements and improvements. .

Due From/Due To balances at December 31, 2022 consist of the following individual fund receivables and
payables:

Due From (Receivable)

Job and Family
Developmental Services/Children

Due To (Payable) General Disabiities Services Agency Total

Job and Family Services/Children Services Agency 4,037 3,181 - 7,218
Non Major Governmental 144,812 - 427 145,239
Sewer 261 - - 261
Water 174 - - 174
Total $ 149,284 $ 3,181 § 427 $ 152,892
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All balances in the Due From/Due To schedule resulted from the time lag between the dates that (1) interfund
goods and services are provided or reimbursable expenditures occur, (2) transactions are recorded in the
accounting system, and (3) payments between funds are made. The amounts reported as Due From/Due to
Other Funds are expected to be repaid within one year.

Advances From/Advances To balances at December 31, 2022 consist of the following individual fund
receivables and payables:

Advances From

Advances To General

Residential Incentive Districts

and Tax Incremental Financings $ 4,000,000

Non Major Governmenal 222,720
$ 4,222,720

The balance of $4,222,720 due to the General Fund results from cash flow issues in those funds. These
advances were not expected to be repaid within the current year.

NOTE 18— CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The County has received federal and State grants for specific purposes that are subject to review and audit by
the grantor agencies or their representatives. These audits could lead to a request for reimbursement to the
grantor agency for any expenses disallowed under terms of the grant. Based on prior experience the County
believes such disallowances, if any, will be immaterial.

The County is a defendant in various lawsuits. Although the outcome of these lawsuits is not presently
determinable, in the opinion of the County the resolution of these matters will not have a material adverse effect
on the financial condition of the County.

NOTE 19 —JOINTLY GOVERNED ORGANIZATIONS/RISK SHARING POOL/INSURANCE PURCHASING
POOL/RELATED ORGANIZATIONS

TRANSPORTATION IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT OF BUTLER COUNTY

The Transportation Improvement District, a jointly governed organization, provides the opportunity to construct
roads, bridges and accompanying improvements within the County. The Transportation Improvement District
Board, which consists of representatives from each of the participating governments, including the County,
oversees the operation of the District. The board exercises total control over the operation of the district,
including budgeting, appropriating, contracting and designating management. Each participant's degree of
control is limited to its representation on the board. Complete financial statements can be obtained from the
Transportation Improvement District, 315 High St. 6™ Floor Hamilton, OH 45011.

OHIO KENTUCKY INDIANA REGIONAL COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS (OKl)

The Ohio Kentucky Indiana Regional Council of Governments (OKI), a jointly governed organization, was
formed in 1964. OKI is a council of local governments, business organizations and community groups that
work together to improve the economic development of the Tri-State. The board exercises total control over the
operation of the council, including budgeting, appropriating, contracting and designating management.
Each participant’s degree of control is limited to its representation on the board. The County contributed
$32,393 in 2022. Financial statements can be obtained from the OKI, 720 E. Pete Rose Way, Suite 420
Cincinnati, OH 45202.
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BUTLER/CLERMONT/WARREN WORKFORCE POLICY BOARD (AREA 12)

The Butler/Clermont/Warren Workforce Policy Board is a jointly governed organization with thirty-one board
members consisting of representatives from business, education, labor and government. The Butler County
Commissioners appoint two of the members of the board. The Policy Board is a regional organization
developed as a result of the Workforce Investment Act. The role of the Policy Board is to assess the workforce
needs of area employers, assess the employment and training needs of job seekers and to identify fiscal and
other available resources to meet current and future workforce needs in the region.

Warren County is currently the fiscal agent for the WIA area. The duties of the fiscal agent include budgeting,
reporting and disbursing grant funding to the participating counties from the Ohio Department of Job and
Family Services.

COMMUNITY-BASED CORRECTIONAL FACILITY

The Community-Based Correctional Facility is a jointly governed organization that provides an alternative to
prison incarceration for felony offenders. The Facility is the last step in the continuum of increasing punishment
before prison incarceration. The Facility is a minimum-security operation. The Facility’s governing board
oversees the operations of the organization. Common Pleas Judges from the participating counties comprise a
Judicial Advisory Board. The Judicial Advisory Board appoints two-thirds of the members of the Facility
Governing Board and advises the Facility’s Governing Board regarding Facility matters. The Board includes at
least one Common Pleas Court Judge from each participating county. The Facility serves Butler, Clermont,
and Warren County.

The Facility’s Governing Board has contracted with Talbert House for daily operational functions, a non-profit
organization. Talbert House is responsible for essentially all management decisions related to the Facility,
subject to the Facility Governing Board’s oversight. Complete financial statements can be obtained from the
Community-Based Correctional Facility, 5234 State Route 63, Lebanon, OH 45036.

SOUTHWEST OHIO COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS

The Southwest Ohio Council of Governments was created by the Board of Developmental Disabilities of Butler,
Hamilton, Clermont and Warren Counties. The Council consists of four members representing each of the four
counties. Any other County Board of Developmental Disabilities may petition for membership to the Council
however membership must be approved by two-thirds vote of the Council members. The role of the Council is
to coordinate the powers and duties of the member Boards to better serve and benefit persons with
developmental disabilities within the four counties. The Council serves as its own taxing and debt issuance
authority and is a jointly governed organization. In 2022, Butler County contributed $5,000 to the Council.
Financial information for the Southwest Ohio Council of Governments may be obtained at 1910 Fairgrove
Avenue Suite E, Hamilton Ohio 45011.

COUNTY RISK SHARING AUTHORITY (CORSA)

The County Risk Sharing Authority (CORSA) is a risk sharing pool made up of sixty-five counties in Ohio.
CORSA was formed as an Ohio non-profit corporation for the purpose of establishing the CORSA
Insurance/Self-Insurance Program, a group primary and excess insurance/self-insurance and risk management
program. Member counties agree to jointly participate in coverage of losses and pay all contributions
necessary for the specified insurance coverage provided by CORSA. This coverage includes comprehensive
general liability, automobile liability, certain property insurance and public officials’ errors and omissions liability
insurance.

Each member county has one vote on all matters requiring a vote, to be cast by a designated representative.
An elected board of not more than nine trustees manages the affairs of the Corporation. Only county
commissioners of member counties are eligible to serve on the board. No county may have more than one
representative on the board at any time. Each member county’s control over the budgeting and financing of
CORSA is limited to its voting authority and any representation it may have on the board of trustees. CORSA
has issued certificates of participation in order to provide adequate cash reserves. The certificates are secured
by the member counties’ obligations to make coverage payments to CORSA. The participating counties have
no responsibility for the payment of certificates. The County’s payment for insurance to CORSA in 2022 was
$649,349.
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JEFFERSON HEALTH PLAN

The Butler County Board of Development Disabilities (BCBDD) participated in the Jefferson Health Plan
during 2022. Jefferson Health Plan was first established in 1985 to provide to serve public entities in Ohio and
afford them an opportunity to share in the benefits of better health care through a consortium. The Jefferson
Health Plan is organized and operates as a Council of Governments under Ohio Revised Code Chapter
167 with membership open to political subdivisions within and outside of the State of Ohio.

BCBDD provides health insurance to its employees through a self-insurance plan. BCBDD pays $637.56 per
month for employees enrolled in a single plan and $1,763.14 per month for employees enrolled in a family plan,
with the employees paying $78.80 per month for single coverage, and $217.92 per month for family coverage.

REGIONAL TRANSIT AUTHORITY (RTA)

The Regional Transit Authority (RTA) is a related organization to the County. The County Commissioners are
responsible for appointing the board of directors of the RTA; however, the County Commissioners cannot
influence the RTA’s operations, nor does the RTA represent a potential financial benefit or burden to the
County. Once the RTA determines to present a levy to the voters, including the determination of the rate and
duration, the County must place the levy on the ballet. The RTA may issue debt and determine its own budget.
Financial information for the RTA may be obtained at 3045 Moser Ct. Hamilton, OH 45011.

METROPARKS OF BUTLER COUNTY

The Park District Commissioners are appointed by the Probate Judge of the County. The Commissioners
adopt their own budget, authorize expenditures, hire and fire staff, and do not rely on the County to finance
deficits. Metroparks provides educational programs along with recreational opportunities throughout the year.
The County is not financially accountable for the District nor is the District fiscally dependent on the County.
The District serves as its own taxing and debt issuance authority and is a related organization of the County.
Metroparks of Butler County is a related organization. Financial information for the Metroparks of Butler County
may be obtained at 2051 Timberman Road, Hamilton, OH 45013.

TWELFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEALS

The State of Ohio is divided into twelve district courts of appeals. The twelfth district includes the counties of
Brown, Clermont, Butler, Warren, Clinton, Fayette, Madison, and Preble. The district court is a separate entity
from the County. The three judges who are responsible for the court system are elected in the general election
by the populous of the above listed counties. The court system sets its own budget and appoints staff
necessary for operations of the court. The County contributed $350,759 to the court of appeals in 2022.

NOTE 20— CONSTRUCTION AND OTHER SIGNIFICANT COMMITMENTS

Encumbrances

Encumbrances are commitments related to unperformed contracts for goods and services. Encumbrances
accounting is utilized to the extent necessary to assure effective budgetary control and accountability and to
facilitate effective cash planning and control. At year end, the amount of encumbrances expected to be
honored upon performance by the vendor in the next fiscal year were as follows:
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Governmental Funds:

General $ 9,561,689
Mental Health and Addiction Recovery Senvices Board 1,311,754
Developmental Disabilities 862,643
Job and Family Senvices/Children Services Agency 2,677,389
Residential Incentive Districts and Tax Incremental Financings 2,564,571
County ARPA Relief Fund 594,762
Nonmajor Governmental Funds 7,965,307
Total Governmental Funds $ 25,538,115

Proprietary Funds:

Sewer $ 3,009,177
Water 2,181,955
Total Proprietary Funds $ 5,191,132

The County has several outstanding contracts for construction and professional services. The following
amounts remain on these contracts as of December 31, 2022.

Contractor Outstanding Balance

Sunesis Construction Co $ 4,417,787
Ford Development 4,171,760
John R Jurgensen Co 754,888
Parkson 722,319
NR Lee Restoration 633,600
Eagle Bridge Co 449,143
Debra-Kuempel 373,715
Total $ 11,523,212

NOTE 21 — TAX ABATEMENTS

For 2022, County property taxes were reduced by $807,327 under community reinvestment areas
and enterprise tax zone exemption agreements entered into by various municipalities as summarized below.

Amount of 2022

Ovwerlapping Government Taxes Abated
Community Reinvestment Areas:
City of Fairfield $296,415
City of Hamilton 12,608
City of Monroe 300,870
Total Community Reinvestment Areas 609,893

Enterprise Zone Exemptions:

City of Hamilton 191,223
City of Middletown 6,211
Total Enterprise Zone Expemtions 197,434
Total Abatements $807,327
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NOTE 22 — ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS(ARO)

Ohio Revised Code Section 6111.44 requires the County to submit any changes to their sewerage system to
the Ohio EPA for approval. Through this review process, the County would be responsible to address any
public safety issues associated with their waste water treatment facilities. Any ARO associated with these
public safety issues are not reasonably estimable. Currently, there is significant uncertainty as to what public
safety items would need addressed; therefore, a reliable estimated amount could not be determined.

NOTE 23 — COVID-19

The United States and the State of Ohio declared a state of emergency in March of 2020 due to the COVID-19
pandemic. Ohio’s state of emergency ended in June 2021 while the national state of emergency ended in April
2023. During 2022, the County received COVID-19 funding. The County will continue to spend available
COVID-19 funding consistent with the applicable program guidelines.

The 2022 activity includes, $12,595,526 of County American Rescue Plan funding that was subgranted to
various organizations for projects. A few of the significant projects are workforce development with Miami
University, Middletown revitalization of the Paperboard site and various community center renovations in Butler
County. In addition, the County received funding for emergency rental assistance from the federal government
and was able to provide housing support in the amount of $4,619,817 to Butler County residents during 2022.

NOTE 24- BUTLER COUNTY LAND REUTILIZATION CORPORATION

Reporting Entity
The Butler County Land Reutilization Corporation (the “Corporation”) is a county land reutilization corporation

that was formed on June 15, 2012, when the Butler County Board of Commissioners authorized the
incorporation of the Corporation under Chapter 1724 of the Ohio Revised Code through resolution as a not-for-
profit corporation under the laws of the State of Ohio. The Corporation is a component unit of Butler County.
The purpose of the Corporation is to strengthen neighborhoods in Butler County (the “County”) by returning
vacant and abandoned properties to productive use. The Corporation has been designated as the County’s
agent to further its mission to reclaim, rehabilitate, and reutilize vacant, abandoned, tax foreclosed and other
real property in the County by exercising the powers of the County under Chapter 5722 of the Ohio Revised
Code.

Pursuant to Section 1724.03 (B) of the Ohio Revised Code, the Board of Directors of the Corporation shall be
composed of at least seven members including, (1) the County Treasurer, (2) at least two members of the
County Board of Commissioners, (3) one member who is a representative of the largest municipal corporation,
based on the population according to the most recent federal decennial census, that is located in the County,
(4) one member who is a representative of a township with a population of at least ten thousand in the
unincorporated area of the township according to the most recent federal decennial census, and (5) any
remaining members selected by the County Treasurer and the County Commissioners who are members of the
Corporation board. The term of office of each exofficio director runs concurrently with the term of office of that
elected official. The term of office of each appointed director is two years.

Basis of Accounting

The basic financial statements of the Corporation have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) as applied to governmental units. GASB is the
accepted standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles.
The more significant of the Land Reutilizations’ accounting policies are described below:

The general fund accounts for all financial resources that are received from the County Treasurer from
penalties collected on delinquent property taxes and interest on those delinquencies. The general fund
receives 1 percent of all collections of delinquent real property, personal property, and manufactured and
mobile home taxes that are deposited into the County’s Delinquent Tax Assessment and Collection Tax
(DTACT) fund. The general fund also receives various other grants, primarily the NIP Grant. The general fund
balance is available to the Corporation for any purpose provided it is expended or transferred according to the
general laws of Ohio. In addition, the fund receives State grant revenues.
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Measurement Focus

The government-wide financial statements are prepared using a flow of economic resources measurement
focus. All assets, all deferred outflows of resources, all liabilities and all deferred inflows of resources
associated with the operation of the Corporation are included on the statement of net position. The statement of
activities presents increases (i.e., revenues) and decreases (i.e., expenses) in total net position.

The fund financial statements for the general fund is accounted for using a flow of current financial resources
measurement focus. With this measurement focus, only current assets, current deferred outflows of resources,
current liabilities and current deferred inflows of resources generally are included on the balance sheet. The
statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balance reports on the sources (i.e., revenues and
other financing sources) and uses (i.e., expenditures and other financing uses) of current financial resources.
This approach differs from the manner in which the governmental activities of the government-wide financial
statements are prepared. Governmental fund financial statements therefore include a reconciliation with brief
explanation to better identify the relationship between the government-wide statements and the statements for
the general fund.

Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources

In addition to assets, the government-wide statement of net assets will report a separate section for deferred
outflows of resources. Deferred outflows of resources, represents a consumption of net position that applies to
a future period and will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/expenditure) until then. There
were no deferred outflows of resources at December 31, 2022.

In addition to liabilities, both the government-wide statement of net asets and the governmental fund financial
statements report a separate section for deferred inflows of resources. Deferred inflows of resources represent
an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period and will not be recognized as an inflow of resources
(revenue) until that time. For the Corporation, deferred inflows of resources include unavailable revenue.
Unavailable revenue is reported only on the governmental funds balance sheet, and represents receivables
which will not be collected within the available period.

Expenses/Expenditures

On the accrual basis of accounting, expenses are recognized at the time they are incurred. The measurement
focus of governmental fund accounting is on decreases in net financial resources (expenditures) rather than
expenses. Expenditures are generally recognized in the accounting period in which the related fund liability is
incurred, if measurable. Allocations of cost, such as depreciation and amortization, are not recognized in
governmental funds.

Budgetary Process

The Corporation is not bound by the budgetary laws prescribed by the Ohio Revised Code for purely
governmental entities. The Board of Directors of the Corporation adopts an annual budget prior to the
beginning of the fiscal year. Appropriations and subsequent amendments are approved by the Board of
Directors during the year as required.

Federal Income Tax
The Corporation is exempt from federal income tax under Section 115(1) of the Internal Revenue
Code.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
All monies received by the Corporation are deposited in a demand deposit account. The Corporation had no
investments during the year or at the end of the year.

Prepayments
Certain payments to vendors reflect the costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded as

prepaid items in both government-wide and fund financial statements. These items are reported as assets on
the balance sheet using the consumption method. A current asset for the prepaid amounts is recorded at the
time of the purchase and the expenditure/expense is reported in the year in which services are consumed. At
year end, because prepayments are not available to finance future governmental fund expenditures, a
nonspendable fund balance is recorded by an amount equal to the carrying value of the asset on the fund
financial statements.
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Assets Held for Resale

Assets held for resale represent properties purchased by or donated to the Corporation. These properties are
valued based upon the purchase price plus any costs of maintenance, rehabilitation, or demolition of homes on
the properties. For donated or forfeited properties, the asset is reported at fair value. The Corporation holds
the properties until the home is either sold to a new homeowner, sold to an individual who will rehabilitate the
home, or the home on the property is demolished. Properties with demolished homes could be transferred to
the city or township they are in after demolition, until those parcels may be merged with adjacent parcels for
development or green space projects, or the Corporation may sell other lots to the owners of adjacent parcels
for a nominal cost.

Accrued Liabilities and Long-Term Obligations

All payables, accrued liabilities and long-term obligations are reported in the government-wide financial
statements. Governmental fund payables and accrued liabilities that, once incurred, are paid in a timely manner
and in full from current financial resources are reported as obligations of the fund.

Net Position

Net position represents the difference between assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities and deferred
inflows of resources. Net position is reported as restricted when there are limitations imposed on their use
either through the enabling legislation or through external restrictions imposed by creditors, grantors, or laws or
regulations of other governments. The Corporation had restricted net position at December 31, 2022.

Intergovernmental Revenue

The Corporation receives operating income through Butler County. This money represents the penalties and
interest on current unpaid and delinquent property taxes once these taxes are paid. Pursuant to ORC 321.263,
these penalty and interest monies are collected by the County when taxes are paid and then are paid to the
Corporation upon the Corporation’s written request. In addition, the Corporation receives State grant funding.

Estimates

The preparation of the basic financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the basic financial statements and
accompanying notes. Actual results may differ from those estimates.

Deposits and Investments

At December 31, 2022, the carrying amount of all Corporation deposits was $1,491,854. Based on the criteria
described in GASB Statement No. 40, “Deposits and Investment Risk Disclosures”, as of December 31, 2022,
$250,000 of the Corporation’s bank balance of $1,592,709 was covered by the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation (FDIC) and the remaining amount was either covered by the Ohio Pooled Collateral System
(OPCS) or exposed to custodial credit risk as described below.

Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of bank failure, the Corporation will not be able to recover
deposits or collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party. The Corporation has no deposit
policy for custodial credit risk beyond the requirements of State statute. Ohio law requires that deposits either
be insured or protected by (1) eligible securities pledged to the Corporation’s and deposited with a qualified
trustee by the financial institution as security for repayment whose fair value at all times shall be at least 105
percent of the deposits being secured, or (2) participation in the Ohio Pooled Collateral System (OPCS), a
collateral pool of eligible securities deposited with a qualified trustee and pledged to the Treasurer of State to
secure the repayment of all public monies deposited in the financial institution. OPCS requires the total market
value of the securities pledged to be 102 percent of the deposits being secured or a rate set by the Treasurer of
State. For 2022, the Corporation’s financial institutions were approved for a reduced collateral rate of 50
percent through the OPCS. Although all statutory requirements for the deposit of money had been followed,
noncompliance with Federal requirements could potentially subject the Corporation to a successful claim by the
FDIC.
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Transactions with Butler County

Pursuant to and in accordance with Section 321.261 (B) of the Ohio Revised Code, the Corporation has been
authorized by the Butler County Board of Commissioners to receive 1 percent of all collections of delinquent
real property, personal property, and manufactured and mobile home taxes that are deposited into the County’s
Delinquent Tax Assessment and Collection Tax (DTACT) fund and will be available for appropriation by the
Corporation to fund operations. At December 31, 2022, the Corporation recognized revenues of $169,360 for
these fees that were collected by the County in 2022. The Corporation also recorded $44,859 in Sheriff sale
money from Butler County.

During 2022, the Corporation paid $35,472 in various costs to various Butler County departments.

NOTE 25- LIBERTY COMMUNITY AUTHORITY

Reporting Entity
The Liberty Community Authority, Butler County, Ohio (the “Authority”) is a community authority created

pursuant to Chapter 349 of the Ohio Revised Code (ORC) and is a component unit of Butler County. Liberty
Center Holdings, LLC (the Developer) filed a petition (the Petition) for creation of the Authority with the Board of
County Commissioners of Butler County, Ohio, and the Petition was accepted by Resolution No. 13-08-03783
of the Board of County Commissioners of Butler County on August 22, 2013. The Petition, which may be
subject to amendment or change, defines the boundaries of the Authority and allows the Authority to finance
the costs of publicly owned and operated improvements and community facilities with Community Development
Charges.

By its Resolution, the Board of County Commissioners of Butler County determined the Authority would be
conducive to the public health, safety, convenience and welfare, and that it was intended to result in the
development of a new community as described in ORC. The Authority thereby was organized as a body
corporate and politic in the State. While the Authority was formed in 2013, no financial activity occurred until the
issuance of bonds in November 2014.

By law, the Authority is governed by a seven-member board of trustees. At inception, the Board of County
Commissioners of Butler County appointed four of the trustees and the remaining three trustees were
appointed by the Developer.

The Authority includes approximately 65 acres of land located in Liberty Township, Butler County, Ohio with a
mixed-use commercial project known as Liberty Center including retail space, office space, hospitality
components and residential units. Liberty Center’s grand opening was in October 2015.

Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting and Basis of Presentation

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America as applied to government units. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board
(GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting
principles. The financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the
accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability
is incurred, regardless of the timing of cash flows.

Operating revenues are those revenues that are generated from the primary activity of the Authority and
consist of both assessed valuation charges and facility charges. Operating expenses consist of administrative
expenses and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not meeting these definitions are
reported as non-operating revenues and expenses.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Authority considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less at the time
they are purchased to be cash and cash equivalents.
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Capital Assets and Depreciation

Capital assets, including parking garages and infrastructure, are recorded at historical cost for assets acquired
or constructed and fair value for contributed infrastructure. Expenses that increase values or extend the useful
life of the respective assets are capitalized while the costs of maintenance and repairs are charged to operating
expenses. Interest costs related to the construction are capitalized. Depreciation is calculated on a straightline
basis over the estimated useful life of the various classes of assets. The useful life for computing depreciation
is 50 years for parking garages and infrastructure.

Bonds Payable and Discounts
Bonds payable are reported net of the unamortized bond discount which is deferred and amortized over the
term of the bonds. Issuance costs are expensed as incurred.

Due to Developer

The amounts reported as Due to Developer as of December 31, 2021 represented administrative and operating
costs funded by the Developer in accordance with the master agreement to be reimbursed by the Authority. In
2022, the terms of the agreement were modified.

Net Position

Net position represents the difference between assets and liabilities. Net investment in capital assets consists
of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, reduced by the outstanding balances of any borrowings
used for the acquisition, construction, or improvement of those assets. Net position is reported as restricted
when there are limitations imposed on their use either through the enabling legislation adopted by the Authority
or through external restrictions imposed by creditors, grantors or laws or regulations of other governments.
The Authority applies restricted resources when an expense is incurred for purposes for which both restricted
and unrestricted net position is available.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results
could differ from those estimates.

Deposits
Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the Authority’s deposits may not be returned to

it. The Authority does not have a custodial risk policy. Ohio law requires that deposits be placed in eligible
banks or savings and loan associations located in Ohio. Any public depository in which the Authority places
deposits must pledge as collateral eligible securities of aggregate fair value equal to the excess of deposits not
insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC). Financial institutions participating in the Ohio
Pooled Collateral System (OPCS), a centralized collateral system monitored by the Ohio Treasurer of State,
must pledge eligible securities equal to at least 102 percent of the carrying value of all public deposits held by
each institution. Financial institutions choosing not to participate in the OPCS must pledge eligible securities
equal to at least 105 percent of the carrying value of the all public deposits held by each institution. Obligations
that may be pledged as collateral are limited to obligations of the United States and its agencies and
obligations of any state, county, municipal corporation or other legally constituted authority of any other state,
or any instrumentality of such county, municipal corporation or other authority. Collateral is held by trustees
including the Federal Reserve Bank and designated third party trustees of the financial institutions.

As of December 31, 2022, the carrying amount and bank balance of the Authority's deposits was $7,663.
These balances were covered by the FDIC.

Cash Equivalents

As of December 31, 2022, the Authority also had $59,557 in a US Treasury Money Market account. In addition,
the Authority had cash on deposit with US Bank (Trustee) in accordance with the Authority’s Master Trust
Agreement with the Trustee. The amount on deposit with the Trustee at December 31, 2022 was $595,958 and
consists of a US Treasury money market fund. This account is reported as restricted cash with fiscal agent on
the Statement of Net Position
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Community Development Charges

The Authority can levy community development charges, as defined, for the benefit and use of the Authority to
cover all or part of land acquisitions, development, construction, operation and maintenance of land, land
development and community facilities, the debt service therefor and any other cost incurred by the Authority.
The Authority levies both an Assessed Valuation Charge and Facilities Charge.

Assessed Valuation Charge

The Assessed Valuation Charge is an annual charge on each chargeable parcel of land within the Authority
based on the Assessed Valuation of each parcel which may be expressed as a number of mills. In 2022 the
Assessed Valuation Charge was the full 10 mills on the total Assessed Valuation. In 2022, the Authority also
assessed a Core Retail Valuation Charge of 2.75 mills.

Facility Charge
The Authority has levied a Facility Charge upon all retail sales conducted within the Authority of one half one

percent (0.5%) of the price paid by each consumer in connection with such retail sales. The Facility Charge is
collected by tenants from consumers and remitted on a monthly basis.

Restricted Assets
Restricted assets consist of cash with fiscal agent whose use has been restricted by bond indenture for a debt
service reserve. Restricted assets at December 31, 2022 were $595,958

Capital Assets
Capital Assets Activity for the year ended December 31, 2022 was as follows:

Balance Balance
1/1/22 Increases Decreases 12/31/2022

Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land $ 2,333,662 $ - $ - $ 2,333,662
Capital assets being depreciated:
Parking garages 27,025,015 - - 27,025,015
Infrastructure 13,871,256 - - 13,871,256
Total Capital Assets Not Depreciated 40,896,271 - - 40,896,271
Less accumulated depreciation:
Parking garages (3,378,125) (540,500) - (3,918,625)
Infrastructure (1,733,906) (277,425) - (2,011,331)
Total accumulated depreciation (5,112,031) (817,925) - (5,929,956)
Capital assets, net $ 38,117,902 $ (817,925) $ - $ 37,299,977

LONG-TERM DEBT

In November 2014, the Authority entered into a funding agreement with the Butler County Port Authority for the
issuance of public infrastructure revenue bonds in the amount of $20,180,000 for the primary purpose of
financing the cost of construction of parking garages and water, sewer and storm water system improvements.
The proceeds were also used to fund capitalized interest on the bonds through the June 1, 2016 payment date,
fund a debt service reserve and pay costs of issuance. The bonds were issued at discount and pay interest at
rates ranging from 5% to 6% and fully mature on December 1, 2043.

The bond issuance was a portion of a partnership with Butler County and Liberty Township for the construction
of public parking garages and infrastructure for the Liberty Center project. The constructed assets belong to the
Authority. The parties entered into a funding agreement and issued in bonds for capital financing though the
Butler County Port Authority. The bonds will be paid solely from the pledged amounts identified in the funding
agreement and the Port Authority shall never be required to use its own funds to make such payments.
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In April 2022, the Authority entered into a new funding agreement with the Butler County Port Authority for the
issuance of public infrastructure refunding revenue bonds in the amount of $19,350,000 for the primary
purpose of refunding the 2014 bonds. The bonds were issued at discount and pay interest at 5.5% and fully
mature on December 1, 2053.

The new funding agreement also included an obligation for an accumulated County enhancement due to the
County from the Authority equal to $975,000, representing an amount due to the County from the 2014 bonds.
Further, it also includes an annual amount of $195,000 due to the County for the enhancement gained by the
County’s participation in the financing of the bonds. These obligations accumulate until paid. As of December
31, 2022, the Authority owes the County $1,170,000 for these obligations.

The Authority has pledged its community development charges, including both Assessed Valuation Charges
and Facility Charges, for the payment of principal and interest on the bonds.

Also in November 2014, the Authority entered into a loan with the Ohio Water Development Authority (OWDA)
in the amount of $12,000,000 to finance the construction of a storm water collection system throughout the
Liberty Center site. The loan was modified in 2022 to reduce the interest rate to 1.5% and extend the final due
an additional ten years to January 1, 2048. This reduced the Authority’s annual payments from $783,168 to
$478,743.

Debt activity for the year ended December 31, 2022 was as follows:

Balance Balance Due Within
1/1/22 Additions Reductions 12/31/22 One Year
2022 Refunding Bonds $ - $ 19,350,000 $ (545,000) $ 18,805,000 $ 295,000
2014 Revenue Bonds 18,220,000 - (18,220,000) - -
Less deferred amount
for issuance discounts (344,452) (482,783) 359,539 (467,696) -
Total Revenue Bonds 17,875,548 18,867,217 (18,405,461) 18,337,304 295,000
OWDA Loan 10,275,651 - (325,826) 9,949,825 164,748
Development
Subordinate Bond 3,547,230 117,644 - 3,664,874 -
Total Long Term Obligations $ 31698429 $ 18,984,861 $ (18,731,287) $ 31,952,003 $ 459,748

In accordance with the Construction Services Agreement between the Authority and the Developer for the
construction of community facilities by the Developer, the Authority agreed to issue notes or bonds to the
Developer to evidence the Authority’s obligation to reimburse the Developer for public infrastructure costs
funded by the Developer. The Developer incurred additional development costs that were included in the Public
Infrastructure Scope that exceeded the amounts paid for by the Bond Issuance and the OWDA loan that could
be reimbursable to the Developer after all other obligations are fulfilled per the Funding and Trust Agreements.
In 2016, the Developer submitted cost certificates to the Authority which were approved by the Board for
reimbursement of costs. Thus, in November 2016, the Authority issued a Development Subordinate Bond
payable to the Developer in the principal amount of $2,941,091. In 2022 there was $117,644 in capitalized
interest on the bond.

The bond matures 40 years from the date of issuance in 2056 and bears interest at a rate of 4% per year.
Principal and interest payments shall be payable on each February 1 and August 1 until the principal has been
paid provided that interest and principal shall be payable only to the extent of available pledges revenues after
the payment of revenue bonds, OWDA loan and operating costs. Thus, no specific repayment schedule is
provided.

Under funding agreements, Butler County has pledged tax increment financing (TIF) revenues in the event the
assessed valuation and facility charges are insufficient to pay debt service on the revenue bonds or OWDA
loan. During 2022, Butler County provided $239,480 in TIF revenues to use toward OWDA loan debt service
and $19,368 in TIF revenues to pay towards the revenue bonds debt service and fees. A liability for these
amounts has been recorded on the statements of net position as Due to the County prior to 2022.In 2022,
these amounts have been reported as intergovernmental revenue due to the new funding agreement.
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A summary of the annual debt service requirements for the bonds payable as of December 31, 2022 follows:

Principal Interest Total
2023 $ 295,000 $ 861,695 $ 1,156,695
2024 305,000 848,010 1,153,010
2025 320,000 833,750 1,153,750
2026 340,000 818,800 1,158,800
2027 355,000 803,045 1,158,045
2028-2032 2,035,000 3,751,875 5,786,875
2033-2037 2,375,000 3,438,382 5,813,382
2038-2042 3,020,000 2,812,845 5,832,845
2043-2047 3,755,000 2,095,762 5,850,762
2048-2052 4,870,000 1,014,244 5,884,244
2053 1,135,000 44,160 1,179,160
Total $ 18,805,000 $ 17,322,568 $ 36,127,568

Annual debt senvice on the OWDA Loans as of December 31, 2022 follows:

Principal Interest Total
2023 $ 164,748 $ 74,624 $ 239,372
2024 333,211 145,531 478,742
2025 338,229 140,514 478,743
2026 343,221 135,422 478,643
2027 348,490 130,253 478,743
2028-2032 1,822,753 570,962 2,393,715
2033-2037 1,964,167 429,548 2,393,715
2038-2042 2,116,552 277,162 2,393,714
2043-2047 2,280,465 112,955 2,393,420
2048 237,989 1,782 239,771
Total $ 9,949,825 $ 2,018,753 $ 11,968,578

Related Party Transactions

Under an agreement with the Authority, the Developer was responsible for overseeing the construction and
development of the public infrastructure projects. In addition, the Developer will fulfill certain administrative and
operational functions for the Authority on an ongoing basis. The Developer has paid operating costs on behalf
of the Authority for which it is eligible for reimbursement. However, the agreement also allowed for additional
reimbursements to the Developer after debt obligations were paid if surplus revenues exist. Prior to 2022, the
Authority reported amounts due to the Developer for operating costs incurred on its behalf by the Developer.

However, the new funding agreement in 2022 changed the reimbursement of operating and maintenance costs
to the Developer. The agreement outlines an amount each year which is eligible for reimbursement if adequate
resources are available after the payment of debt service. For 2022, eligible reimbursements were
approximately $239,000 but no payments were made due to a lack of available resources. These obligations
do not accumulate under the new agreement so operating and maintenance expenses unreimbursed each year
are no longer payable. All accumulated amounts for years prior to 2022 are no longer obligations of the
Authority and were recorded as forgiveness at the time of the new agreement.

During 2022, the Authority made no payments to the Developer in accordance with these agreements.

By law, the Authority is governed by a seven-member board of trustees. At inception, the Board of County
Commissioners of Butler County appointed four of the trustees and the remaining three trustees were
appointed by the Developer. The trustees appointed by the Developer are employees of a related party to the
Developer. During 2019, the three trustees of the Developer were replaced by three trustees from the current
property manager.
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Risk Management

The Authority is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts and liability, damage to and theft of or
destruction of assets; errors and omissions; and natural disasters. The Authority maintains comprehensive
insurance coverage with private carriers for property and general liability insurance. Claim payments have not
exceeded coverage in the past three years. There was no decline in the level of coverage from the prior year.

Contingent Liabilities
There are no claims and lawsuits pending against the Authority.

NOTE 26- BUTLER COUNTY PORT AUTHORITY

Reporting Entity
The Butler County Port Authority (the “Port Authority”) is a body corporate and politic established to exercise

the rights and privileges conveyed to it by the constitution and laws of the State of Ohio. The Port Authority was
established in September 2004 pursuant to section 4582.22 of the Ohio Revised Code by resolution of Butler
County. The seven voting member Board of Directors directs the Port Authority. The Port Authority is a
component unit of Butler County.

The Port Authority provides services that are enumerated in Sections 4582.21 to 4582.29 of the Ohio Revised
Code. The services include but are not limited to the power to purchase, construct, reconstruct, enlarge,
improve, equip, develop, sell, exchange, lease, convey other interest in, and operate Port Authority facilities.

Basis of Presentation

Enterprise accounting is used to account for operations that are financed and operated in a manner similar to
private business enterprises where the intent is that the costs (expenses, including depreciation) of providing
goods or services to the general public on a continuing basis be financed or recovered primarily through user
charges or where it has been decided that periodic determination of revenues earned, expenses incurred,
and/or net income is appropriate for capital maintenance, public policy, management control, accountability or
other purposes.

Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting

The accounting and financial reporting treatment applied to a fund is determined by its measurement focus.
Enterprise accounting uses a flow of economic resources measurement focus. With this measurement focus,
all asset and all liabilities are included on the statement of net position. Equity (i.e., net position) consists of
retained earnings. The operating statement presents increases (e.g., revenues) and decreases (e.g.,
expenses) in total net position. Basis of accounting refers to when revenues and expenses are recognized in
the accounts and reported in the financial statements. Basis of accounting relates to the timing of the
measurements made. The accrual basis of accounting is utilized for reporting purposes. Revenues are
recognized when they are earned, and expenses are recognized when they are incurred.

Budgetary Data
Ohio Revised Code Section 4582.39 requires the port authority to annually prepare a budget.Ohio Revised

Code Section 5705(B)(2)(a) requires the Port Authority, on or before the fifteenth day of July each year, to
adopt an operating budget for the ensuing fiscal year. The operating budget should include an estimate of
receipts from all sources, a statement of all taxing unit expenses that are anticipated to occur, and the amount
required for debt charges during the fiscal year. The operating budget is not required to be filed with the county
auditor or the county budget commission. Ohio Revised Code Section 5705(B)(2)(b) requires the Port Authority
to certify beginning balances on or about the first day of each fiscal year; certify revenue available for
appropriation; adopt appropriations within available resources; certify the availability of funds prior to incurring
obligations; and, limit expenditures to appropriations for each fund. However, documents prepared in
accordance with such Sections are not required to be filed with the county auditor or county budget
commission.

Deposits and Investments

In accordance with state statute, active deposits are designated as public deposits necessary to meet current
demands on the treasury. Such monies must be maintained either as cash in the Port Authority Treasury, in
commercial accounts payable or withdrawable on demand, including negotiable order of withdrawal (NOW)
accounts, or in money market deposit accounts.
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Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of bank failure, the Port Authority will not be able to recover
deposits or collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party. Although all statutory
requirements for the deposit of money have been followed, noncompliance with Federal requirements could
potentially subject the Port Authority to a successful claim by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation.

The Port Authority has no deposit policy for custodial risk beyond the requirements of State statute. Ohio law
requires that deposits be either insured or be protected by:

o Eligible securities pledged to the Port Authority and deposited with a qualified trustee by the financial
institution as security for repayment whose market value at all times shall be at least one hundred five
percent of the deposits being secured;

Or

e Participation in the Ohio Pooled Collateral System (OPCS), a collateral pool of eligible securities
deposited with a qualified trustee and pledged to the Treasurer of State to secure the repayment of all
public monies deposited in the financial institution. OPCS requires the total market value of the
securities pledged to be 102 percent of the deposits being secured or a rate set by the Treasurer of
State.

At year-end, the carrying amount of the Port Authority's deposits was $64,470 and the bank balance was
$65,535. Federal depository insurance covered $65,535 of the bank balance.

As of December 31, 2022, the Port Authority had investments in STAR Ohio totaling $3,647,395.

The Port Authority has no investment policy dealing with investment credit risk beyond the requirements in
state statutes. STAR Ohio carries a rating of AAAm by Standard and Poor’s. Ohio law requires that STAR Ohio
maintain the highest rating provided by at least one nationally recognized standard rating service.

Operating and Non-Operating Revenues and Expenses

Operating revenues are those revenues that are generated directly by the Port Authority’s primary mission. For
the Port Authority, operating revenues include intergovernmental contributions to fund operations and local
business contributions to work on grant applications, as well as administrative fees charged to cover operating
expenses. Operating expenses are necessary costs incurred to support the Port Authority’s primary mission.
Non-operating revenues and expenses are those that are not generated directly by the Port Authority’s primary
mission. Various state grants, local government contributions, interest income and expenses comprise the non-
operating revenues and expenses of the Port Authority.

Accrued Liabilities
In general, payables and accrued liabilities are reported as obligations regardless of whether they will be
liquidated with current resources.

Net Position

Net position represents the difference between assets and liabilities. Net position is reported as restricted when
there are limitations imposed on its use through external restrictions imposed by creditors, grantors or laws or
regulations of other governments. The Port Authority applies restricted resources first when an expense is
incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted net position is available.

Long-Term Obligations

Bonds Payable
Changes in the Port Authority’s long-term liabilities for the year ended December 31, 2022, were as follows:

(Restated) Due Within
Beginning Balance Deletions Ending Balance One Year
Bonds Payable - 3% to 6% $ 18,220,000 $ (430,000) $ 17,790,000 $ 455,000

The bonds payable were issued in 2014 for the purposes of acquiring and constructing certain public
infrastructure improvements, in relation to the Liberty Center Project.
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The Port Authority has an intergovernmental agreement with the Butler County Board of County
Commissioners that provides for the County to make the semi-annual payments to the debt service trustee in
the exact amounts of the debt service that is due. While the Port Authority was the issuer on these bonds,
Butler County is the third-party obligor on the bonds, and Butler County is also part of the same reporting unit
as the Port Authority since the Port Authority is a component unit of Butler County. Accordingly, at December
31, 2022, the Port Authority recorded the above debt as an obligation (as opposed to conduit debt) and
recorded an offsetting intergovernmental receivable from Butler County for the amount of the outstanding
bonds payable.

Principal and interest requirements to retire the bonds payable, as of December 31, 2022, are as follows:

Bonds Payable

Year Principal Interest Total
2023 $ 455,000 $ 1,041,663 $ 1,496,663
2024 475,000 1,018,912 1,493,912
2025 500,000 995,163 1,495,163
2026 530,000 966,412 1,496,412
2027 560,000 935,938 1,495,938
2028-2032 3,350,000 4,155,575 7,505,575
2033-2037 4,470,000 3,064,312 7,534,312
2038-2042 6,015,000 1,555,800 7,570,800
2043 1,435,000 86,100 1,521,100
Total $ 17,790,000 $ 13,819,875 $31,609,875

Conduit Debt

One of the Port Authority’s main functions is to provide Butler County companies and organizations with the
ability to issue debt at a tax-exempt rate. These companies may use the Port Authority’s tax-exempt status for
such offerings by issuing conduit debt obligations, backed by reimbursement agreements with the Port
Authority and trustee.

A conduit debt obligation is debt issued in the name of the issuer (the Port Authority) benefiting a third party
that is liable for repayment of the debt, also known as a third-party obligor. The Port Authority, as issuer, has
not made any commitments in connection with these conduit debt obligations that would require reporting an
obligation under GASB 91. As such, the aggregate amount of conduit debt obligations outstanding at
December 31, 2022, is disclosed below and is not being recorded in the Port Authority’s financial statements.

The total amount of conduit debt outstanding at December 31, 2022, with the Port Authority as issuer,
was approximately $231 million.

NOTE 27- BUTLER COUNTY CONVENTION AND VISITORS BUREAU

Reporting Entity
The Butler County Convention and Visitors Bureau (the "CVB") was organized in 2007 for the purpose of

spotlighting Butler County as a unique travel and tourism destination through target marketing, sales and
development efforts. The CVB also promotes the community as a successful meeting, conference, convention
and event destination. All levels of sporting events, statewide and nationwide, are actively solicited and secured
by the CVB. The CVB'’s financial support is mainly derived from Butler County through revenues collected from
the hotel/motel room tax.

Basis of Accounting
The financial statements of the CVB have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting and accordingly,
reflect all significant receivables, payables and other liabilities.
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Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported amounts and related disclosures.
Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable represent amounts due for hotel/motel room tax collected, but not yet remitted to the CVB.
The CVB uses the allowance method of accounting for doubtful accounts. All accounts were considered to be
fully collectible at December 31, 2022. Therefore, no allowance for doubtful accounts has been recorded in
these financial statements.

Property & Equipment

Property and equipment are valued at cost if purchased and fair value if contributed. Property and equipment
over $500 are capitalized. Depreciation is computed using the modified accelerated cost recovery system
(MACRS) based upon the estimated useful lives of the assets. Computer equipment, computer software and
office equipment are generally depreciated over 3 to 7 years. Depreciation expense for the year ended
December 31, 2022 was $331.

Refundable Advance
Refundable advance represents grants received from Butler County, Ohio but not yet spent on qualifying
expenses which triggers the recognition of revenue.

Net Asset Classifications

Net assets are classified as without donor restrictions and with donor restrictions.

Net assets without donor restrictions: Net assets that are not subject to donor-imposed restrictions and may be
expended for any purpose in performing the primary objectives of the organization. These net assets may be
used at the discretion of the CVB's management and the Board of Directors.

Net assets with donor restrictions: Net assets subject to stipulations imposed by donors and grantors. Some
donor restrictions are temporary in nature; those restrictions will be met by the actions of the CVB or by the
passage of time. Other donor restrictions are perpetual in nature, whereby the donor has stipulated the funds
be maintained in perpetuity. The CVB has no net assets with donor restrictions as of December 31, 2022.

Contributions and Promises to Give

Unconditional promises to give are recognized as revenue when the underlying promises are received.
Conditional promises to give are recognized when the conditions on which they depend are substantially met.
Contributions received are recorded as net assets without donor restrictions or net assets with donor
restrictions; depending on the existence and/or nature of any donor-imposed restrictions. Donor-restricted
contributions whose restrictions are met within the same year as received are reported as contributions without
donor restriction. All other donor restricted contributions are reported as an increase in net assets with donor
restrictions, depending on the nature of the restriction. When a restriction expires (that is, when a stipulated
time restriction ends or purpose restriction is accomplished), net assets with donor restrictions are reclassified
to net assets without donor restrictions and reported in the statement of activities as net assets released from
restrictions.

Revenue Recognition
Management has evaluated Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (Topic 606). The CVB has no revenue streams during 2022 covered under Topic 606.

Leases

The CVB leases certain office space. The determination of whether an arrangement is a lease is made at the
lease’s inception. Under Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 842, a contract is (or contains) a lease if it
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
Control is defined under the standard as having both the right to obtain substantially all of the economic
benefits from the use of the asset and right to direct use of the asset. Management only reassesses its
determination if the terms and conditions of the contracts are changed.
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If the CVB did have operating leases with lease terms exceeding 12 months, the CVB would record Right-of-
use (ROU) assets to represent the CVB'’s right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and would also
record lease liabilities to represent the CVB'’s obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease.

Income Taxes
The CVB is exempt from Federal income taxes under the provisions of the Internal Revenue Code 501(c)(6).

Advertising Costs
Advertising Costs are expensed as incurred and amounted to $376,288 for the year ended December 31,
2022.

Accounting Principal Adopted

In February 2016, the Financial Accounting Standard Board (FASB) issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842),
which supersedes existing guidance for accounting for leases under Topic 840, Leases. The FASB also
subsequently issued the following additional ASUs, which amended and clarify Topic 842: ASU 2018-01, Land
Easement Practical Expedient for Transition to Topic 842; AUS 2018-10, Codification Improvements to Topic
842, Leases; ASU 2018-20, Narrow-scope Improvements for Lessors; and ASU 2019-01, Leases (Topic 842):
Cadification Improvements. The most significant changes in new leasing guidance is the requirements to
recognize right-of-use (ROU) assets and lease liabilities for operating leases on the balance sheet. The CVB
adopted this ASU on January 01, 2022. The adoption did not have a material impact on the CVB'’s statement of
financial position or on the statement of activities, as of the CVB’s operating leases are less than 12 months.

Restatement Note
The CVB restated prior year numbers to correct previously reported financial statement information.

Net Position December 31,2021 $ 1,126,861
Prepaid Expenses 837
Accounts Payable (4,823)
Accrued Wages (15,945)
Accounts Receivable 1,258

Restated Net Position December 31,2021 $ 1,108,188

Subsequent Events
No Subsequent events as of the June 23, 2022.

Availability and Liquidity
Financial assets available for general expenditure, that is, without donor or other restrictions limiting their use,
within one year of December 31 comprise of the following:

Cash $ 810,553
Accounts Receivable 435,603
$ 1,246,156

Concentration of Credit Risk
The CVB maintains cash balances in banks which are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation.
The CVB’s cash balance at times exceeded the federally insured limits.

The CVB receives a significant amount of revenue from the Butler County hotel and motel excise tax. At
December 31, 2022, 100% of the CVB’s accounts receivable were due from Butler County for the tax.
Approximately 93% of the CVB’s of the CVB’s revenue and other support was provided from Butler County
through revenue collected form the tax.

Leases

The CVB is leasing its facility on a one-year contract that expires November 2023. Rental expense for this
operating lease was $62,424 for the year ended December 31, 2022 and is included with administration
expense on the statement of activities.
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BUTLER COUNTY, OHIO

NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

NOTE 28- CONDENSED COMPONENT UNIT STATEMENTS

Condensed Component Unit Statement of Net Position

Butler County Land Liberty Butler County
Reutilization Community Butler County Convention and
Corporation Authority Port Authority  Visitors Bureau Total
Assets
Equity in Pooled Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 1,491,854 $ 67,220 $ 3,711,865 $ 1,563,844 $ 6,834,783
Cash and Cash Equivalents:

With Fiscal Agents - 595,958 - - 595,958
Assessed Valuation Charges Receivable - 138,529 - - 138,529
Facility Charges Receivable - 99,045 - - 99,045
Accounts Receivable - - 120,769 435,603 556,372
Due from Other Governments 31,644 541,805 - 573,449
Prepaid Items 1,197 - - 13,260 14,457
Receivables from Conduit Debt Recipients - - 17,335,000 - 17,335,000
Assets Held for Resale 35,500 - - - 35,500
Capital Assets:

Nondepreciable Capital Assets - 2,333,662 - - 2,333,662

Depreciable Capital Assets, net - 34,966,315 - - 34,966,315
Total Assets 1,560,195 38,200,729 21,709,439 2,012,707 63,483,070

Deferred Outflow of Resources
Deferred Charge on Debt Refunding - 1,165,711 - - 1,165,711
Liabilities

Accounts Payable 30,020 19,472 625 24,551 74,668
Refundable Advance - - - 753,291 753,291
Accrued Interest Payable - 72,085 86,805 - 158,890
Due To Other Governments - 1,170,000 - - 1,170,000
Long-Term Liabilities:

Due Within One Year - 459,748 455,000 - 914,748

Due In More Than One Year - 31,492,255 17,335,000 - 48,827,255
Total Liabilities 30,020 33,213,560 17,877,430 777,842 51,898,852

Net Position
Net Investment in Capital Assets - 8,912,468 - - 8,912,468
Restricted 394,333 - - - 394,333
Unrestricted 1,135,842 (2,759,588) 3,832,009 1,234,865 3,443,128
Total Net Position $ 1,530,175 $§ 6,152,880 $ 3,832,009 $ 1,234,865 $ 12,749,929
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Condensed Component Unit Statement of Activities

Butler County Land Liberty Butler County
Reutilization Community ~ Butler County Port  Convention and
Corporation Authority Authority Visitors Bureau Total
Expenses: $ 613605 § 2740284 § 1,092,544 § 1778905 § 6,225,338
Program Revenues:
Charges for Services - 1,466,127 529,686 - 1,995,813
Operating Grants, Contributions, and Interest 479,217 258,848 1,061,371 1,905,582 3,705,018
Total Program Revenues 479,217 1,724,975 1,591,057 1,905,582 5,700,831
Net Program Revenue (Expenses) (134,388) (1,015,309) 498,513 126,677 (524,507)
Other General Revenues 364,619 4,596,302 59,335 - 5,020,256
Change in Net Position 230,231 3,580,993 557,848 126,677 4,495,749
Net Position at Beginning of Year (Restated - See note 27) 1,299,944 2,571,887 3,274,161 1,108,188 8,254,180
Net Position at End of Year $ 1530175 § 6,152,880 $§ 3,832,009 $ 1,234,865 § 12,749,929

115



BUTLER COUNTY, OHIO

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

CONDITION ASSESSMENT OF THE COUNTY’S INFRASTRUCTURE
REPORTED USING THE MODIFIED APPROACH AS OUTLINED IN GASB 34
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

Butler County reports its infrastructure assets using the modified approach as outlined in Governmental
Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 34. The following disclosures pertain to the conditional
assessment and budgeted versus actual expenditures for the preservation of these assets. Data for the
conditional assessment is presented in each of the following three sections for 2020, 2017, and 2014.
Beginning with reporting year 2009, the County moved to a three year conditional assessment rotation cycle.

County Roads

The condition of road pavement is evaluated and measured using a physical condition rating system. This
approach assigns a numerical rating to each road, or section thereof, based on the following criteria: age of
pavement, date of last surface maintenance, traffic flow and volume, traffic type and availability of funds. The
physical condition rating is determined by a committee of experts from the County Engineer’s Office based on
the criteria below:

Pavement | Condition
Rating Rating Description

1 Excellent [Pavements not in need of maintenance. New condition. Typically pavements
1-4 years old fall into this category. Older pavements with lower traffic counts
and low truck traffic also fall into this category.

2 Good [Pavement in need of minor maintenance to restore to Excellent condition.
Typically pavements 5-8 years old with high traffic counts or a large
percentage of truck traffic.

3 Fair Pavement in need of major maintenance to restore to Excellent condition.
Typically pavements are 9-15 years old.

4 Poor Pavement in need of major repair or heavy overlays to bring to Excellent
condition. Pavements over 15 years old, or with high traffic volume and/or
high truck traffic could be rated 4.

It is the County policy that at least 90% of the roadways will have a rating of 3 (Fair) or higher. The Butler
County Engineer’s Office has a goal whereby the total mileage of the roadway in the County will be re-paved
on a 17-year rotational basis. Historical data has shown that with yearly inspection and maintenance, the
average road of the County will be maintained at a usable level for a 25-year period. Each roadway in the
County will be assessed once every three years, with higher emphasis on older and more heavily used
pavements.

The following summarizes the physical condition assessment of County roads as of December 31 for 2020,
2017, and 2014:

2020 2017 2014
Road Condition Road Miles | % of Total | Road Miles | % of Total | Road Miles | % of Total
Fair or Better 263 94% 257 95% 254 95%
Less than Fair 16 6% 13 5% 14 5%
Total 279 100% 270 100% 268 100%

The following is a comparison of County budgeted and actual expenditures for preservation of the existing
roadways:

Year Budgeted Expenditures Actual Expenditures Difference
2022 $24,111,565 $20,483,421 $3,628,143
2021 15,467,885 12,759,336 2,708,549
2020 13,745,989 11,385,964 2,360,025
2019 16,618,092 18,705,201 2,087,109
2018 19,731,975 17,765,600 1,966,375
2017 6,241,041 6,241,041 0
2016 3,187,007 3,187,007 0
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County Bridges

The condition of the County’s bridges is determined using a general appraisal and operational status rating
which is a conditional coding system developed by the Federal Highway Administration. This system is
comprised of ratings for the individual elements of the structure. The primary elements of this appraisal system
include the following:

e  bridge decks (riding surface, roadway approaches, end joints, curbing and sidewalks)
e superstructures (side rails, above-road piers and overhead truss)
e substructures (undercarriage, piers, footings, abutments and erosion protection)

The Federal Highway Administration has defined specific criteria for each element of the bridge, based on its
construction. For each element, a 0-9 rating scale is used, where 4 or less is defined as "poor" condition. The
ratings of all elements are combined to summarize the structural condition of a bridge as follows:

Bridge Condition
Rating Rating Description
9 Excellent Superior to present desirable criteria.
8 Very Good Equal to present desirable criteria.
7 Good Better than present minimum criteria.
6 Satisfactory Equal to present minimum criteria.
5 Fair Better than minimum adequacy to tolerate being left in place as is.
4 Poor Meets minimum tolerable condition requiring high priority to repair.
3 Serious Basically intolerable condition requiring high priority to repair.
2 Critical Basically intolerable condition requiring high priority of replacement.
1 Imminent Failure |Immediate repair necessary to put back into service.
0 Closed Bridge closed.

It is the County policy to maintain the bridge system in the County where 85% of the structures have a general
appraisal summary of 5 (Fair) condition or higher. The following is a summary of the conditional assessment
for bridges as of December 31 for 2020, 2017, and 2014:

2020 2017 2014
Number of Number of Number of
Bridge Condition Bridges | % of Total | Bridges | % of Total | Bridges | % of Total
Fair or Better 386 94% 384 94% 368 92%
Less than Fair 23 6% 23 6% 30 8%
Total 409 100% 407 100% 398 100%

The following is a comparison of County budgeted and actual expenditures for preservation of the existing
bridges:

Year Budgeted Expenditures Actual Expenditures Difference

2022 $2,235,719 $1,899,303 $336,416
2021 1,996,301 1,646,733 349,568
2020 3,275,496 2,713,132 562,664
2019 1,978,112 2,226,550 248,438
2018 743,591 684,674 58,917
2017 1,439,933 1,439,933 0
2016 1,973,078 1,973,078 0
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County Culverts

The Butler County Engineer maintains a culvert inventory system. All culverts are inspected every three years
with any critical structure being inspected as needed, as per the Engineer’s internal policy. A committee of
experts from the County Engineer's Office determines the condition rating, and a general appraisal of the
condition is categorized as follows:

Condition
Culvert Rating Rating Description
1 Good No repair required.
2 Fair Minor deficiency, culvert still functioning as designed.
3 Poor Maijor deficiency, culvert in need of repair to continue functioning as designed.
4 Critical Culvert no longer functioning as designed.

It is the goal of the Butler County Engineer to maintain 75% of culverts in a condition of 2-Fair or better. The
following is a summary of the conditional assessment for culverts as of December 31 for 2020, 2017, and 2014:

2020 2017 2014
Number of Number of Number of
Culvert Condition | Culverts | % of Total | Culverts | % of Total | Culverts | % of Total
Fair or Better 843 84% 816 83% 798 78%
Less than Fair 161 16% 166 17% 222 22%
Total 1,004 100% 982 100% 1,020 100%

The following is a comparison of County budgeted and actual expenditures for preservation of the existing

culverts:

Year Budgeted Expenditures Actual Expenditures Difference

2022 $430,035 $365,326 $64,709
2021 282,574 233,093 49,481
2020 1,179,391 976,904 202,487
2019 153,689 172,991 13,302
2018 250,000 152,189 97,811
2017 225,682 225,682 0
2016 108,845 108,845 0
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BUTLER COUNTY, OHIO

NOTES TO THE REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

Changes in Assumptions — OPERS Pension— Traditional Plan

Amounts reported beginning in 2022 incorporate changes in assumptions used by OPERS in calculating the
total pension liability in the latest actuarial valuation. These new assumptions compared with those used in
prior years are presented below:

2022 2019 2018 and 2017 2016 and prior
Wage Inflation 2.75 percent 3.25 percent 3.25 percent 3.75 percent
Future Salary Increases 2.751t0 10.75 percent  3.25t0 10.75 percent  3.25to 10.75 percent 4.25 to 10.05 percent
including including including including
wage inflation wage inflation wage inflation wage inflation
COLA or Ad Hoc COLA:
Pre-January 7, 2013 Retirees 3 percent, simple 3 percent, simple 3 percent, simple 3 percent, simple
Post-January 7, 2013 Retirees see below see below see below see below
Investment Rate of Return 6.9 percent 7.2 percent 7.5 percent 8 percent
Actuarial Cost Method Individual Individual Individual Individual
Entry Age Entry Age Entry Age Entry Age

The assumptions related to COLA or Ad Hoc COLA for Post-January 7, 2013, Retirees are as follows:

COLA or Ad Hoc COLA, Post-January 7, 2013 Retirees:

2022 3.0 percent, simple through 2022
then 2.05 percent, simple
2021 0.5 percent, simple through 2021
then 2.15 percent, simple
2020 1.4 percent, simple through 2020
then 2.15 percent, simple
2017 through 2019 3.0 percent, simple through 2018
then 2.15 percent, simple
2016 and prior 3.0 percent, simple through 2018

then 2.80 percent, simple
5.50 to 5.00 percent

Amounts reported beginning in 2022 use pre-retirement mortality rates based on 130 percent of the Pub-2010
General Employee Mortality tables (males and females) for State and Local Government divisions and 170
percent of the Pub-2010 Safety Employee Mortality tables (males and females) for the Public Safety and Law
Enforcement divisions. Post-retirement mortality rates are based on 115 percent of the PubG-2010 Retiree
Mortality Tables (males and females) for all divisions. Post-retirement mortality rates for disabled retirees are
based on the PubNS-2010 Disabled Retiree Mortality Tables (males and females) for all divisions. For all the
previously described tables, the base year is 2010 and mortality rates for a particular calendar year are
determined by applying the MP-2020 mortality improvement scales (males and females) to all these tables.

Amounts reported beginning in 2017 use pre-retirement mortality rates are based on the RP-2014 Employees
mortality table for males and females, adjusted for mortality improvement back to the observation period base
year of 2006. The base year for males and females was then established to be 2015 and 2010, respectively.
Post-retirement mortality rates are based on the RP-2014 Healthy Annuitant mortality table for males and
females, adjusted for mortality improvement back to the observation period base year of 2006. The base year
for males and females was then established to be 2015 and 2010, respectively. Post-retirement mortality rates
for disabled retirees are based on the RP-2014 Disabled mortality table for males and females, adjusted for
mortality improvement back to the observation period base year of 2006. The base year for males and females
was then established to be 2015 and 2010, respectively. Mortality rates for a particular calendar year are
determined by applying the MP-2015 mortality improvement scale to all of the above described tables.
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BUTLER COUNTY, OHIO

NOTES TO THE REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

Amounts reported for 2016 and prior use mortality rates based on the RP-2000 Mortality Table projected 20
years using Projection Scale AA. For males, 105 percent of the combined healthy male mortality rates were
used. For females, 100 percent of the combined healthy female mortality rates were used. The mortality rates
used in evaluating disability allowances were based on the RP-2000 mortality table with no projections. For
males 120 percent of the disabled female mortality rates were used set forward two years. For females, 100
percent of the disabled female mortality rates were used.

Changes in Assumptions — OPERS Pension — Combined Plan

2022 2019 2018
Wage Inflation 2.75 percent 3.25 percent 3.25 percent
Future Salary Increases 2.75 to 8.25 percent 3.25 to 8.25 percent 3.25 to 8.25 percent
including including including
wage inflation wage inflation wage inflation
COLA or Ad Hoc COLA:
Pre-danuary 7, 2013 Retirees 3 percent, simple 3 percent, simple 3 percent, simple
Post-January 7, 2013 Retirees see below see below see below
Investment Rate of Return 6.9 percent 7.2 percent 7.5 percent
Actuarial Cost Method Individual Individual Individual
Entry Age Entry Age Entry Age

For 2022, 2021, and 2020, the Combined Plan had the same change in COLA or Ad Hoc COLA for Post-
January 2, 2013, retirees as the Traditional Plan.
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BUTLER COUNTY, OHIO

NOTES TO THE REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

Changes in Assumptions — OPERS OPEB

Wage Inflation:
2022
2021 and prior

2.75 percent
3.25 percent

Projected Salary Increases (including wage inflation):

2022
2021 and prior

Investment Return Assumption:

Beginning in 2019

2.75 to 10.75 percent
3.25 to 10.75 percent

6.00 percent

2018 6.50 percent
Municipal Bond Rate:
2022 1.84 percent
2021 2.00 percent
2020 2.75 percent
2019 3.71 percent
2018 3.31 percent
Single Discount Rate:
2022 6.00 percent
2021 6.00 percent
2020 3.16 percent
2019 3.96 percent
2018 3.85 percent
Health Care Cost Trend Rate:
2022 5.5 percent, initial
3.5 percent, ultimate in 2034
2021 8.5 percent, initial
3.5 percent, ultimate in 2035
2020 10.5 percent, initial
3.5 percent, ultimate in 2030
2019 10.0 percent, initial
3.25 percent, ultimate in 2029
2018 7.5 percent, initial

3.25 percent, ultimate in 2028

Changes in Benefit Terms — OPERS OPEB

On January 15, 2020, the Board approved several changes to the health care plan offered to Medicare and
non-Medicare retirees in efforts to decrease costs and increase the solvency of the health care plan. These
changes are effective January 1, 2022, and include changes to base allowances and eligibility for Medicare
retirees, as well as replacing OPERS-sponsored medical plans for non-Medicare retirees with monthly
allowances, similar to the program for Medicare retirees. These changes are reflected in 2021.
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Combining Statements — Non-major Governmental Funds

Non-maijor Special Revenue Funds

Special revenue funds are used to account for the proceeds of specific revenue sources (other than capital
projects) that are legally restricted to expenditures for specified purposes. The following are descriptions of
each non-major special revenue fund:

Real Estate Assessment — To account for restricted State mandated county-wide real estate appraisals that are
funded by charges to the County’s political subdivisions.

All Other Legislative and Executive — To account for restricted state, federal, or local revenue for all other
legislative and executive activities not presented on an individual basis.

All Other Judicial — To account for restricted state, federal, or local revenue for all other judicial activities not
presented on an individual basis.

All Other Public Safety — To account for restricted state, federal, or local revenue for all other Public Safety
activities not presented on an individual basis.

Motor Vehicle — To account for the revenues derived from motor vehicle licenses and gasoline taxes.
Expenditures in this special revenue fund are restricted by State law to County roads and bridge
repair/improvement programs.

All Other Public Works — To account for restricted state, federal, or local revenue for all other public works
activities not presented on an individual basis.

Child Support Enforcement — To account for grant money as well as the poundage fees collected by the
Bureau of Child Support that are restricted by State statute to finance the operation of the Child Support
Enforcement Agency.

County Care Facility — To account for the collection of restricted state and federal Medicaid and fees from
residents’ families for the operation of the County Home.

Elderly Services Levy — To account for restricted dollars associated with a county-wide property tax and the
expenditures of those funds.

All Other Health — To account for restricted state, federal, or local revenue for all other health services activities
not presented on an individual basis.

All Other Human _Services — To account for restricted state, federal, or local revenue for all other human
services activities not presented on an individual basis.

County Coronavirus Relief Fund — To account for and report monies received from the Federal Coronavirus
Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (CARES) Act, whose use is restricted to local Coronavirus relief.

All Other Conservation and Recreation — To account for fees collected on permits by the County restricted to
State law to finance erosion and sediment control activities and for tax revenue and distributions for the County
hotel tax.
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Combining Statements — Non-major Governmental Funds (Continued)

Non-major Capital Project Funds

Capital project funds are used to account for financial resources to be used for the acquisition or construction of
maijor capital facilities (other than those financed by the Proprietary funds). The following are descriptions of
each non-maijor capital project fund:

Technology — To account for restricted note, bond, loan, or grant proceeds used to finance the cost of County
technology activities.

Other Capital Improvements — To account for acquisition of, construction or improvements to buildings,
facilities, assets, equipment or any other items related to the County space study project.

Road Improvements — To account for restricted grant proceeds used to finance the cost of projects related to
the construction of roads.

Buildings Construction and Renovations — To account for restricted note, bond, loan, or grant proceeds used to
finance the cost of improvements and new construction of buildings.

Non-major Bond Retirement

The Bond Retirement Fund is used to account for proceeds and payments on Butler County bonds. The
County’s Bond Retirement Fund accounts for financing and related costs of issuing and paying County bonds.

Non-major Permanent Fund

The Developmental Disabilities Permanent Fund is used to account for nonspendable gifts and investment
earnings that are donor restricted to assist individuals with developmental disabilities.
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Butler County, Ohio

Combining Balance Sheet
Non-major Governmental Funds
December 31, 2022

Assets
Equity in Pooled Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and Cash Equivalents:
In Segregated Accounts
With Fiscal Agents
Receivables:
Property Taxes
Other Local Taxes
Accounts
Due from Other Governments
Special Assessments
Loans
Leases
Prepaid Items
Materials and Supplies Inventory

Total Assets

Liabilities

Accounts Payable

Contracts Payable

Accrued Wages and Benefits Payable
Employee Benefits Payable
Due to Other Funds

Due to Other Governments
Advances from Other Funds
Unearned Revenue

Matured Bonds Payable
Matured Interest Payable
Total Liabilities

Deferred Inflows of Resources

Property Taxes not Levied to Finance the Current
Year Operations

Leases

Unavailable Revenue

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources

Fund Balances
Nonspendable
Restricted
Assigned

Total Fund Balances

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources
and Fund Balances

Non-major Non-major Non-major Non-major Total Non-major
Special Revenue Capital Projects Bond Retirement Permanent Governmental
Funds Funds Fund Fund Funds
74,165,385 17,728,054 456,645 837,663 $ 93,187,747
1,334,668 - - - 1,334,668
- - 1,216,437 - 1,216,437
10,589,408 - - - 10,589,408
739,933 - - - 739,933
939,197 - - - 939,197
14,735,527 1,407,830 - - 16,143,357
1,524,584 - 5,308,037 - 6,832,621
497,671 - - - 497,671
6,994,816 - - - 6,994,816
131,584 4,133 - - 135,717
1,070,666 - - - 1,070,666
112,723,439 19,140,017 6,981,119 837,663 § 139,682,238
200,174 - - - 3 200,174
3,136,660 1,849,753 - - 4,986,413
888,614 - - - 888,614
152,877 - - - 152,877
145,239 - - - 145,239
373,219 - - - 373,219
217,015 - 5,705 - 222,720
1,036,147 - - - 1,036,147
- - 13,250 - 13,250
- - 5,543 - 5,543
6,149,945 1,849,753 24,498 - 8,024,196
10,331,662 - - - 10,331,662
6,994,816 - - - 6,994,816
14,033,091 36,989 5,308,037 - 19,378,117
31,359,569 36,989 5,308,037 - 36,704,595
1,202,250 4,133 - 837,663 2,044,046
74,011,675 2,249,142 1,648,584 - 77,909,401
- 15,000,000 - - 15,000,000
75,213,925 17,253,275 1,648,584 837,663 94,953,447
112,723,439 19,140,017 6,981,119 837,663 $ 139,682,238
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Butler County, Ohio
Combining Balance Sheet
Non-major Special Revenue Funds

December 31, 2022
Real All Other
Estate Legislative and All Other All Other
Assessment Executive Judicial Public Safety

Assets
Equity in Pooled Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 4,319,004 $ 2,696,019 5,326,556 $ 6,557,827
Cash and Cash Equivalents:

In Segregated Accounts - 98,338 522,632 667,722
Receivables:

Property Taxes - - - -

Other Local Taxes - - - -

Accounts - - - 848,134

Due from Other Governments - - 62,125 3,653,490

Special Assessments - - - -

Loans - - - -

Leases - - - -
Prepaid Items 39,423 9,343 36,689 23,328
Materials and Supplies Inventory 5,925 711 4,970 -
Total Assets $ 4,364,352 $ 2,804,411 5,952,972 $ 11,750,501
Liabilities
Accounts Payable $ 1,854 $ 7,170 12,664  § 33,645
Contracts Payable 6,555 12,352 33,647 39,189
Accrued Wages and Benefits Payable 52,788 30,886 50,898 356,784
Employee Benefits Payable 10,138 7,012 9,628 53,842
Due to Other Funds - - - 2,290
Due to Other Governments 11,741 7,594 18,293 73,355
Advances from Other Funds - - 3,000 109,390
Unearned Revenue - - - -
Total Liabilities 83,076 65,014 128,130 668,495
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Property Taxes not Levied to Finance the Current

Year Operations - - - -
Leases - - - -
Unavailable Revenue - - 62,125 2,248,320
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources - - 62,125 2,248,320
Fund Balances
Nonspendable 45,348 10,054 41,659 23,328
Restricted 4,235,928 2,729,343 5,721,058 8,810,358
Total Fund Balances 4,281,276 2,739,397 5,762,717 8,833,686
Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources
and Fund Balances $ 4,364,352 $ 2,804,411 5,952,972 $ 11,750,501
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All Other

Motor All Other Child Support County Care Elderly Health
Vehicle Public Works Enforcement Facility Services Levy Services
$ 17,482,504 $ 18,301,367 § 5,814,621 $ 347,390 § 11,692,151 $ 232,669
150 100 5,342 40,384 - -
- - - - 10,589,408 -
209,330 182,472 - - - -
- 90,501 - 562 - -
4,755,642 4,327,721 1,305,625 3,976 600,010 -
- 1,524,584 - - - -
- 497,671 - - - -
- 6,994,816 - - -

11,088 6,399 1,728 3,138 448 -
1,033,175 70 13,532 12,283 - -
$ 23,491,889 $§ 31,925,701 $ 7,140,848  § 407,733 $ 22,882,017 § 232,669
$ 136,157  § 2367 $ - 3 2373 $ -8 -
425,713 239,418 14,932 7,437 1,941,039 -
236,072 30,543 116,232 1,863 6,897 -
42,520 5,392 20,110 672 2,638 -
177 17 98,435 - - -
55,710 161,607 28,052 13,999 1,431 -
- 83,125 - - - -
896,349 522,469 277,761 26,344 1,952,005 -
- - - - 10,331,662 -
- 6,994,816 - - - -
3,881,483 5,605,185 1,305,625 3,544 857,756 -
3,881,483 12,600,001 1,305,625 3,544 11,189,418 -
1,044,263 6,469 15,260 15,421 448 -
17,669,794 18,796,762 5,542,202 362,424 9,740,146 232,669
18,714,057 18,803,231 5,557,462 377,845 9,740,594 232,669
$ 23,491,889 $§ 31,925,701 $ 7,140,848  § 407,733  $ 22,882,017 § 232,669

(Continued)
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Butler County, Ohio

Combining Balance Sheet

Non-major Special Revenue Funds (Continued)
December 31, 2022

Assets
Equity in Pooled Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and Cash Equivalents:
In Segregated Accounts
Receivables:
Property Taxes
Other Local Taxes
Accounts
Due from Other Governments
Special Assessments
Loans
Leases
Prepaid Items
Materials and Supplies Inventory
Total Assets

Liabilities:

Accounts Payable

Contracts Payable

Accrued Wages and Benefits Payable
Employee Benefits Payable

Due to Other Funds

Due to Other Governments

Advances from Other Funds
Unearned Revenue

Total Liabilities

Deferred Inflows of Resources

Property Taxes not Levied to Finance the Current
Year Operations

Leases

Unavailable Revenue

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources

Fund Balances
Nonspendable
Restricted

Total Fund Balances

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources
and Fund Balances

Total
All Other County All Other Non-major

Human Coronavirus Conservation Special Revenue

Services Relief Fund and Recreation Funds
1,214,884 $ 16,057 $ 164,336 $ 74,165,385
- - - 1,334,668
- - - 10,589,408
- - 348,131 739,933
- - - 939,197
26,938 - - 14,735,527
R - - 1,524,584
- - - 497,671
6,994,816
- - - 131,584
- - - 1,070,666
1,241,822 $ 16,057 $ 512,467 $ 112,723,439
3,944 $ - $ - $ 200,174
275 - 416,103 3,136,660
5,651 - - 888,614
925 - - 152,877
- - 44,320 145,239
1,437 - - 373,219
21,500 - - 217,015
1,036,147 - - 1,036,147
1,069,879 - 460,423 6,149,945
- - - 10,331,662
- - - 6,994,816
18,391 - 50,662 14,033,091
18,391 - 50,662 31,359,569
- - - 1,202,250
153,552 16,057 1,382 74,011,675
153,552 16,057 1,382 75,213,925
1,241,822 $ 16,057 $ 512,467 $ 112,723,439
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Butler County, Ohio
Combining Balance Sheet
Non-major Capital Projects Funds

December 31, 2022
Total
Buildings Non-major
Other Capital Road Construction Capital Projects
Technology Improvements Improvements  and Renovations Funds
Assets
Equity in Pooled Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 214,141 $ 15,000,000 $ 2,213,574 $ 300,339 $ 17,728,054
Due from Other Governments - - 1,407,830 - 1,407,830
Prepaid Items 4,133 - - - 4,133
Total Assets $ 218,274 $ 15,000,000 $ 3,621,404 § 300,339 $ 19,140,017
Liabilities
Contracts Payable - - 1,849,753 - 1,849,753
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unavailable Revenue - - 36,989 - 36,989
Fund Balances
Nonspendable $ 4,133 - -3 -3 4,133
Restricted 214,141 - 1,734,662 300,339 2,249,142
Assigned - 15,000,000 - - 15,000,000
Total Fund Balances 218,274 15,000,000 1,734,662 300,339 17,253,275
Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources
and Fund Balances $ 218,274 $ 15,000,000 $ 3,621,404 $ 300,339 $ 19,140,017
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Butler County, Ohio

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Cl

Non-major Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

in Fund Balance

Revenues

Property Taxes
Other Local Taxes
Charges for Services
Licenses and Permits
Fines and Forfeitures
Intergovernmental
Special Assessments
Investment Earnings
Lease Revenue
Lease Interest
Contributions and Donations
Other

Total Revenues

Expenditures
Current:

General Government:
Legislative and Executive
Judicial

Public Safety

Public Works

Public Works - Intergovernmental

Health

Human Services

Conservation and Recreation

Capital Outlay
Debt Service:

Principal Retirement

Interest

Issuance Costs

Total Expenditures

Excess of Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures
Other Financing Sources (Uses):

Transfers - In

Bonds Isued

Refunding Bonds Issued

Payment to Refunded Bond Escrow Agent
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Net Change in Fund Balances

Fund Balances at Beginning of Year

Fund Balances at End of Year

Non-major Non-major Non-major Non-major Total Non-major
Special Revenue Capital Projects Bond Retirement Permanent Governmental
Funds Funds Fund Fund Funds

$ 9,363,244 - -8 -8 9,363,244
7,309,860 - - - 7,309,860
18,327,279 - - 18,327,279
1,014,181 - - - 1,014,181
2,407,611 - - - 2,407,611
37,098,510 14,998,664 - - 52,097,174
1,735,072 - 178,975 - 1,914,047
226,228 66,451 181,979 13,430 488,088
130,634 - - - 130,634
60,841 - - - 60,841

- - 516,865 - 516,865

1,130,705 - - - 1,130,705
78,804,165 15,065,115 877,819 13,430 94,760,529
3,524,245 6,200 - - 3,530,445
2,614,456 - - - 2,614,456
13,945,967 - - - 13,945,967
25,794,836 - - 25,794,836
3,419,306 18,186,211 286,793 - 21,892,310

- - - 50,000 50,000

28,651,736 - - - 28,651,736
1,886,096 - - - 1,886,096

- 1,474,242 - - 1,474,242

124,290 5,715,320 - 5,839,610

- - 566,188 - 566,188

- - 53,500 - 53,500

79,960,932 19,666,653 6,621,801 50,000 106,299,386
(1,156,767) (4,601,538) (5,743,982) (36,570) (11,538,857)
411,435 15,000,000 6,724,377 - 22,135,812

- 6,330,000 259,131 - 6,589,131

- - 2,730,000 - 2,730,000
- - (2,714,114) - (2,714,114)

411,435 21,330,000 6,999,394 - 28,740,829
(745,332) 16,728,462 1,255,412 (36,570) 17,201,972
75,959,257 524,813 393,172 874,233 77,751,475

$ 75,213,925  § 17,253,275 § 1,648,584  § 837,663 $ 94,953,447
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Butler County, Ohio

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures
and Changes in Fund Balances

Non-major Special Revenue Funds

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Real All Other
Estate Legislative and All Other All Other
Assessment Executive Judicial Public Safety
Revenues
Property Taxes $ -8 -3 -3 -
Other Local Taxes - - - -
Charges for Services 2,595,711 1,206,170 1,858,095 6,631,412
Licenses and Permits - - - 641,793
Fines and Forfeitures - 422,582 522,632 1,023,513
Intergovernmental - 10,000 351,059 6,759,887
Special Assessments - - - -
Investment Earnings - 39,745 46 -
Lease Revenue - - - -
Lease Interest - - - -
Other 2,986 3,077 3,794 595,420
Total Revenues 2,598,697 1,681,574 2,735,626 15,652,025
Expenditures
Current:
General Government:
Legislative and Executive 1,986,625 1,537,620 - -
Judicial - - 2,614,456 -
Public Safety - - - 13,943,716
Public Works - - - -
Public Works - Intergovernmental - - - -
Human Services - - - -
Conservation and Recreation - - - -
Debt Service:
Principal Retirement - - - -
Total Expenditures 1,986,625 1,537,620 2,614,456 13,943,716
Excess of Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures 612,072 143,954 121,170 1,708,309
Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers - In - - - 162,750
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) - - - 162,750
Net Change in Fund Balance 612,072 143,954 121,170 1,871,059
Fund Balances at Beginning of Year 3,669,204 2,595,443 5,641,547 6,962,627
Fund Balances (Deficit) at End of Year $ 4281276  $ 2,739,397 $ 5,762,717  $ 8,833,686
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All Other

Motor All Other Child Support County Care Elderly Health
Vehicle Public Works Enforcement Facility Services Levy Services
$ - - - -3 9,363,244  $ -
2,868,491 2,511,160 - - - -

303,671 894,781 3,968,831 759,126 - -

360,928 11,460 - - - -

206,215 - - - - 232,669
15,901,584 3,236,513 3,833,617 1,076,483 1,167,074 -

134,122 1,600,950 - - - -

182,851 3,142 - 444 - -

- 130,634 - - - -
- 60,841 - - -

313,930 178,801 5,965 7,772 294 -
20,271,792 8,628,282 7,808,413 1,843,825 10,530,612 232,669
17,110,774 8,684,062 - - - -

3,419,306 - - - - -
- - 6,516,142 2,727,875 11,125,449 -

124,290 - - - - -

20,654,370 8,684,062 6,516,142 2,727,875 11,125,449 -
(382,578) (55,780) 1,292,271 (884,050) (594,837) 232,669

- 209,000 - - - -

- 209,000 - - - -

(382,578) 153,220 1,292,271 (884,050) (594,837) 232,669
19,096,635 18,650,011 4,265,191 1,261,895 10,335,431 -

$ 18,714,057 18,803,231 5,557,462 377,845 $ 9,740,594  § 232,669

137

(Continued)



Butler County, Ohio

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures
and Changes in Fund Balances

Non-major Special Revenue Funds (Continued)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Revenues

Property Taxes
Other Local Taxes
Charges for Services
Licenses and Permits
Fines and Forfeitures
Intergovernmental
Special Assessments
Investment Earnings
Lease Revenue
Lease Interest

Other

Total Revenues

Expenditures
Current:

General Government:
Legislative and Executive
Judicial

Public Safety

Public Works

Public Works - Intergovernmental

Human Services

Conservation and Recreation

Debt Service:

Principal Retirement

Total Expenditures

Excess of Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures
Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Transfers - In

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Net Change in Fund Balance

Fund Balances at Beginning of Year

Fund Balances (Deficit) at End of Year

Total
All Other County All Other Non-major
Human Coronavirus Conservation Special Revenue
Services Relief Fund and Recreation Funds

$ - $ - - $ 9,363,244
- - 1,930,209 7,309,860

57,438 - 52,044 18,327,279

- - - 1,014,181

- - - 2,407,611

4,762,293 - - 37,098,510

- - - 1,735,072

- - - 226,228

- - - 130,634

60,841

358 18,308 - 1,130,705
4,820,089 18,308 1,982,253 78,804,165

- - - 3,524,245

- - - 2,614,456

- 2,251 - 13,945,967

- - - 25,794,836

- - - 3,419,306

8,282,270 - - 28,651,736

- - 1,886,096 1,886,096

- - - 124,290

8,282,270 2,251 1,886,096 79,960,932
(3,462,181) 16,057 96,157 (1,156,767)
39,685 - - 411,435
39,685 - - 411,435
(3,422,496) 16,057 96,157 (745,332)
3,576,048 - (94,775) 75,959,257

$ 153,552 $ 16,057 1,382 $ 75,213,925
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Butler County, Ohio

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Non-major Capital Projects Funds
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Total
Buildings Non-major
Other Capital Road Construction Capital Projects
Technology Improvements Improvements and Renovations Funds
Revenues
Intergovernmental $ - - 14,998,664  $ - 14,998,664
Investment Earnings - - 66,451 - 66,451
Total Revenues - - 15,065,115 - 15,065,115
Expenditures
Current:
General Government:

Legislative and Executive 6,200 - - - 6,200

Public Works - Intergovernmental - - 18,186,211 - 18,186,211
Capital Outlay - - 1,474,242 - 1,474,242
Total Expenditures 6,200 - 19,660,453 - 19,666,653
Excess of Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures (6,200) - (4,595,338) - (4,601,538)
Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Transfers In - 15,000,000 - - 15,000,000
Bonds Issued - - 6,330,000 - 6,330,000
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) - 15,000,000 6,330,000 - 21,330,000
Net Change in Fund Balances (6,200) 15,000,000 1,734,662 - 16,728,462
Fund Balances (Deficit) at Beginning of Year 224,474 - - 300,339 524,813
Fund Balances at End of Year $ 218,274 15,000,000 1,734,662  $ 300,339 17,253,275
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Internal Service Funds

The Internal Service Funds are used to account for the financing of services provided by one
department or agency to other departments or agencies of the County, or to other governmental units,
on a cost-reimbursement basis. The following are descriptions of each Internal Service Fund:

Health Insurance — To account for monies received from governmental and proprietary funds agencies
to pay for the actual expense of medical, dental and life insurance costs for employees.

Workers’ Compensation — To account for funds received from governmental and proprietary funds and
regional governmental agencies to pay for the actual expense of workers’ compensation benefits.

Jefferson Health Plan — To account for medical claims and premiums for Butler County Developmental
Disabilities Board for their self-insured employee medical coverage. The medical and claims activity
for this plan occurred in an outside bank account, therefore no budgetary statements are presented.
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Butler County, Ohio
Combining Statement of Fund Net Position
Internal Service Funds

December 31, 2022
Health Workers' Jefferson

Insurance Compensation Health Plan Total
Assets
Current Assets
Equity in Pooled Cash and Cash Equivalents 4,646,119 $ 8,350,089 - 3 12,996,208
Cash and Cash Equivalents with Fiscal Agent - 152,874 152,874
Prepaid Items 17 683,105 - 683,122
Total Assets 4,646,136 9,033,194 152,874 13,832,204
Liabilities
Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable - 438 - 438
Contracts Payable 1,175 - - 1,175
Accrued Wages and Benefits Payable - 3,882 - 3,882
Employee Benefits Payable - 1,117 - 1,117
Due to Other Governments - 839 - 839
Claims Payable - 50,722 570,990 621,712
Compensated Absences Payable 5,385 1,272 - 6,657
Total Current Liabilities 6,560 58,270 570,990 635,820
Non-Current Liabilities
Claims Payable - 400,814 - 400,814
Compensated Absences Payable 4,858 543 - 5,401
Total Non-Current Liabilities 4,858 401,357 - 406,215
Total Liabilities 11,418 459,627 570,990 1,042,035
Total Net Position (Deficit) 4,634,718  § 8,573,567 (418,116) $ 12,790,169
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Butler County, Ohio

Combining Statement of Revenues,
Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position
Internal Service Funds

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Operating Revenues
Charges for Services
Other Operating Revenues
Total Operating Revenues

Operating Expenses
Personal Services
Contractual Services

Claims and Judgments
Materials and Supplies

Total Operating Expenses
Operating Income (Loss)
Non-Operating Revenues
Other Non-Operating Revenues
Investment Earnings

Total Non-Operating Revenues
Change in Net Position

Net Position (Deficit) at Beginning of Year

Net Position (Deficit) at End of Year

Health Workers' Jefferson
Insurance Compensation Health Plan Total

$ 20,626,060 $ 2,379,220 $ 1,883,845 $ 24,889,125
36,656 - 229,614 266,270
20,662,716 2,379,220 2,113,459 25,155,395
- 84,160 - 84,160
18,891,666 76,528 619,855 19,588,049
(406,254) (32,905) 1,793,555 1,354,396
- 1,144 - 1,144
18,485,412 128,927 2,413,410 21,027,749
2,177,304 2,250,293 (299,951) 4,127,646
177,915 15,360 - 193,275
- - 1,724 1,724
177,915 15,360 1,724 194,999
2,355,219 2,265,653 (298,227) 4,322,645
2,279,499 6,307,914 (119,889) 8,467,524
$ 4,634,718 $ 8,573,567 $ (418,116) § 12,790,169
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Butler County

Combining Statement of Cash Flows
Internal Service Funds

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents:
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:

Cash Received from Other Operating Sources
Cash Paid to Suppliers

Cash Paid to Employees

Cash Received from Interfund Services Provided
Other Non-Operating Revenues

Cash Paid for Claims

Net Cash Provided by(Used For) Operating Activities

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Interest and Dividends on Investments

Net Increase(Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year

Reconciliation of Operating Income (Loss) to Net

Cash Provided by (Used For) by Operating Activities:

Operating Income (Loss)

Adjustments to Reconcile Operating Income(Loss) to Net Cash

Provided by(Used For) Operating Activities:
Other Non-Operating Revenues
(Increase)Decrease in Assets
Prepaid Items
Increase(Decrease) in Liabilities
Accounts Payable
Contracts Payable
Accrued Wages and Benefits Payable
Compensated Absences Payable
Due to Other Governments
Payroll Withholdings
Claims Payable

Total Adjustments

Net Cash Provided by(Used For) Operating Activities

Health Workers' Jefferson
Insurance Compensation Health Total
$ 36,656 $ - S 229,614  $ 266,270
(18,894,533) (760,339) (619,855) (20,274,727)
(19,288) (94,045) - (113,333)
20,626,060 2,379,220 1,883,845 24,889,125
177,915 15,360 - 193,275
(2,227,777) - (1,508,007) (3,735,784)
(300,967) 1,540,196 (14,403) 1,224,826
3 - 1,724 1,724
(300,967) 1,540,196 (12,679) 1,226,550
4,947,086 6,809,893 165,553 11,922,532
$ 4,646,119 § 8,350,089 $ 152,874 § 13,149,082
$§ 2,177,304 $ 2,250,293 $ (299,951) $§ 4,127,646
177,915 15,360 - 193,275
- (683,105) - (683,105)
912) 438 - (474)
(1,629) - - (1,629)
(5,468) 27 - (5,495)
(11,935) (10,069) - (22,004)
(1,295) (183) - (1,478)
(916) 394 - (522)
(2,634,031) (32,905) 285,548 (2,381,388)
(2,478,271) (710,097) 285,548 (2,902,820)
$ (300,967) ' $ 1,540,196 S (14,403) § 1,224,826
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Custodial Funds

Custodial funds are used to report fiduciary activities that are not required to be reported in a trust
fund. These funds do not account for the County’s own source revenue. The following is a description
of the County’s custodial funds.

Butler County General Health District — To account for the collection and disbursement of various
revenues by the County as fiscal agent for the benefit of the Butler County General Health District.

Butler County Soil and Water Conservation District — To account for the collection and disbursement of
various revenues by the County as fiscal agent for the benefit of the Butler County Soil and Water
Conservation District.

Metroparks of Butler County — To account for the collection and disbursement of various revenues by
the County as fiscal agent for the benefit of the Metroparks of Butler County.

Multi-Jurisdictional Activities — To account for the collection of grant dollars and fees that will be
distributed to others based on the direction of multi-jurisdictional agencies.

Fee Collections — To account for various fees collected by the Courts that will be distributed to the
State of Ohio.

Tax Collections — To account for various taxes and special assessments collected and distributed for
the benefit of other governments.

Tax and Mortgage Foreclosures — To account for sheriff sales monies held by the County to be
distributed for the benefit of others.

State Pass Through Funds — To account for various state undivided monies collected and distributed
for the benefit of other governments.

Butler County Segregated Checking Accounts — To account for activity due to others held in
segregated checking accounts.

Miscellaneous — To account for monies held by the County to be distributed for the benefit of others.
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Butler County, Ohio

Combining Statement of Fiduciary Net Position
Custodial Funds

December 31, 2022

Assets

Equity in Pooled Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and Cash Equivalents in Segregated Accounts
Property Taxes Receivable

Revenue in Lieu of Taxes Receivable

Special Assessmens Receivable

Due from Other Governments

Total Assets

Liabilities

Accounts Payable and Other Liabilities
Due to Other Governments

Total Liabilities

Deferred Inflows of Resources

Property Taxes not Levied to Finance the Current
Year Operations

Payment in Lieu of Taxes not Levied to Finance
the Current Year Operations

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources

Net Position
Restricted for Individuals, Organizations and Other Governments

Butler County
General Health
District

Butler County
Soil and Water
Conservation District

Metroparks of
Butler County

Multi-Jurisdictional
Activities

Fee
Collections

$ 3,157,803

$ 76,038

4,453,154

148,466

N 3,182,336

$

536,566

$ 3,157,803

$ 76,038

4,601,620

$ 3,182,336

$

536,566

N 21,971
25,729

$ 1,893

2,868

20,967
32,176

$ 292,027
2,890,309

$

22,463
514,103

47,700

4,761

53,143

3,182,336

536,566

$ 3,110,103

S 71,277

$

4,548,477
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Butler County Total
Tax Tax and Mortgage State Pass Segregated Custodial

Collections Foreclosures Through Funds Checking Miscellaneous Funds
$ 14,729,129  § 1,333,398 $ 270,169  § 38216  $ 278,724  $ 28,055,533
- - - 3,463,561 - 3,463,561
472,184,849 472,184,849
45,467,841 - - - - 45,467,841
76,190,849 - - 76,190,849
10,254,908 18,906 - 10,422,280
$ 608,572,668 _$ 1,333398 _§ 10,525,077 _$ 3,520,683 $ 278,724 $ 635,784,913
$ 22,099 $ 1,333,398  § -8 1,998,693 $ 278,724  §$ 3,992,235
14,729,129 - 10,525,077 1,521,990 - 30,241,381
14,751,228 1,333,398 10,525,077 3,520,683 278,724 34,233,616
459,815,635 - - - - 459,815,635
45,467,841 - - - - 45,467,841
505,283,476 - - - - 505,283,476
$ 88,537,964 § - 8 - 8 - 8 - 8 96,267,821
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Butler County, Ohio

Combining Statement of Changes in Fiduciary
Net Position

Custodial Funds

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Additions

Intergovernmental

Amounts Received as Fiscal Agent

Licenses, Permits and Fees for Other Governments
Fines and Forfeitures for Other Governments

Property Tax Collections for Other Governments
Payments in Lieu of Taxes Collections for Other Governments
Special Assessment Collections for Other Governments
Sheriff Sale Collections for Other Governments
Amounts Received for Others

Miscellaneous

Total Additions

Deductions

Distributions of State Funds to Other Governments

Fines and Forfeitures Distributions to Other Governments
Property Taxes Distributions for Other Governments
Payments in Lieu of Taxes Distributions for Other Governments
Special Assessment Distributions to Other Governments
Distributions to the State of Ohio

Distributions to Other Governments

Distributions to Individuals

Distributions as Fiscal Agent

Miscellaneous

Total Deductions

Change in Net Position
Net Position at Beginning of Year -Restated (see note 3)

Net Position at End of Year

Butler County
General Health
District

Multi-Jurisdictional
Conservation District

Fee
Collections

5,373,237

82,128

1,646,522
96,113

16,790

5,373,237

1,841,553

5,368,291

82,128

1,742,634

16,791

5,368,291

1,841,553

4,946

3,105,157

3,110,103




Butler County Total
Tax Tax and Mortgage State Pass Segregated Custodial
Collections Foreclosures Through Funds Checking Miscellaneous Funds

$ - $ - $ 27,891,332 3,665 - $ 32,201,529
- - - - - 16,588,724
- - - - 1,646,522
- - - 144,603,890 144,700,003
421,925,162 - - - 421,925,162
54,208,819 - - - - 54,208,819
9,619,995 - - - - 9,619,995
- 6,022,855 - - - 6,022,855
- - - - 34,864 51,654
- - - 2,377,415 - 2,377,415
485,753,976 6,022,855 27,891,332 146,984,970 34,864 689,342,678
- - 27,891,332 18,906 - 32,184,795
- - - 294,300 - 294,300
415,772,011 - - - - 415,772,011
54,246,556 - - - 54,246,556
10,239,290 - - - 10,239,290
- - - 133,538,792 - 135,281,426
- - - 3,977 - 3,977
1,658,833 6,022,855 - 11,051,626 34,864 18,816,944
- - - - - 17,670,959
- - - 2,077,369 - 2,077,369
481,916,690 6,022,855 27,891,332 146,984,970 34,864 686,587,627
3,837,286 - - - - 2,755,051
84,700,678 - - - - 93,512,770
$ 88,537,964 $ - $ - - - $ 96,267,821
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Butler County, Ohio

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balance-Budget and Actual
General Fund

Budget Basis

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Revenues:
Property Taxes
Sales Taxes
Charges for Services
Licenses and Permits
Fines and Forfeitures
Intergovernmental
Interest
Other

Total Revenues

Expenditures:
Current:
General Government:
Legislative and Executive
Information Services

Personal Services
Materials and Supplies
Contractual Services
Capital Outlay
Total Information Services

Audit Services
Contractual Services

Auditor
Personal Services
Materials and Supplies
Contractual Services
Total Auditor

Commissioners
Personal Services
Materials and Supplies
Contractual Services
Other
Total Commissioners

Department of Development
Personal Services
Materials and Supplies
Contractual Services
Other
Total Department of Development

Mailroom
Personal Services
Materials and Supplies
Contractual Services
Other
Total Mailroom

Variance
Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)
16,004,000 $ 4,000 4,075 75
50,500,000 50,500,000 56,267,902 5,767,902
29,620,514 29,302,214 29,910,107 607,893
2,418,050 2,418,050 3,260,115 842,065
1,010,419 1,010,419 885,091 (125,328)
13,703,092 13,602,754 16,277,338 2,674,584
1,900,000 1,900,000 3,364,373 1,464,373
1,412,050 1,199,650 1,178,705 (20,945)
116,568,125 99,937,087 111,147,706 11,210,619
2,028,284 2,028,284 1,717,229 311,055
1,299,263 1,460,983 1,431,902 29,081
59,673 60,014 59,768 246
- 583,812 577,282 6,530
3,387,220 4,133,093 3,786,181 346,912
152,000 154,500 152,500 2,000
1,241,130 1,241,130 1,201,803 39,327
39,000 39,888 26,843 13,045
71,339 71,707 66,165 5,542
1,351,469 1,352,725 1,294,811 57,914
1,480,875 1,388,132 1,345,284 42,848
23,800 28,677 28,677 -
64,080 130,688 121,029 9,659
500 500 - 500
1,569,255 1,547,997 1,494,990 53,007
1,511,042 1,296,042 1,283,477 12,565
18,500 24,103 22,378 1,725
486,077 825,108 820,695 4,413
4,000 4,000 4,000 -
2,019,619 2,149,253 2,130,550 18,703
71,375 93,998 93,875 123
421,000 496,685 486,735 9,950
17,300 17,300 16,250 1,050
1,500 1,379 1,379
511,175 $ 609,362 596,860 12,502
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Butler County, Ohio

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balance-Budget and Actual
General Fund (continued)

Budget Basis

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Maintenance
Personal Services
Materials and Supplies
Contractual Services
Capital Outlay
Total Maintenance

Records Center
Personal Services
Materials and Supplies
Contractual Services
Capital Outlay
Total Records Center

Insurance, Pension and Taxes
Contractual Services
Other
Total Insurance, Pension and Taxes

Commissioners-Other
Contractual Services
Other
Total Commissioners-Other

Health and Wellness
Personal Services
Materials and Supplies
Contractual Services
Total Health and Wellness

Central HR
Personal Services
Materials and Supplies
Contractual Services
Total Central HR

Unclaimed Monies
Other

Excess Proceeds
Other

Board of Elections
Personal Services
Materials and Supplies
Contractual Services
Other
Total Board of Elections

Prosecuting Attorney
Personal Services
Materials and Supplies
Contractual Services
Other
Total Prosecuting Attorney

Prosecutor Criminal Non Support
Personal Services
Materials and Supplies
Contractual Services
Total Prosecutor Criminal Non Support

Variance
Original Final Positive

Budget Budget Actual (Negative)
494,083  § 472,081 309,173 162,908
225,200 259,441 240,569 18,872
2,662,295 7,062,448 6,924,827 137,621
- 83,000 33,000 50,000
3,381,578 7,876,970 7,507,569 369,401
125,023 125,023 100,985 24,038
6,800 6,800 2,843 3,957
32,225 32,302 27,811 4,491
- 65,000 - 65,000
164,048 229,125 131,639 97,486
944,150 944,550 740,550 204,000
880,000 887,565 762,565 125,000
1,824,150 1,832,115 1,503,115 329,000
274,060 364,659 362,659 2,000
2,657,000 2,657,000 2,584,497 72,503
2,931,060 3,021,659 2,947,156 74,503
- 108,000 107,675 325
11,500 11,500 10,000 1,500
144,200 178,200 163,661 14,539
155,700 297,700 281,336 16,364
472,544 472,544 303,937 168,607
7,900 8,622 5,722 2,900
131,600 146,451 107,435 39,016
612,044 627,617 417,094 210,523
- 110,000 45,441 64,559
- 1,000,000 396,614 603,386
2,693,679 2,819,355 2,768,768 50,587
178,950 304,201 241,202 62,999
762,206 1,001,402 886,231 115,171
- 292,992 288,461 4,531
3,634,835 4,417,950 4,184,662 233,288
4,850,675 4,807,119 4,802,439 4,680
42,100 62,237 59,865 2,372
66,200 66,629 65,852 777
74,076 74,076 74,076 -
5,033,051 5,010,061 5,002,232 7,829
273,211 282,146 281,614 532
1,950 2,150 2,150 -
36,011 26,993 25,587 1,406
311,172 $ 311,289 309,351 1,938
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Butler County, Ohio

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balance-Budget and Actual
General Fund (continued)

Budget Basis

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Public Defender Area Courts
Personal Services
Materials and Supplies
Contractual Services
Total Public Defender Area Courts

Public Defender Common Pleas
Personal Services
Materials and Supplies
Contractual Services
Total Public Defender Common Pleas

Public Defender Municipal
Personal Services
Materials and Supplies
Contractual Services
Total Public Defender Municipal

Recorder
Personal Services
Materials and Supplies
Contractual Services
Capital Outlay
Total Recorder

Microfilm Board
Personal Services
Materials and Supplies
Total Microfilm Board

Treasurer
Personal Services
Materials and Supplies
Contractual Services
Capital Outlay
Other
Total Treasurer

Certificate of Title
Personal Services
Materials and Supplies
Contractual Services
Total Certificate of Title

COVID 19 Costs
Contract Services

Historical Society
Contract Services

Total General Government:
Legislative and Executive

General Government:
Judicial
Area Courts

Personal Services
Materials and Supplies
Contractual Services
Capital Outlay
Total Area Courts

Variance
Original Final Positive

Budget Budget Actual (Negative)
295,076  $ 301,896 298,511 3,385
3,000 1,980 1,000 980
20,736 15,006 11,733 3,273
318,812 318,882 311,244 7,638
1,302,512 1,302,512 1,269,657 32,855
11,000 13,014 9,014 4,000
22,093 22,093 10,100 11,993
1,335,605 1,337,619 1,288,771 48,848
657,139 696,614 690,191 6,423
1,000 1,000 1,000 -
20,000 6,000 4,880 1,120
678,139 703,614 696,071 7,543
752,683 759,169 655,872 103,297
47,000 38,664 19,513 19,151
107,500 109,409 79,707 29,702
- 34,555 34,555 -
907,183 941,797 789,647 152,150
109,591 110,801 109,968 833
1,000 20 - 20
110,591 110,821 109,968 853
992,231 1,045,231 1,028,350 16,881
107,050 48,797 48,797 -
162,469 194,566 193,186 1,380
- 3,813 3,813 -
50 150 144 6
1,261,800 1,292,557 1,274,290 18,267
2,031,013 2,380,709 2,366,063 14,646
124,900 98,021 83,891 14,130
149,337 350,190 264,825 85,365
2,305,250 2,828,920 2,714,779 114,141
- 471,661 447,137 24,524
24,872 24,872 24,000 872
33,980,628 42,712,159 39,838,008 2,874,151
1,068,833 1,196,333 969,496 226,837
32,535 38,825 37,183 1,642
142,066 162,622 155,630 6,992
- 59,796 47,796 12,000
1,243,434 § 1,457,576 1,210,105 247,471
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Butler County, Ohio

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balance-Budget and Actual
General Fund (continued)

Budget Basis

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Variance
Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)

Clerk of Courts

Personal Services $ 1,558914  § 1,606,714  § 1,557915  § 48,799

Materials and Supplies 317,100 301,677 198,046 103,631

Contractual Services 67,000 42,802 37,048 5,754

Total Clerk of Courts 1,943,014 1,951,193 1,793,009 158,184
Common Pleas Court

Personal Services 2,822,195 2,797,195 2,769,924 27,271

Materials and Supplies 46,000 55,918 55,918 -

Contractual Services 413,593 607,311 571,571 35,740

Total Common Pleas Court 3,281,788 3,460,424 3,397,413 63,011
Court Services

Personal Services 755,300 755,300 729,058 26,242
Domestic Relations Court

Personal Services 1,718,398 1,718,398 1,696,415 21,983

Materials and Supplies 18,285 121,179 118,680 2,499

Contractual Services 173,955 178,713 158,548 20,165

Total Domestic Relations Court 1,910,638 2,018,290 1,973,643 44,647
Parenting Education

Contractual Services 45,000 48,480 48,480 -

Total Parenting Education 45,000 48,480 48,480 -
Juvenile Court

Personal Services 3,054,782 2,973,672 2,951,140 22,532

Materials and Supplies 73,038 71,483 70,408 1,075

Contractual Services 1,565,748 1,654,058 1,649,277 4,781

Capital Outlay - 271,002 252,331 18,671

Total Juvenile Court 4,693,568 4,970,215 4,923,156 47,059
Juvenile Court Technology Grant

Materials and Supplies - 78,800 78,800 -

Total Juvenile Court Technology Grant - 78,800 78,800 -
Probate Court

Personal Services 1,567,563 1,679,634 1,562,536 117,098

Materials and Supplies 29,000 35,601 35,601 -

Contractual Services 121,000 137,163 101,666 35,497

Total Probate Court 1,717,563 1,852,398 1,699,803 152,595
Court of Appeals

Materials and Supplies 47,887 49,982 44,884 5,098

Contractual Services 543,697 567,044 540,267 26,777

Capital Outlay - 20,600 20,577 23

Other 300 300 - 300

Total Court of Appeals $ 591,884  § 637,926 $ 605,728 $ 32,198

(continued)
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Butler County, Ohio

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balance-Budget and Actual
General Fund (continued)

Budget Basis

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Municipal Courts
Personal Services
Contractual Services
Total Municipal Courts

Total General Government:
Judicial

Public Safety
Adult Probation
Personal Services
Materials and Supplies
Contractual Services
Total Adult Probation

Coroner
Personal Services
Materials and Supplies
Contractual Services
Total Coroner

Coroner's Morgue
Materials and Supplies
Contractual Services
Total Coroner's Morgue

Juvenile Facilities
Personal Services
Materials and Supplies
Contractual Services
Capital Outlay
Total Juvenile Facilities

Job and Family Services Fraud Investigation
Personal Services
Contractual Services
Other
Total Job and Family Services Fraud Investigation

Children Services Security Services
Personal Services
Contractual Services
Other
Total Children Services Security Services

Variance
Original Final Positive

Budget Budget Actual (Negative)
486,400 $ 502,421 500,764 1,657
72,500 99,212 97,760 1,452
558,900 601,633 598,524 3,109
16,741,089 17,832,235 17,057,719 774,516
2,276,317 2,276,317 2,213,502 62,815
98,000 80,806 80,747 59
196,886 224,853 215,375 9,478
2,571,203 2,581,976 2,509,624 72,352
950,426 983,264 947,613 35,651
9,300 9,851 8,629 1,222
17,723 19,442 17,329 2,113
977,449 1,012,557 973,571 38,986
28,000 51,969 50,394 1,575
302,263 393,489 389,023 4,466
330,263 445,458 439,417 6,041
2,281,372 2,437,463 2,414,239 23,224
145,300 182,055 169,907 12,148
120,170 127,920 124,837 3,083
- 66,500 62,500 4,000
2,546,842 2,813,938 2,771,483 42,455
122,417 122,417 120,572 1,845
700 1,259 1,259 -
800 350 200 150
123,917 124,026 122,031 1,995
459,468 459,468 452,829 6,639
550 908 883 25
2,400 2,150 1,500 650
462,418  § 462,526 455,212 7,314
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Butler County, Ohio

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balance-Budget and Actual
General Fund (continued)

Budget Basis

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Sheriff's Academy
Personal Services
Materials and Supplies
Contractual Services
Total Sheriff's Academy

Sheriff's Resolutions
Personal Services
Materials and Supplies
Contractual Services
Total Sheriff's Resolutions

Sheriff
Personal Services
Materials and Supplies
Contractual Services
Capital Outlay
Other
Total Sheriff

Paramedics
Personal Services
Materials and Supplies
Contractual Services
Other
Total Paramedics

Incarceration Alternatives
Personal Services
Materials and Supplies
Contractual Services
Total Incarceration Alternatives

Rehabilitation Facility Center Deputy Services
Personal Services
Contractual Services
Other
Total Rehabilitation Facility Center Deputy Services

Variance
Original Final Positive

Budget Budget Actual (Negative)
91,660 $ 98,283 98,120 163
33,700 34,719 34,719 -
55,745 77,511 76,953 558
181,105 210,513 209,792 721
300,905 300,905 287,639 13,266
863,000 1,127,204 1,127,204 -
2,899,500 3,392,368 3,390,430 1,938
4,063,405 4,820,477 4,805,273 15,204
26,465,781 26,663,782 26,123,287 540,495
710,525 1,029,759 1,029,759 -
762,847 862,345 860,183 2,162
- 1,174,986 1,174,986 -
261,887 284,103 284,103 -
28,201,040 30,014,975 29,472,318 542,657
1,731,023 1,731,323 1,383,044 348,279
404,000 456,535 456,535 -
326,500 336,920 336,180 740
3,999 3,999 3,999 -
2,465,522 2,528,777 2,179,758 349,019
256,959 319,669 312,431 7,238
404,000 643,980 614,342 29,638
241,500 249,569 235,868 13,701
902,459 1,213,218 1,162,641 50,577
109,247 109,247 98,694 10,553
500 500 - 500
800 800 700 100
110,547 $ 110,547 99,394 11,153
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Butler County, Ohio

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balance-Budget and Actual
General Fund (continued)

Budget Basis

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Variance
Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)
General Communications Sales Tax
Personal Services $ 656,401 $ 656,401 $ 249,296 $ 407,105
Materials and Supplies 103,824 145,565 145,565 -
Contractual Services 2,546,626 2,603,689 2,603,689 -
Capital Outlay - 291,000 291,000 -
Other 3,500 5,230 5,230 -
Total General Communications Sales Tax 3,310,351 3,701,885 3,294,780 407,105
E911 Dispatch
Personal Services 3,861,090 3,861,490 3,846,698 14,792
Materials and Supplies 51,000 54,008 54,008 -
Contractual Services 278,547 284,907 284,907 -
Other 14,000 23,011 23,011 -
Total E911 Dispatch 4,204,637 4,223,416 4,208,624 14,792
Total Public Safety 50,451,158 54,264,289 52,703,918 1,560,371
Public Works
Solid Waste
Contractual Services 13,500 13,500 13,500 -
Engineers Plat Room
Personal Services 226,733 226,733 214,297 12,436
Total Public Works 240,233 240,233 227,797 12,436
Health
Other - Health
Contractual Services 967,057 967,057 967,057 -
Registration Vital Statistics
Other 6,000 6,000 6,000 -
Total Health 973,057 973,057 973,057 -
Human Services
Veterans Memorial
Materials and Supplies 3,000 3,000 - 3,000
Contractual Services 8,000 8,130 8,130 -
Total Veterans Memorial 11,000 11,130 8,130 3,000
Veterans Services
Personal Services 919,283 928,493 855,635 72,858
Materials and Supplies 38,825 50,327 49,890 437
Contractual Services 2,036,377 2,102,761 1,198,608 904,153
Total Veterans Services 2,994,485 3,081,581 2,104,133 977,448
Total Human Services $ 3,005,485 $ 3,092,711 $ 2,112,263 $ 980,448

(continued)
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Butler County, Ohio

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balance-Budget and Actual
General Fund (continued)

Budget Basis

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Conservation and Recreation
Agricultural
Contractual Services
Other
Total Agricultural

Emergency Management
Materials and Supplies
Contractual Services
Other
Total Emergency Management

Total Conservation and Recreation

Debt Service
Principal Retirement
Interest
Total Debt Service

Total Expenditures
Excess of Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures

Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Other Financing Sources
Advances - In
Advances - Out
Transfers - Out
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Net Change in Fund Balance
Fund Balance at Beginning of Year

Prior Year Encumbrances Appropriated
Fund Balance at End of Year

Variance
Original Final Positive

Budget Budget Actual (Negative)
12,000 § 12,000 12,000 § -
439,645 504,294 504,294 -
451,645 516,294 516,294 -
2,500 2,500 - 2,500
1,000 1,000 - 1,000
59,803 59,803 59,803 -
63,303 63,303 59,803 3,500
514,948 579,597 576,097 3,500
413,961 413,961 413,961 -
25,915 25,915 25,915 -
439,876 439,876 439,876 -
106,346,474 120,134,157 113,928,735 6,205,422
10,221,651 (20,197,070) (2,781,029) 17,416,041
2,821,932 2,821,932 2,913,850 91,918
- - 12,000 12,000
(10,000,000) (4,000,000) (4,000,000) -
(21,626,473) (20,820,672) (20,222,667) 598,005
(28,804,541) (21,998,740) (21,296,817) 701,923
(18,582,890) (42,195,810) (24,077,846) 18,117,964
136,108,205 136,108,205 136,108,205 -
6,238,244 6,238,244 6,238,244 -
123,763,559  § 100,150,639 118,268,603  § 18,117,964
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Butler County, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balance-Budget and Actual

Mental Health and Addiction Recovery Services Board-Special Revenue Fund

Budget Basis
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Revenues:
Property Taxes
Charges for Services
Intergovernmental
Other

Total Revenues

Expenditures:
Current:
Health
Personal Services
Materials and Supplies
Contractual Services
Capital Outlay
Other
Total Expenditures

Excess of Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures

Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Other Financing Sources
Transfers - In

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Net Change in Fund Balance
Fund Balance at Beginning of Year

Prior Year Encumbrances Appropriated
Fund Balance at End of Year

Variance
Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)
9,509,800 $ 9,509,800  $ 9,303,071 $ (206,729)
73,080 145,658 33,187 (112,471)
7,701,649 7,701,649 9,421,970 1,720,321
- - 147,665 147,665
17,284,529 17,357,107 18,905,893 1,548,786
1,740,004 1,840,165 1,747,132 93,033
209,230 216,615 31,999 184,616
17,838,817 18,842,990 17,039,791 1,803,199
100 360,613 277,129 83,484
26,741 114,181 88,140 26,041
19,814,892 21,374,564 19,184,191 2,190,373
(2,530,363) (4,017,457) (278,298) 3,739,159
- - 180,630 180,630
110,000 110,000 - (110,000)
110,000 110,000 180,630 70,630
(2,420,363) (3,907,457) (97,668) 3,809,789
19,059,678 19,059,678 19,059,678 -
1,262,761 1,262,761 1,262,761 -
17,902,076  $ 16,414,982  § 20,224,771 $ 3,809,789
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Butler County, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balance-Budget and Actual

Developmental Disabilities-Special Revenue Fund

Budget Basis
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Revenues:
Property Taxes
Charges for Services
Intergovernmental
Other

Total Revenues

Expenditures:
Current:
Health
Developmental Disabilities
Personal Services
Materials and Supplies
Contractual Services
Capital Outlay
Other
Total Expenditures

Excess of Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures

Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Other Financing Sources

Net Change in Fund Balance
Fund Balance at Beginning of Year

Prior Year Encumbrances Appropriated
Fund Balance at End of Year

Variance
Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)
16,800,000 $ 16,800,000 16,813,802 13,802
9,000 9,000 8,734 (266)
4,835,180 4,931,530 7,216,274 2,284,744
- - 21,642 21,642
21,644,180 21,740,530 24,060,452 2,319,922
12,539,217 12,539,525 12,257,672 281,853
324,900 378,985 347,896 31,089
17,849,641 19,123,734 16,695,151 2,428,583
111,000 201,000 116,020 84,980
175,000 450,000 271,350 178,650
30,999,758 32,693,244 29,688,089 3,005,155
(9,355,578) (10,952,714) (5,627,637) 5,325,077
180,000 180,000 69,228 (110,772)
(9,175,578) (10,772,714) (5,558,409) 5,214,305
38,708,519 38,708,519 38,708,519 -
463,337 463,337 463,337 -
29,996,278  § 28,399,142 33,613,447 5,214,305

159



Butler County, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balance-Budget and Actual

Job and Family Services/Children Services Agency-Special Revenue Fund

Budget Basis
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Revenues:
Property Taxes
Intergovernmental
Other

Total Revenues

Expenditures:
Current:
Human Services
Job and Family/Children Services

Personal Services
Materials and Supplies
Contractual Services
Capital Outlay
Other

Total Human Services

Excess of Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures

Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Other Financing Sources
Transfers - In

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Net Change in Fund Balance
Fund Balance at Beginning of Year

Prior Year Encumbrances Appropriated
Fund Balance at End of Year

Variance
Original Final Positive

Budget Budget Actual (Negative)
13,750,000  $ 13,750,000  $ 14,459,420 709,420
30,214,169 27,347,700 27,554,420 206,720
448,320 448,320 498,626 50,306
44,412,489 41,546,020 42,512,466 966,446
19,986,469 15,891,216 15,891,216 -
306,808 229,178 161,570 67,608
28,334,479 29,217,020 24,523,816 4,693,204
25,000 - - -
1,189,000 1,155,260 1,155,260 -
49,841,756 46,492,674 41,731,862 4,760,812
(5,429,267) (4,946,654) 780,604 5,727,258
246,075 246,075 282,749 36,674
826,473 826,473 811,232 (15,241)
1,072,548 1,072,548 1,093,981 21,433
(4,356,719) (3,874,106) 1,874,585 5,748,691
17,663,792 17,663,792 17,663,792 -
3,527,987 3,527,987 3,527,987 -
16,835,060  § 17,317,673 § 23,066,364 5,748,691
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Butler County, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balance-Budget and Actual

Residential Incentive Districts and Tax Incremental Financings-Special Revenue Fund

Budget Basis
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Revenues:
Payments in Lieu of Taxes
Other

Total Revenues

Expenditures:
Current:
Legislative and Executive - Intergovernmental
Contractual Services
Public Works - Intergovernmental
Contractual Services
Total Expenditures

Excess of Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures

Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Other Financing Sources
Advances - In
Transfers - In
Transfers - Out
Bonds Issued
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Net Change in Fund Balance
Fund Balance at Beginning of Year

Prior Year Encumbrances Appropriated
Fund Balance at End of Year

Variance
Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)
13,086,771 $ 13,124,537 13,188,259  § 63,722
34,960 12,124 2,452,778 2,440,654
13,121,731 13,136,661 15,641,037 2,504,376
4,290,288 6,084,076 6,038,922 45,154
10,260,546 25,354,245 22,753,117 2,601,128
14,550,834 31,438,321 28,792,039 2,646,282
(1,429,103) (18,301,660) (13,151,002) 5,150,658
2,000,000 4,000,000 3,963,646 (36,354)
- 4,000,000 4,000,000 -
- 4,000,000 4,000,000 -
(2,607,667) (6,858,201) (6,724,377) 133,824
- 7,520,869 7,520,869 -
(607,667) 12,662,668 12,760,138 97,470
(2,036,770) (5,638,992) (390,864) 5,248,128
9,391,626 9,391,626 9,391,626 -
2,081,722 2,081,722 2,081,722 -
9,436,578  § 5,834,356 11,082,484 8 5,248,128
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Butler County, Ohio

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balance-Budget and Actual
County ARPA Relief Fund-Special Revenue Fund
Budget Basis

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Revenues:
Intergovernmental
Investment Earnings

Total Revenues

Expenditures:
Current:
Legislative and Executive
Contrauctual Services
Public Safety
Contractual Services
Other
Total Public Safety
Public Works - Intergovernmental
Other
Health - Intergovernmental
Other
Human Services - Intergovernmental
Other
Conservation and Recreation - Intergovernmental
Other
Total Expenditures

Net Change in Fund Balance
Fund Balance at Beginning of Year

Prior Year Encumbrances Appropriated
Fund Balance at End of Year

Variance
Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)
S 37,209,644  § 37,209,644  § 37,209,644  § -
- - 669,592 669,592
37,209,644 37,209,644 37,879,236 669,592
- 37,763 37,763 -
- 16,647,237 594,762 16,052,475
24,614,118 24,614,118 - 24,614,118
24,614,118 41,261,355 594,762 40,666,593
3,000,000 3,000,000 3,000,000 -
645,526 645,526 645,526 -
5,200,000 5,200,000 5,200,000 -
3,750,000 3,750,000 3,750,000 -
37,209,644 53,894,644 13,228,051 40,666,593
- (16,685,000) 24,651,185 41,336,185
37,221,994 37,221,994 37,221,994 -
S 37,221,994 § 20,536,994 § 61,873,179 § 41,336,185
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Butler County, Ohio

Schedule of Revenues, Expenses, and
Changes in Fund Equity-Budget and Actual
Sewer-Enterprise Fund

Budget Basis

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Variance
Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)

Revenues:

Charges for Services $ 18,821,128  § 18,821,128  § 20,383,082  $ 1,561,954

Contributed Capital 3,174,170 3,174,170 5,956,552 2,782,382

Special Assessments 80,000 80,000 23,752 (56,248)

Other Non-Operating Revenues 26,500 26,500 170,566 144,066

Other Operating Revenues 32,300 32,300 266,613 234,313
Total Revenues 22,134,098 22,134,098 26,800,565 4,666,467
Expenses:

Personal Services 6,215,400 6,215,400 5,430,874 784,526

Materials and Supplies 2,040,522 2,529,161 2,401,695 127,466

Contractual Services 4,195,485 4,652,814 4,491,163 161,651

Other Operating Expenses 773,014 733,886 543,168 190,718

Capital Outlay 14,603,576 14,934,793 4,226,488 10,708,305

Debt Service:

Principal Retirement 1,870,593 1,870,593 1,870,593 -
Interest 769,742 769,742 769,695 47

Total Expenses 30,468,332 31,706,389 19,733,676 11,972,713
Net Change in Fund Equity (8,334,234) (9,572,291) 7,066,889 16,639,180
Fund Equity at Beginning of Year 48,156,106 48,156,106 48,156,106 -
Prior Year Encumbrances Appropriated 2,151,313 2,151,313 2,151,313 -

Fund Equity at End of Year $ 41973,185 $ 40,735,128 $ 57374308 $ 16,639,180
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Butler County, Ohio

Schedule of Revenues, Expenses, and
Changes in Fund Equity-Budget and Actual

Water-Enterprise Fund
Budget Basis

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Revenues:
Charges for Services
Contributed Capital
Special Assessments
Other Non-Operating Revenues
Other Operating Revenues
Total Revenues

Expenses:
Personal Services
Materials and Supplies
Contractual Services
Other Operating Expenses
Utility Deposits Returned
Capital Outlay
Debt Service:
Principal Retirement
Interest
Total Expenses

Net Change in Fund Equity

Fund Equity at Beginning of Year

Prior Year Encumbrances Appropriated

Fund Equity at End of Year

Variance
Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)
21,720,976  $ 21,720,976  $ 22,852,630 1,131,654
1,868,535 2,407,487 4,459,608 2,052,121
60,000 60,000 15,729 (44,271)
67,213 67,213 94,278 27,065
1,550 1,550 1,322 (228)
23,718,274 24,257,226 27,423,567 3,166,341
2,783,126 2,783,126 2,264,658 518,468
739,022 863,050 781,160 81,890
10,461,941 12,273,235 11,550,905 722,330
546,000 496,402 422,552 73,850
135,485 135,485 135,485 -
5,686,682 6,793,770 3,963,567 2,830,203
3,600,017 3,621,917 3,600,010 21,907
874,745 881,398 881,371 27
24,827,018 27,848,383 23,599,708 4,248,675
(1,108,744) (3,591,157) 3,823,859 7,415,016
27,661,790 27,661,790 27,661,790 -
2,573,021 2,573,021 2,573,021 -
29,126,067  $ 26,643,654 $ 34,058,670 7,415,016

164



Butler County, Ohio

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balance-Budget and Actual
Real Estate Assessment-Special Revenue Fund
Budget Basis

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Revenues:
Charges for Services
Other

Total Revenues

Expenditures:
Current:
General Government:
Legislative and Executive
Real Estate Assessment
Personal Services
Materials and Supplies
Contractual Services
Total Expenditures

Excess of Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures
Net Change in Fund Balance
Fund Balance at Beginning of Year

Prior Year Encumbrances Appropriated
Fund Balance at End of Year

Variance

Original Final Positive

Budget Budget Actual (Negative)
2,603,000 $ 2,595,681 2,595,711 30
- - 2,986 2,986
2,603,000 2,595,681 2,598,697 3,016
1,484,014 1,484,014 1,377,330 106,684
44,500 44,833 34,833 10,000
982,500 999,949 735,962 263,987
2,511,014 2,528,796 2,148,125 380,671
91,986 66,885 450,572 383,687
91,986 66,885 450,572 383,687
3,587,889 3,587,889 3,587,889 -
86,400 86,400 86,400 -
3,766,275  § 3,741,174 4,124,861 383,687
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Butler County, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balance-Budget and Actual

All Other Legislative and Executive-Special Revenue Fund

Budget Basis
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Revenues:
Charges for Services
Fines and Forfeitures
Intergovernmental
Investment Earnings
Other

Total Revenues

Expenditures:
Current:
General Government:
Legislative and Executive
Other Legislative and Executive
Personal Services
Materials and Supplies
Contractual Services
Other
Total Expenditures

Excess of Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures

Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Other Financing Sources

Net Change in Fund Balance
Fund Balance at Beginning of Year

Prior Year Encumbrances Appropriated
Fund Balance at End of Year

Variance
Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)

1,027,200 $ 970,200 $ 1,206,170  $ 235,970
535,250 385,448 410,105 24,657

- 10,000 10,000 -

2,500 2,500 39,745 37,245

- - 3,077 3,077

1,564,950 1,368,148 1,669,097 300,949
944,262 949,179 863,952 85,227
288,700 309,441 293,841 15,600
507,900 607,719 447,687 160,032
17,000 17,730 16,202 1,528
1,757,862 1,884,069 1,621,682 262,387
(192,912) (515,921) 47,415 563,336
15,000 15,000 13,155 (1,845)
(177,912) (500,921) 60,570 561,491
2,457,439 2,457,439 2,457,439 -
82,928 82,928 82,928 -
2,362,455 § 2,039,446 § 2,600,937 § 561,491
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Butler County, Ohio

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balance-Budget and Actual
All Other Judicial-Special Revenue Fund
Budget Basis

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Revenues:
Charges for Services
Fines and Forfeitures
Intergovernmental
Investment Earnings
Other

Total Revenues

Expenditures:
Current:
General Government:
Judicial
Other Judicial
Personal Services
Materials and Supplies
Contractual Services
Capital Outlay
Other
Total Expenditures

Excess of Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures
Fund Balance at Beginning of Year

Prior Year Encumbrances Appropriated
Fund Balance at End of Year

Variance
Original Final Positive

Budget Budget Actual (Negative)
2,629,820 $ 2,023,587  $ 2,160,875  $ 137,288
128,000 119,896 129,092 9,196
301,400 301,050 351,059 50,009
4 4 46 42
5,000 2,319 3,794 1,475
3,064,224 2,446,856 2,644,866 198,010
1,871,152 1,930,099 1,802,132 127,967
348,150 355,372 314,854 40,518
743,064 888,715 689,839 198,876
- 170,683 96,556 74,127
150,000 37,042 37,042 -
3,112,366 3,381,911 2,940,423 441,488
(48,142) (935,055) (295,557) 639,498
5,197,712 5,197,712 5,197,712 -
88,921 88,921 88,921 -
5,238,491 $ 4,351,578  § 4,991,076 $ 639,498
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Butler County, Ohio

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balance-Budget and Actual
All Other Public Safety-Special Revenue Fund
Budget Basis

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Revenues:
Charges for Services
Licenses and Permits
Fines and Forfeitures
Intergovernmental
Other

Total Revenues

Expenditures:
Current:
Public Safety
Other Public Safety

Personal Services
Materials and Supplies
Contractual Services
Capital Outlay
Other

Total Expenditures

Excess of Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures

Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Other Financing Sources
Transfers - In

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Net Change in Fund Balance
Fund Balance at Beginning of Year

Prior Year Encumbrances Appropriated
Fund Balance at End of Year

Variance
Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)
S 5,069,807 $ 4,505,042 $ 4,622,757 117,715
927,000 609,225 641,793 32,568
27,650 15,781 15,040 (741)
5,574,366 5,965,835 6,241,250 275,415
434,785 404,785 594,188 189,403
12,033,608 11,500,668 12,115,028 614,360
11,047,759 10,866,427 9,854,813 1,011,614
450,978 462,037 379,546 82,491
875,010 1,382,746 1,176,665 206,081
- 164,541 162,661 1,880
258,500 261,251 243,177 18,074
12,632,247 13,137,002 11,816,862 1,320,140
(598,639) (1,636,334) 298,166 1,934,500
50,000 23,734 17,963 (5,771)
8,750 8,750 162,750 154,000
58,750 32,484 180,713 148,229
(539,889) (1,603,850) 478,879 2,082,729
4,052,911 4,052,911 4,052,911 -
354,057 354,057 354,057 -
$ 3,867,079 § 2,803,118 § 4,885,847 2,082,729
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Butler County, Ohio

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balance-Budget and Actual
Motor Vehicle-Special Revenue Fund
Budget Basis

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Revenues:
Other Local Taxes
Charges for Services
License and Permits
Fines and Forfeitures
Intergovernmental
Special Assessments
Investment Earnings
Other

Total Revenues

Expenditures:
Current:
Public Works
Motor Vehicle

Personal Services
Materials and Supplies
Contractual Services
Capital Outlay
Other

Total Public Works

Public Works - Intergovernmental
Motor Vehicle

Contractual Services

Debt Service:
Principal Retirement

Total Expenditures
Excess of Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures
Fund Balance at Beginning of Year

Prior Year Encumbrances Appropriated
Fund Balance at End of Year

Variance
Original Final Positive

Budget Budget Actual (Negative)
2,700,000 $ 2,700,000 $ 2,878,956  $ 178,956
185,000 185,000 303,671 118,671
250,000 250,000 360,928 110,928
165,000 165,000 206,215 41,215
15,352,749 14,780,000 15,624,117 844,117
- - 134,122 134,122
10,000 10,000 182,851 172,851
20,000 20,000 313,930 293,930
18,682,749 18,110,000 20,004,790 1,894,790
6,774,582 6,775,361 6,519,138 256,223
1,636,965 1,634,408 1,540,328 94,080
11,765,605 13,618,815 9,795,664 3,823,151
830,000 878,100 875,880 2,220
5,000 4,221 - 4221
21,012,152 22,910,905 18,731,010 4,179,895
3,224,159 3,419,306 3,419,306 -
124,300 124,300 124,290 10
24,360,611 26,454,511 22,274,606 4,179,905
(5,677,862) (8,344,511) (2,269,816) 6,074,695
16,309,063 16,309,063 16,309,063 -
1,386,062 1,386,062 1,386,062 -
12,017,263 § 9,350,614  § 15425309 § 6,074,695
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Butler County, Ohio

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balance-Budget and Actual
All Other Public Works-Special Revenue Fund
Budget Basis

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Revenues:
Charges for Services
Licenses and Permits
Intergovernmental
Permissive Motor Vehicle License Taxes
Special Assessments
Investment Earnings
Other
Total Revenues

Expenditures:
Current:
Public Works
Other Public Works

Personal Services
Materials and Supplies
Contractual Services
Capital Outlay
Other

Total Expenditures

Excess of Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures

Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Transfers - In

Net Change in Fund Balance
Fund Balance at Beginning of Year

Prior Year Encumbrances Appropriated
Fund Balance at End of Year

Variance
Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)
1,139,050  $ 1,110,450  $ 1,090,202  $ (20,248)
300 300 11,460 11,160
4,393,060 3,360,352 3,095,589 (264,763)
1,600,000 2,329,064 2,520,031 190,967
1,445,000 1,445,000 1,600,950 155,950
1,500 1,555 3,142 1,587
95,000 95,000 178,801 83,801
8,673,910 8,341,721 8,500,175 158,454
1,032,858 1,032,422 949,615 82,807
125,210 141,470 106,884 34,586
6,099,669 8,574,419 7,751,645 822,774
- 305,000 304,271 729
49,500 277,878 271,845 6,033
7,307,237 10,331,189 9,384,260 946,929
1,366,673 (1,989,468) (884,085) 1,105,383
- 140,000 209,000 69,000
1,366,673 (1,849,468) (675,085) 1,174,383
17,451,181 17,451,181 17,451,181 -
598,361 598,361 598,361 -
19,416,215  § 16,200,074  § 17,374,457 8 1,174,383
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Butler County, Ohio
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balance-Budget and Actual

Child Support Enforcement-Special Revenue Fund

Budget Basis
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Revenues:
Charges for Services
Intergovernmental
Other

Total Revenues

Expenditures:
Current:
Human Services
Child Support Enforcement

Personal Services
Materials and Supplies
Contractual Services
Other

Total Expenditures

Excess of Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures

Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Other Financing Sources

Net Change in Fund Balance
Fund Balance at Beginning of Year

Prior Year Encumbrances Appropriated
Fund Balance at End of Year

Variance
Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)
1,320,000 $ 1,320,000 1,355,511 35,511
4,784,866 4,054,866 3,846,655 (208,211)
- - 5,965 5,965
6,104,866 5,374,866 5,208,131 (166,735)
3,888,600 3,888,600 3,373,560 515,040
141,718 141,718 129,654 12,064
1,693,003 1,787,043 919,012 868,031
309,775 309,775 247,583 62,192
6,033,096 6,127,136 4,669,809 1,457,327
71,770 (752,270) 538,322 1,290,592
318,000 318,000 635,636 317,636
389,770 (434,270) 1,173,958 1,608,228
4,300,837 4,300,837 4,300,837 -
153,105 153,105 153,105 -
4,843,712 § 4,019,672 5,627,900 1,608,228
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Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balance-Budget and Actual
County Care Facility-Special Revenue Fund
Budget Basis

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Revenues:
Charges for Services
Intergovernmental
Investment Earnings
Other

Total Revenues

Expenditures:
Current:
Human Services
County Care Facility

Personal Services
Materials and Supplies
Contractual Services
Other

Total Expenditures

Excess of Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures

Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Other Financing Sources

Net Change in Fund Balance
Fund Balance at Beginning of Year

Prior Year Encumbrances Appropriated
Fund Balance at End of Year

Variance

Original Final Positive

Budget Budget Actual (Negative)
2,290,000 $ 986,305  $ 986,894 $ 589
1,330,000 1,174,350 1,132,683 (41,667)
- 40 444 404
- - 7,772 7,772
3,620,000 2,160,695 2,127,793 (32,902)
2,399,750 1,433,262 1,384,512 48,750
452,000 258,175 174,922 83,253
1,907,050 1,572,118 1,518,084 54,034
1,000 1,000 - 1,000
4,759,800 3,264,555 3,077,518 187,037
(1,139,800) (1,103,860) (949,725) 154,135
- - 37,282 37,282
(1,139,800) (1,103,860) (912,443) 191,417
981,060 981,060 981,060 -
180,562 180,562 180,562 -
21,822 § 57,762 § 249,179  § 191,417
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Butler County, Ohio

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balance-Budget and Actual
Elderly Services Levy-Special Revenue Fund
Budget Basis

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Revenues:
Property Taxes
Intergovernmental
Other

Total Revenues

Expenditures:
Current:
Human Services
Eldery Services Levy

Personal Services
Materials and Supplies
Contractual Services

Total Expenditures

Excess of Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures
Fund Balance at Beginning of Year

Prior Year Encumbrances Appropriated
Fund Balance at End of Year

Variance

Original Final Positive

Budget Budget Actual (Negative)
9,200,000 $ 9,200,000 $ 9,398,617  § 198,617
1,300,000 1,300,000 1,167,074 (132,926)
- - 294 294
10,500,000 10,500,000 10,565,985 65,985
171,810 173,101 172,997 104
2,050 2,126 2,126 -
10,318,400 12,687,144 12,637,240 49,904
10,492,260 12,862,371 12,812,363 50,008
7,740 (2,362,371) (2,246,378) 115,993
10,074,293 10,074,293 10,074,293 -
1,800,715 1,800,715 1,800,715 -
11,882,748  § 9,512,637  § 9,628,630  § 115,993
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Butler County, Ohio

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balance-Budget and Actual

All Other Health Services-Special Revenue Fund
Budget Basis

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Revenues:
Fines and Forfeitures

Net Change in Fund Balance

Fund Balance at Beginning of Year
Fund Balance at End of Year

Variance
Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)
S 232,669 § 232,669
232,669 232,669
$ 232,669 $ 232,669
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Butler County, Ohio

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balance-Budget and Actual

All Other Human Services-Special Revenue Fund
Budget Basis

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Revenues:
Charges for Services
Intergovernmental
Other

Total Revenues

Expenditures:
Current:
Human Services
Other Human Services
Personal Services
Materials and Supplies
Contractual Services
Other
Total Expenditures

Excess of Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures

Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Advances - Out
Transfers - In

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Net Change in Fund Balance
Fund Balance at Beginning of Year

Prior Year Encumbrances Appropriated
Fund Balance at End of Year

Variance
Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)

-8 55,450 57,438 1,988
5,771,450 5,782,651 5,797,783 15,132
- - 358 358
5,771,450 5,838,101 5,855,579 17,478
199,447 233,396 182,546 50,850
15,279 21,812 6,433 15,379
5,543,671 9,172,607 8,121,249 1,051,358
- 159 159 -

5,758,397 9,427,974 8,310,387 1,117,587
13,053 (3,589,873) (2,454,808) 1,135,065

- (12,000) (12,000) -
76,603 44,435 39,685 (4,750)
76,603 32,435 27,685 (4,750)
89,656 (3,557,438) (2,427,123) 1,130,315
3,607,229 3,607,229 3,607,229 -
1,146 1,146 1,146 -
3,698,031 $ 50,937 1,181,252 1,130,315
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Butler County, Ohio

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balance-Budget and Actual
County Coronavirus Relief-Special Revenue Fund
Budget Basis

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Revenues:
Other

Expenditures:
Current:
Public Safety:
Other
Total Expenditures

Net Change in Fund Balance

Fund Balance at Beginning of Year
Fund Balance at End of Year

Variance
Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)
2,251 18,308 16,057
2,251 2,251 -
2,251 2,251 -
- 16,057 16,057
$ - 16,057  § 16,057
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Butler County, Ohio

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and

Changes in Fund Balance-Budget and Actual

All Other Conservation and Recreation-Special Revenue Fund
Budget Basis

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Variance
Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)
Revenues:
Other Local Taxes 1,300,000 $ 1,793,058 1,795,821 $ 2,763
Charges for Services 27,000 27,000 52,044 25,044
Total Revenues 1,327,000 1,820,058 1,847,865 27,807
Expenditures:
Current:
Conversation and Recreation
Contractual Services 29,594 1,885,411 1,878,283 7,128
Net Change in Fund Balance 1,297,406 (65,353) (30,418) 34,935
Fund Balance at Beginning of Year 92,354 92,354 92,354 -
Prior Year Encumbrances Appropriated 538 538 538 -
Fund Balance at End of Year 1,390,298 $ 27,539 62,474 $ 34,935
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Butler County, Ohio

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balance-Budget and Actual
Technology-Capital Projects Fund

Budget Basis

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Revenues:

Expenditures:
Legislative and Executive:
Contractual Services

Excess of Revenues Under Expenditures

Fund Balance at Beginning of Year
Fund Balance at End of Year

Variance
Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)
I -8 -
- 6,200 6,200
- (6,200) (6,200)
220,341 220,341 220,341
220,341 $ 214,141 $ 214,141

178



Butler County, Ohio

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and

Changes in Fund Balance-Budget and Actual

Other Capital Improvements-Capital Projects Fund
Budget Basis

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Variance
Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)
Other Financing Sources (Uses):

Transfers - In 15,000,000 15,000,000
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 15,000,000 15,000,000
Net Change in Fund Balance 15,000,000 15,000,000
Fund Balance at Beginning of Year - -
Fund Balance at End of Year $ S 15,000,000 $ 15,000,000
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Butler County, Ohio

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balance-Budget and Actual
Road Improvements-Capital Projects Fund
Budget Basis

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Variance
Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)
Revenues:
Intergovernmental $ 17,390,440 $ 13,627,823 $ 13,627,823 $ -
Other - - 66,451 66,451
Total Revenues 17,390,440 13,627,823 13,694,274 66,451
Expenditures:
Road Improvements
Public Works - Intergovernmental
Contractual Services 12,284,336 18,614,336 18,601,336 13,000
Capital Outlay
Road Improvement
Contractual Services 5,106,104 1,343,487 1,343,487 -
Total Expenditures 17,390,440 19,957,823 19,944,823 13,000
Excess of Revenues Under Expenditures - (6,330,000) (6,250,549) 79,451
Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Bonds Issued - 6,330,000 6,330,000 -
Net Change in Fund Balance - - 79,451 79,451

Fund Balance at Beginning of Year - - - -

Fund Balance at End of Year $ -8 -8 79,451 $ 79,451

180



Butler County, Ohio

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and

Changes in Fund Balance-Budget and Actual

Buildings Construction and Renovations-Capital Projects Fund
Budget Basis

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Revenues:

Fund Balance at Beginning of Year

Fund Balance at End of Year

Variance
Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)
-3 -3 R
300,339 300,339 300,339
300,339 $ 300,339 $ 300,339
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Butler County, Ohio

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balance-Budget and Actual
Bond Retirement-Debt Service Fund

Budget Basis

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Revenues:
Special Assessments

Expenditures:
Public Works - Intergovernmental
Contractual Services

Debt Service:
Principal Retirement
Interest
Issuance Costs

Total Debt Service

Total Expenditures
Excess of Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures

Other Financing Sources (Uses):

Transfers - In

Bonds Issued

Refunding Bonds Issued

Payment to Refunded Bond Escrow Agent
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Net Change in Fund Balance

Fund Balance at Beginning of Year
Fund Balance at End of Year

Variance
Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)
297,745  § 297,745 348,487  § 50,742
825,375 825,375 825,375 -
1,565,320 5,715,320 5,715,320 -
514,340 570,319 566,188 4,131
- 53,500 53,500 -
2,079,660 6,339,139 6,335,008 4,131
2,905,035 7,164,514 7,160,383 4,131
(2,607,290) (6,866,769) (6,811,896) 54,873
2,607,288 6,728,476 6,724,377 (4,099)
259,131 259,131
- 2,730,000 2,730,000 -
- (2,714,114) (2,714,114) -
2,607,288 7,003,493 6,999,394 (4,099)
?2) 136,724 187,498 50,774
269,147 269,147 269,147 -
269,145  § 405,871 456,645 $ 50,774
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Butler County, Ohio

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and

Changes in Fund Balance-Budget and Actual
Developmental Disabilities Trust-Permanent Fund
Budget Basis

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Revenues:
Investment Earnings
Other

Total Revenues

Expenditures:

Health
Contractual Services

Net Change in Fund Balance

Fund Balance at Beginning of Year
Fund Balance at End of Year

Variance
Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)
1,000 $ 1,000 $ 13,430 § 12,430
100 100 - (100)

1,100 1,100 13,430 12,330
53,000 53,000 53,000 -
(51,900) (51,900) (39,570) 12,330
874,233 874,233 874,233 -
822,333 §$ 822,333  §$ 834,663 $ 12,330
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Butler County, Ohio

Schedule of Revenues, Expenses, and
Changes in Fund Equity-Budget and Actual
Health Insurance-Internal Service Fund
Budget Basis

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Variance
Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)
Revenues:
Charges for Services $ 21,162,545 $ 20,624,545 $ 20,626,060 $ 1,515
Other - - 36,656 36,656
Other Non-Operating Revenues - - 177,915 177,915
Total Revenues 21,162,545 20,624,545 20,840,631 216,086
Expenses:
Personal Services - 17,077 17,077 -
Materials and Supplies 759,992 912 912 -
Contractual Services 20,402,553 20,653,503 18,897,561 1,755,942
Claims and Judgments 1,785,000 3,184,757 2,251,830 932,927
Other - 1,000 - 1,000
Total Expenses 22,947,545 23,857,249 21,167,380 2,689,869
Net Change in Fund Equity (1,785,000) (3,232,704) (326,749) 2,905,955
Fund Equity at Beginning of Year 3,953,358 3,953,358 3,953,358 -
Prior Year Encumbrances Appropriated 991,514 991,514 991,514 -

Fund Equity at End of Year $ 3,159.872 § 1,712,168  § 4,618,123  § 2,905,955
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Schedule of Revenues, Expenses, and

Changes in Fund Equity-Budget and Actual
Workers' Compensation -Internal Service Fund
Budget Basis

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Revenues:

Charges for Services

Other Non-Operating Revenues
Total Revenues

Expenses:
Personal Services
Materials and Supplies
Contractual Services
Claims and Judgments
Total Expenses

Net Change in Fund Equity
Fund Equity at Beginning of Year

Prior Year Encumbrances Appropriated
Fund Equity at End of Year

Variance
Original Final Positive

Budget Budget Actual (Negative)
2,368,384  § 2,368,384  § 2,379,220 10,836
- - 15,360 15,360
2,368,384 2,368,384 2,394,580 26,196
112,909 112,909 94,256 18,653
4,000 4,000 2,000 2,000
1,607,570 1,609,495 776,075 833,420
1,200,000 1,200,000 - 1,200,000
2,924,479 2,926,404 872,331 2,054,073
(556,095) (558,020) 1,522,249 2,080,269
5,675,371 5,675,371 5,675,371 -
1,132,777 1,132,777 1,132,777 -
6,252,053  § 6,250,128  § 8,330,397 2,080,269
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Statistical Section

This part of Butler County Ohio's annual comprehensive financial report presents detailed information as a context
for understanding what the information in the financial statements, note disclosures, and required supplementary

information says about the County's overall financial health.

Contents
Financial Trends

These schedules contain trend information to help the reader understand how the County's
financial position has changed over time.

Revenue Capacity

These schedules contain information to help the reader understand and assess the factors
affecting the County's ability to generate its most significant local revenue source, the property
tax.

Debt Capacity

These schedules present information to help the reader assess the affordability of the County's
current levels of outstanding debt and the County's ability to issue additional debt in the future.

Economic and Demographic Information
These schedules offer economic and demographic indicators to help the reader understand the

environment within which the County's financial activities take place and to provide information
that facilitates comparisons of financial information over time and among governments.

Operating Information

These schedules contain service and infrastructure data to help the reader understand how the
information in the County's financial report relates to the services the County provides and the
activities it performs.

Sources:

Unless otherwise noted, the information in these schedules is derived from the annual
comprehensive financial reports for the relevant year.

186

Page(s)

187-193

194-205

206-210

211-212

213-216



This page intentionally left blank.



'220z ul Buluuibaq £g "oN 1L gasvo o 1 8y) papiodas Ajuno ayyL :9joN
*6102 ul Bujuuibaq g "oN 1 S @sv9 Jo 1oedwi sy} papodal fjunod ayy :9JoN
*210Z ul Buluuibaq g2 "oN 1L asvo 40 Joedwi ay) papodas Ajunog sy :9joN
102 ul Bujuuibaq g9 "oN 1 S @sv9 Jo 1oedwi sy} papodal fjunod ayy :9JoN
vov'ize'le6 $  Gle'zec'ess §  €8.'086'22.  $  ¥/8'G9L'€69  $  00v'92S'€99  §  ¥er'e6L'SY9  $ 2E€0'v0Z¥e9  $  L20'T9Z'G99 §  699'C€0°T€9 $  9/2°78S'6LL SOd JoN JuswuILA09 Atewtid [ejoL
909'6/2'70} Z12'90€'99 (£1€'1.28°29) (59z'6€£°88) (225'089°29) (59€'6.5°09) 215'90L'S (z68'1€1°0€) (£98'09.°18) 898'%€6'8C (noyeQ) paousaiun
6%.°2L0'€0C G56°295'68 1 GLY'S8'891 £16°209'991 y€2'021 251 YSY'SLO' YL 119°09L'vEL 8¥v'667' 97| 001°506'G | 085'9€€'2S 1 pajoLisay
601'896'€29 872'€9€'L29 §29'266'929 222'205°G19 8€/'980°6.5 GEE'€9E29G £/8'9E€ V5SS SOY'¥68°87S £€7'888°LES 828'01£8€S sjessy [eyded ul Juawisau| }oN
JuswiuIdA0D ENE_._L
€99'661'6£€ ¥¥0'€L9'6LE 618'0£8'662 989'/€€£°982 102'521°8/2 89€'205°2/2 012'086°L.2 685'801°€92 YSZ'vEe2ST L16'9€€°652 uonisod 19N seiIARdY adA | -ssaulsng [ejoL
£/9'6£8'88 €51°9€5°89 18180161 029'0£6'6€ ¥S.'vE8 9 116°LSY'9F €8G5°282°9F /£0°'820°6€ 200'G88°0¢ €61°165°9¢ pajLsaiun
180'6€7'S 8EL'ELY'S 000°00€'S 000°00€'S 000°00€'S 000°00€'S 000°00€'S 000°00€'S 000°00€'S £80°0¥8'Y pajoLisey
6£6'022'5¥C €61'€99'G¥C 8€9'22Y'S¥e 990201 L¥2 £5%'066'G22 L6E'vPL 022 129'/6€°022 255082812 zsT6rL9Le 1¥9'506°L12 sjessy [eyded ul Juawisau| JoN
:$31}IAIJOY adA)-ssauisng
108°'128°16S 1/8'619°€9G ¥96'671°82Y 881'82Y° L0V €61'L07'G8E 950°'262°€LE zz8'eeeeey ZEY'ESL 20V Gl¥'869'6.€ 65€'GHZ 09Y INSOd }ON S2IHAIOY [BJUSWUISA0D) [€J0 L
€96'GEY'GL (Lv¥'622°2) (86¥'6.6°91L1) (588'692°821) (92€'GLGVLL) (zve'2€0°201) (120°925°0%) (626'651°69) (998°'G%9°28) (52€°959°2) (noyeQ) papousaiun
899'8€9'61 L12'6YL'v81L GLY'PSS €9l L1620 L9} y€2'028'9r L yS'sLL8EL 119°098'821 8r'66L Lyl 001°509'0% ) L6V'96Y' L) pajoLisay
0/L'Z¥2'826 $ S60°00L48E  $ /86'v/S'L8E  $  9SL'SBE'VLE  §  G8Z'960'ESE  $  ¥¥E'8LOLYE  $  9lz'eee'eee § €Le'ELL'oce  § 18L'BELIZE  $ /8L'SOP'0ZE sjessy [eyde ul Juswisenu] JoN
:S31}IAI}OY |BJUSWILIBAOD)

220z 120e 0202 6102 8102 1102 9102 G102 v102 €102

pajeisey pajeisey pajeisey

(Bununoooe jo siseq |enioode)

jusuodwo) Aq uomisod 18N

slea) uaj jse

o1yo ‘Auno) sapng



88l

(penunuo))
0/1'20L'2v  $  ¥09'8G.'/2Z $ 669'69.'G02  $  #16'2/9'207 $ 9/.'68€'L6L $  90L'¥90'GLL $  LLB'O06'VLL $  626'6PLTLL $  €EVTELTLL § 6Yb¥8YIL
19€'€LV'29 [y GLE'1EE'LS Ly Pyl pS £9G'976'2S 279'925°0S 2L0'9EY' VS 1G2°105'YS 991°6€1'81 070°8.E'9Y
€59°080°8 4 ¥56'88G VL 892'685 VL 12v'882°CL ¥2€°096°L 1 952°109'LL L00°€r9°El 909'6L€°9L 9/€%2L'6 2€2'25€E8
0L9'€19'€T 06520222 2L0'6LL'TT 615'€00'2C 9.0'¢6v'1T GSE'VL6'0C £7G'€65°12 6EL'LLL'0Z 18v'11€°02 LE1'€20'02
¥01'6LL°02 016°085°02 GE0'LL6'6L G91'258'6L €91°c61'6L 1€0°190°8L 225'661°61 zL0'L20'8L €0€°269°84 119'256°LL
£08'822°08) 0S1°18€°0L} ¥2e'8EY 8l €01'€€5'8Y | €12°ery'8el Y9y L8V Vel S¥8°0.v°02) 2LL'8vZ'8LL 192°¢66°€2) 60%'99v'81 |
898°/8G°1€ 1.¥'116'2C £96'898'8 ) Y¥E'162'8C 762 G52 92 022 L¥v'SlL 016'968'9) Z¥2 105Gl 110°GLE8) Zr0'v06°'GL
- - - - - - - - - 10L°€ve
¥20'092' 7} - - - vev'L1G'9 - - - - -
vv8'L2e L) 11¥'116°2C ¥22'0£5°84 €11°986'7C €96'676'81 96.'990°GL 625'€99°9L [AZAVL=Re] 110'GLE8) GEE'099'GL
- - - - 1€8'181 ver'vLe 18E'€€T - - -
- - 6£€'8€€ 1£2'60€'e - - - - - -
16V'290°06 6591 1+'98 28L'€0LTL £85'8€1°99 922 L08°LS GG1'ZLL'8S ¥02'909'%S €8£'82.'GS €02'110°09 GL6'LEV'09
991°698°¢ - - - - - - - - -
¥08'282'S - - - - - - - - -
100°615°0% 11Y'196'LYy 96.°89Z'¥¢ ¥SG'6YSeE LeezeeLe 8£6'6.£'€E zLr'10g'0e 1£9'925°L€ 06.'€69°0€ 1£2'698'62
Y¥Z 9 - - - - - - - - -
650'969°94 1S9'vLE‘8L 286'628°cl 1£8'696°8L 0SE'L¥8' VL 18Z°9LG' VL 022'6€5°Ch 6£8'656°CL 8LL‘0LL'8L 0vL'/82'8L
€1£'260'€ - - - - - - - - -
965°658'Y LLL'Y8S'T 99v'9¢L'e ZL0'0YL'S 28G5 ver'y 86.°9LL'€ yS'82LYy 1zz'L1e'e 608°202'y 898189y
18E'V6E'6 621°0LE'EL 986'7€0'8 ) 1911829 ¥06'8¥6'y 80.'€62'S ¥58'109'G 895°'/€2'S 1¥2'906'Y 676'726'S
966'€06' G8Z'GLL'Y TlS'leL'T §20'209'C 650°061°C 0£8'698°1 ¥02'6€0°C 18€'899'L 6891811 289'086°1
115'708 - 086'66 - - - - LeL'8l ¥S5°0L G05'G8
8EY'8.G'8S ¥10°85+'19 6.6'G98°95 9/1°€01'¥S £69'08E 7S 680°'722'0S 1€.°196'8Y 1¥S2L0' LY €50°209°Gh 26£°0¢E LTy
€1L%82 v12°.S ¥65°62 182701 8.L'6Y 9€8°0. 9¢.°0¥ 6£8°cE 10G°GY €10°6€
0EV'T8L'Y G8Z'055'S €61'GL6'G 912',68'y 9zE'9r8's 715'90€'S G86'0.8'Y GTr'L¥8'9 861 L1L'S z€T'681'E
126l 910°29 16¥'G8 £75'68 9rg'szl €sL'zLe €1£°05¢ S0L‘09%'L £28'8yl 168°€EL
875'918'¢ Zr0'ee0’'y L0v'258'E €15'961'L G62'205'} 150'665'} 098'15.°) 871'929'L 608'609'C 991'081°C
206'655°02 199'G16°LZ 68.'9£2°02 0v8'9LY'6lL 0L9°20L'84 869'65.°9L 090°ZLE'9L 111°€86°LL S¥2'ze8Th 000°'888°ZL
170'999°G GG8'651'S 192'895'Y 6EY'V2E'S 662'69L'G €79'Z61'S 055'292°'S 195'202'S €02'L6L'G 0Tr'TLS'S
€88'0eY'€C  $  I¥B'YL9WC  $  vpLTI9Te  $  v8C'vleee §  6€8'6l€TC  $  88L'EL6'0Z $  L9L'6LE0Z  §  986'€08'6L  $  ¥.6'SE0'6L  $ ¥9€'/Z8'LL
2202 1202 0202 6102 8102 1102 9102 G102 v102 €102

sanuanay welboid |eyuswiuianos) Alewd [ejo |
sanuanay welbold saiAloy adA | -ssauisng [ejo ]
}saJ8)u| pue ‘suonnqLiuo) ‘sjuels [ede)

FEEIVY
Jomeg

S$90IAISS 10} sabiey)
sal)IAloY adA | -ssauisng

anuaney welboid SaNIAIDY JUSWUISAOS) [ejo ]
1S919}U| pUE SuolNqLIuoY ‘sjuels) [epde) - [eJ0}qNS

UieaH

|ejuswuianobiaiu| - SHIOM Olland

SYIOM 2lIqnd
Kisjes a1qnd

BAIN0OXT pue aAne|sIBa]
1JUBLUUIBAOY) [BIBUBD)
1S2J8JU| PUB SUOHNQLIUOY ‘SjuBID) [eydeD
1S8J8JU| pUB suolNqLIUOY ‘sjuels) BunesadQ - [elogNS
|ejusLIUIBA0BIB)U| - UOEBIOaY PUE UOIRAISSUOD

|ejuswuianobiaiu

- S80IAIBG UBWNH
S90IAIBS UBWNH

|ejuswuIanobiaiy| - yyeaH

UieaH

|ejuswuianobialul - SYIOAN Olignd

SHIOM 2lIqnd
Kisjes a1qnd
lewipnre

SAINO9X3 pue aAne|siba
JUBIUIBAOD) [BJSUSD
1S919}U| PUE SuolNqLIU0Y ‘sjuels) Bunesado

$00IMBS J0) sebiey) - [ejoqns
UO[}E8.I08Y PUE UOBAISSUOD

S8J2IAI8S uBwWNnH

UiesH

SHOM 2liand

Kysyes o1qnd
[elopne

BAIN0BXT pue aAne|sIBa]
1JUBLIUIBAOY) [BIBUBD)
S90IAI8G 10) sabiey)

sol

IAOY [BJUBLIUIBAOS)
sanuanay weiboid

(Bupunooae jo siseq |eniooe)

SIB9A U] Ise]

SBI}IAI}OY [BJUBLULIBAOY) JO UOI}ISOd }ON ul sabuey)
oo ‘Aunog sepng



681

(penunuo))
€12°0/1°92) 282°128°291 058'7£6°15) 166°/82°GL $ 119109kl $ 6ch'€lSehl  $  G88'GSS0EL  §  00€'8PLTLEL  §  6S9°0LFLZL  §  2LE9SSVLL
- - - - - - - - (S1v'e) -
9ee'syLy ¥81°261'6 0¥6°009°6 S08'9eL'y 6£0°08L°C 689'GOt'e 80Z'cr6'L 600°680°} 0Zi'8eL’) €66'0/2°C
(rL1'G6L'9L) 700'868'€ 219'856°C 619'9¢€'8 G9°'9€8'9 162'86€'€ 6EY°LE6'L 618°120'C 81G°LY9'L 618229
11£'699'6 8£E'676'6 1£5'988'8 802'800°0L 0v5'62L'6 G6E'v0Z 1L 862'€06'6 6L9°9¥9LL 8LLLGL0L 122'765'8
€66'9£2°Ch €0L'aStEL 81G°182'7L 89/'Sv¥'ZL 050°822'GlL 8¥6°€G9'V1L 10,9628 19212111 19v°219°'L G69°GYL'9
2€5°802°L 65€°2€€'9 vLL07L'9 676'66.'C £8Y°€20°'c SoL'evL'T 115°069°'C L7'0€9'C ¥28°€L5'T £79°1€5C
12212695 G9G'5Y8'ES 255°L65' Y 669°60.'L¥ 96166721 016'8LL'Sy £v8'oL6'eh 121°258' Ly 691°8£8°2€ 0LL'0L}'GE
009°€Y1'6 0£E'ELY'6 010'¥50°'6 670°200'6 9z1°G19'8 €15'€.8'8 1£9'709°8 £vv'609'8 [ AN a:] GL0'sYE's
£29'825'7L £50°287' 1L 152'626'clL 866'9G8'CL creove'el 295°169'€L £68°2£2°¢L 662'SYT'SlL 695°2¥6'ZL 0£0°518'Z1
€8Y°GL0°LL 9%9'658'91L G68°G9L ‘6L Th2'S61 61 820°09%'81L 698'G/8'8L €17'60€'8L ¥99°02€'8L 98V LY. LL 8%2' LGS LL
G/G°09¢'6 00v'61L€'6 Tr8'S6's 29.'016'8 666858 9182628 Te'L8h's 620°16%'8 98¥°992'8 €12'8L1'8
£¥5°2LL 00€'8Z1 9L £67'G9E VL 8€€°08C VL 999°219°cL LLZ'SLLEL 0ve'8zL'TL €80°02L'CL GL9'VTr'TL 666'72€'CL
(E¥6'719'82) (01€°v68°2) (06528181 1) (96%'G19°'G21) (8e2°LTL'STL) (6S¥'v#0°€2)) (820°280°201) (105°209°00}) (L6¥'GLLOFL) (299'€26'501)
0v8°€GE'6L G90°L0S'61 ¥87°0€0°€L G99°€88'L 9€2°0.ES 120°€VE’L L9v'86€'8 78.°689'8 (ev2'919°2) (ov0'ezL’L)
(€82°896°L6) (s€e°L0v'L2) (vL0€12'LEL) (L9L'66¥°€EL) (vL¥'L6V'0EL) (osv'28€°0€L) (g6v'G8%°0L L) (egz'e62'601) (8v2°86%°LEL) (zz9'008v01)
€LLL1e'1ze 716°259'GEC 682°296'€2€ 010°€62'82€ 710°21G°91€ 981'8.7'00€ G16°€66'9L2 0EY°2GE'€LT ¥26°LY2'TLE 111°892'0/2
125°6L1°cr 68508 168°00€ v 9%.°092'9% 1289151y Z75'€09'GY G09°2£0°9% G16'G18'GY 606°G52'0S 080°10S 'L
768°G952C 80G°1¥9'0C 819'6€8'2C 65€¥¥9'2C 1€9°901°GC L€€'8€1 2T 122'€92°€C 676'7.5'LC 209°695'92 €.€'%96'vC
G£9°€G5°0Z 188'922' L1 VT L9v'LT 18€'919'€T 969'69%'22 112'59%'€T 8.€'v11'2T 920°L¥2'vT 10£°981'¥Z 101'985'22
98G°261°8/2 G2G'28L'L61 86€°159'6/2 ¥92°2€0'282 189°0¥6'892 Y¥6'7.8'¥ST 0+€°996°'0£2 SSv LS LeT 610267192 1£0°292'€22
S1610S 0£9°90S 1v1°5¥9 162°182°L 198'600°} 0,9°806°1 v6EY8LT 668°270°C 0SE°LEY'E 886'€29°€
- - - - - - - - - 60V VLY
000°0S.°€ - - - - - - - - -
661°L0%'C 99/'89/2'L 0L2°659'L €9L'YLS 816261 929°L6¥ 608°LLY ¥26'58¥ 16G'GLY €€L'€9¥
000°002°S - - - - - - - - -
182°280°'79 ¥55°262'LS G8Y'G62°L9 08921069 825°1€1°99 G16'996'99 99/v19'29 L¥¥'220'09 96.v51°29 20L°2er'L9
925°5v9 - - - - - - - - -
€9/°226'Ch 962'998'v€ 90Z°L0L‘eY 199°2G2'Gy 11€°888°Ch 110'952'ey 88.°20L'ch 255'962'GY G60°866°Ch 99v'891 €Y
zeeTrLe 9L1'62£°9L G69°2€9°9 862'¢55'L 9e€'zeY'Sh - - 8€1'2.0'C 1¥€'2L5'62 -
86098212 861°€69'CL 20v'L62'7C €08'0L2'vC 1€8'8€1°€C 8£8°020'€C 816°€65' VL 19€°6¥9'9L GLL'8Y¥'se 899'9€€'vC
9€L'0LL°LS 879'G80°GE 62€'6£€'89 ¥88°299'¢L ¥6G°298°19 806'G¥S'8S 06878275 0/2',€8'8Y 280°Z8h'sy S¥€'560'9Y
G99°9Y6'VL 111'598'8 6LL'€2L'8L 152'€00°'02 L1965 LL 1SG'LYELL 899°165GL 0882901 126'LYL YL 1S6'EVS'EL
1656189 0£8'192°0b 778'089°2 185'962°0b 166°192'6 179'982° L1 656°0%L°6 €11'969°0L 6£2'022'8 -
¥26'615°2€ 0122581 WL vLT L ve9'€L9'6E  $  8€9'29.°0¢  $ 8LL'LS0CE $ 8vL'G90'6C  $  S09'8/€lC  $  6LYLL99T  $  €9€'8LY'9C
2202 1202 0202 6102 8102 1102 9102 G10C 7102 €102

SOIIAOY [EJUBLUUIBAOS) [B}O |

siajsuel]

410
Je3 JUBSWI]SaAU|

sweiboud oyads o} pejolsey
JOU SjUBWIB[IIUT pUE SJUBID
soxe] Jo nal ul sjuswhed

soxe| [e007
Xe] soles

Ane seoinIeg Aap(3 - S8IAIBS UBWwNH
Kouaby s80IA18g UBIP|IYD - SBOIAIBS UBWNH

S

esiq [ejuswdolana( - yiesH
S90IAI8G A18A008Y puE UOROIPPY UIESH [EJUSIA - UiESH

sasodind [eJausn

110} paina] saxe] Apadold

'SBIIAIOY [BJUBLUIUIBAOD
1S0d JoN Ul sabueyg JayjQ pue SanuaAdy [eJauas

anuanay/(asuadx3) JoN JusWulanos) Alewld [e}o|
sal

SOIIAIY [BJUSWIUIBACD

anuaAay/(asuadx3) JaN

1oy adA}-ssauisng

sosuadx3 JuswuIanos) Alewid [ejo]

soasuadx3 s

110y adA)-ssauisng |ejo |

191 M
Jomeg

saljIAoY adAj-ssauisng

AOY [BJUSWIUISAOS) [BJO|

JESYENT]
|ejuswuianobiaiul

|ejusIuIaA0BIB)U| - UOEBIOdY PUE UOIBAISSUOD

UONBBI08Y PUB UOIBAIBSUOD
|ejusliuIan0BIB)U| - S8OIAIBS UBWNH

SOOIAIBS UBWINH

|ejuswuIBA0BIBlU| - Y)leaH

iesH

|ejusiuIanobIBlu| - SHIOA OlidNd

SHOM 2liand
Kysyes o1and
[elopne

|ejusiuIanobigiu| - 8ANDSXT pue aAne|sIBa

san

SAINO9X3 pue aAne|siba

JUBIUIBAOD) [BJSUSD
110V |BJUSWUIBA0S)
sasuadxgy

(panunuo)

(Bupunooae jo siseq |eniooe)

SIB9A U] Ise]

SBI}IAI}OY [EJUBLULIBAOY) JO UOI}ISOd }ON ul sabuey)
oo “Aunog sepng



061

*z20z ul Bujuuibaq 28 "oN 1
*61L0Z ul Buluuibaq g "oN I

dq

S asvo o} 1 8y} pspiodai Ajunog sy 930N

gsvo 40} 1 9y} papodal funog sy :9j0N

"81L0Z Ul G2 "ON Juawajels gsvo Aq pue Loz ul BuiuuiBaq gg "oN juswalels gsvo jo uopejuswaldwi ayy Aq pajoedwi sl ase sasuadx3 90N

6/G'880°8F  §  ZEL'TGT'SSL  $  606'FLZYE  $  GLE'L00'0Z  $  9/6'9zL'L  $  GeG'seg’sl  §  LL0‘Tye'8z  §  zee'ezziee ¢ (8el'eel'8l)  § GLE'vKE'S
61998861 G22'T8L'6L €ELEBY'EL 6.v'2lT'8 6£8229°'G 98G°6Y9'L 129188 GEEVLL 0L (6¥9'610°2) (GL2°0L¥)
0€6°10282 L06'697'GE} 9/2'vzl'0T 9€8'88.'LL LEL'0LTL 676'G81'ZL 06€'020°02 110'$5¥'2C (680°880'91) 0S.'SS.'6
26v7°€02'92) Zry'ovL'e9l 66v°L6ETS) 118'919'Gh) ¥1298Crl 766'6.8'27 | 6£0°620°LEL £58'9€8'€E ) €6°186°'L2) 1£9'892'GL L
6.1°2€S 09L's/e 69297 ¥18'82€ £09'252 G95°90€ ¥S1'eLy £55'880'C ¥60'1 S S9Z'ZLL
- - - - - - - - Sly'e -
6.1°2€S 09L's.Le 69297 v18'82¢ £09'252 G95°90€ ¥88°2LY 19£'680'C 96%'79S S9Z'TLL

- $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ oL $ z6l'e $ e8l'e $ -

220z 120T 0202 6102 8102 1102 9102 G102 7102 €102

uonisod JaN ul abuey) juswuianos) Alewld [ejo
sanIAoYy adA)-ssauisng
SOIIAIY [BJUSWIUIBAOD
uonisod }aN ui abueyn

JuswuIdA0S) Alewlid [ejo |
sal)IAloY adA | -ssauisng |ejo |

siajsuels]

J8y10

sBujule3 juswysanu|
:SaI}IAOY 8dA | -ssauisng

(panunuo)
(Bupunooae jo siseq |eniooe)
siea) ua] jse
1}0Y [EJUSWIUIBAOD JO UOI}ISOd }aN ul sabuey)d
oo ‘“Aunoy Japng




161

€68'0/5'86 $ 18T'0lp'Cle $  vE9'6I¥'69Z ¢ 208'LLv'eve §  vOcoec’eoz ¢ €5C'68L'98L  $ OvZ'SL8'Z9L  $  ¥S¥'Ge6'lEL 7LL'0¥0'LZ) G9E'82S L1 Spun4 [eJUSWIUIAA0YD [e30)
091°001 ‘981 290°961°291 161°088°€91 1€0°291°191 G66°€0L 0V 699'G6G V€L 129'9/v°02) 090°125°20L GZ.'969°L6 2L0'96L%6 Spun4 [EJUSWIUIBA0D JBYIQ IV [eI0L
- (G2L'%6) (222°91) (820°68°1) (095°159°'7) (L29'%¥6'9) (z98'122°01) (620°000°11) (619'6¥1°Gl) (G.z2°6L¥°91) (woyaq) paubisseun
000°000°G} - - - - - - - - - paubissy
162°22€2¢ 9L¥'6¥2'8e ¥92°'998'€2 ¥¥1°099'62 Gez'19'12 L9g°L6V' 1T 8£8°26€°02 2€6'0L9'62 91202672 182'€ev'se sasodind Jaylo
29.°96L'8) TrSEr9'sl 6lE'€H8'9L 81£'G0L'EL 08¥0LZ' L1 ¥8L°LL6CL £85°08€'€) G08'6¥8°Z) 1€8°281°C) 1€9°€86°0} SYIOM 2lgNd JBUIO IV
¥6.°699'L1 2.£'250°8) 1€5°989'GL 0¥ LLL 9L ¥86°€L0'9) 8£8'299'vL 1L0'861'EL 0L¥'Z6E L) 8186911 120'G99°L 1 S[0IYaA JoJoN
orL0rL'6 £86'VEE0L BEYLEL'E ¥20°15Z°0) 0¥€°85€°0) L' 296°0L €1L1929°0) 1GL'GG8 LI 102°6.2°L) Lez'vee'eh Ano1 saoinieg Auspig
£8€'9¥L°9 78€08L'L 916'GZL9L 9eY'2e0'LL GLO'LEV'LL ¥25°250'G) LLZ VI8 L) - - - Buroueuly eyuswaiou]
Xe| pue sjoulsig 8AljusdUu| [equapisay
808'282'¥C 908°2.6'6) €05'08.'8) Zh2'950'9) 9/€£'066°C) 689266l | ¥62'GL5'6 198°€06'Y L16°292°) ¥S6'GPL'E Aouaby
S9JIAISG UBIp|IYD/SadlIAIeS >__Emn_ pue qor
869'V6.°LE 190°189'LY L0121y 086°1£9'8€ Th1'€59'ee 112'8€6'2€ 1€€°168°1€ 186'2¥2'2e 220'€L6'VE L1€9/5°2¢ sanigesiq [eyuswdojersq
¥20'020'22 yz8'vLl oz ¥G6'6€°8L GOE LG5 8L 109'7¥E'8L ¥$5°950'8) 1198€5°9L 718°€LG'G) £90'089°Z) vLLLEE L) $90IAI8S A19A008Y UOHOIPPY PUE U)esH [ejusiy
110} pajolIsay
€99'/€8 €€T'v.8 008°296 102'866 106296 6/8'v.6 G.6'956 £58°156 zee 16 €89'GG/ Jsnu| sanigesiq [euswdojersg
:we] Buo
- 11926V - 11926V 965°20S - 180°8€S 169695 221069 16£'95G S9|qEAI909Y SUEOT
166'060°| 166060} 166060} 82L°06L°L 8z.'06L°) 82.°06L°L 9r'v8L L 82.°06L°L Y¥S'v8L YhSv8L Aojuanu| sayddng pue sieusiey
15862 745862 15862 45862 168°6LE 168'61€ 168°6LE 168'61€ 8LL'6LL L 8LL6LL°L sway| predaid
a|gepuadsuoN
sSpung |ejuswuiaAog) JBYjo0 IV
£€°9/'2L1 6T V.6 ThL LE¥'685°G0L G9/°G52'28 602'922'€9 ¥8G°€65°1G 695'8€€ 2y ¥6E¥91'0E 686'CVE'ET £62°2€L9) pun4 [eJous9 [ejo |
6€1°G25°66 L€17128'8¢EL 069°98€°66 GLY'BEL'GL G69°0/2°LS 000°181L°LY A 00v'282°L2 ¥8Z'67E'8) 11661 2L paubisseun
¥2'8€2'9 8£8'865°C ¥26'G55'E 089'9€0°€ GL0'2¥S'e 6010892 G01089°2 £82°20v°L 6010892 ¥b0'GE9°2 paubissy
- - - - - - - - - mchﬂ mwmoah:n_ JByl0
papwwo)
660°€96"1 £66'16L°) 7655012 121'950°2 - - - - - - sjusjeAnb3 ysed pue yse) pajoLisay
0zL2e2'y 0zL'vee 00L°€l Gz6'Les 996'255'C 900228 €5/°992') 96/°196 86€° LYYl GZ0'0LL Spun4 JayjQ 0} SeoUBApY
- - - zer'vL zer'vel zey'vel zer'vel ¥06°1L8 612802 689'622 S9|qeAI90Y SUEOT
G500l G50°'0FL G500l 0zs'6el 025'6€ ) 0zs'6E L 025'6€ L 0zs'6E L 861 Y9 861 V9 Aiouanu| sayddng pue sjeusiey
9/¥'.8¢ $  9/¥'/8¢ $  9/v'/8e $  9/¥'/8¢ $  1€5'965 $  1€5'96S $  1€5'965 $  1€5'96S GGZ'v6S GGZ'V6S sway| piedaid
:9|qepuadsuoN
pung jeiduan
2202 120C 0202 6102 8102 1102 9102 5102 7102 €102
pejesey

(Bupunoose jo siseq |eniooe paipow)
sleajp ua] jseT
Spung |ejuswWUIdA0G ‘sadueleg pung
oyo ‘Aunoy Jsaping



6L

(panunuod)

(v22'521°82) 1¥9°000°€y 2€8'16EvT 9/Z°9r1°0¢ $ 122’505Vl $  955'8z8'8l $ 986282 $  vPSP8LOL $  988°€y9'6 $ 66617669 $
182°969°1.€€ S65%99282 L10°L¥L° 11T 8£9°268°L92 80%'9Z1°292 989°9%5°9%Z €15°906'L€ 095°€€9°/€T 655'65. V€T 20%'¥$8°92C
- - 129'60V°'L 00062 - 1¥02eV'T - 002'6£2 - -
056°'LEL - - - - - - - - -
€01°265 ¥50°18S 212'058 £56'71G'L 816'826'L £10'650'C 116'252'T ¥2r'689°'C ¥96'G6€'e £10'G85'S
1166529 0z.'Ge8'L 8¥2'9r9'c 8506686 952'625°0L 81522, LL¥'€88'S 188'629°0L L0E'vhS's 609'c20°'8
T rLy'L 696'828'L 199'169'¢ €80°051 VL 952'%9°0L 080°GE6'Y 050°41Z - G1Z'/ee") GLE'eSZ's
000°0S2'€ - - - - - - - - -
£61°05t'C 992'89/°L 041'659'L €9L'YLS 816261 929'1L6¥ 608'LLY ¥26's8Y 16G'GLY €€L'c9
000°002'S - - - - - - - - -
065'96€°0L 89%'G62'LL 99€'616'V9 8/8'8/£'29 650'965'c9 G8€°165°09 60Z'659°09 106°G9€09 G66261 29 ¥96°206'L9
925'6¥9 - - - - - - - - -
2.6'6L0'9 ¥62'0252y z2e6LL LY 120°¢18'LY G8.'Z8E LY 912'825'0 622'10G'LY £06°SLY v ¥61'605'2y 58,282y
251°26L'0 G89'V8L L1 Ort'89e’L 862°'¢55') zee'sre'L - - - - -
1€0'720'92 18119522 605'cLE'se 65.'9LL'€T 669'9Y1'cC 8€5'G80°'€T 9/0'8/8'LT ger'ezL'se 6LL'1€2'VC 65 LvL'8L
095'969'Y9 L0%'8€L'€9 £59'706'65 126'852°LS 969'09Z'YS 89€'658°LS 226'Si 6 Y9Z'v€6'SY 689'v61 Gy LEZ'LEL VY
0%0°'L0L ‘6L ¥86'G26'91 LLG'0EL'LL SLZ'LPr'9L 099°'168°GL €08'6L1 'L 68526971 €56°'2GL'CL S0t'Ze6'elL 106°'2/2'E)
166'618'9 105°28€'2) GEE'6E6'S 6/G'991'6 166'192'6 8L1°188'LL 656'071'6 €12'969'01 6£2'022'8 60V ¥ZL'y
¥6.'882°LE 559862 162'2€8'GE 80.'00%'8Z 86.'088'LT v16°0€2'L2 982'818'Ge ZL¥'00€'5T 185'62L've 8¥2'TLS'YT
£00°125°€0€ T¥2'599°'GeE 678'860°20€ ¥16°8€0°86C GE9'1€9°182 2¥2'6LE'392 662'9€.°95C ¥0L'8LY'¥ST Sh 0V vie 10v'678°€EC
1¥E'951'9 859°069°9 0%6°009'6 G08'9EL'Y 9.0'89%'€ 689'G91°'C 18€'699'} Y€0'LELT ¥16°28€"L 115°2L8°)
G98'91G - - - - - - - - -

SPE'001 - - - - - - - - -
0eL Lyl - - - - - - - - -

(1y2'686'SL) 610'856'C 100'G26'S 1.7'660°8 G0L'L29'9 orL'LLL'T £28'198'L €55'7.16'L 922'096'L ¥59°'L¥9
£66'9£Z°) €01'G5P'L 95£'8rE YL 86E'Chi'ZL G0.'66%'GL £YZ'09Y L 90€£'66.'8 ¥9€'0G1L L1 0600286 660'880°G
L¥0'716°L 925'096'L ¥0.'696'L 659'8Z8'L 981'/12'C S¥6'9ZL'T 6£8'vYL'T ¥6.'282'C 659'919'C Z15'v€9'T
806°L5€'9Z) 021'689'€LL 870'GEL 00} 61£'9€5°€0L 2.0'699'L6 06667218 £9€'G/£'08 295'780°'98 068'228'28 815'02€'28
£68°L¥2'y 111865 6LL'9¥2'T 9€€'/96'L 1€€°218') ¥60°2v8°L 122'€68') 1€5'906'L ¥¥8'100'C ¥81'651°2
962'vL2'y 008'¥SL'Y S18'LLL'e Y91'6£9°'c 106'7.S'S gL'ele's 880'86.'C 11¥'v56'S G68'66.L'C £8€'199'C
626228y 16€'618°LS 119'e6Y'6Y G86'€59'8Y ¥00°'88Z'8Y ¥¥0'G08'SYy [ irar 1¥0'€£8'6€ YrS'eri Y G15'120'6€
098'60€'L 618'069'9 786'251'9 0.6'68L'C G59'0LL'T SoL'ErLT 115'069'C L¥'0£9°'2 ¥28'€L5'T £79°'1€5T
£62'8£9°'95 0€5'220'€S 86G'6LL' VY €17'8€6'vY 9v£'968'2 Y0€'€€0' vy 8/6'968'cY ¥52'226'0F ¥99'682°L€ L0L'EL8'VE
88.'6%2'0S 62£'015'99 69062969 860'507'59 $ 8re’/z8'29 $  €15'86Y'€9 $  0r9'eIr’L9 $  LPS'9eS19 $ 96898665 $  GLE'€0L'09 $

2202 1202 0202 6102 8102 2102 9102 5102 v102 €102

sainypuadx3 (Japun)
J9AQ SONUBASY JO SSB9XT

sainypuadx3 [ejoL

Juaby moios3 puog o0} JuswAhed
$)S0)) 9oUENSS|
Jsasa|
Jswaley [ediould
190IA19S 1990
AepnQ (eyded
[EJUSWIUISAOBIBIU| - UOESIODY PUE UOEAISSUOD
UON)ESID9Y PUE UOBAISSUOD
|ejusWuIBA0BIB)U| - SBIIAISS UBWINH
$90IAISS UBWINH
|ejuswiuIanobIalu| - Y)leaH
yiesH
|ejuswusanobialu| - SHIOAN dlland
SHIOM 2lland
Ayejes olland
|eroipne
[ejusWUIBA0BIB)U| - SAINISXT PUE BANE]SIBaT
SAINOSXT puUE dA)e]sIBaT
JUBWILIBAOD) [BIBUSD
uauND
sainjipuadxgy

SonuaASY [ejoL

Byio

suoljeuo pue suonnguUoY
salaju| asea

anuanay osean]

sBuluies juswysanu|
SOXe] JO Nalq Ul sjuswhed
SsjusWIssassy [e1ads
|EJUSWIUISAOBIBYU|
sainjiajio pue saul4
SHWIad pue sasusdl]
$90IMIBS 0} sabley)

(1) sexe] 2007 JoUIO

(z) sexe] soleg

soxe] Auadoid

sanuanay

(Bununodoe jo

m._mw.> uaj jseq
sSpung [e}usWuIdA0 ‘sadueleg pung uj sabuey)
oo “Aunog sepng

eq |enJooe p




€61

'220z u1 Buluuibaq /g "oN juswalels gSvo Jo joedw ay) papodas fjunod ayy 80N

%01°C %9 ¥ %07 %08 ¥ %06 %20°S %6S°€ %18'G %EL'S %0€°S saunypuadx3 [eydesuoN
Jo abejuadlad e se 991A19S JgaQ
(88€'€68'€L) $  1¥9'000°€Y $  2€8°150'9C 865'280'0F $  1G60VLLL 6EZ'19S5'LE $ 98'628'tC $  OovL'yr69l $  GOL'¥9L'6 $  110'866'9 $ saduejeg pung ui abuey) jaN
- - - 2.0'2€6'6 - - - - - - 90UBleg pun4 JO JusWale)Say Jed A Jold
988°182'7L - 000°004°} 052°6 ¥2.'G€9°C €89'G€L'CL - 961091 612021 2.0°e (sesn) seaunog Buioueuld JoYIO [ej0L
(FLL'vLLT) - - (05.%29) - €11°660't - (852°06L°01) (000°0£0°8) - jJuaby MoIOST puog punjay o Juswiked
- 000°00L°}L - - - - - - - panss| spuog anusAsy
000°0€LC - - 000'%€9 - 000'698°€ - 000'GL0°0L 0000252 - panss| spuog Buipunjey
000°0LL' VL - - - - - - - - - panss| spuog
(¥¥0°L16'92) (058'805°€) (282'590'v1) (¥25'600°LL) (veg'veL'8L) (719°GL0°LL) (y8s'z8z'EL) (092°296'tL) (zgL'0eL'€l) (¥0L°105°€L) InO - sioysuel)
¥10°L¥6'9Z 0$8'80S'€ 282'590'7L ¥25'600°LL yE8vEL ‘8L 719'GL0°LL ¥85°282°cl 092'296'L 192°92L'€L ¥OL‘L0SEL u| - sisjsuel)
000°95L - - - - 000°00S't - - - 2.0t osea] Jo uondaoul
- - - - 000009 - - - - - panss| sejoN
- $ - $ - - $ tvel'se 0.5'Sle $ - $  ¥S¥'se6 $  p€9'ee9 $ - $ panss| jgag uo wniwald
(sasn) sad4nog Buidueulq JBY0

2202 1202 0202 6102 8102 2102 910z 5102 v102 €102
(panunuod)
unodJe Jo siseq |enidde pal. .—UOEV

slea) uaj jse

sSpung [e}usWuIdA0 ‘sadueleg pung uj sabuey)

oo “Aunoy Jepng



61

ot Teoe 0zo¢ 6T0C 810¢ LT0C 910¢ STo¢ v10C €70¢

0s$

000°000°000°TS$

000°000°000°C$

000°000°000°€$

000000000 Joypny Auno9 Japing :a2i1nog

000°000°000°SS *pajlig Bulaq alojaq
‘suondwaxa peajsawoy se |[om se ‘yoeqjjos Juadiad z;, g e pue jJuadiad g} e

000°000°000'9$ Kq paonpai aq pjnom sajeu ajqesidde ay} Aq sanjea passasse ay} BulAjdiinw
Aq pajesauab syjunowe ay} ‘Ajuadouid jeas 104 -1eak jeyjy ui pajjiq anuaAal xe}

000°000°000LS$ Kyadoud ayy pajesauab ‘sajes ajqesiidde ayy Aq paldiinw uaym ‘Jeyy sanjea
ay} asam Jeak yoea yym pajejoosse sanjea Auadoad jeuosisad ajqibue) ayl

000°000°000°8S

‘Ayadoud uopnquisip pue uoissjwisues} 914)93|3 Joj Juasiad gg o}

000°000°000°6% Kyiadoud peoujies 1oy anjea ang} jo jJuaaiad Gz wouy sabues Ajadoud jeuosiad

Aymn onqnd jo anjea passasse 8yl "anjeAa ani} pajewnsa jo juadsad Gg

000°000°000°0TS$ s1 (Ayaadoud jeas Aynin oijgnd Buipnjoul) Ajadoud |eas jJo anjeA passasse ayl

>u.._00_0.—& ajgexe] JO anjep passassy ‘lesiesddeal yoea Buimojjoy Jeak pJiyj ay} Ul anjeA Joydeuw JuaLind ay}

Jo ajepdn pajepuew ajels e yum sieak xis A1ana pasiesddeal si Ajaadoud [eay

106G %l¥°9€ 0S¥'019'626'92 09%'919'208'6 0Se'6EY'VLL 0v5'90.'829 (A WA A RA T4 080°.¥0°1L20°C 0¥8'298'¢GL L [44er4
00'8 %SE 9€ 15%'990'909'92 095°295'029'6 000°0L€'929 00825165 16¥'952'626'G2 0SL'vLL'066°L 019'00€'G80°L 120z
7] %L¥°9€ GG6'2.9'€L0'€T 009°198'GL¥'8 GG6'259'L¥9 009'vS9'v9S 000°020°CEV'2e 09¥'920'8VLL 0vG'0EL'€0L'9 0202
7] %9€°9€ ovv'oze'slL'ze 058°199'092'8 890'255'€8S 028'5eS'elS LLE'VLI9'VEL'ZT 092'00Z'¥769°L 042'G€6'250'9 6102
618 %1€°9€ Z6£'00€’LYe 2T 060°L¥€'S20'8 0zZv'Ly8'8ys 05086281 116852691 001'22G'G6G°L 0¥G'8€8'966'G 8102
2’6 %SE 9€ 168°169'G89°02 0S§'SST'6LS'L 080°216'92S 0€9'289'€9Y 121'6L2'851'0C 0££'60G'22S°L 0GG'€90°'€€S'S 1102
SC'6 %¥Ee9€ 98181890502 0v8'6.2'1SY'L €V6'6LL'9LG 0S€°'99.'¥S¥ £¥5'8€0'066'61 0€L'€8€'81LG"L 092'6Z1'8LY'S 9102
€26 %€EE 9€ 892'205'982'02 096°L22'0LE"L GzL'0Le'0LS oLL'sel'evy €VL'ZEL'9LL'6L 086'v¥Z'S6Y'L 0£Z°'1L0¥'9ZY'S S102
€26 %8¢ 9¢ ZL1'598'961'0C ovlileL'Lev'L 86€'89'96Y 06L°L10°LEY ¥1.'922'000'02 0.7'889°L€G°L 088'06€'89Y'G Y102
[44l] %¥C 9¢ 659°'95€'085'02 $ 0S5'€59'8SY'L $ 659'6¢21 ‘28Y $ 00L'vLe'vey $ 000°22'860°0C $ 08¥'CL8'2€G°L $ 0£6'99G'961'G $ [4%0r4
oy Xe] oney anjep anjep anjep anjep anjep Nd/leusnpu| leJn)noLBy 2N
abelany [enjoy passassy lenjoy passassy [enjoy /|eroJawwo) /lenuapisay uonoa||0n
pajybiom pajewnsy psjewns3 pajewnsy an|e/\ pessassy
lejol Aymn anand
Ayadoud [euosiad a|qibue | Auadolid [eay

Sleaj ua] jse
Apadoud ajgexe] Jo an[eA [enjoy Pajewl}sg pue passassy
oo “Aunog sapng



S61

(panuyuoy)

98289/.°G 260866°L 0000528 0000628 0000618 000026 0000526 0000€2'6 0000€Z°6 0000226 ajey xe) abesany pajyblam |ejoL

00000€°L 0000¢¢'6 00002.'6 00002.'6 00002.'6 00002.'6 0000226 00002.'6 0000226 00002.'6 |euosiad Ainn 21iand pue ssauisng [eJauss

8€2.00'9 198/16°L 86£3566'8 2686.6'8 G852ZE6 11€99G6°6 860156 65,556 65.¥55°6 9YCLSG'6 [eay A}|3N 211and pue [eLlsnpu/[eloIaWwwWo)

¥6289%°G 8G1S6€°L 16€065°8 €90109'8 9222198 8€260L'6 (44N 74N S¥S€60'6 S¥5€60'6 €81580'6 |eay |einynoLBy;jenuapisay
Aadoud jo adAy Aq abejjiw jejo)

00000€°2 00000€°2 0000082 0000082 0000082 0000082 0000082 0000082 0000082 0000082 [euosiad ANinn olland pue ssauisng [eJousD

8€2.00°9 198266'S 86€G20°L 2686502 G8G207°L LLEIYI'L 860¥29°L 6S.v€9°L 6S.¥€9°L IYCLES L [eay AN 211And PUE [BLISNPU|/[BIDISWWOD

¥62897°G 8SYS.LY'S 16€029'9 €90%89'9 9222699 8€C68L°L 2eevoe L SYSeLL'L SYeeLL’L €8¥591L°L |eay [ein)nouby/|enuapisay
Apadoud jo adAy Aq abej|iw pajoa |ejol

00000€"L 00000€"} 00000€"L 00000€"} 00000€"L 00000€"} 00000€"L 00000€"} 00000€"L 00000€"} |euosiad AN olldnd pue ssauisng [e1ousD

6812601 10L160°L GE€620C° L 662002 L €9986¢'L 00000€" L 859962 L 00000€" L 00000€"} 00000€" L [eay Auinn ollgnd pue [eL)snpuy/|erolawwo)

0S.9t0°L [44%:10% 0.5202°L G€0S02 L £0S902°L 0L1L96Z'L 0€8862"L 00000€" L 00000€"} 00000€" L |eay |einynoLby/|enuapisay
SusZNIQ JoIUsS 0L0T

000000°C 0000002 000000°C 0000002 0000002 0000002 0000002 0000002 0000002 0000002 |euosiad A|iN o1land pue ssauisng [eJousD

121891 819829'L 0490G8°} 7199¥8°L 0529¢6°L 0000002 858166 | 0000002 000000°C 0000002 |eay AN o11gnd pue |eL}snpuy/[erolswiwo)

98€019°L 96¥C1L9'L 801068’} 006€58°L 91968°L 910661 002866° | 0000002 000000C 000000C |eay [ein)noLby/lenuapisay
Aouaby sad1nIBS Sualp|IyD 8002

000000°} 000000°} 000000°} 000000°} 000000°} 000000°} 000000°} 000000°} 000000°} 000000°} |euosiad ANinN o1and pue ssauisng [esous

£2090t8°0 60€6€£8°0 GEEST60 L0€€26°0 G21896°0 000000°} 621.66°0 000000°} 000000 b 000000°} |eay A}3N 211and pue [elisnpu/[eloIaWwwWo)

€61508°0 8¥2908°0 ¥50626°0 0569260 2808260 800,660 001666°0 000000°} 000000 b 000000°} [eay |enynoLBy;/|enuapisay
pleog yyesH [ejus|N 9002

0000050 0000050 0000050 0000050 0000050 0000050 0000050 0000050 0000050 0000050 [euosiad ANinn olland pue ssaulsng [esousD

LLLL6Z0 2990620 €5¥02€°0 1G/6LE0 2.25€€0 LLEIVEO 998Z¥€°0 6S.VEE0 6S.L¥EE0 9YCZLEE0 [eay Ayinn ollgnd pue |ewjsnpul/[eolawwo)

SLLY6L0 0.6¥61°0 00.€£22°0 85L¥2Z0 cevyeeo 00LL¥Z0 S09L¥2°0 82/8€C°0 8C/8€2°0 1S08€2°0 |eay [einynouby;/|enuapisay
pleog yijesH [EJUSIA G861

000000°L 000000°} 000000°} 000000 b 000000°} 000000 b 000000°} 000000 b 000000°} 000000 b N 2!lgnd pue ssauisng [eJaus9

£090t8°0 6026€8°0 GEESCT6'0 L0€€T6°0 6218960 000000 b 621,660 000000+ 000000°} 000000 b |eay Ainn olignd pue [eL)snpuy/|erolawwo)

¥¥8.6.°0 6888620 1199160 06+816°0 119616°0 806.86°0 1866860 981816°0 9818260 vyS6.L6'0 |eay [eunynouby/jenuapisay
salliges!q |eyuswdolaaaq $00Z

00000G"} 000005 L 000000°C 0000002 000000C 0000002 0000002 0000002 0000002 0000002 |euosiad AN|nN o1jand pue ssauisng [eJousD

016092} 29685C'L 049068°} 7199¥8°L 0529¢€6°L 0000002 858166 | 000000'C 000000C 0000002 |eay AjnN 211gnd pue [eL}snpuy/[eroswiwo)

90vEL0L €ELYLOL 8Y€2CaeS L 0€558G°L 0Ev.G8G7L 960€.9°L 909929'L 2€9959°1L 2€99G69°L 78615991 |eay |einynoLby;/jenuapisay
sail|iges!q [eyuswdo|aasq 0002
Anaj Aq - abejlIN pajoA
0000000 000026'} 000026} 000026} 000026'L 000026} 000026° L 000026} 000026'L 000026} Bunessdo
abe||IN pajoAun

2202 1202 0202 6102 8102 1102 9102 G102 ¥102 €102 JEEJNVIRET)

sjuswuIdan0g BuiddeanQ pue 3oaliq - sajey xe] Auadoid

{Penunuod)
sleaj ua] jse
(anjep passassy 000°L$ 412d)

oo ‘“Munoy sepng



961

(penunuo)
000066°C} 0000662 000066°CL 000066°CL 000066°CL 0000662} 0000%2°L 000092°'S 000092°G 000092°S [euosiad Aj|N o11dnd pue ssauisng [e1ausD
6.1008°LL 8202611 0/8€G8°CL 8009.6°C) 000066°C1 0000662} 0000%2°L 000092°S 000092°G 000092°S [eay Auinn 211gnd pue |er)snpuy/[eiolawwo)
Yy8EYL 0L 201262 0L eY8YYeLL 9119811 000066°CL 0000662} 0000%2°L 000092°S 000092°G 000092°S [eay [einynouby/|enuapisay
uoyual]
0000069 0000069 0000069 0000069 000059°€ 0000S9°€ 000059°€ 0000S9°€ 000059°€ 0000S9°€ |euosiad AN o1|dnd pue ssauisng [e1ausD
1810.€°9 18v/9€°9 0190689 0000069 000059°€ 0000S9°€ 0000G9°€ 0000S9°€ 000059°€ 0000S9°€ [eay AjInn 21lgnd pue [er}snpuy/[eiolawwo)
€2¥80G°9 G€280G°9 Yy.v68°9 G92668°9 0000S9°€ 0000S9°€ 000059°€ 0000S9°€ 000059°€ 0000S9°€ |eay [einynouby/jenuapisay
ploxO
0000Z€'6 0000Z€'6 0000Z€'6 0000Z€'6 0000Z€'6 0000Z€'6 0000008 0000008 0000008 00002€'6 |euosiad AN o1|and pue ssauisng [e1ausD
8681208 0012€0'8 710v59°'8 €€099'8 ¥91618'8 0989029 025,982 96SL.LL°L 96GLLL°L 0€8+00'6 [eay Auinn o1lgnd pue |ewisnpuy/[eolawwo)
82280€°G el rARASN] 226.€8°G 290v58°'S 0050.48°G 8292229 8Y0vLeY 912596t 912596t 0128829 |eay [einynouby/jenuapisay
Q0IUO\
0000069 0000069 0000069 0000069 0000069 0000069 0000069 0000069 0000069 0000069 N 2lland pue sssuisng [eJausn
8912¥8°9 9v81€8°9 62.8.8°9 6¥1088°9 8€C1.8'9 0000069 86/868°9 0000069 0000069 0000069 113N dlignd pue [eLisnpuj/elolswwod
¥166€9'9 ¥62059'9 80€528°9 1€1528'9 910€€8°9 0000069 0000069 000006°9 0000069 0000069 [eay [einynoLBy;/jenuapisay
UMO}BIPPIN
0000L2°0L 0000L2°0L 0000189 0000189 0000189 0000189 0000189 0000189 0000189 0000189 [euosiad ANinn o1land pue ssaulisng [eJausD
Zv1LSe00lL 9€0¥80°0L 9682€.°9 2926€.°9 2228€L°9 0000189 0000189 0000189 0000189 0000189 [eay AN 211ANd PUE [BLISNPU|/[BIDIBWUWOD
1S€62L'6 €E€E€8TL'6 9125659 2€956G°9 251669 2L9Y0L'9 082,699 YyyLES 9 PyyLEG9 9062259 [eay [einynouby/[enuapisay
uoyjiweH
0000tY'8 0000tt'8 0000t¥'8 0000tt'8 0000t¥'8 0000tt'8 0000t6°G 0000t6°'S 0000t6°G 0000t6°'S [euosiad AN 211dnd pue ssauisng [e1ausD
LyeyzeL VAR 7ADA 680166°L 625608, 8206128 LYE0vE'8 CLELBL'G 980689°'S 980689°G Y9€2eL’S [eay AuInn 211gnd pue |ew}snpuy/[eiolawwo)
8SY.¥G 9 9889159 2€0.L6Y7°L ZSvLey L 1S6€6Y°L 12€188°L 81/G.E°G 6.Y1GT°S [JA4ATA 86S6€C°S |eay [einynouby/jenuapisay
payed
sao
1o1s1q Buixe] Aq sajey
[44v4 120z 0202 6102 810z 1102 9102 S1L02 102 €102 les A uonos|jo

sjuswuIdan0g BuiddeanQ pue 3oaliq - sajey xe] Auadoid

{Penunuod)
sleaj ua] jse
(anjep passassy 000°L$ 412d)

oo ‘“Munoy sepng



161

(panuyuo))

0000000 000000°0 0000000 000000°0 0000000 000000°0 000060°2 0000602 000060°2 000060°€ |euosiad Ajinn 211Gnd pue ssauisng [BJauss)

0000000 000000°0 0000000 000000°0 0000000 000000°0 9686529 0000602 000060°L 000060°€ [eay AN 211gnd pUe [BLISNpU|/[BIoIBWWOoD

0000000 000000°0 0000000 000000°0 0000000 000000°0 8¢¢C80°L 0000602 000060°L 000060°€ |8y [ean}nouby/jenuspisey
9||IAJBWOS

0000€.L°S 0000€L°S 0000€.L°S 0000€L°S 0000€.L°S 0000€L°S 0000€.L°S 0000€L'S 0000€.L°S 0000€L'S |euosiad AjnN dlland pue ssaulsng |eJausn

Lielee's LielLee’s 961/9G°S 0000€L°S 0000€.L°S 0000€L°S 0000€.L°S 0000€L°S 0000€.L°S 0000€L°S [eay AN 21iANd PUB [BLISNPU|/[BIDI8WIWOD

GS9¢6lL°S 8EYEBL'S 0000€.2°S GEGYIG'S 220SSS°S 0000€L°S 0000€.2°S 0000€L°S 0000€2°S 0000€L°S |eey [einynouby/|enuapisey
9[lWUBASS

00000€°6 00000€°6 00000€°6 00000€°6 00000€°6 00000€'6 00000€°6 00000€'6 00000€°6 00000€'6 |euosiad AN o1jGnd pue ssauisng [e1eusD

GGZSSC'6 ov.L.LYC'6 0¥€CL8'8 G190.8°8 0€8¢05'8 0SG058°8 GE6SY8'8 09G191°8 09G¥91°'8 00€VYY'8 [eay ANInN 211and pUe [BLISNpu|/|BI0I8WwWo)

6€99¥E" L €0lLlee’L 106699'8 9/9199°8 0S€0¥9'8 G¥00€L°8 G62969'8 G62190°8 G62190°8 0SG01L0°8 |eay [ein)nolby/jenuepisey
JWeIp MeN

0000S0°8 0000S0°8 0000S0°8 0000S0°8 00000€°S 000008 ¥ 00000€°S 00000€°S 00000€°S 00000€°S N 2llgnd pue ssauisng |elsus9

81c0ce’L cy8¢e6l L 0000S0°8 0000S0°8 00000€°S 000008 ¥ 00000€°S 00000€°S 00000€°S 00000€°S [eay AN 211Gnd pUE [BLISNPU|/[BI0IBWIWOD

vSiele' L vSiele L 0€1906°L v.12€1L6°L 62L08L°S 000008 ¥ 0¥966¢°S 00000€°S 00000€°S 00000€°S [eay [einynoliby/jenuapisey
S|IAIIN

000000°C 000000°C 000000°C 000000°C 000000°C 000000°C 000000°C 000000°C 000000°C 000000°C |euosiad Ann 211gnd pue ssauisng [BJauss)

000000°C 000000°C 000000°C 000000°C 000000°C 000000°C 000000°C 000000°C 000000°C 000000°C [eay AN 211gnd pue [eLIsnpu|/[eolswwo)

000000°C 000000°C 000000°C 000000°C 000000°C 000000°C 000000°C 000000°C 000000°C 000000°C [eay |einynouby/jenuapisay
Binquosoer

00000%°LC 00000%°Le 00000t°LC 00000%°Le 00000t°LC 00000%°LC 00000t°LC 00000%°LC 00000%°LC 00000%°Le |euosiad AN dlland pue ssaulsng |eJausn

808¢¥8’LL 808¢¥8'L L 98968¢°¢€l 98968¢C°¢CL 88968C°¢€l LLeyeES'EL L12YESEL L2sesy'el L2sesy'el ¢seeerel [eay ANIBN 21iand PUB [BLISNPU|/[BIDIBWIWIOD

L¥€0CE 0L Lye0ce ol 80v069°L L 801069} L 80v069°L L 98v/8v'ClL v.0L8v'CL sygeel el i A A 608590°¢CL |eey [einynouby/|enuapisey
J8U109 8b3j0)

sabej|IA
2202 1202 0202 6102 8102 /102 9102 G102 7102 €102 Je8A UORO8||0D

sjuswuIdan0g BuiddeanQ pue 3oaliq - sajey xe] Auadoid

{Penunuod)
sleaj ua] jse
(anjep passassy 000°L$ 412d)

oo ‘“Munoy sepng



861

(penuguo))
0000.¥'8 0000.t'8 00004¥'8 0000.%'8 0000.6°L 0000462 0000.6°L 0000262 000046°L 0000269 |euosiad AN o1jgnd pue ssauisng [e1eusD
€81EVC'8 €8.EVC’L 1/60€t'8 08G8¢2Y'8 26G8¢6°.L 0000262 0000462 0000262 0000462 0002269 [eay AH|N 211aNd PUE [BLISNPU|/[BIDIBWIWOD
€01659°2 G2L199°2 2/9190°'8 196208 682€.G°. 1€2916°L vieys’L €GG816°.L €G9G8Y6°.L 92.616°9 |eay [einynoLBy;/jenuapisay
uebliopy
0000v.2'6 0000%2'6 0000v2'6 0000%2'6 0000v2°L 0000%2°L 0000v2L°2L 0000%2°L 0000v2°2L 0000%2°L |euosiad AN o1lgnd pue ssauisng [eJousD
2ev.62'8 [ANZATA] S0.L1L6'8 9696888 89//28°9 L1€618°9 L1€618°9 81/€98°9 8/1/€598°9 81/€G8°9 [eay AN 211ANd PUE [BLISNPU|/[BIDIBWIWOD
9G6¥1L°L €LioLL’L 096€£S0°'8 2GSS.0'8 2reeL09 6G1€91°9 1682519 8616629 8616529 €18282°9 [eay [einynoLByyjenuapisay
pJIoJIN
000092°G 000092°G 000092°G 000092°G 000092°G 000092°G 000092°G 000092’ 00009C't 000092’ [euosiad ANinn olland pue ssaulisng [e1ausD
665606t 861288’ 168G00°'S 1252667 G86186'% 6.58.6'% 6€95¢26'Y G1/598°¢€ G1/598°¢€ 998898°¢ [eay AN o1lgnd pue |ewisnpuy/[eolawwo)
10S220'v 121920y S092LY'Y 8¥.60St 881206 92159 610159t 6.£059°€ 6.£059°€ 06¥8Y9°€ [eay [einynouby/jenuapisay
uosipep
000060°GL 000060°GL 000060°GL 000060°GL 000060°GL 00006G°} L 000066} L 00006G°L L 00006G°LL 00006G°L L N 2llgnd pue ssauisng |eJaus
0¥€8.0'6 L06ELL'6 12s6€L 01 yiigel ol €e28seel €.¥.06°0L 269/68°0L 82/S0G6°0L 82/50G6°0L €G//1¥°0L [e8Y AN 211ANd PUE [BLISNPU|/[BIDIBWUWOD
8evSolLL L0S9LT L1 1860€€CL v6L16E°CL y¥GesyClL 61102101 22168201 109%99°01 109%99°0L G62299°0L [eay [einynouBy;/jenuapisay
Apeq
0000462 0000462 0000462 0000462 0000262 0000229 0000tV 0000L¥'¥ 0000.Lt't 0000L¥'¥ [euosiad AN o1land pue ssauisng [eJausD
68v..2°L 8G/S/T'. 0000262 0000.6°2 0000262 92L¥iT9 0000t 0000L¥'¥ 0000t 0000L¥'¥ [eay AN 211ANd PUE [BLISNPU|/[BIDIBWUWOD
¥8€9¢2¢'L 899/2C°L 6G€20.L°L 8G590/.°L L0¥20.L L 0000229 900¥0t v 0000Lt't 00007 0000.t't [eay [einynouby/jenuapisay
JanoueH
000060} L 000060} L 000060} L 000060} L 000060} L 00006091 000060} L 0000612 0000612 0000612 |euosiad AN d1|dnd pue ssauisng [eJausD
8lLecio’s 296.16°L 606829'8 980L¥C'6 ¥/900%'6 18299'vL ¥6.¥58'6 99/88°G 9¥9/88'G $90998°G [eay AWInN 21lgnd pue [ew)snpuy/[eiolawwo)
169/20°'8 8G¥56€°L 6G6S.1°6 0669216 9G¥181°6 GEBSL8 YL 80286 LL0V.8°S L10¥.8°'S 0%8298°G [eay [einynouby/|enuapisay
peye
sdiysumoj
2e0e 120e 0202 6102 8102 1102 9L0e sioc 102 €loe les A uonos|jo

sjuswuIdan0g BuiddeanQ pue 3oaliq - sajey xe] Auadoid

{Penunuod)
sleaj ua] jse
(anjep passassy 000°L$ 412d)

oo ‘“Munoy sepng



661

(penunuoQ)

0000658} 0000658} 000065 ¥} 000065 ¥} 000065 ¥} 000065 ¥} 000065 ¥} 000065 ¥} 000065 ¥} 000065t} |euosiad AN 21jand pue ssauisng [esausn

1S€6S6'GL G62526'S) LELPPOEL ISveTiEl £2Y8E0 VL YBYS6E YL 18/8LE VL 000065t} 000065 ¥} 000065t} [e9Y AN 2lidnd PUB [eLisnpul/|eIoiswwo

LEV8OY'SL 1¥186Y'SL 8/881G°¢) 6529€G°EL ¥Z6185°EL LLLLPb Pl L9LL9V VL 000065 ¥} 000065 ¥} 000065 ¥} [eay [eanynoubyy|enuspisay
19)88YD 1S9\

000085°S 000085°S 000085°S 000085°S 0000€8'E 0000€8°€ 0000¥L'S 000068 ¥ 000068 ¥ 000068 ¥ [euosiad AN 2lignd puUe ssauisng [esausD)

0S0SGL'S 0S0SSL'S 00008S'S GG96.5°S 86899/°€ 66899.°€ 68€2.0°G 000068 ¥ 000068 16L28L% [eay Anln 21jand pue [eLsNpu|/elo1swwog

91€9€€'S SPYREES GBZELS'S 00008S'S 6V€LL1°€ 0000€8°E GBE6EL'S 1€TIEL Y 1€2IEL Y LSGSELY [eay [eanynoLby;[enuspisey
aukepn

00004%°L L 00004%°LL 000046°L 000046°L 000046°L 000046°L 000046°L 000046°L 000046°L 00004V |euosiad AN o1jgnd pue ssauisng [e1ausD

9€Crs8 0L 2Sv608°01 000046°L 000046°L 000046°L 000046°L 000046°L 000046°L 000046°L 00004%'¥ [eay AInN 211and PUE [BLISNPU|/[BI0IBWIWOD

02680001 9€0200°0} 9LLVEL L 9/9/¢€1°L 0.€€€L°L 69229.°L 6ELEVL L 0/818°L ¥0.818°L 12611LEY |eay [einynouBy;/jenuspisay
RILCIIORIS)

0o0ooceclL 0000¢ce el 0000ceclL 0000¢z el 0000cc L1 0000¢C'L L 0000ce L L 00004¥'8 0000.%'8 0000229 N 311and pue ssaulsng |eJaus9

6G16S0°L1 G60v.0°L L 80¢9cl ¢l veseLl el evieLLLL 190G.0°L L 160c.0°LL 6¥€62C'8 6¥€62C'8 6€€62E9 |8y AN 211ANd PUE [BLISNPU|/[BIDIBWUWOD

162¢6€9°0L G20sS¥9'0L 258651 L L €829.V°LL 12¢€681L°0L 16751801 €90808°01 286EVE'8 286EYE'8 €0S0¥¥'9 [eay [einynoliby/jenuapisey
ssoy

0000¥9'9 0000¥9°9 0000¥9'9 0000%9°9 0000¥9'9 0000%9°9 0000¥9'9 0000%9°9 0000¥9'9 00006€°L |euosiad Ann 211gnd pue ssauisng |BJauss)

G1/2lv9 GLlCLlY9 0000¥9'9 0000¥9°9 0000¥9'9 0000¥9°9 0000¥9'9 0000¥9°9 0000¥9'9 00006€°L [eay AHN 211ANd PUE [BLISNPU|/[BIDIBWUWOD

€12192°9 26€59¢'9 6€8/€1'9 GSOEYY'9 CL6SEY'9 ¥86¥.v'9 66YELY9 0000¥9'9 0000¥9'9 108€.0°L |eay [einynouby/jenuapisay
Aoy

00006G°E} 000065°€L 000065°€} 00006S€} 000065°€} 000065 €} 000065°€} 0000656 0000656 0000656 [euosiad AN 2lignd puUE ssauisng [ejausD)

0¥0S€C’ L €0cleT’ L £€66¢2.1°8 £662.1°8 8€10L6°L €99916°L 266S¥8°L CLBEET’E CLBEET'E CLBEETE [eay Auinn 211gnd pue |ew}snpuy/[erolawwo)

SLYOPYy'8 06G.EV'8 G8Y616'8 [AATAN RS 92GEE6'8 2906¥0'6 9€6620°6 0¥2590'9 0¥2590°9 6919909 |eey [einynouby/|enuapisey
ploxo

(panunuod) sdiysumoy
2202 120z 0202 610C 8102 /102 9102 5102 v102 €102 les | Uoio8||00

(enjep passassy 000°L$ 419d)
sjuswuIdan0g BuiddeanQ pue 3oaliq - sajey xe] Auadoid

(penunuod)
silea) ua] jse

oo ‘“Munoy sepng



002

(panunuo))
0000¥8°2Y 00000621 000.+5°Gt 00008S°SY 0000.8°9% 0000.9°'8% 00002Z)°8% 000861°L¥ 000861" L1 000258 ¥ [euosiad AN o11and pue ssauisng [eJausD
GBSYSS LY 900005’ LY 900.v1 vt 900081 8% 9/2./58'SY 0000.9°'8% 00002}°8% G1/288°9% G1L/288°9Y 229€2T v [eay AN 211ANd PUE [BLISNPU|/[BIDIBWUWOD
9000v¥' Lt 90000S" LY 900.vL ¥t 900081 ¥¥ 9000.¥'Gt 900022 LY 90002.2°9% 90086.'SY 90086.'GY 90025+ €Y [eay [ednynoubyy/jenuapisay
|ed07 80JUo\
0000161 0000%1°0S 00062725 000920°¥S 0000S} ¥ 00006€°GS 0000VS ¥S 0006.0°61 00062061 0006+6'81 |euosiad AN d11dnd pue ssauisng [e1ausD
G9508€'8Y GG6£06'8Y 79810125 ¥69102°€S ¥0/219°€S 00006€°SS 0000+S ¥S 0006.0°6% 00062061 £0¥528'8Y [eay Auinn o1lgnd pue |ewjsnpuy/[erolawwo)
0EL¥S0'8Y 18168/°8Y G0008L°LS ¥1€291°25 ¥£2€88°2S 00006€°SS 0000vS ¥S 00062061 0006.0°'6% 00061681 |eay [einynouby/jenuapisay
AjD umos|ppIN
0000+0°8€ 0000+0°'8€ 0000+S'6€ 0000+56€ 0000+S'6€ 0000+9°'6€ 0000v9°0% 0000+0° LY 0000V0° LY 0000+6°0% |euosiad AN o1jgnd pue ssauisng [e1eusD
avLyL6'LE LLEELLLE 0000+S'6€ 0000+56€ 11169%'6€ 0000+9°'6€ 0000+9°0% G6YEL8 0V G6YEL80Y 020€vL 0V [eay AHN 211and pUe [el}snpu/|eloawwo)
G/S€02°SE £00002°GE 659682°/€ €L1€0€°2€ 0/8192°1€ 62¥re 8e 16¥012°6€ 905¥09°'6€ 905709'6€ 1¥8GL¥'6€ |eay [einynouby;/jenuspisay
|e207 uosipe
00009269 0000+9'89 0000169 0000169 0000¥10L 0000¥1°02 0000¥1°0L 0000¥LLL 0000¥}" L2 0000+8°G9 |euosiad AN o1jand pue ssauisng [e1ousD
¥669.6'01 126182°0% 8068¢CY 666£29°CY 666260°81 80SY6¢ 61 25101 61 68.05.'6% 6810561 9/18LT Y [eaY AN 211ANd PUE [BLISNPU|/[BIDIBWWOD
686956 7€ G1282¥ ¥e 11€91€°1€ €0v.0%'8¢ ¥8825°6€ 1202¥0°2¥ 80522ETY ¥28Z1L0'vY ¥28z1L0vY 995£69°'8€ [eay [einynoLByy/jenuapisay
|e007 ejoyeT]
00009525 00001825 00001£°€S 000018'¥S 0000L€¥S 000018'¥S 000018'¥S 000019°€S 000019°€S 0000Z%'€S [euosiad ANjin o1land pue ssauisng [eJousD
G85698°'8€ Z16¥8£'6€ 11€110°EY 0€.¥6S°€Y 6€0L26EY 909Zv8'SY 059085°Gt G182/6'CY G182.6'CY 162926'LY [eay AN 211ANd PUE [BLISNPU|/[BIDIBWIWOD
00S916°'2¢ #802.1°€€ 2029+0°9¢ GLI9YS 9¢ 882£66'9¢€ £Y92£6'8¢ 6.¥€18'8E 9651¥9°5E 965119°GE £0SYve Se [eay [einynouby/jenuapisay
AjQ uoyiweH
00000€°€9 00000£°€9 00000879 000008°€9 00000€"¥9 00000€"¥9 000005 ¥9 00000829 00000829 00000£°€9 [euosIad AN 21|dnd pue ssaulisng [e1ausD
ZvOv6s’Le LLEELBLE 9Z¥8SS Ty £920.8°0% c6vLITEY 909858°ch 9G56v8'cY ¥¥S09G° LY ¥¥5095" LY z52.88TY [eay Auinn ollgnd pue [ew}snpuy/[eiolawwog
786080°2¢ 611802¢ GZ1109'2€ 129€09°9€ 120L0L°2€ 10¥086'8€ 18/91°6€ 252816'9¢ 7528.6'9¢ 6v.82' L€ |eay [einynouby/jenuapisay
AN0 preirey
000088" LY 0000.€'61 000682 6% 00028005 0000}1°0 00000/ 6% 000099°'9% 00085205 00085Z°0S 000.51°0S [euosiad AN 21ldnd pue ssauisng [esauss
81+286'8¢ 11865701 811€€1°CY zvoLoLey cevizLey 22588T°ch 020816'6€ GZP09ZeY SZH09Z €Y 151281 LY [y AHIN 211GNd pUE [eLISNPU|/[EIDJBWIWOD
100025°2¢ #100L0'¥E £G5£G6°€E £0VEL8 Ve 129687 8¥8€06'GE 102£€8°2¢ £G6/€59'9¢ £G6/£G9'9¢ 15020G°9¢ |eay [einynouby;jenuspisay
Ao poomabpg
s|jooysg
000096°€ 000096°€ 0000L0°Y 0000L0°¥ 0000L0°Y 000085°C 0000852 000085°C 0000852 000085°C N 21lgnd pue ssaulsng [e1ousD
12196.°€ 96819/°¢ G89068°'€ GZhYes'e zr8Le6e 2069052 £82825°C 2/8025°C 2180252 29v118C [eaY AN 211ANd PUE [BLISNPU|/[BIDIBWWOD
SY0SEY'E 0/8.v¥'€ 989869°¢ €108€L°€ vvevvle 16585€C ¥6528¢€°C 196G+ 196G+Y'C 8L9vv¥T [eay [einynoLBy;/jenuapisay
SAr yoa As|leA iweipy
0000022 0000022 0000022 0000022 0000022 0000022 0000022 0000022 0000022 0000022 |euosiad AN o1land pue ssauisng [eJausD
£8225¢'C 78622€C 10625Y'2 16€1L5¥C ¥6025Y°C £16¥25C 9650€5°C 10¥85%C 10¥85¥°C 6.6¥E¥C [eay AN 211ANd PUE [BLISNPU|/[BIDIBWUWOD
000000Z 0000002 0£900°C 848002 G8£620°C 1628212 9698212 65966122 6566122 £50512°C [eay [einynouby/[enuapisay
S/l s)eo jeal9)
0000€6' | 0000€6°} 0000€6' | 0000€6°} 0000€6' | 0000€6°} 0000€6' L 0000€6°} 0000€6' L 0000€6'} [euosiad AN o11dnd pue ssauisng [e1ausD
0000€6' L 0000€6'} 0000€6' L 0000€6'} 0000€6'L 0000€6"} 0000€6'L 0000€6"} 0000€6'L 0000€6"} [eay Auinn o1lgnd pue [er}snpuy/[erolawwo)
0000€6'L 0000€6'} 0000€6'L 0000€6"} 0000€6'L 0000€6'} 0000€6'L 0000€6'} 0000€6'L 0000€6' |eay [einynouby/|enuapisay
SAr Auno Jepng
S|O0YDS |euoljedoA juior
220z 1202 0202 6102 8102 1102 9102 G102 ¥102 €102 JEEJNVIRET)

(enjep passassy 000°L$ 419d)
sjuswuIdan0g BuiddeanQ pue 3oaliq - sajey xe] Auadoid

(penunuod)
silea) ua] jse

oo ‘“Munoy sepng



102

(penunuod)
0000€6°LY 00009187 0000918 0000Z€ 81 0000298 00008} v 00008l ¥ 00008} vt 000081ty 00008} ¥ |euosiad AN d11dnd pue ssauisng [e1ausD
98€0€6°LZ 6v..11°8C €2€8.€°0€ 192+99°0€ €980.0°L€ 06£188°9¢ €9YEY8 9T 0€.€91°92 0€2€91°92 008€90°92 [eay Auinn o1lgnd pue |ewjsnpuy/[erolawwo)
161G21°92 16920%°92 10G51€8°92 G6G9960°22 0§19.5°.2 €682.LL°€T 121998°€2 119/80vC 179/80'vC 866..0'tC |eay [einynouby/jenuapisay
12007 }Jsemynosg
00008€°G9 0000€¥°G9 0000€¥°G9 00008129 000085°29 00008529 000085°29 00008219 00008Z°19 00008219 |euosiad AN o1jgnd pue ssauisng [e1eusD
L8962 6Y 120€00°6% 020960°2S 020S6€ '8 €6699/.°8% €18v¥6'8Y 6v8€0°6Y 2€208°9% 2€er08 9y €0S22€°9Y [eay AHN 211and pUe [el}snpu/|eloawwo)
S9¥8.1G°L€ 80€918°L€ Zv.Lv80° LY 259628°L€ 0S¥GLE8E 00.901°6€ 66/250°6€ 968GGS L€ 9G8GGS L€ YyLEBY LE |eay [einynouby;/jenuspisay
1e007 UojeduUld
000000°02 000000°02 000000°02 000000°02 00000002 00000502 00000502 00000Z°€Z 00000Z°€2 00000Z°€Z |euosiad AN o1jand pue ssauisng [e1ousD
00000002 000000°02 000000°02 000000°02 000000°02 ¥20.8¥°0C ¥20.8%°0C 00000Z°€2 00000Z°€2 00000Z°€2 [eaY AN 211ANd PUE [BLISNPU|/[BIDIBWWOD
000000°02 000000°02 000000°02 000000°02 000000°02 6v.,.5€°0C 029.6€°0C 8€G960°€C 8€5960°€C ¥25960°€C [eay [einynoLByy/jenuapisay
|e007 @8umeyg a|gaid
00006.°€9 000096°€9 0000G€°59 00000085 00008%°8G 0000.28°8S 00004885 00004565 00004565 00004565 [euosiad ANjin o1land pue ssauisng [eJousD
1€6G08°GY LGE6E9'SY 0v529Z'8Y 2622€9°0v 2881660 19G/25° Ly Lsovieey Evv.L9€°CY €vv.9€7Cy €E0LET Ty [eay AN 211ANd PUE [BLISNPU|/[BIDIBWIWOD
968112'8€ 01602€°8€ 1856.9°CY €0v9ve’GE 2L.108°GE 9609/8°9¢€ 2009€8°9€ LLY12G9€ L1¥12G'9¢ 6SCLYY 9E [eay [einynouby/jenuapisay
12007 }SeMyUON
00000€°98 00000}°28 00006.°28 00006228 0000} 1°€8 0000L1°€8 0000} 1°€8 0000.6°€8 0000.6°€8 0000.6°€8 [euosIad AN 21|dnd pue ssaulisng [e1ausD
G229vS 8y 119v2E 61 89€.L¥T Gy 062€G6'SY S0S12L9Y 9€0.02°9% 6€9€16°9 96€6.0°8Y 96€6.0°8Y 9620¥9° Ly [eay Auinn ollgnd pue [ew}snpuy/[eiolawwog
259625°8¢€ €8€209°¢€y 9/8LY'6E €66185°6€ L¥0€96°Ct Y0CrSL ey €GETIT eV fA 7 YAWA4 fAZAYANA4 120GV LYy |eay [einynouby/jenuapisay
|e00 uosepy
00000}°2€ 00000}2e 00000}°2€ 0ooo0olze 000001°C€ 000001°2€ 000001°C€ 000001 °2€ 000001°C€ 000001 °2€ [euosiad AN 21ldnd pue ssauisng [esauss
1/806%°SC 1/8061°'SC 6099€2°9¢2 6099€2°92 1199€2°92 2y8e6y’ L2 Zy8e6yLe (A1 44 CLyIvL LT 8G0LLL°L2 [y AHIN 211GNd pUE [eLISNPU|/[EIDJBWIWOD
SLLYY0°L2 99€6¥0°LZ 289992°9¢ ¥86992°9¢ Z¥8592°9¢ 1£6268vC 0.8v88'tC ¥9/t01°92 ¥9.101°92 2€vG6.6'GC |eay [einynouby;jenuspisay
|eo0 Jaui0) abajj0D
sjousig |ooyos AJunon-jo0-3no
000008t 000008 S 00000€°SS 00000€°GS 00000€ S 00000€ S 00000€°SS 000008°GS 000008°SS 0000€}°99 N 21lgnd pue sssuisng |eJauss)
1800.6'92 2969G66°9¢ 15100%°0€ ¥18¥9¥°0€ 666.9€'62 2¥2S8e0e 90¥8CLLE Lyl6scee LyL6S2Ce 6.90L¥'CE [eaY AN 211ANd PUE [BLISNPU|/[BIDIBWWOD
€20005°92 1000592 90v0t0°L2 1616.0°LC 822890°9¢ 6£58.8°92 009.¥8°.LC 60€089'82 60€£089'82 L9882 [eay [einynoLBy;/jenuapisay
A1 epuemele]
0000€Z°61 0000€Z°6Y 0000€.°6% 0000€.2°6Y 0000€.°6% 0000€.2°6¥ 0000€.2°6% 0000€.2°6¥ 0000€.2°6% 0000€.2°6¥% |euosiad ANjin o1land pue ssauisng [eJausD
62000292 810002°92 §2.666°.LC €191¥6°L2 0€1996°.L2 0LLY18°L2 9098872 20896692 20896692 9€€016'92 [eay AN 211ANd PUE [BLISNPU|/[BIDIBWUWOD
61000292 200002°92 20002t 920002'¥C 20002t §2eeveee 99€0¥Z°GC 961269'GC 951269°62 ¥1.699'52 [eay [einynouby/[enuapisay
|e00 ssoy
00006582 0000t6'82 0000Y¥'62 0000t¥ 62 0000Y¥'62 0000t6'82 0000¥¥°82 00006082 00006082 00006082 |euosiad AN o11dnd pue ssauisng [e1ausD
2828.¥'vC 688865 ¥C 665.89°92 1¥0989°9¢ 652ZL¥'9C 168068°6C Y9YGZeGT G2Z1599°€C G21G99°€C 0LEYLOET [eay Auinn 211gnd pue [er}snpuy/[erolawwo)
86287 €C ZeshLLee 9€699Y° L2 €L6vLy LT 926LYY LT §20L00°2L2 0S66€°92 62108t 62108 vC 9v./99'vC |eay [einynouby/|enuapisay
12007 IWEeIN MeN
(panunuod) sjooyss
[44v4 120z 0202 6102 810z 1102 9102 S1L02 102 €loe les A uonos|jo

(enjep passassy 000°L$ 419d)
sjuswuIdan0g BuiddeanQ pue 3oaliq - sajey xe] Auadoid

(penunuod)
silea) ua] jse

oo ‘“Munoy sepng



20C

103ipny Ajunog JepIng :921nog

*uo1399a a11qnd e je s1a)oA ayj jo Ajuofew e jo jeaoidde ayj Buluieyqo Aq pasies agq Ajuo Aew sajey
‘|lesieaddeas yoea Buimojjoy Jeak paiyy ayy ui pajepdn ase sanjea Apadoud pue sieak xis A1ana pasierddeas si Ajadoud jeay

*Saxe} |euol}ippe ajelauab jJou op anjeA uj saseasou] Aleuoljejjul Jey) os paosnpal ale sajel xe} Aladoud jeay
-1eak jeyy ui pajjiq anuaaal xe} Ajadoud ay) pajesauab ‘ajqe]
anje) passassy ay} u] pajuasald sanjeA passasse ayj o} paljdde uaym ‘Jey} sajel ayj ale Jeak sepuajed Jenaijied e 1oy pajuasaid sajel ay|

0000020 0000020 0000020 0000020 00000.°0 0000020 000005°0 0000050 000005°0 0000050 N 2ljand pue ssauisng [eIauUsD
278850 G15/85°0 YELLY90 £€9189°0 889//9°0 0000020 051/86°0 0000050 00000S°0 0000050 [eay ANIBN l|ANd U [esnpul/e1oiawwod
611€95°0 8L5¥95°0 ¥0LL¥9°0 Z€06Y9°0 G286¥9°0 G80869'0 0556670 0000050 00000S°0 0000050 [eay [ennolBy/|enuapisay
Auno) Japng jo syiedonvy
1013810 Yed
000052°0 0000520 000052°0 0000520 000052°0 0000520 000052°0 0000520 000052°0 0000520 [euosiad AN[iN 21ldnd pue ssauisng [eJauss)
9€51£9°0 8958290 66¥819°0 £€9189°0 9v9vZL 0 Zv96Y.L0 ee1ZyL 0 0000520 000052°0 0000520 [eay ANIBN ljANd pUe [eLsnpul/[eloiawwod
8€8065°0 86.265°0 9/1189°0 112€89°0 1115890 YrEEYL 0 9€ELYL 0 0000520 000052°0 0000520 [eay [eanynolBy/lenuspisay
Areiqr syutodpipy
0000S2°0 00005.°0 000052°0 00005.°0 000052°0 000052°0 000052°0 000052°0 000052°0 000052°0 [euosiad ANnN dljand pue ssauisng [eJousD
1889€9°0 2058€9°0 61¥512°0 1028020 166,220 000052°0 0000520 000052°0 0000520 000052°0 [eay ANIBN 2lignd PUB [eLISNpul/EIoIawwo)
£78919°0 528919'0 2829020 16890.°0 ¥8€902°0 000052°0 0000520 000052°0 0000520 000052°0 [eay [einynoLBy/jenuspisay
A1eiqry ongng aue
sauelqi
2202 1202 0202 6102 810z 7102 9102 SL0z v102 €10z 1ea\ UoNo3]|00

sjuswuIdan0g BuiddeanQ pue 3oaliq - sajey xe] Auadoid

{Penunuod)
sleaj ua] jse
(anjep passassy 000°L$ 412d)

oo ‘“Munoy sepng



€0¢

Jojipny Ajuno? Jajing :924nog

13k xe} Aq suo1309]|09 xe} Juanbuijap Ayyuapi Jou saop Aunon ayl (g)

*anuaAal [ejuawuianobialu] se pajiodal
pue aje}s ay} ybnouyy paynquisip Ing ‘Ajjeso| passasse saxe)} }oed|oy/peajsawoH sapnjou] (1)
"Jg9p jo Juawdhedal ay) 10} pajoLsal A||eulalxa uaag Jou aAeY S32IN0SAY :9JON

L€°00L 6G8'810'9S ys8‘eLy’lL 8.°,6 G00‘G09'tS 9zv'vy8'es [A4\r4
€100l 0/2'6€l'el €YG'gor’L ¥71°86 lee'vieel 000'v¥9'c. 120¢
96001 6€0°LGE' V. GS¥'G0L‘e 0186 ¥8G‘avec. y9e‘Ly9'eL 0c0c
S¥'00l 6G8°€1G'L. GiLz'heo's €8°,6 ¥¥9°26¥'S.L 0289122 6102
G.'66 918°005'9. €G0°L46°L 81°,6 €9/'62S'v. 685°69'9/ 8102
0L00L 290°6¥5'69 0S5°Ze6'L ce’L6 21Ls219'29 98/'€/1'69 1102
16°00L G/1'e60'cL 677.°686'L /,1'86 ozv'eoL’LL 69°LEV'CL 910¢
o¢’Lol 920'6.8'89 L22°16L°C ,0'86 GGZ'/89'99 L€v'166°19 g10c
8G°.6 eve'ers'oL 0S0'SPLc 29’76 £62°86£'89 6.1'682'c. 10¢
€G9'¥6 £8€'625'89 $ 196'700°C $ 9216 2ey'ves'99 $ Wl'l6v'CL $ €10
a8 xe] jusungd RG] (2) suonos|0p Ane xe) I RE) AneT IZEYN
0} SU0198||0D xe] |ejo] xe| JUEIiT) Xe] juaing xe| uono8||0D
xe] |ejol wenbuleg 0} SuU0198||0D ey
10 JusdIad XeJ juaing
10 JusdIad

slea) uad] jse
(1) suonoajj09 pue saira] xe] Ayadoid
o1yo ‘A&unoy Jsapng



Butler County, Ohio
Principal Taxpayers
Real Estate Tax
2022 and 2013 (1)

Name of Taxpayer

LIT Industrial LTD Partnership
Duke Realty Ohio

NP Rinck Farm LLC

Dugan Realty LLC
MillerCoors USA LLC

Amylin Ohio LLC

NP Brate Farm LLC
Continental 323 Fund LLC
First Industrial LP

BSREP Il LeSaint LLC

Total

Total Assessed Valuation

Name of Taxpayer

Duke Realty Ohio

MillerCoors LLC

Meijer Stores LTD PRT
Boymel Sam TR

AK Steel Corporation

US Industrial REIT Il Midwest
First Industrial LP

DCT Port Union LLC
Cincinnati Lesaint Industrial
Dugan Financing LLC

Total

Total Assessed Valuation

2022
Percent of
Assessed Real Property
Value Assessed Value
$ 27,343,980 0.30%
27,302,050 0.30%
23,095,650 0.25%
16,405,540 0.15%
13,535,260 0.18%
13,425,250 0.15%
13,285,550 0.14%
11,314,330 0.12%
11,196,180 0.12%
10,799,120 0.12%
$ 167,702,910 1.83%
$ 9,173,909,920
2013
Percent of

Assessed
Value

$ 13,854,910
12,143,180
11,367,410
11,083,170
10,769,410

9,065,000
8,791,470
8,640,870
8,050,000
7,353,680

$ 101,119,100

$ 7,034,379,450

(1) Amounts represent the assessed values upon which 2022 and 2013 collections were based.

Source: Butler County Auditor
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Real Property
Assessed Value

0.20%
0.17%
0.16%
0.16%
0.15%
0.13%
0.13%
0.12%
0.11%
0.11%

1.44%




Butler County, Ohio
Principal Taxpayers

2022 and 2013 (1)

Public Utilities Personal Property Tax

Name of Taxpayer

Duke Energy Ohio Inc.

Rockies Express Pipeline LLC

Duke Energy Kentucky Inc

Duke Energy Indiana
NTE Ohio LLC
Butler Rural Electric

Texas Eastern Transmission Corp
Texas Gas Transmission LLC

Dynegy Dicks Creek LLC

Glenwood Energy Of Oxford

Total

Total Assessed Valuation

Name of Taxpayer

Duke Energy Ohio Inc.

Rockies Express Pipeline LLC

Duke Energy Indiana

Duke Energy Kentucky Inc

Butler Rural Electric

Texas Eastern Transmission Corp

Bank of America Leasing

Texas Gas Transmission LLC

Dayton Power and Light

Glenwood Energy of Oxford

Total

Total Assessed Valuation

2022
Percent of
Assessed Public Utility

Value Assessed Value
$ 397,440,400 63.22%
92,416,130 14.70%
38,647,670 6.15%
29,743,430 4.73%
16,864,630 2.68%
16,099,170 2.09%
13,157,600 2.56%
7,301,070 1.16%
5,380,920 0.86%
1,007,590 0.16%
$ 618,058,610 98.31%

$ 628,706,540
2013
Percent of
Assessed Public Utility

Value Assessed Value
$ 204,770,680 48.26%
118,474,940 27.93%
40,172,210 9.47%
29,412,360 6.93%
11,611,690 2.74%
6,381,650 1.50%
3,583,630 0.85%
3,473,680 0.82%
3,184,460 0.75%
1,196,270 0.28%
$422,261,570 99.53%

$ 424,274,100

(1) Amounts represent the assessed values upon which 2022 and 2013 collections were based.

Source: Butler County Auditor
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Butler County, Ohio

Ratio of General Bonded Debt Outstanding

Last Ten Years

Ratio of Net Net
General Bonded Debt Bonded
Obligation Total Estimated to Estimated Debt per
Year Bonds Actual Value Actual Value Capita
2013 $ 67,998,096 20,580,356,659 033 § 182
2014 61,781,013 20,496,865,112 0.30 164
2015 56,315,199 20,286,502,268 0.28 149
2016 50,319,762 20,506,818,486 0.25 132
2017 40,637,747 20,685,691,851 0.20 106
2018 32,892,771 22,241,300,392 0.15 85
2019 24,255,639 22,718,226,440 0.11 62
2020 13,351,400 23,073,672,955 0.06 34
2021 12,026,179 26,606,066,457 0.05 31
2022 20,679,000 26,925,610,450 0.08 53

Note: Although the bond retirement fund is restricted for debt service, it is not specifically

restricted to the payment of principal. Therefore, these resources are not shwon as a
deduction from general obligation bonded debt.

Source: Butler County Auditor
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Butler County, Ohio

Demographic and Economic Statistics

Last Ten Years

Per Capita
Total Personal Personal Unemployment
Year Population (1) Income Income (1) Rate (2)
2013 373,042 $ 14,536,327,614 $ 38,967 6.9%
2014 375,914 15,373,378,944 40,896 5.4%
2015 378,708 16,092,817,752 42,494 4.6%
2016 381,569 16,585,278,154 43,466 4.4%
2017 384,307 17,397,577,890 45,270 4.4%
2018 386,179 17,168,772,200 46,910 4.1%
2019 388,181 19,245,237,618 49,578 3.8%
2020 390,600 20,468,611,800 52,403 7.2%
2021 390,234 21,711,058,824 55,636 4.5%
2022* 388,420 21,610,135,120 55,636 3.5%
Sources:

(1) Bureau of Economic Analysis (BEA). BEA used US Census Bureau midyear population
estimates available as of November 2022. Data is periodically updated by BEA as new
population estimates are made available by Census Bureau and is therefore subject to

change.

Information reported as of May 2023.

(2) US Department of Labor Bureau of Labor Statistics

* Population obtained from US Census Bureau; BEA's 2021 data used for Per Capita

Personal Income.
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Butler County, Ohio

Principal Employers
2022 and 2013

2022
Percentage
Number of of Total

Employer Nature of Business Employees Rank Employment
Miami University Education 3,721 1 1.80 %
Cincinnati Financial Corp. Insurance 3,300 2 1.60
Lakota Local School District Education 2,596 6 1.26
Cleveland Cliffs Manufacturing 2,500 4 1.21
GE Aviation Aerospace 2,000 3 0.97
Butler County Government Government 1,700 5 0.82
Mercy Regional Hospital Health Care 1,400 7 0.68
Cornerstone Brands Consumer Goods 1,272 8 0.62
Koch Foods Food Service 1,250 9 0.60
Hamilton City Schools Education 1,227 10 0.59
Total 20,966 — 1015 %
Total Employment within the County* 206,526

2013
Percentage
Number of of Total

Employer Nature of Business Employees Rank Employment
Miami University Education 3,293 1 1.88 %
Cincinnati Financial Corp. Financial 2,789 2 1.60
AK Steel Steel Manufacturing 2,400 3 1.37
GE Aviation Aerospace 2,000 4 1.14
Lakota Local School District Education 1,827 5 1.05
Butler County Government Government 1,717 6 0.98
Ohio Casualty (KNA Liberty Mutual) Insurance 1,300 7 0.74
Mercy Regional Hospital Health Care 1,200 8 0.69
Hamilton City Schools Education 1,095 9 0.63
Ft. Hamilton Hospital Health Care 1,020 10 0.58
Total 18,641 __ 1066 %
Total Employment within the County 174,900

* Total employment within County as reported by Bureau of Economic Analysis’' statistics updated/revised

November 16, 2022.

Source: Butler County Department of Development as of 5/24/2023.
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Butler County, Ohio
County Government Emp by F i ivity
Last Ten Years

2013 2014* 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
General Government
Legislative and Executive
Auditor 19 15 14 12 13 12 12 12 1 10
Auditor Elected Official 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Auditor Information Services 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Auditor Real Estate 30 27 23 24 24 26 21 17 16 18
Board of Elections 110 28 28 23 27 25 28 31 26 25
Board of Elections Election Pay (1) 4,482 1,550 1,301 2,013 1,180 1,588 1,156 1,897 742 1,407
Commissioners 14 12 12 9 8 9 8 8 12 12
Commissioners Department of Development 12 13 " 16 15 13 16 13 15 13
Commissioners Dog and Kennel 4 - - - - - - - - -
Commissioners Information Services 18 17 21 23 23 22 20 19 19 17
Commissioners Mail Room 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 3
Commissioners Maintenance 4 4 5 5 5 4 5 5 4 5
Commissioners Central Human Resources - 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 5 4
Commissioners Records Center 3 4 4 4 4 3 1 1 2 1
Commissioners Elected Officials 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Clerk of Courts Title 31 27 30 29 28 32 34 30 32 36
Law Library 3 3 3 3 2 2 2 3 2 2
Microfilm Board - - 3 3 3 3 2 2 2 2
Prosecuting Attorney 58 59 55 55 54 57 56 54 55 58
Prosecuting Attorney Elected Official 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Public Defender 42 39 38 40 38 40 41 41 43 42
Recorder 13 12 12 12 11 10 10 10 8 8
Recorder Elected Official 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Treasurer 17 15 14 15 16 15 15 14 17 13
Treasurer Elected Official 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Judicial
Area Courts 34 33 30 31 32 34 40 37 39 34
Area Courts Elected Official 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Clerk of Courts 35 33 31 35 38 38 34 30 26 28
Clerk of Courts Elected Official 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Common Pleas Court 40 33 37 31 36 34 39 33 40 41
Common Pleas Elected Official 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7
Domestic Relations Court 25 22 22 23 22 20 23 21 22 24
Domestic Relations Elected Official 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Juvenile Court 47 45 43 44 46 41 44 45 40 45
Juvenile Court Elected Official 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Municipal Court 20 12 11 10 12 14 12 10 9 11
Municipal Court Elected Official 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Probate Court 14 17 18 19 20 19 21 21 23 27
Probate Court Computer Fees 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 3 1 1
Probate Court Elected Official 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Public Safety
Adult Probation 56 57 58 57 51 51 45 50 41 40
Auditor Dog and Kennel 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 -
Coroner 10 8 8 1" 12 12 12 1" 13 12
Coroner Elected Official 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Coroner Lab and Morgue 1 - - - - - - - 1 2
Juvenile Detention/Rehab 103 93 92 93 94 91 93 86 93 85
Sheriff 360 383 400 421 427 453 436 422 430 409
Sheriff Elected Official 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Emergency Management 5 5 3 3 4 4 4 5 5 5
Public Works
Commissioners Regional Airport 1 1 1 1 - - - - - -
Commissioners Entitlement 4 3 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 3
Commissioners Parking Garage 2 3 3 4 3 5 3 3 2 -
Commissioners Solid Waste - - g - = = 2 2 2 2
Engineers 94 7 7 7 73 7 78 70 7 70
Engineers Elected Official 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Engineers Plat Room 3 3 2 2 2 2 5 5 5 5
Health
Alcohol and Drug Addiction 6 5 - - - - - - - -
Board of Developmental Disabilities 227 198 191 162 152 150 148 140 143 146
Mental Health Board 8 8 N N N N N N - -
Mental Health and Addiction Recovery Services Board - - 12 12 12 10 15 13 14 13
Human Services
Child Support Enforcement Agency 66 69 69 69 68 66 67 59 64 60
County Care Facility 157 126 112 119 102 86 72 54 39 2
Job and Family Services/Children Services Agency 262 249 265 277 266 270 266 258 247 220
Prosecuting Attorney 3 3 3 3 5 3 3 3 7 4
Sheriff Victim Programs 3 2 2 3 2 2 2 1 2
Veteran Services 12 10 " " 12 13 " " " 12
Veteran Services Commissioners 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5
Internal Service
Commissioners Workers Comp ion 4 3 3 2 2 2 2 2 1 1
Commissioners Health Insurance - Wellness - 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 -
Auditor Health Insurance 1 1 1 1 - 1 1 1 1 -
Enterprise
Water And Sewer 97 96 95 96 95 92 92 88 89 87
Agency
Court of Appeals - 12th District (2) 24 - - - - - - - - -
Health Department 75 36 37 38 38 45 46 57 53 56
Metro Parks 57 68 7 74 88 85 85 58 79 73
Soil and Water Conservation 4 4 4 4 3 4 4 5 5 5
Total 6,762 3,570 3,327 4,060 3,215 3,632 3,179 3,808 2,671 3,236
Note: This report counts employ not positi Large i are often a result of employee turnover and part-time and intermittent employees.

* Beginning 2014, employee counts are based on the last payroll of the year plus Board of Elections pollworkers (election pay).
(1) Board of Elections Election Pay individuals began being treated as employees in 2009. They are not included in the employment numbers for Principal Employers.
(2) Beginning 2014, Court of Appeals - 12th Disrict employees are paid by the State of Ohio and not by Butler County.

Source: Butler County Auditor
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Butler County, Ohio
Operating Indicators by Function/Program
Last Ten Years

General Government
Legislative and Executive
Commissioners
Number of resolutions
Number of meetings
Auditor
Number of exempt conveyances
Number of real estate transfers
Number of parcels billed
Number of vendor invoices processed
Number of appropriation checks issued
Number of electronic vendor payments issued
Number of payroll checks issued
Number of payroll electronic payments issued
Number of purchase orders issued
Treasurer
Number of parcels collected
Prosecuting Attorney
Number of criminal cases
Board of Elections
Number of registered voters
Number of voters last general election
Percentage of registered voters that voted
Recorder
Number of deeds recorded
Number of mortgages recorded
Number of military discharges recorded
Community and Economic Development
Number of projects
Number of jobs created
Judicial
Common Pleas Court
Number of civil cases filed
Number of criminal cases filed
Probate Court
Number of civil cases filed
Juvenile Court
Number of civil cases filed
Number of criminal cases filed
Number of adjudged delinquent cases filed
Area Courts
Number of civil cases filed
Number of criminal cases filed
Number of small claims cases filed
Clerk of Courts
Number of civil cases filed
Number of criminal cases filed
Domestic Relations
Number of divorce cases filed
Number of motions filed
Number of protective orders filed
Public Safety
Sheriff
Average daily jail census
Number of prisoners booked
Number of prisoners released
Number of out-of-county bed days used
Enforcement
Number of incidents reported
Number of citations issued
Concealed Weapons Permit
Number of permits issued
Number of permits renewed/replaced
Adult Probation
Number of offenders supervised
Coroner
Number of cases investigated
Number of autopsies performed
Public Works
Engineer
Miles of roads resurfaced
Number of bridges replaced/improved
Number of culverts built/replaced/improved
Building Department
Number of permits issued
Number of inspections performed

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
5,610 5,536 5,168 4,593 3,349 2,189 2,032 1,749 1,882 2,054
60 59 60 53 53 50 53 54 61 26
5,303 5,045 5,038 4,796 4,820 4,654 4,440 4,374 5,648 4,745
7,824 7,219 7,760 8,152 8,361 8,310 8,261 7,849 9,796 7,962
150,480 150,480 151,098 151,632 159,165 159,805 152,620 154,484 155,086 155,931
- 61,692 67,454 72,520 70,570 70,084 69,395 59,759 58,565 57,336
58,636 37,250 33,162 29,535 23,086 20,386 18,675 15,135 15,140 14,152
- 4,909 9,975 15,103 20,432 22,390 23,764 22,215 22,000 22,256

1,341 2,185 952 946 828 792 1,032 840 701 638

- 54,619 55,037 60,374 55,089 56,591 54,611 55,665 51,137 52,533
17,180 11,052 8,966 8,672 7,625 6,943 5,622 4,759 4,744 4,612
144,686 147,296 144,909 145,342 145,183 146,122 146,636 147,052 148,386 148,949
2,373 2,144 2,117 2,103 2,457 2,316 2,178 1,740 1,754 1,829
232,711 236,500 233,421 248,120 251,200 254,748 244,284 256,930 253,519 255,505
63,279 88,508 94,803 176,301 250,043 137,858 46,641 187,828 49,861 130,048
27.00 37.42 40.61 71.05 99.54 54.10 19.10 73.10 19.70 50.90
13,975 13,081 13,413 13,561 13,850 13,515 13,076 12,559 15,599 12,950
16,359 11,333 12,550 13,897 12,513 11,846 13,572 18,809 21,827 14,214
12 11 8 332 423 360 262 105 78 288

40 16 42 24 6 25 32 27 20 4
1,915 852 2,243 1,390 404 1,029 1,317 963 1,477 1,260
4,039 3,280 3,600 3,421 3,556 3,625 3,637 2,811 2,758 4,076
2,069 1,966 1,908 1,927 2,157 2,366 4,271 3,718 3,821 2,929
51 38 65 43 44 25 40 41 23 46

- 3,082 1,643 1,440 1,495 1,714 1,597 1,179 1,267 1,382

- 3,029 3,215 2,890 2,315 1,618 1,557 954 1,178 1,336

- 1,439 1,545 1,382 1,140 1,158 974 421 548 716
2,644 2,870 2,712 2,949 2,930 3,099 3,614 2,453 2,733 2,708
20,706 19,538 19,149 17,606 19,249 18,808 18,443 13,144 14,527 13,060
298 332 519 252 218 181 203 155 138 157
3,557 3,281 2,976 2,788 2,858 2,881 2,625 1,920 1,942 2,147
2,068 1,966 1,908 1,922 2,131 2,260 2,061 1,645 1,674 1,745
1,301 1,286 1,093 1,243 1,087 1,090 1,116 872 1,049 888
9,580 9,916 8,647 9,188 8,235 9,265 8,892 7,658 9,451 9,360
1,014 987 974 869 868 780 869 794 900 845
820 818 786 906 973 1,060 1,061 911 846 835
13,995 13,020 12,967 13,911 13,493 13,673 12,821 7,893 7,507 7,391
14,079 13,097 12,828 13,816 13,492 13,748 13,009 8,048 7,408 7,328
4,843 4,993 2,424 3,654 20,652 27,428 15,925 12,045 14,566 6,104
7,195* 3,277 8,423 8,617 2,805 50,595 51,530 57,479 66,167 70,056
3,074* 2,995 1,019 3,437 3,424 1,942 1,942* - - -
2,320 4,077 3,535 4,467 2,713 2,444 1,902 3,349 3,385 1,228
- - - 1,603 1,806 6,713 3,295 2,583 4,825 2,717
3,041* 3,302 3,309 2,992 4,198 3,544 2,752 2,491 2,229 2,018
339 400 - 453 485 394 400 406 409 449
222 220 - 243 227 208 236 191 175 194

62 13 53 64 66 56 43 54 44 44

3 3 8 2 5 5 7 4 2 3

22 24 15 23 14 41 36 43 33 34
3,644 3,929 4,845 4,573 4,229 4,511 4,640 4,453 5,257 5,571
11,672 13,176 15,199 14,306 - - - - 13,389 14,697
(Continued)
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Butler County, Ohio

Operating Indicators by Function/Program
Last Ten Years
(Continued)

Public Works (continued)

Sewer District
Average daily sewage treated (millions of gallons)
Number of tap-ins
Number of customers
Water District
Average daily water distributed (millions of gallons)
Average daily water billed (thousands of gallons)
Number of tap-ins
Number of customers
Health
BCDD
Number of children served -
Early intervention program
School age
Number of adults served -
Directly
Indirectly
Number of clients served in residential supported
living services
Number of Individual Options waivers
Number of Level One waivers
ICIID
Number of Self-Empowered Life funding waivers
Members receiving support coordination services
Members receiving family support services
Human Services
Jobs and Family Services
Average client count - food stamps
Average client count - Medicaid
Average client count - day care
Average client count - WIA
Average client count - job placement
Children Services
Average client count - foster care
Average client count - adoption
Child Support Enforcement Agency
Average number of active support orders
Percentage collected
Veteran Services**
Number of veterans and/or dependents served
Amount of benefits paid to county veterans

Note: (-) Denotes information is not available.
* Prior year's data used.

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
19.0 18.5 19.0 18.0 18.9 211 21.2 19.9 20.3 20.1
542 592 576 643 464 544 1,335 554 1,479 488
43,659 44,158 38,137 38,171 38,405 46,111 46,530 46,720 47,297 47,706
13.0 13.0 13.0 14.0 13.3 13.4 14.1 13.8 13.4 14.2
10,182 10,171 10,486 10,865 10,725 10,859 11,248 11,379 11,666 11,506
384 445 372 481 443 425 106 411 471 392
38,842 38,759 39,231 38,159 38,536 40,047 40,438 41,698 41,942 42,117
767 1,009 921 972 1,080 1,252 1,175 1,219 1,476 1,720
514 514 977 1,090 1,039 1,124 1,223 1,251 933 929
134 134 130 122 - - - - - -
440 457 1,344 1,416 1,321 1,316 1,397 1,433 1,330 1,325

- 8 12 40 23 34 2 4 5 1

342 342 380 534 530 498 501 501 504 528
435 435 444 448 431 410 498 492 487 526

10 10 139 131 106 121 71 69 65 78

76 69 66 66 64 60

1,432 1,432 1,947 2,142 2,257 2,394 2,331 2,672 2,528 2,627
756 756 1,455 2,089 1,760 1,944 807 1,040 1,171 489
50,603 47,781 45,473 40,701 35,249 34,287 32,996 39,021 41,624 41,488
66,092 76,321 85,288 86,621 88,911 79,915 84,728 89,177 101,268 108,029
2,371 2,542 2,439 2,802 2,474 3,913 4,010 3,821 3,998 3,439
326 326 - 2,200 15 91 146 198 178 172
344 344 - - 14 65 172 92 206 217
369" 455 - 397 373 399 399 369 347 319
48* 56 - 91 55 72 88 57 46 44
19,072 18,962 18,726 18,374 18,046 17,620 17,017 16,241 20,377 14,717
70.20% 69.77% 73.20% 72.65% 72.82% 73.17% 73.26% 76.25% 74.58% 7517%
5,353 5,729 5,792 4,553 6,019 - 6,673 5,792 9,938 25,344
473,448 839,686 810,734 894,184 973,783 - 1,134,599 650,569 1,045,524 632,355

** Beginning in 2022, Veteran Services' operating indicators are based veteran population estimates established by the National Center for Veterans Analysis and Statistics.

Source: Butler County Auditor
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Butler County, Ohio
Capital Asset Statistics by Function/Activity

Last Ten Years

General Government
Legislative and Executive
Commissioners
Administrative office space (1)
Information Services
Auditor
Administrative office space
Treasurer
Administrative office space
Prosecuting Attorney
Administrative office space
Board of Elections
Administrative office space
Voting machines
E-Poll books
Recorder
Administrative office space
Buildings and Grounds
Administrative office space
Judicial
Number of court rooms
Probate Court
Number of court rooms
Juvenile Court
Number of court rooms
Clerk of Courts
Administrative office space
Domestic Relations
Administrative office space
Public Safety
Sheriff
Administrative office space
Coroner
Administrative office space
Public Works
Engineer
Centerline miles of roads
Number of bridges
Number of culverts
Number of traffic signs
Building Department
Administrative office space
Human Services
Jobs and Family Services
Administrative office space
Child Support Enforcement Agency
Administrative office space
Veteran Services
Administrative office space
Enterprise
Sewer District
Number of treatment facilities
Number of pumping stations
Miles of sewer lines
Water District
Number of pumping stations
Miles of water lines
Administrative office space

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
9,480* 9,480 9,480 9,480 9,480* 8,824 8,824 8,824 8,824 8,824*
- 4,824 4,824 4,824 4,824* 4,428 4,428 4,428 4,428 4,428*
16,072 16,072 16,072 16,072 16,072* 14,190 14,190 14,190 14,190 14,190*
5,096 5,096 5,096 5,096 5,096* 6,954 6,954 6,954 6,954 6,954*
16,320* 3,498 3,498 3,498 3,498* 19,428 19,428 19,428 19,428 19,428*
27,241 27,241 27,241 27,241 27,241 27,241 27,241 27,241 27,241 27,241*
1,688* 1,688* 1,563 1,583 1,268 1,272 1,352 1,362 1,303 1,270
- - 400 400 321 334 332 342 338 336

8,728 8,728 8,728 8,728 8,728* 7,945 7,945 7,945 7,945 7,945
600* 600 600 600 600* 600 600 600 600 600"

7* 7 7 7 7* 7 7 7 7 7*

2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2*

8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8*
11,016* 11,016 11,016 11,016 11,016* 11,016 11,016 11,016 11,016 11,016*
24,128* 24,128 24,128 24,128 24,128* 24,128 24,128 24,128 24,128 24,128*
8,500* 8,500 8,500 8,500 8,500* 8,500 8,500 8,500 8,500 8,500*
2,550 2,550 2,550 2,550 2,550* 4,400 4,400 4,400 4,400 4,400*
267+ 268 267 267 270 267 267 266 266 266
399* 404 404 404 384 407 407 408 410 410
1,023* 1,025 1,025 1,025 982 985 889 916 916 916*
7,213 7,213 7,213 7,213 7,213 7,500 7,500 7,500 7,500 7,500
2,344 2,344 2,344 2,344 2,344+ 2,344 2,344 2,344 2,344 2,344*
32,640* 29,423 29,423 29,423 29,423+ 29,423 29,423 29,423 29,423 29,423*
16,320* 16,320 1,630 1,630 1,630* 1,630 1,630 1,630 1,630 1,630*
3,136* 3,136 3,136 3,136 3,136* 3,136 3,136 3,136 3,136 3,136
6 6 6 6 6 6 5 5 5 5

30 30 30 30 30 30 31 35 35 33
739* 736 760 770 773 778 788 798 802 806

5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5

617+ 626 639 645 645 650 656 660 664 668
7,275 7,275 7,275 7,275 7,275 7,275 7,275 7,275 7,275 7,275

Note: (-) Denotes information is not available.
(1) All adiminstrative office space is reported in square feet.

* Prior year's data used

Source: Butler County Auditor
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